# Assessing and evaluating the impact of the covid 19 pandemic on anxiety and stress: A global perspective

**Edited by** Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Vsevolod Konstantinov and Francesca Conte

**Published in** Frontiers in Psychiatry Frontiers in Medicine





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements

in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83252-074-1 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83252-074-1

### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# Assessing and evaluating the impact of the covid 19 pandemic on anxiety and stress: A global perspective

### **Topic editors**

Ravi Philip Rajkumar — Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India Vsevolod Konstantinov — Penza State University, Russia Francesca Conte — University of Campania Luigi Vanvitelli, Italy

### Citation

Rajkumar, R. P., Konstantinov, V., Conte, F., eds. (2023). *Assessing and evaluating the impact of the covid 19 pandemic on anxiety and stress: A global perspective.* Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83252-074-1



# Table of contents

- 05 Determinants of Poor Sleep Quality During the COVID-19 Pandemic Among Women Attending Antenatal Care Services at the Health Facilities of Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia: An Institutional-Based Cross-Sectional Study Nakachew Sewnet Amare, Basazinew Chekol and Agazhe Aemro
- 12 Prevalence and Associated Factors of Depression, Anxiety and Insomnia Symptoms Among Patients Receiving Ophthalmic Consultation Online During the COVID-2019 Pandemic

Lin Ding, Ni Guo, Jianing Zhu, Dilinuer Tuxunjiang, Aierxiding Abudoukeremuahong, Chengguo Zuo and Mingkai Lin

20 A Predictive Study Between Anxiety and Fear of COVID-19 With Psychological Behavior Response: The Mediation Role of Perceived Stress

Hamid Sharif Nia, Long She, Harpaljit Kaur, Christopher Boyle, Fatemeh Khoshnavay Fomani, Esmaeil Hoseinzadeh, Daniyal Kohestani and Pardis Rahmatpour

31 Validation of the Peruvian Spanish Version of the Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 Scale to Measure Viral Anxiety of Medical Students During COVID-19

> André Lapeyre-Rivera, Nair Javier-Murillo, Francisco Perea-Flórez, Bryan Gamonal, Víctor Velásquez-Rimachi, Carlos Alva-Díaz, Oli Ahmed and Seockhoon Chung

40 Is Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor Methylation Involved in the Association Between Prenatal Stress and Maternal Postnatal Anxiety During the COVID-19 Pandemic? Livio Provenzi, Marco Villa, Fabiana Mambretti, Andrea Citterio, Serena Grumi, Emanuela Bertazzoli, Giacomo Biasucci, Lidia Decembrino, Barbara Gardella, Roberta Giacchero, Maria Luisa Magnani, Renata Nacinovich, Camilla Pisoni, Federico Prefumo, Simona Orcesi, Barbara Scelsa, Roberto Giorda and Renato Borgatti on behalf of the MOM-COPE Group

50 The course and determinants of post-traumatic stress over 12 months after hospitalization for COVID-19 Knut Stavem, Trond Heir, Toril Dammen, Eivind Brønstad, Tøri Vigeland Lerum, Michael T. Durheim, Kristine M. A. Lund, Bernt B. Aarli and Gunnar Einvik

- 57 The association of COVID-19 vaccine availability with mental health among adults in the United States Chan Shen, Lucy Rashiwala, R. Constance Wiener, Patricia A. Findley, Hao Wang and Usha Sambamoorthi
- 66 Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item guestionnaire Dan Shan, Chang Liu, Shaoyang Li and Yuandian Zheng

76 Corrigendum: Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item questionnaire

Dan Shan, Chang Liu, Shaoyang Li and Yuandian Zheng

78 Relationship between social support, anxiety, and depression among frontline healthcare workers in China during COVID-19 pandemic

> Jie Zhan, Chen Chen, Xiaoting Yan, Xiaojing Wei, Lechang Zhan, Hongxia Chen and Liming Lu

90 Dynamic changes in mental health status related to the COVID-19 pandemic among health care workers and inpatients in China

Yujun Tong, Qian Zhang, Xiaoran Wang, Yanlin Du, Dong Chang, Yong Cui and Xinchun Duan

102 The changes in psychological symptoms of COVID-19 patients after "re-positive"

Xing Wang, Qinyi Fan, Yunyue Li, Junjian Xiao, Yanyan Huang, Tiantian Guo, Hongguang Chen and Mengqian Li

110 The relations between different components of intolerance of uncertainty and symptoms of depression during the COVID-19 pandemic: A network analysis

Tingwei Feng, Lei Ren, Chang Liu, Kuiliang Li, Lin Wu, Xinyi Wei, Shangqing Yuan, Long-Biao Cui, Xi Yang, Danyang Li, Wei Yang, Ye Li, Buyao Wang, Hui Wang and Xufeng Liu

- 120 Longitudinal development of depression and anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: Findings from a population-based probability sample survey Katrin E. Giel, Peter Martus, Gregor Paul, Jan Steffen Jürgensen, Bernd Löwe, Lina Maria Serna Higuita, Annica F. Dörsam, Felicitas Stuber, Stefan Ehehalt, Stephan Zipfel and Florian Junne
- 130 Preoperative anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic: A single-center observational study and comparison with a historical cohort

Pasquale Buonanno, Annachiara Marra, Carmine Iacovazzo, Maria Vargas, Serena Nappi, Andrea Uriel de Siena and Giuseppe Servillo

 138 Work-related stress of companies' directors during the first lockdown due to the COVID-19
 Frédéric Dutheil, Carole Jeanton, Audrey Vilmant, Céline Lambert, Maelys Clinchamps, Ukadike Chris Ugbolue, Jeannot Schmidt,





# Determinants of Poor Sleep Quality During the COVID-19 Pandemic Among Women Attending Antenatal Care Services at the Health Facilities of Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia: An Institutional-Based Cross-Sectional Study

### Nakachew Sewnet Amare<sup>1\*</sup>, Basazinew Chekol<sup>2</sup> and Agazhe Aemro<sup>3</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Midwifery, Debre Berhan University, Debre Birhan, Ethiopia, <sup>2</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, College of Medicine and Health Science, Debre Tabor University, Debre Tabor, Ethiopia, <sup>3</sup> Department of Medical Nursing, College of Medicine and Health Science, University of Gondar, Gondar, Ethiopia

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Mehmet Y. Agargün, Yuzuncu Yil University, Turkey

#### Reviewed by:

Nigussie Tadesse Sharew, University of Groningen, Netherlands Francesca Conte, Second University of Naples, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Nakachew Sewnet Amare justnakachew@gmail.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Sleep Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 21 December 2021 Accepted: 15 February 2022 Published: 18 March 2022

#### Citation:

Amare NS, Chekol B and Aemro A (2022) Determinants of Poor Sleep Quality During the COVID-19 Pandemic Among Women Attending Antenatal Care Services at the Health Facilities of Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia: An Institutional-Based Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:841097. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.841097 **Background:** Women's ability to get sleep can be affected by pregnancy-related hormonal changes or other external stressful situations like the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19).

**Objective:** The objective of this study was to assess the proportion of poor sleep quality during the COVID-19 pandemic and its determinants among pregnant women attending antenatal care (ANC) services.

**Methods:** An institutional-based cross-sectional study was conducted among 423 women attending ANC services at the health facilities in Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia, from May to June 2020. A systematic random sampling technique was used to select the required samples. The tool consisted of questions that assessed (1) sociodemographic characteristics, obstetric and health care service-related characteristics; and media exposure to get information regarding COVID-19 infection; (2) To assess sleep quality; the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) was applied. And a global score of >5 indicates poor sleep quality, and a global score of  $\leq 5$  indicates good sleep quality.

**Result:** The overall prevalence of poor sleep quality was 62.8%, and was associated with pregnant women aged  $\geq$ 46 years (AOR = 4.27), being in the third trimester (AOR = 2.51), being multigravida (AOR = 2.72), and having co-morbidity (AOR = 3.57).

**Conclusion:** The prevalence of poor sleep quality among pregnant women during the pandemic was found to be high. Advanced maternal age, third trimester pregnancy, being multigravida, and having comorbidity were determinants of poor sleep quality among pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic.

Keywords: COVID-19, sleep quality, women, Ethiopia, pregnancy

5

# BACKGROUND

Pregnancy is a process accompanied by dramatic hormonal changes (1–3) that create significant anatomical, physiological, and biochemical changes in a woman's life. These hormonal changes can also have profound effects on women's ability to sleep and may result in poor sleep quality (4–7). Sleep is a physiological process and a basic requirement for the physical and mental well-being of pregnant women and their fetuses (2, 8). Furthermore, sleep disturbances and short sleep duration are common during pregnancy (9, 10), which can have an impact on health-related quality of life. Although a sleep problem may start soon after conception, it worsens in frequency and duration as the pregnancy advances more (11).

Sleep has a critical role in promoting the health of both the mother and the fetus (12). Worldwide, approximately onethird of all pregnant women reported that they had disturbed sleep during pregnancy (13). Disturbed sleep during pregnancy is linked to several complications, including preeclampsia, premature birth, gestational diabetes, postpartum depression, and intrauterine growth retardation (9, 13). Studies in different areas of the world reported that the prevalence of poor sleep quality among pregnant women was 17% in Peru (14), 41.2% in Vietnam (15), 43.1% in the Asian population (4), 45.7% in Canada (16), 51.8–87% in China (10, 11), 53.3% in Pakistan (17), 59.5% in Indonesia (18), 73% in the United States (1). Some studies showed the prevalence of poor sleep quality among pregnant women before the pandemic in Ethiopia at Jimma medical center 30.8% (8) and Wadila primary hospital 68.4% (2).

The determinants of poor sleep quality among pregnant women significantly varied with the trimester of the pregnancy. Overall, poor sleep quality had a direct correlation with advanced age, maternal education level, being unmarried, anxiety, depression, stress, gestational age, multiparous, multigravida, and watching television in the bedroom (2, 8, 10, 11, 15, 18). In addition, there are also many external stressful situations, like the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19), which can result in disturbed sleep during pregnancy.

Studies reported that COVID-19 harmed sleep quality in the general populations (19–21). This problem may become worsen in pregnant women. The global pandemic COVID-19 infection has been shown to have an important impact on pregnant women and their fetuses. Pregnant women may experience fear of contracting COVID-19 (22) and its consequences, which can result in anxiety, depression, stress, and insomnia (23, 24). Additionally, pregnant women encountered partial immune suppression and became more susceptible to COVID-19 infection during the pandemic (25). All of this can lead to the development of negative emotions and cause pregnant women to be more concerned about the COVID-19 infection, resulting in sleep disruption (12) and poor sleep quality (26).

COVID-19 related morbidity and mortality are shockingly increasing in Ethiopia. This phenomenon may create stressful situations, especially for those at high risk, like pregnant women. Consequently, this COVID-19-related negative emotion among pregnant women could result in difficulty in getting sleep. However, there are limited studies done regarding sleep quality among pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic in Ethiopia. So, this study aimed to assess the prevalence of poor sleep quality and its determinant factors among pregnant women attending antenatal care (ANC) services during the era of the COVID-19 pandemic at Debre Berhan Town, Ethiopia in 2020.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

## **Participants and Procedure**

An institutional-based cross-sectional study was conducted from May 1 to June 1, 2020, in Debre Berhan Town public health institutions. The source populations for the study were all pregnant women who are attending antenatal care services in Debre Berhan town. All pregnant women who are attending antenatal care services in the Town during the study period and fulfill the inclusion criteria were included as the study population. The sample size was determined by using the single population proportion formula with the assumption of 50% poor sleep quality, a 95% confidence interval, and a 5% marginal error. After adding a 10% non-response rate, the final sample size was 423. In this study, pregnant women who visited the public health institutions in Debre Berhan Town for ANC services were included in the study. And pregnant women who were unable to communicate effectively due to serious illness were excluded from the study. To select our study participants, all public health facilities in Debre Berhan town were considered, and then based on the number of pregnant women that visited the public health facilities during the preceding month before data collection, proportional allocation of the total sample size was carried out to get the required sample from each public health facility. Finally, the determined samples were selected with a mean age of 28 years  $(SD \pm 4.86)$  by a systematic random sampling technique.

# **Data Collection Tools and Procedures**

Pretested and interviewer-administered questionnaires were used for the whole survey. The tool consisted of 33 items categorized in to two sections, (1) socio-demographic characteristics, obstetric and health care service-related characteristics; and media exposure to get information regarding COVID-19 infection with a total of 14 items; (2) items to assess sleep quality by the Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI). The Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index contains 19 Likert-type and open-ended questions. Respondents were asked about their overall sleep quality and how frequently they had experienced certain sleep difficulties in the previous month. The 19 items were combined to form seven component scores, each of which had a range of 0-3, with a higher score indicating more acute sleep disturbances. Then, the seven component scores were added to yield a single global score ranging from 0 to 21, with the higher score indicating severe sleep difficulties in all areas. PSQI developers have suggested a cutoff score of 5 for the global scale as it was 88.5% valid to correctly identify the problem (27-29). The Cronbach alpha of PSQI in the current study was 0.72. Furthermore, the data was collected by trained BSc midwives, and the consistency and completeness of the data were checked daily by supervisors.

# Variable of Interest

## **Sleep Quality**

Is defined based on the PSQI score; hence, a global score of >5 indicates poor sleep quality, and a global score of  $\leq 5$  indicates good sleep quality (27).

## Exposure to the Media

Women who had access to either television, radio, or read newspapers at least once a week was considered exposed to the media.

## **Co-morbid Disease**

Is defined as the co-existence of diagnosed chronic medical conditions like asthma, diabetes mellitus, heart disease, hypertension, depression, cancer, and chronic kidney disease among pregnant women (30).

## **Statistical Analysis**

The data was first entered into EPI INFO<sup>TM</sup> 7 and then exported to STATA version 14, statistical software for analysis. Frequencies and cross-tabulations were applied to summarize descriptive statistics of the data, and tables were used for data presentation. A binary logistic regression model was used to identify factors associated with poor sleep quality. Those variables with a *p*-value less than or equal to 0.2 from the bi-variable analysis were candidates for multivariable analysis. Variables with a *p*-value of less than 0.05 in multivariable analysis were declared as statistically significant factors for poor sleep quality. Moreover, the association was measured using odds ratios with a 95% confidence interval. Model fitness was also checked by the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness of fit test (*P*-value = 0.491).

## Ethics Approval and Consent to Participate

This study was approved by the Institutional Review Board (IRB) of Debre Berhan University and an official permission letter was gained from the concerned body. Written informed consent was obtained from each participant before conducting the actual data collection process. Additionally, confidentiality was maintained by avoiding registration of personal identifiers and no raw data was given to anyone other than the investigator.

## RESULTS

# Pregnant Women's Socio-Demographic, Obstetric, and Healthcare-Related Characteristics

Of the 423 pregnant women, almost all (99.8%) participated in the analysis. Of these, 175 (41.47%) were found under the category of age 25 years or less, with a mean age of 28 years (SD  $\pm$  4.86). The majority (86.73%) of the participants were married, and 164 (38.86%) of the women had primary education levels. Of all the participants included in the analysis, 241 (57.11%) were housewives. About one-third (34.36%) of the participants' husbands were at the primary education level, and 216 (51.18%) of their husbands were merchants. One hundred ninety-four (46%) pregnant women lived 2–5 km away from the health facility. Similarly, more than half (54.5%) of the participants were in the third trimester and 250 (59.24%) were multi-gravida. On the other hand, the majority of the women (89.8%) had no known co-morbid diseases. Around 81.5 and 57.4% of the women watched television and heard the radio to get information, including COVID-19, respectively. But, the majority of the women (90.52%) didn't have the habit of reading newspapers during the era of the pandemic (**Table 1**).

TABLE 1   The socio-demographic and obstetric-related characteristics of
pregnant women attending antenatal care (ANC) services in Debre Berhan
(n = 422).

Variable	Categories	Frequency	Percentage (%)
Maternal age	<25 years	175	41.47
	26–35 years	67	15.88
	36–45 years	108	25.59
	≥46 years	72	17.06
Marital status	Single	27	6.40
	Married	366	86.73
	Divorced	29	6.87
Maternal education	No formal education	138	32.70
	1 <sup>0</sup> education	164	38.86
	2 <sup>0</sup> education	59	13.98
	Diploma and above	61	14.45
Maternal	Housewife	241	57.11
occupation	Government employee	73	17.30
	Private employee	60	14.22
	Student	48	11.37
Husband education	No formal education	94	22.27
	1 <sup>0</sup> education	145	34.36
	2 <sup>0</sup> education	94	22.27
	Diploma and above	89	21.09
Husband	Employed	163	38.63
occupation	Merchant	216	51.18
	Daily labor	43	10.19
Number of persons	$\leq$ 4 individual	339	80.33
living with her	>4 individuals	83	19.67
Distance to the	<2 km	192	45.50
health facility	2 – 5 km	194	45.97
	>5 km	36	8.53
Trimester of	1st trimester	63	14.93
pregnancy	2nd trimester	129	30.57
	3rd trimester	230	54.50
Gravidity	Primigravida	172	40.76
	Multigravida	250	59.24
Co-morbid disease	Present	43	10.19
	Absent	379	89.81
Watch TV before	Yes	344	81.52
bedtime	No	78	18.48
Heard the radio	Yes	242	57.35
before bedtime	No	180	42.65
Ever read a	Yes	40	9.48
newspaper about COVID-19	No	382	90.52



# The Prevalence of Poor Sleep Quality Among Pregnant Women

The overall prevalence of poor sleep quality among pregnant women attending ANC service at health facilities in Debre Berhan town was 62.8% (95% CI: 58.1–67.3). The prevalence of poor sleep quality among pregnant women increases with gestational age, showing the highest proportion in the third trimester (**Figure 1**).

# Determinants of Poor Sleep Quality Among Pregnant Women

After applying multivariable binary logistic regression, four variables, namely maternal age, trimester of pregnancy, gravidity, and presence of co-morbidity, were significantly associated with poor sleep quality among pregnant women. Thus, the odds of having poor sleep quality among pregnant women aged  $\geq$ 46 years was 4.27 times that of women aged less than 25 years [AOR = 4.27; 95% CI: 1.43–12.79]. Similarly, the likelihood of experiencing poor sleep quality was 2.51 times higher in the third trimester compared to the first trimester [AOR = 2.51; 95% CI: 1.175–42]. Likewise, multigravida women were 2.72 times more likely than primigravida women to have poor sleep quality [AOR = 2.72; 95% CI: 1.34–5.50]. Pregnant women with the co-morbid disease were 3.57 times more likely to have poor sleep quality than pregnant women without comorbidity [AOR = 3.57; 95% CI: 1.45–8.78] (**Table 2**).

# DISCUSSION

In this study, the overall magnitude of poor sleep quality among pregnant women during the era of COVID-19 was 62.8% (95% CI: 58.1–67.3). This is in line with studies conducted in Indonesia (59.5%) (18) and Northern Ethiopia (68.4%) (2). But, the magnitude of poor sleep quality in the current study was lower than in studies conducted in Turkey (88%) (26), China (87%) (11), and the United States (73%) (1). The discrepancy might be due to differences in socio-demographic characteristics and in the time when the study was conducted. On the other hand, poor sleep quality in the current study was higher than in studies from Peru, China, Pakistan, Vietnam, the Asian population, and Canada, ranging from 17 to 53.3% (4, 10, 14–17, 31, 32). The majority of these previous studies were conducted before the outbreak of the global COVID-19 pandemic, so the women couldn't worry about the infection compared to the women in the current study. Furthermore, being quarantined and apart from loved ones during the COVID-19 pandemic might increase the proportion of depressive symptoms, stress, and anxiety. These psychological situations in turn affect the sleep quality of pregnant women (18, 33).

The odds of having poor sleep quality were 4.27 times higher in pregnant women aged 46 years and older than in women aged less than 25 years. This is supported by studies from China (11), and Ethiopia (2, 8). As maternal age increases, the likelihood of women being affected by physiological and psychological factors will also increase (34). This might in turn result in poor sleep quality (35).

Similarly, a significant association between gestational age and sleep quality was detected, showing that sleep quality declines as pregnancy advances. Hence, the risk of developing poor sleep quality among pregnant women in the third trimester was 2.51 times greater than that of pregnant women in the first trimester. This is consistent with studies from China (10, 11), Turkey (36), and Ethiopia (2). As gestational age increases, the tendency for frequent urination, even at night, increases and results in disturbed sleep (37). Additionally, when the woman approaches her end date of delivery, she might worry about childbirth, finance, labor, and delivery, or the baby's health, which all could be risk factors for disturbed sleep (37, 38). Weight gain, along with hormonal and physiological changes, induces pregnant women to have sleep-disordered breathing like snoring and obstructive sleep apnea, which in turn disturbs the normal sleep pattern (38).

A significant association between gravidity and sleep quality was discovered, showing that sleep quality declines as the number of pregnancies increases. When compared to primigravida, the likelihood of having poor sleep quality was 2.72 times among women with multigravida. This is consistent with research on pregnant women in Jimma, Ethiopia (8), and South Korea (39). This may be explained by the fact that maternal sleep quality is disturbed as a result of being overstressed about bearing extra roles after childbirth and the way they integrate the new role into their pre-existing responsibilities. Excessive worry caused by rehearsing physical pain during labor and delivery may also contribute to poor sleep quality in multigravida women (39).

Lastly, the presence of co-morbid disease among pregnant women was found to be significantly associated with poor sleep quality. Hence, pregnant women with co-morbid disease were 3.57 times more likely to develop poor sleep quality compared to pregnant women without comorbidity. This is supported by studies from Indonesia and the United States which declared that depression and gestational diabetes mellitus were directly associated with poor sleep quality (1, 18), respectively. This could be a reason for extra worry among pregnant women with medical comorbidity, which might induce a disturbed sleep pattern. Additionally, fear of a bad outcome for her baby and her as a

#### TABLE 2 | Bivariate and multivariate sleep quality analysis among pregnant women in Debre Berhan (n = 422).

Variable	Category	Sleep	quality	COR (95%CI)	AOR (95%CI)	P-value
		Good	Poor			
Maternal age	<25 years	88	87	1.00	1.00	
	26–35 years	17	50	2.97 (1.59–5.56)*	1.91 (0.77-4.72)	0.160
	36–45 years	40	68	1.72 (1.05–2.81)*	1.28 (0.61–2.70)	0.519
	$\geq$ 46 years	12	60	5.06 (2.54–10.05)*	4.27 (1.43-12.79)	0.009**
Marital status	Single	9	18	1.00	1.00	
	Married	143	223	0.78 (0.34-1.78)	0.42 (0.13-1.34)	0.142
	Divorced	5	24	2.39 (0.69–8.39)*	2.14 (0.46–9.91)	0.333
Maternal education	No formal education	44	94	1.04 (0.55–1.98)	2.28 (0.94-5.52)	0.067
	1 <sup>0</sup> education	69	95	0.67 (0.36-1.25)*	1.36 (0.59–3.13)	0.476
	2 <sup>0</sup> education	24	35	0.71 (0.34-1.49)	1.78 (0.66-4.77)	0.254
	Diploma and above	20	41	1.00	1.00	
Maternal occupation	Housewife	97	144	1.00	1.00	
	Government employee	23	50	1.46 (0.84–2.56)*	1.19 (0.56–2.53)	0.651
	Private employee	14	46	2.21 (1.15-4.25)*	2.03 (0.92-4.48)	0.079
	Student	23	25	0.73 (0.39-1.36)	2.18 (0.81–5.81)	0.121
Husband education	No formal education	36	58	0.74 (0.40-1.36)	0.92 (0.34-2.47)	0.872
	1 <sup>0</sup> education	58	87	0.69 (0.39-1.20)*	0.88 (0.38-2.07)	0.773
	2 <sup>0</sup> education	35	59	0.77 (0.42-1.43)	0.87 (0.33-2.26)	0.769
	Diploma and above	28	61	1.00	1.00	
Husband occupation	Employed	58	105	1.00	1.00	
	Merchant	77	139	0.99 (0.65-1.54)	1.21 (0.57–2.57)	0.615
	Daily labor	22	21	0.53 (0.27-1.04)*	0.56 (0.20-1.56)	0.269
No. of people living with	≤4 individual	132	207	1.00	1.00	
	>4 individuals	25	58	1.48 (0.88–2.48)*	0.58 (0.29–1.16)	0.125
Distance to the health facility	<2 km	78	114	1.00	1.00	
-	2 – 5 km	66	128	1.33 (0.88–2.01)*	0.92 (0.52-1.63)	0.780
	>5 km	13	23	1.21 (0.58-2.53)	0.46 (0.15–1.39)	0.171
Trimester of pregnancy	1st trimester	36	27	1.00	1.00	
	2nd trimester	57	72	1.68 (0.92–3.09)*	1.31 (0.55–3.14)	0.542
	3rd trimester	64	166	3.46 (1.94-6.15)*	2.51 (1.17-5.42)	0.019**
Gravidity	Primigravida	91	81	1.00	1.00	
	Multigravida	66	184	3.13 (2.08-4.72)*	2.72 (1.34-5.50)	0.006**
Co-morbid disease	Present	7	36	3.37 (1.46-7.77)*	3.57 (1.45-8.78)	0.006**
	Absent	150	229	1.00	1.00	
Watch TV before bedtime	Yes	123	221	1.39 (0.84–2.29)*	1.85 (0.79–4.36)	0.158
	No	34	44	1.00	1.00	
Heard the radio before bedtime	Yes	83	159	1.34 (0.89–1.99)*	1.12 (0.59-2.12)	0.713
	No	74	106	1.00	1.00	
Read newspaper about COVID-19	Yes	16	24	0.88 (0.45-1.71)		
	No	141	241	1.00		

\*Candidate variables for multivariate analysis at p-value  $\leq$  0.2. \*\*Statistically significant factors at a p-value of <0.05.

result of existing comorbidity may contribute to the occurrence of poor sleep quality.

## CONCLUSION

Nearly two-thirds of pregnant women in this study had poor sleep quality. Women with advanced age, being in the third trimester, multigravida, and comorbidity were associated with poor sleep quality among pregnant women. Giving special attention to women of advanced age, third trimester pregnancy, multigravida, and counseling of the women with comorbidity in their consecutive antenatal care visits is crucial to reduce the risk of developing poor sleep quality and its consequences.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Debre Berhan University College of Health Science research committee. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

NA conceived the idea, designed the work, and collected the data. BC collected the data and participated in the manuscript

## REFERENCES

- Chirwa S, Nwabuisi CR, Ladson GM, Korley L, Whitty JE, Atkinson R, et al. Poor sleep quality is associated with higher hemoglobin A1c in pregnant women: a pilot observational study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2018) 15:2287. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15102287
- Jemere T, Getahun B, Tadele F, Kefale B, Walle G. Poor sleep quality and its associated factors among pregnant women in Northern Ethiopia, 2020: a cross sectional study. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0250985. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0250985
- Hung H-M, Tsai P-S, Ko S-H, Chen C-H. Patterns and predictors of sleep quality in Taiwanese pregnant women. MCN Am J Mater Child Nurs. (2013) 38:95–101. doi: 10.1097/NMC.0b013e3182659345
- Cai S, Tan S, Gluckman PD, Godfrey KM, Saw S-M, Teoh OH, et al. Sleep quality and nocturnal sleep duration in pregnancy and risk of gestational diabetes mellitus. *Sleep*. (2017) 40:zsw058. doi: 10.1093/sleep/zsw058
- Reshadat S, Zakiei A, Karami J, Ahmadi E. A study of the psychological and family factors associated with sleep quality among pregnant women. *Sleep Hypnosis.* (2018) 20:17–24.
- Peters B. How Sleep Changes During Pregnancy. Hormones, Problems, and the Best Positions. (2020). Available online at: https://www.verywellhealth.com/ sleep-in-pregnancy-3015077 (accessed October 29, 2021).
- 7. Silvestri R, Aricò I. Sleep disorders in pregnancy. Sleep Sci. (2019) 12:232.
- Anbesaw T, Abebe H, Kassaw C, Bete T, Molla A. Sleep quality and associated factors among pregnant women attending antenatal care at Jimma medical center, Jimma, Southwest Ethiopia, 2020: cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:469. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03483-w
- Kay-Stacey M, Attarian HP. Managing sleep disorders during pregnancy. Gender Genome. (2017) 1:34–45. doi: 10.1089/gg.2016.0006
- Zhang H, Li P, Fan D, Wu S, Rao J, Lin D, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors for poor sleep during different trimesters of pregnancy among women in China: a cross-sectional study. *Nat Sci Sleep.* (2021) 13:811. doi: 10.2147/NSS.S303763
- Yang Y, Mao J, Ye Z, Zeng X, Zhao H, Liu Y, et al. Determinants of sleep quality among pregnant women in China: a cross-sectional survey. J Mater Fetal Neonatal Med. (2018) 31:2980–5. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2017.1359831
- Irwin MR. Why sleep is important for health: a psychoneuroimmunology perspective. Ann Rev Psychol. (2015) 66:143–72. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-010213-115205
- Van Ravesteyn LM, Tulen JH, Kamperman AM, Raats ME, Schneider A, Birnie E, et al. Perceived sleep quality is worse than objective parameters of sleep in pregnant women with a mental disorder. *J Clin Sleep Med.* (2014) 10:1137–41. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.4118
- Gelaye B, Addae G, Neway B, Larrabure-Torrealva GT, Qiu C, Stoner L, et al. Poor sleep quality, antepartum depression and suicidal ideation among pregnant women. J Affect Disord. (2017) 209:195–200. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016. 11.020
- Huong NTT, Thuy NTH. Quality of sleep among pregnant women. Int J Clin Med. (2018) 10:16–25.
- Sedov ID, Cameron EE, Madigan S, Tomfohr-Madsen LM. Sleep quality during pregnancy: a meta-analysis. *Sleep Med Rev.* (2018) 38:168–76. doi: 10.1016/j.smrv.2017.06.005

writing. AA analyzed the data, interpreted the results, and was a major contributor in writing the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to acknowledge the pregnant women and healthcare workers for their collaboration during the data collection. Also, the authors' heartfelt thank go to the Debre Berhan University for providing ethical clearance to conduct the study.

- Ahmed N, Khan A, Waseem A, Khan T, Shabbir H, Waqas A. Prevalence of sleep disturbances during pregnancy-a pilot study. *BAOJ Gynaec.* (2019) 2:1-8. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(72)90091-9
- Argo T, Kurniawan A, Liem J, Sugianto J, Michael R, Agatha L, et al. Association between depression, anxiety, and stress with sleep quality in Indonesian people during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Public Health Indones*. (2021) 7:58–66.
- Martínez-de-Quel Ó, Suárez-Iglesias D, López-Flores M, Pérez CA. Physical activity, dietary habits and sleep quality before and during COVID-19 lockdown: a longitudinal study. *Appetite*. (2021) 158:105019. doi: 10.1016/j. appet.2020.105019
- Pérez-Carbonell L, Meurling IJ, Wassermann D, Gnoni V, Leschziner G, Weighall A, et al. Impact of the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic on sleep. J Thorac Dis. (2020) 12(Suppl. 2):S163–75.
- Cellini N, Canale N, Mioni G, Costa S. Changes in sleep pattern, sense of time and digital media use during COVID-19 lockdown in Italy. *J Sleep Res.* (2020) 29:e13074. doi: 10.1111/jsr.13074
- 22. Gupta R, Grover S, Basu A, Krishnan V, Tripathi A, Subramanyam A, et al. Changes in sleep pattern and sleep quality during COVID-19 lockdown. *Indian J Psychiatry.* (2020) 62:370.
- Xiang Y-T, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:228–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30046-8
- Mortensen CR, Becker DV, Ackerman JM, Neuberg SL, Kenrick DT. Infection breeds reticence: the effects of disease salience on self-perceptions of personality and behavioral avoidance tendencies. *Psychol Sci.* (2010) 21:440–7. doi: 10.1177/0956797610361706
- Liang H, Acharya G. Novel corona virus disease (COVID-19) in pregnancy: what clinical recommendations to follow? *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand.* (2020) 99:439–42. doi: 10.1111/aogs.13836
- Alan S, Vurgec BA, Cevik A, Gozuyesil E, Surucu SG. The effects of COVID-19 pandemic on pregnant women: perceived stress, social support and sleep quality. *Yonago Acta Med.* (2020) 3:360–7. doi: 10.33160/yam.2020.11.016
- Shahid A, Wilkinson K, Marcu S, Shapiro CM. Pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI). In: Shahid A, Wilkinson K, Marcu S, Shapiro C, editors. STOP, That and One Hundred Other Sleep Scales. New York, NY: Springer (2011). p. 279–83.
- Zhong Q-Y, Gelaye B, Sánchez SE, Williams MA. Psychometric properties of the Pittsburgh sleep quality index (PSQI) in a cohort of Peruvian pregnant women. J Clin Sleep Med. (2015) 11:869–77. doi: 10.5664/jcsm.4936
- Buysse DJ, Reynolds CF III, Monk TH, Berman SR, Kupfer DJ. The Pittsburgh sleep quality index: a new instrument for psychiatric practice and research. *Psychiatry Res.* (1989) 28:193–213. doi: 10.1016/0165-1781(89)90047-4
- Schlichting LE, Insaf TZ, Zaidi AN, Lui GK, Van Zutphen AR. Maternal comorbidities and complications of delivery in pregnant women with congenital heart disease. J Am Coll Cardiol. (2019) 73:2181–91. doi: 10.1016/j. jacc.2019.01.069
- Xu K, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Xu Q, Lv L, Zhang J. Mental health among pregnant women under public health interventions during COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan, China. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 301:113977. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres. 2021.113977

- Yan H, Ding Y, Guo W. Mental health of pregnant and postpartum women during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Front Psychol. (2020) 11:617001. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.617001
- 33. Lin W, Wu B, Chen B, Lai G, Huang S, Li S, et al. Sleep conditions associate with anxiety and depression symptoms among pregnant women during the epidemic of COVID-19 in Shenzhen. J Affect Disord. (2021) 281:567–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.11.114
- 34. Qin C, Mi C, Xia A, Chen WT, Chen C, Li Y, et al. A first look at the effects of long inter-pregnancy interval and advanced maternal age on perinatal outcomes: a retrospective cohort study. *Birth.* (2017) 44:230–7. doi: 10.1111/ birt.12289
- Cao H. Influence of peer education on sleep quality of elderly parturient women. Modern Clin Nurs. (2014) 13:36–9.
- Çolak S, Gürlek B, Önal Ö, Yılmaz B, Hocaoglu C. The level of depression, anxiety, and sleep quality in pregnancy during coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. (2021) 47:2666–76. doi: 10.1111/jog.14872
- Mindell JA, Cook RA, Nikolovski J. Sleep patterns and sleep disturbances across pregnancy. Sleep Med. (2015) 16:483–8.
- Shoen S. Sleep Tips for Pregnant Women. (2021). Available online at: https:// www.sleepfoundation.org/pregnancy/tips-for-better-sleep (accessed June 15, 2021).

 Kim W, Ju YJ, Lee SY. Association between recent experience of childbirth and sleep quality in South Korean women: results from a nationwide study. *Nat Sci Sleep*. (2021) 13:467. doi: 10.2147/NSS.S297964

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Amare, Chekol and Aemro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# Prevalence and Associated Factors of Depression, Anxiety and Insomnia Symptoms Among Patients Receiving Ophthalmic Consultation Online During the COVID-2019 Pandemic

Lin Ding<sup>1†</sup>, Ni Guo<sup>2†</sup>, Jianing Zhu<sup>1</sup>, Dilinuer Tuxunjiang<sup>1</sup>, Aierxiding Abudoukeremuahong<sup>1</sup>, Chengguo Zuo<sup>2\*</sup> and Mingkai Lin<sup>2\*</sup>

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

#### Reviewed by:

Silvio lonta, University of Lausanne, Switzerland Samson Femi Agberotimi, North-West University, South Africa

#### \*Correspondence:

Chengguo Zuo zuochengguo@mail.sysu.edu.cn Mingkai Lin linmk@mail.sysu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 January 2022 Accepted: 16 February 2022 Published: 21 March 2022

#### Citation:

Ding L, Guo N, Zhu J, Tuxunjiang D, Abudoukeremuahong A, Zuo C and Lin M (2022) Prevalence and Associated Factors of Depression, Anxiety and Insomnia Symptoms Among Patients Receiving Ophthalmic Consultation Online During the COVID-2019 Pandemic. Front. Psychiatry 13:855366. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.855366 <sup>1</sup> Department of Ophthalmology, People's Hospital of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region, Urumqi, China, <sup>2</sup> State Key Laboratory of Ophthalmology, Guangdong Provincial Key Laboratory of Ophthalmology and Visual Science, Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center, Guangdong Provincial Clinical Research Center for Ocular Diseases, Sun Yat-sen University, Guangzhou, China

**Objective:** This study aims to assess the prevalence and associated factors of depression, anxiety and insomnia symptoms among patients undergoing ophthalmic consultation online during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-2019) pandemic.

**Methods:** We reviewed the data of patients who received online ophthalmic consultations during the lockdown period from February to August 2020, and an online survey was conducted among them. We collected the respondents' demographic data and their attitudes toward the online consultation, assessed the depression, anxiety and insomnia symptoms and estimated associated factors by logistic regression analysis.

**Results:** The online service provided 425 consultations during the COVID-19 lockdown period. Of these eligible subjects, 139 patients responded to an invitation to participant in the study (105/75.5% were females, and 40/28.8% were health care workers). More than half of the participants reported that they trusted and were satisfied with the online consultation (109/78.4% and 82/59%, respectively). Fifty-two (37.4%), 32 (23.0%), and 53 (38.1%) patients showed symptoms of depression, anxiety, and insomnia, respectively. Depression was found to be significantly more common in health care workers (P = 0.019) and those who were basically satisfied with online consultation (P = 0.024). Anxiety was more common among participants who had used electronics for a long time (P = 0.038). Binary logistic regression showed health care work as a risk factor for depressive symptoms (odds ratio [OR]: 2.424; 95% CI: 1.143–5.143; P = 0.021).

**Conclusion:** Psychological distress is highly prevalent among patients who were involved in online consultation for ocular manifestations during the COVID-19 lockdown period. In the context of a major public health event, ophthalmologists should focus not only on ocular symptoms but also on the mental health of their patients, and appropriate psychological support should be given.

Keywords: coronavirus disease 2019, ophthalmic online consultation, patients, depression, anxiety, insomnia

# INTRODUCTION

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) is a public health emergency of international concern, according to a World Health Organization declaration on January 31, 2020 (1, 2). Since the start of the pandemic, there have been over 370 million reported cases and over 5.6 million deaths globally according to February 1, 2022, data from the WHO (3).

The rapid spread of the disease via close contact between people is an important feature of COVID-19 (4). It has prompted precautions in public places, such as hospitals, which are prone to transmission of communicable diseases due to the large number of people congregating in confined spaces. To curb the spread of the disease, compulsory measures were being implemented by governments, such as social distancing, isolation/lockdowns, and social activity restrictions) (5, 6). These restrictions have brought about great changes in people's life. Firstly, non-COVID-19 patients' medical needs have been greatly affected, which may have caused psychological distress. However, the emergence of a virtual hospital, not limited by place or time that enabled patients to see physicians while avoiding a crowded waiting room, became an alternative for many patients (7). Online consultation can address some patients' needs, but it is uncertain whether seeing a health care provider virtually can affect patients' mental state. Secondly, measures of remote working were also being imposed in many organizations. Coupled with home quarantine, there had been a marked decrease in outdoor activity and an increase in screen time, which had been shown to be associated with mental health problems (8).

Some studies have investigated the psychological impact related to the COVID-19 crisis on people. One online survey of 56,679 individuals from all 34 provincial-level regions in China showed that 27.9% of respondents reported depression, 31.6% anxiety, 29.2% insomnia, and 24.4% acute stress, as evaluated by the Patient Health Questionnaire-9, Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7, Insomnia Severity Index, and Acute Stress Disorder Scale (9). Another survey of medical staff found rates of anxiety and depressive symptoms were 13.3 and 18.4%, respectively (10). However, there are few studies on the psychological status of patients, especially those who consult with ophthalmologists online.

This study collected the consultation information of ophthalmic patients at the "online hospital" and conducted an online psychological questionnaire survey with the aim of assessing ophthalmic patients' symptoms of depression, anxiety, and insomnia, as well as analyzing potential associated factors with these symptoms during COVID-19 lockdown to provide a basis for interventions in public health emergencies.

## METHODS

Data (including name, sex, and consultation content) of patients receiving online ophthalmology consultation during the lockdown period (from February 15, 2020 to August 14, 2020) were collected through the online consultation platform of People's Hospital of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. We divided the patient consultation content into 12 sections: blurred or different vision, eye discomfort or abnormal appearance, fluttering shadows before eyes, myopia and abnormal eye position, outpatient follow-up and further treatment, and abnormal secretions, ocular trauma, eye surgery, postoperative follow-up, invalid consultations such as just saying hello without describing any symptoms or describing conditions that have nothing to do with ophthalmology, repeated consultations, and other such as asking about medication usage, whether medication can be delivered by express delivery, the cost of certain tests and the availability of doctors for work.

The subjects of this study were the aforementioned patients who underwent online ophthalmic consultations during the COVID-19 lockdown. We sent questionnaires online to these people through Wenjuanxing, a survey platform in China. The first part of the online questionnaire recorded basic information about the participants (including name, sex, age, education level, whether they were medical workers, current status, whether they had used electronic products for a long time). The second part of the questionnaire involved the use of three tools to assess patients' symptoms of depression, anxiety, and insomnia, respectively: the Chinese versions of the nine-Item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) (11), the seven-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder scale (GAD-7) (12) and the seven-item Insomnia Severity Index (ISI) (13). The last part of the questionnaire surveyed participants' trust in and satisfaction with online counseling. These measurement tools were scored as follows: PHQ-9, normal (0-4), mild (5-9), moderate (10-14), moderately severe (15-19), and severe (20-27) depression; GAD-7, normal (0-4), mild (5-9), moderate (10-14), and severe (15-21) anxiety; ISI, normal (0-7), subthreshold (8-14), moderate (15-21), and severe (22-28) insomnia.

This study was a cross-sectional online survey conducted from August 16 to August 29, 2020, which was approved by the Ethics Committee of Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center, Sun Yat-sen University, and People's Hospital of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. Written informed consent was received online from all participants before the study.

# STATISTICAL ANALYSIS

Data were described as frequencies and percentages. We used the Shapiro–Wilk test to determine that the scale scores did not conform to a normal distribution and presented data as medians with interquartile ranges (IQRs). Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare the sociodemographic differences between those with depression vs. those without depression, those with anxiety vs. those without anxiety and those with insomnia vs. those without insomnia, respectively. A binary logistic regression analysis was established to determine the risk factors for depression, anxiety, and insomnia symptoms, and outcomes were presented as odds ratios (ORs) and 95% CIs. The significance level was P = 0.05 at a 2-tailed. Data were analyzed using SPSS version 22.0. **TABLE 1** | The content and proportion of online consultation.

Consultation Content	Epidemic period, No. (%)
Abnormal secretions	11 (2.6)
Blurred or different vision	20 (4.7)
Eye discomfort or abnormal appearance	165 (38.8)
Fluttering shadows before eyes	5 (1.2)
Myopia and abnormal eye position	13 (3.1)
Ocular trauma	5 (1.2)
Eye surgery	28 (6.6)
Outpatient follow-up and further treatment	22 (5.2)
Postoperative follow-up	12 (2.8)
The other	16 (3.8)
Invalid consultations	14 (3.3)
Repeated consultations	114 (26.8)

# RESULTS

## **Ophthalmic Online Consultation**

There were 425 online consultations during the lockdown, with an average of 71 consultations per month, including 14 invalid consultations (3.3%) and 114 repeated consultations (26.8%). The most common reason for consultation was eye discomfort or abnormal appearance (165 visits, 38.8%), and the top three most common manifestations of ocular discomfort were red, swollen, painful eyelids (38, 23.0%); red eyes, itching, blinking or rubbing eyes (27, 16.4%); and red eyes (20, 12.1%) (see **Table 1**).

## **Socio-Demographic Characteristics**

A total of 139 valid questionnaires were collected in this survey from patients who were involved in the online ophthalmic consultation. There were 105 (75.5%) females and 34 (24.5%) males. Those aged between 31 and 40 accounted for a majority of 47 (33.8%). Ethnicity was also recorded, and most patients were Han, 111 (79.9%) with minorities accounting for 28 respondents (20.1%). Most respondents had a bachelor's degree, 91 (65.5%); 40 (28.8%) were health care workers; 100 (71.9%) were staying at home; and 126 (90.6%) had used electronic products, including mobile phones and computers, for a long time. Regarding their sense of trust in and satisfaction with online consultation, 109 (78.4%) trusted the online consultation, 2 (1.4%) distrusted it, and 28 (20.1%) were unsure. More than half said they were satisfied with the online consultation (n = 82, 59%), 32 (23%) basically satisfied, and 25 (18%) said they were dissatisfied (see Table 2).

# Psychological Scale Results and Associated Factors

The median (IQR) scores on the PHQ-9 were 3 (0–6). In all, 52 (37.4%) showed symptoms of depression: mild in 35 (25.2%), moderate in 11 (7.9%), moderately severe in 5 (3.6%) and severe in 1 (0.7%). The median (IQR) GAD-7 scores were 1 (0–4). Thirty-two participants (23.0%) showed symptoms of anxiety and were divided into three groups: mild (n = 21, 15.1%), moderate (n = 5, 3.6%) and severe (n = 6, 4.3%). The median

Depression, Anxiety, Insomnia Among Patients

TABLE 2 | Socio-demographic variables of participants.

Variables	Participants, No. (%)
Overall	139 (100.0)
Gender	
Male	34 (24.5)
Female	105 (75.5)
Age	
<18	5 (3.6)
18–25	27 (19.4)
26–30	27 (19.4)
31–40	47 (33.8)
41–50	24 (17.3)
51–60	5 (3.6)
>60	4 (2.9)
Ethnic group	
Han	111 (79.9)
Minorities	28 (20.1)
Level of education	
Elementary School	7 (5.0)
Junior High School	6 (4.3)
Senior High School	20 (14.4)
Bachelor	91 (65.5)
Master	10 (7.2)
Doctor	5 (3.6)
Are you a healthcare worker?	
Yes	40 (28.8)
No	99 (71.2)
Current status	
Staying at home	100 (71.9)
Working outside	399 (28.1)
Do you use electronics for a long time?	
Yes	126 (90.6)
No	13 (9.4)
Sense of trust in online consultation	
Trust	109 (78.4)
Distrust	2 (1.4)
Unsure	28 (20.1)
Satisfaction toward online consultation	
Satisfied	82 (59.0)
Basically satisfied	32 (23.0)
Dissatisfied	25 (18.0)

(IQR) ISI scores were 5 (1–9). Symptoms of insomnia were reported in 53 participants (38.1%); 41 (29.5%) reported mild insomnia, 9 (6.5%) reported moderate insomnia symptoms, and 3 (2.2%) reported severe insomnia.

Depression was found to be significantly more common in health care workers (P = 0.019). It was also related to their satisfaction with online consultation (P = 0.024). There was a tendency in those who had used electronic devices for a long time to suffer from depression (P = 0.085). Anxiety was also more common among participants who had used electronics for a long time (P = 0.038). There was no significant sociodemographic difference TABLE 3 | Socio-demographic differences between those with symptoms of depression, anxiety or Insomnia vs. those without depression, anxiety or insomnia.

Variables		Depression <sup>a</sup> cipants, No. (	%)	Par	Anxiety <sup>b</sup> ticipants, No.	(%)		nsomnia <sup>c</sup> ipants, No. (%	<b>%</b> )
	Yes	No	P <sup>d</sup>	Yes	No	P	Yes	No	P
Overall	52 (37.4)	87 (62.6)		32 (23.0)	107 (77.0)		53 (38.1)	86 (61.9)	
Gender		, ,		. ,	, , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , , ,			( )	
Male	10 (29.4)	24 (70.6)	0.267	8 (23.5)	26 (76.5)	0.935	10 (29.4)	24 (70.6)	0.229
Female	42 (40.0)	63 (60.0)		24 (22.9)	81 (77.1)		43 (41.0)	62 (59.0)	
Ethnic group									
Han	41 (36.9)	70 (63.1)	0.818	23 (20.7)	88 (79.3)	0.199	45 (40.5)	66 (59.5)	0.244
Minorities	11 (39.3)	17 (60.7)		9 (32.1)	19 (67.9)		8 (28.6)	20 (71.4)	
Are you a healthcare worker?									
Yes	21 (52.5)	19 (47.5)	0.019	12 (30.0)	28 (70.0)	0.214	17 (42.5)	23 (57.5)	0.5
No	31 (31.3)	68 (68.7)		20 (20.2)	79 (79.8)		36 (36.4)	63 (63.6)	
Current status									
Staying at home	34 (34.0)	66 (66.0)	0.183	24 (24.0)	76 (76.0)	0.661	36 (36.0)	64 (64.0)	0.408
Working outside	18 (46.2)	21 (53.8)		8 (20.5)	31 (79.5)		17 (43.6)	22 (56.4)	
Do you use electronics for a long time?									
Yes	50 (39.7)	76 (60.3)	0.085	32 (25.4)	94 (74.6)	0.038	50 (39.7)	76 (60.3)	0.24
No	2 (15.4)	11 (84.6)		0 (0.0)	13 (100.0)		3 (23.1)	10 (76.9)	
Age									
<18	0 (0.0)	5 (100.0)	0.375	0 (0.0)	5 (100.0)	0.738	1 (20.0)	4 (80.0)	0.85
18–25	8 (29.6)	19 (70.4)		5 (18.5)	22 (81.5)		9 (33.3)	18 (66.7)	
26–30	13 (48.1)	14 (51.9)		6 (22.2)	21 (77.8)		12 (44.4)	15 (55.6)	
31–40	18 (38.3)	29 (61.7)		13 (27.7)	34 (72.3)		17 (36.2)	30 (63.8)	
41–50	10 (41.7)	14 (58.3)		7 (29.2)	17 (70.8)		10 (41.7)	14 (58.3)	
51–60	2 (40.0)	3 (60.0)		0 (0.0)	5 (100.0)		3 (60.0)	2 (40.0)	
>60	1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)		1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)		1 (25.0)	3 (75.0)	
Level of education									
Elementary School	1 (14.3)	6 (85.7)	0.231	1 (14.3)	6 (85.7)	0.694	2 (28.6)	5 (71.4)	0.23
Junior High School	1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)		1 (16.7)	5 (83.3)		0 (0.0)	6 (100.0)	
Senior High School	4 (20.0)	16 (80.0)		2 (10.0)	18 (90.0)		5 (25.0)	15 (75.0)	
Bachelor	40 (44.0)	51 (56.0)		24 (26.4)	67 (73.6)		40 (44.0)	51 (56.0)	
Master	4 (40.0)	6 (60.0)		3 (30.0)	7 (70.0)		4 (40.0)	6 (60.0)	
Doctor	2 (40.0)	3 (60.0)		1 (20.0)	4 (80.0)		2 (40.0)	3 (60.0)	
Sense of trust in online consultation									
Trust	38 (34.9)	71 (65.1)	0.139	24 (22.0)	85 (78.0)	0.08	39 (35.8)	70 (64.2)	0.474
Distrust	2 (100)	0 (0.0)		2 (100.0)	0 (0.0)		1 (50.0)	1 (50.0)	
Unsure	12 (42.9)	16 (57.1)		6 (21.4)	22 (78.6)	13 (46.4)	15 (53.6)		
Satisfaction toward online consultation									
Satisfied	24 (29.3)	58 (70.7)	0.024	14 (17.1)	68 (82.9)	0.133	27 (32.9)	55 (67.1)	0.23
Basically satisfied	18 (56.3)	14 (43.8)		11 (34.4)	21 (65.6)		16 (50.0)	16 (50.0)	
Dissatisfied	10 (40.0)	15 (60.0)		7 (28.0)	18 (72.0)		10 (40.0)	15 (60.0)	

<sup>a</sup>Depression was defined as Patient Health Questionnaire-9 score of 5 or higher.

<sup>b</sup>Anxiety was defined as Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 score of 5 or higher.

<sup>c</sup>Insomnia was defined as Insomnia Severity Index score of 8 or higher.

<sup>d</sup> Chi-square and Fisher's exact tests as appropriate were used to compare the prevalence of mental health symptoms in different populations.

between those with insomnia vs. those without insomnia (see Table 3).

## DISCUSSION

Furthermore, the results of binary logistic regression analysis demonstrated that health care workers were at risk for depressive symptoms (OR: 2.424; 95% CI: 1.143–5.143; P = 0.021) (see **Table 4**).

This survey revealed the overall prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia symptom was 37.4, 23.0, and 38.1%, respectively. Additionally, depression was found to be significantly more common in health care workers (P =

TABLE 4 | Binary logistic regression analysis of risk factors associated with symptoms of depression, anxiety and insomnia.

Variables	Depression <sup>a</sup>		Anxiety <sup>b</sup>			Insomnia <sup>c</sup>			
	OR	95%Cl	P-value	OR	95%CI	P-value	OR	95%Cl	P-value
Gender									
Male	0.624	0.267-1.458	0.276	1.219	0.47–3.161	0.684	0.604	0.258-1.412	0.244
Female	1[Reference]		1[Reference]			1[Reference]			
Are you a healthcare worker?									
Yes	2.424	1.143–5.143	0.021	2.15	0.806-5.732	0.126	1.045	0.443-2.463	0.92
No	1[Reference]			1[Reference]		1[Reference]			
Current status									
Staying at home	0.619	0.287-1.334	0.221	1.933	0.678-5.51	0.217	0.751	0.318-1.777	0.515
Working outside	1[Reference]			1[Reference]			1[Reference]		
Do you use electronics for a long time?									
Yes	3.277	0.691–15.54	0.135	544,474,979.2	0	0.999	2.025	0.525–7.815	0.306
No	1[Reference]			1[Reference]			1[Reference]		

OR, Odds ratio; CI, Confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup>Depression was defined as Patient Health Questionnaire-9 score of 5 or higher.

<sup>b</sup>Anxiety was defined as Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 score of 5 or higher.

<sup>c</sup> Insomnia was defined as Insomnia Severity Index score of 8 or higher. The bold value indicates that the results are statistically significant.

0.019) and those who were basically satisfied with online consultation (P = 0.024). Anxiety was more common among participants who had used electronics for a long time (P = 0.038). Interestingly, the current study found health care work was a risk factor for depressive symptoms (odds ratio [OR]: 2.424; 95% CI: 1.143–5.143; P = 0.021) among patients who were involved in online consultation for ocular manifestations in the prevailing circumstances of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Under COVID-2019 lockdown circumstances, online consultation became an effective means of responding to the medical needs of non-COVID-19 patients. There were 425 online consultations during the lockdown period from February to August, with an average of 71 visits per month. The number of online consultations was relatively small, and repeated consultations (26.8%) accounted for a high proportion. Many patients consulted for the same problem several times on the same day or the next day, and some even switched doctors to discuss the same problem, mostly symptom complaints. This phenomenon can be explained by patients' desire for an immediate response and their suspicion of online consultations. Meanwhile, we speculated this behavior may be influenced by COVID-19 or it may be due to personality traits. With respect to the cascade of psychological and behavioral effects triggered by the COVID pandemic, it has been shown that the negativity of the psychological effects of the lockdown was further modulated by personality traits, alexithymia, and resilience (14) and that these effects were also correlated with behavioral wellbeing such as emotional eating (15).

According to our survey, 1.4% of the study participants distrusted online consultation; 20.1% were unsure; and 18% were dissatisfied. The COVID-19 pandemic has had an impact on their access to medical care, forcing even those who do not trust in online advice to passively choose online counseling, which may increase their concern about their health. Therefore, online

counseling may affect some people's mental disorders and more effort should be made to improve the quality of online medical services. Reasons for online ophthalmology consultations were as follows: 16.4% of 165 visits were for red eyes, itchiness, blinking, or rubbing eyes; 9.1% for dryness; 9.1% for pain; and 2.4% for foreign body sensation. Interestingly, dry eye disease (symptoms including dryness, discomfort, foreign body sensation, pain, itchiness, and so on) can be associated with psychological disorders (16).

In the present study, the prevalence of depression symptom was 37.4% and the insomnia symptom was 38.1%, which were higher than that reported in previous studies. In 2020, a study that surveyed the psychological impact of the pandemic on the general public during the initial stages reported that the prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms were 30.3 and 36.4%, respectively (17). Remarkably, the prevalence of anxiety symptom reported in this study was 23%, which was lower than reported in previous studies. A meta-analysis during the COVID-19 outbreak showed that the overall prevalence of anxiety was 33%, and a total of 41 studies measured depression and anxiety as indicators of psychological effects. Among these studies, several involved patient populations, which showed that patients with pre-existing conditions or infected by COVID-19 had a higher prevalence of depression and anxiety than health care workers and the general public (18). Our study included people presenting with ophthalmic symptoms, not infected by COVID-19, and the results showed that participants had higher rates of depression and insomnia and lower rates of anxiety than those found in the general population. One important factor that should not be overlooked is that some of the subjects in the current study had dual identities: both health care workers and online consulting patients. Moreover, patients receiving ophthalmic consultation online in the current study were prone to depressive symptoms if they were also health care workers (odds ratio [OR]: 2.424; 95% CI: 1.143–5.143; P = 0.021). Another factor to consider is that the limited sample size may have contributed to the results.

Females were reported to have a higher prevalence of depressive and insomnia symptoms than males, but there was no statistically significant difference observed between females and males in psychological distress across all scales (see **Table 3**). Overall, most studies have revealed that females are more prone to developing mental health symptoms (17–19). In the current study, age was not shown to be associated with psychological distress, which was in accordance with previous studies (20).

In the current study, depression was observed to be significantly more common in health care workers and was also identified as a risk factor for worse depressive symptoms. Additionally, depression was significantly higher in those who were basically satisfied with online consultation. Anxiety and insomnia were also reported more among health care workers, but there was no statistically significant difference between health care workers and non-healthcare workers. As a result of the pandemic, health care workers in different specialties have suffered tremendous psychological pressure, as they not only worried about being infected but also about carrying the virus and infecting their families or colleagues, which may lead to various psychological problems (21-23). Moreover, a heavy workload, wearing protective equipment such as masks and isolation suits for long hours at work, and being in a closed environment for an extended period of time without the ability to drink, eat or use the bathroom for extended periods may aggravate the negative psychological impact on health care providers. In addition, a case of COVID-19 with keratoconjunctivitis as the main symptom has been reported (24), which may increase the number of health care workers in the present study who had eye discomfort or other eye disease psychological burdens. In contrast, a prior study in Singapore suggested that nonmedical health care workers had a higher prevalence of psychological distress because of reduced formal psychological support, less first-hand information, and less training in infection control measures (25).

In the present study, participants who used electronic products for a long time reported more depression, anxiety, and insomnia symptoms than those who did not, and it was significantly associated with anxiety. As a result of the lockdown during the COVID-19 pandemic, people were likely to spend more time on electronic devices, especially young people, exercise less and remain sedentary more, which is detrimental to psychological health (26). Moreover, too much screen time also has an impact on physical health, such as visual fatigue and dry eye. A great number of studies in children and adolescents have shown that high screen time is associated with increased risk of psychological problems (27-29). Additionally, giving more attention to media coverage of the COVID-19 outbreak is associated with higher psychological distress (30). However, in our study, the majority of participants had used electronic products for a long time, but the time giving attention to COVID-19 was unknown. Regarding all these findings, it is necessary to limit screen time and promote physical activities for the mental health of young people.

Specifically, previous publications have shown that decreased vision is known to worsen mental health of eye disease patients (31–33). Among online patients, the number of return visits accounted for 21.4%, including blindness-causing eye diseases such as glaucoma and uveitis that require long-term follow-up treatment. Individuals with glaucoma are more likely to have some or severe anxiety/depression problems than those without glaucoma (34). Therefore, one possible contributing factor of psychological disorders could be vision issues and return visits for consultations about blindness-causing eye diseases.

The results of this study suggest that it is necessary to pay attention to people's mental health and sleep condition in time when public health emergency occurs. The academy of Ophthalmology could team up with the academy of Psychology to come up with strategies to support those at high risk. In the context of COVID-19, online consultation can be regarded as an effective way to solve the medical needs of some people, but it does not significantly alleviate their psychological disorders. There is a need to provide appropriate psychological support for patients who consult online, especially if they were medical staff or had high screen time.

This study has several limitations as follows. First, the sample size of the questionnaire survey was relatively small, so the results may be biased. Second, the prevalence of psychological distress was based on respondents' self-reports rather than clinical diagnosis. Third, the online consultation period spanned several months, while the survey was administered over a twoweek period. A longitudinal follow-up is needed to explore the possible long-term relationship between psychological symptoms and the disease. Finally, we did not investigate whether the respondents' ocular symptoms improved, and a control group may be lacking to identify the impact of ocular symptoms on patients' psychological status. The respondents were mainly people with high education levels, so the results of this survey were more likely to reflect their psychological state.

## CONCLUSION

During the COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown, psychological distress was highly prevalent among ophthalmological patients consulting with their doctors online. When another public health emergency occurs, special attention should be given not only to patients' ocular symptoms but also to their mental health, and appropriate psychological support should be given, especially for those who are medical staff and those who have used electronic products for a long time. This may mean, for example, encouraging patients to participate in more outdoor activities instead of spending too much time on screen and, if necessary, referring them to a psychiatrist.

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Zhongshan Ophthalmic Center, Sun Yat-sen University and People's Hospital of Xinjiang Uygur Autonomous Region. Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LD and NG contributed to analyzing the data and drafting the manuscript. JZ designed the questionnaire and

## REFERENCES

- Wang C, Horby PW, Hayden FG, Gao GF. A novel coronavirus outbreak of global health concern. *Lancet (London, England)*. (2020) 395:470– 3. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30185-9
- WHO. WHO Director-General's statement on IHR Emergency Committee on Novel Coronavirus (2019-nCoV). (2020). Available from: https://www.who. int/director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-statement-onihr-emergency-committee-on-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov) (retrieved December 23, 2020).
- WHO. COVID-19 Weekly Epidemiological Update. (2022). Available from https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/weekly-epidemiological-updateon-covid-19---1-february-2022 (retrieved February 3, 2022).
- Chan JF-W, Yuan S, Kok K-H, To KK-W, Chu H, Yang J, et al. A familial cluster of pneumonia associated with the 2019 novel coronavirus indicating person-to-person transmission: a study of a family cluster. *Lancet (London, England)*. (2020) 395:514–23. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30154-9
- Liu W, Xu Y, Ma D. Work-Related Mental Health Under COVID-19 Restrictions: A Mini Literature Review. *Front Public Health.* (2021) 9:788370. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2021.788370
- Chen S, Yang J, Yang W, Wang C, Bärnighausen T. COVID-19 control in China during mass population movements at New Year. *Lancet (London, England).* (2020) 395:764–6. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30421-9
- Wu X, Chen J, Yun D, Yuan M, Liu Z, Yan P, et al. Effectiveness of an ophthalmic hospital-based virtual service during COVID-19. *Ophthalmology*. (2020) 128:942–5. doi: 10.1016/j.ophtha.2020.10.012
- Wu X, Tao S, Zhang Y, Zhang S, Tao F. Low physical activity and high screen time can increase the risks of mental health problems and poor sleep quality among Chinese college students. *PLoS ONE*. (2015) 10:e0119607. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0119607
- Shi L, Lu Z-A, Que J-Y, Huang X-L, Liu L, Ran M-S, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with mental health symptoms among the general population in china during the coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2014053. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.14053
- Liu Y, Chen H, Zhang N, Wang X, Fan Q, Zhang Y, et al. Anxiety and depression symptoms of medical staff under COVID-19 epidemic in China. *J Affect Disord.* (2021) 278:144–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.09.004
- Sun X, Li Y, Yu C, Li L. Reliability and validity of depression scales of Chinese version: a systematic review. *Zhonghua Liu Xing Bing Xue Za Zhi*. (2017) 38:110–6. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0254-6450.2017.01.021
- He X, Li C, Qian J, Cui H, Wu W. Reliability and validity of a generalized anxiety disorder scale in general hospital outpatients. *Shanghai Jingshen Yixue*. (2010) 22:200–3. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1002-0829.2010. 04.002
- Bai C, Ji D, Chen L, Li L, Wang C. Reliability and validity of Insomnia Severity Index in clinical insomnia patients. *Chin J Pract Nurs*. (2018) 34:2182–6.
- Osimo SA, Aiello M, Gentili C, Ionta S, Cecchetto C. The influence of personality, resilience, and alexithymia on mental health during COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:630751. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.630751

collected the data. DT and AA collected and sorted the data. CZ and ML reviewed and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to and have approved the final manuscript.

## FUNDING

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation China (Grant of Number 81970808) Natural Science and Guangdong 2019A1515011196 Foundation (Grant Numbers: and 2020A1515010121).

- Cecchetto C, Aiello M, Gentili C, Ionta S, Osimo SA. Increased emotional eating during COVID-19 associated with lockdown, psychological and social distress. *Appetite.* (2021) 160:105122. doi: 10.1016/j.appet.2021.1 05122
- Kitazawa M, Sakamoto C, Yoshimura M, Kawashima M, Inoue S, Mimura M, et al. The relationship of dry eye disease with depression and anxiety: a naturalistic observational study. *Transl Vision Sci Technol.* (2018) 7:35. doi: 10.1167/tvst.7.6.35
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17. doi: 10.3390/ijerph170 51729
- Luo M, Guo L, Yu M, Jiang W, Wang H. The psychological and mental impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on medical staff and general public—a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 291:113190. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113190
- Essangri H, Sabir M, Benkabbou A, Majbar MA, Amrani L, Ghannam A, et al. Predictive factors for impaired mental health among medical students during the early stage of the covid-19 pandemic in Morocco. *Am J Trop Med Hygiene*. (2020) 104:95–102. doi: 10.4269/ajtmh.20-1302
- Balicer RD, Omer SB, Barnett DJ, Everly GS. Local public health workers' perceptions toward responding to an influenza pandemic. *BMC Public Health*. (2006) 6:99. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-6-99
- Li W, Yang Y, Liu Z-H, Zhao Y-J, Zhang Q, Zhang L, et al. Progression of Mental Health Services during the COVID-19 Outbreak in China. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2020) 16:1732–8. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.45120
- 22. Kang L, Li Y, Hu S, Chen M, Yang C, Yang BX, et al. The mental health of medical workers in Wuhan, China dealing with the 2019 novel coronavirus. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:e14. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20) 30047-X
- Bao Y, Sun Y, Meng S, Shi J, Lu L. 2019-nCoV epidemic: address mental health care to empower society. *Lancet (London, England)*. (2020) 395:e37– 8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30309-3
- Cheema M, Aghazadeh H, Nazarali S, Ting A, Hodges J, McFarlane A, et al. Keratoconjunctivitis as the initial medical presentation of the novel coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19). *Can J Ophthalmol.* (2020) 55:e125– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.jcjo.2020.03.003
- Tan BYQ, Chew NWS, Lee GKH, Jing M, Goh Y, Yeo LLL, et al. Psychological Impact of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Health Care Workers in Singapore. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:317–20. doi: 10.7326/M20-1083
- Tremblay MS, Colley RC, Saunders TJ, Healy GN, Owen N. Physiological and health implications of a sedentary lifestyle. *Appl Physiol Nutr Metab.* (2010) 35:725–40. doi: 10.1139/H10-079
- Zhang F, Yin X, Bi C, Ji L, Wu H, Li Y, et al. Psychological symptoms are associated with screen and exercise time: a crosssectional study of Chinese adolescents. *BMC Public Health.* (2020) 20:1695. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09819-7

- Zhang J, Liu M-W, Yu H-J, Chen Q-T, Tang B-W, Yuan S, et al. Associations of health-risk behaviors with mental health among Chinese children. *Psychol Health Med.* (2020) 1–9. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1859559
- 29. Lancet. Social media, screen time, and young people's mental health. *Lancet*. (2019) 393:611. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)30358-7
- Hao X, Zhou D, Li Z, Zeng G, Hao N, Li E, et al. Severe psychological distress among patients with epilepsy during the COVID-19 outbreak in southwest China. *Epilepsia*. (2020) 61:1166–73. doi: 10.1111/epi. 16544
- Purola PKM, Nättinen JE, Ojamo MUI, Koskinen SVP, Rissanen HA, Sainio PRJ, et al. Prevalence and 11-year incidence of common eye diseases and their relation to health-related quality of life, mental health, and visual impairment. *Qual Life Res.* (2021) 30:2311–27. doi: 10.1007/s11136-021-02817-1
- Brown RL, Barrett AE. Visual impairment and quality of life among older adults: an examination of explanations for the relationship. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. (2011) 66:364–73. doi: 10.1093/geronb/ gbr015
- 33. Kempen GI, Ballemans J, Ranchor AV, van Rens GH, Zijlstra GA. The impact of low vision on activities of daily living, symptoms of depression, feelings of anxiety and social support in community-living older adults seeking vision rehabilitation services. *Qual Life Res.* (2012) 21:1405– 11. doi: 10.1007/s11136-011-0061-y

 Jung KI, Park CK. Mental Health Status and Quality of Life in Undiagnosed Glaucoma Patients: A Nationwide Population-Based Study. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). (2016) 95:e3523. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000003523

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Ding, Guo, Zhu, Tuxunjiang, Abudoukeremuahong, Zuo and Lin. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





# A Predictive Study Between Anxiety and Fear of COVID-19 With Psychological Behavior Response: The Mediation Role of Perceived Stress

Hamid Sharif Nia<sup>1</sup>, Long She<sup>2</sup>, Harpaljit Kaur<sup>3</sup>, Christopher Boyle<sup>4</sup>, Fatemeh Khoshnavay Fomani<sup>5\*</sup>, Esmaeil Hoseinzadeh<sup>6</sup>, Daniyal Kohestani<sup>7</sup> and Pardis Rahmatpour<sup>8</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Amol Faculty of Nursing and Midwifery, Traditional and Complementary Medicine Research Center, Addiction Institute, Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences, Sari, Iran, <sup>2</sup> School of Business, Swinburne University of Technology, Sarawak, Malaysia, <sup>3</sup> Faculty of Business and Law, Taylor's University, Subang Jaya, Malaysia, <sup>4</sup> School of Education, The University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, <sup>5</sup> School of Nursing and Midwifery, Tehran University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>6</sup> School of Nursing and Midwifery, Tehran Islamic Azad University of Medical Sciences, Tehran, Iran, <sup>7</sup> School of Nursing and Midwifery, Iran University of Medical Science, Tehran, Iran, <sup>8</sup> Department of Nursing, Alborz University of Medical Sciences, Karaj, Iran

## **OPEN ACCESS**

Edited by:

Xenia Gonda, Semmelweis University, Hungary

#### Reviewed by:

Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia Francesco Chirico, Catholic University of the Sacred Heart, Italy

#### \*Correspondence:

Fatemeh Khoshnavay Fomani f-khoshnava@sina.tums.ac.ir

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 09 January 2022 Accepted: 02 February 2022 Published: 22 March 2022

#### Citation:

Sharif Nia H, She L, Kaur H, Boyle C, Khoshnavay Fomani F, Hoseinzadeh E, Kohestani D and Rahmatpour P (2022) A Predictive Study Between Anxiety and Fear of COVID-19 With Psychological Behavior Response: The Mediation Role of Perceived Stress. Front. Psychiatry 13:851212. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.851212 **Objective:** Despite the abundance of studies linking fear and anxiety to COVID-19, there are limited studies that examine how these elements impact psychological behavioral responses, especially in Iran. The aim of this study was to investigate the relationship between anxiety and fear of COVID-19 with psychological behavior response, whether this relationship is mediated by role of perceived stress among Iranian population during the COVID-19 pandemic.

**Methods:** A predictive cross-sectional study was used to investigate the relationships between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome, fear of COVID-19 with psychological behavioral responses due to the pandemic, and the mediating role of the COVID-19 perceived stress in these relationships.

**Results:** The current study revealed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, fear and anxiety of COVID-19 can influence the psychological behavioral responses of individuals; however, this can be explained through perceived stress.

**Conclusion :** As such, the current study points out that the individuals who perceived high stress due to COVID-19 were more likely to comply with guidelines, which has given new insight into this field. The current study findings are applicable for health policymakers in order to help them in understanding human behavior for developing health promotion programs and also for fostering resilience among the general population.

Keywords: COVID-19, anxiety, perceived stress, psychological behavior response, global pandemic, COVID-19 anxiety syndrome

# INTRODUCTION

The outbreak of the COVID-19 virus has led to millions of deaths globally, forcing governments to take crude measures to halt the spread of the virus. The global pandemic and the subsequent public health measures taken in order to contain the virus have created a profound effect on human life, producing alarming surges in mental health problems, and economic issues (1–5). The prevalence of this virus since December 2019 has long surpassed the rates of infection and death tolls of severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS), Middle East Respiratory Syndrome (MERS), and Ebola, causing immense psychological difficulties to the general population, which are sequelae linked to fear of infection, provoking a secondary mental health crisis (6–10).

On February 19, 2020, Iran reported its first confirmed case in the city of Qom (11), and by August 2021, the virus had infected over 4.1 million people and caused deaths of at least 94,000 Iranians, becoming the highest death toll in the Middle East (12). Due to COVID-19's alarming speed of infection worldwide, WHO declared it as a pandemic in March 2020 (13). National governments, including Iran, enforced unprecedented reforms, such as lockdowns, quarantine, closures of all non-essential business, social distancing, and intensified hygiene practices in attempt to prevent and reduce the spread of COVID-19 (14). By taking these strict measures, a consequence was the exacerbation of negative psychological responses such as anxiety, stress, uncertainty, fear, and other substantial lifestyle changes among its people (15). Studies have shown that healthcare workers (HCWs) (16), alongside adolescents (17), elderly patients (18), and people who were infected by the coronavirus, were the population hardest hit by the COVID-19 pandemic. Consequently, the COVID-19 psychological impact was observed to be prominent in HCWs (16), students, people with poor health, and women (19, 20) but were lessened when preventive health measures were taken (20), which complied with guidelines and government recommendations (21).

Evidence has shown that high levels of anxiety in Iranians can have negative effects on people's lives and can lead to serious problems (22). Anxiety due to COVID-19 has been associated with contracting and/or dying from COVID-19, fear of their families or loved ones getting infected (23, 24), financial issues (25), and fear of shortage of food, medicine, and other necessities due to panic buying and hoarding (26, 27), thus negatively affecting one's mental health (24). In the same vein, the pandemic has drastically impacted lifestyles, creating anxiety due to social connectedness (28, 29), isolation (30, 31), loneliness (32), and financial hardship (30, 33). This uncontrollable anxiety can lead to an emotional state that may overwhelm the behavior, feelings, and thoughts of the individuals, causing further mental or psychological disorders (34). In addition, obsessive thinking, and other forms of perseveration about COVID-19, may escalate the emergence of clinical anxiety and maladaptive coping (3, 35). Studies have also highlighted that the post-pandemic anxiety may be higher due to the difficulty of returning to "normal" societal functioning, which unavoidably requires exposure to environments related with a greater risk of infection, such as public transport, offices, cinemas, and theaters (35).

During the COVID-19 pandemic, fear has been the most vital and common sentiment with substantial psychological effect on individuals, imploring them to sustain sanitation during the lockdowns and quarantines, thus experiencing stress, anxiety, worry, panic, and phobia to some extent, if it is not wellcalibrated (36, 37). Fear can be ascribed to the individual's knowledge of the facts related to that virus either from the media or government bodies, or by directly experiencing the illness or exposure to the indirect experience of a disease outbreak (8, 38-42). Schimmenti et al. (43) categorized fear as: fear for the body, fear for significant others, fear of not knowing, and fear of inaction and past studies have linked fear positively with increased anxiety and depressive symptoms (43-45). Parlapani et al. (19) identified women to have substantially higher levels of fear toward COVID-19 as compared to men, leading participants to have severe depressive and anxiety symptoms. In addition, they discovered that people <30 years old showed less fear of the pandemic. However, severe COVID-19 fear is linked with higher suicide risk (46, 47), psychological distress (5, 48), anxiety and depression (Ahorsu, Lin, Imani, Saffari, Griffiths, (49, 50)), xenophobia and discrimination (51, 52), and pre-existing mental health disorders (53). On the other hand, insufficient fear of the pandemic, whereby the government restrictive measures and policies to combat the pandemic are ignored (45, 54) and COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy (55), may harm the individual and society negatively.

The increasing numbers of COVID-19 infections and mortality have escalated stress (37), which is the main risk factors of mental health problems such as insomnia, anxiety, and depression (49, 54, 56, 57). Stress caused by the pandemic was found to be higher in women (9, 37, 42), younger people (58), those with poor sleeping habits (37, 58, 59), support caregivers, and other minority and disadvantaged groups (60) as they have lower compliance with prevention behavior and/or have less adaptive coping strategies, leading to substantial long-term mental health problems (61). Interestingly, people with higher education were found to have higher level of stress, anxiety, and depression during this pandemic (62), which may be due to their high self-awareness about their health (50).

Despite the abundance of studies linking fear and anxiety to COVID-19, there are limited studies, to the authors' knowledge, that examine how these elements impact psychological behavioral responses, especially in Iran. Hence, this current study was conducted to assess two research objectives, the first is to determine the effect of COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and fear of COVID-19 on psychological behavioral responses in Iran. The second objective evaluated the role of stress in mediating the relationships between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and fear of COVID-19 on psychological behavioral responses among the Iranian people. The psychological and behavioral responses of COVID-19 in Iran is crucial to enhance resilience and to decrease the population's vulnerability.

TABLE 1   Demographic characteristics	of participants ( $n = 926$ ).
---------------------------------------	--------------------------------

Variables	n (%)
Gender	
Female	782 (85.2)
Male	137 (14.8)
Marital status	
Single	286 (30.9)
Married	640 (69.1)
Education level	
Under diploma	19 (2.1)
Diploma	128 (13.8)
Upper Diploma	58 (6.3)
Bachelor	417 (45.0)
Master	243 (26.2)
Ph.D.	54 (5.8)

## **METHODS**

A predictive, cross-sectional online questionnaire-based survey was used in this study to investigate the relationships between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome, fear of COVID-19 with psychological behavioral responses due to the pandemic, and the mediating role of the COVID-19 perceived stress in these relationships.

## **Participants**

The requisite sample size was estimated to be 1,000, with a probability of 0.05, a statistical power of 80%, an anticipated medium effect size of 0.12, and 31 items measuring four constructs. This estimate was calculated *a priori* using a sample size calculator for Structural Equation Models (SEM) (63). The minimum statistical power analysis in humanities and social sciences studies should be 80% (64). In total, 926 participants in Iran participated between October and November 2020 during the initial stages of the COVID-19 pandemic. The online scales were created via Google Forms and its URL link was sent by email or social networking applications such as a Telegram channel or WhatsApp group of adults. The inclusion criteria for participants were adults (age > 18) who were willing to participate in this study. The mean age of participants was 31.12 (SD = 7.62) (range 18 to 67) years old, and most were female (85.2%), married (69.1%), and had a bachelor's degree (45.0%). Other socio-demographic information is provided in Table 1.

## Instruments

A demographic form and the Persian version of the following scales were used in this study.

## **Perceived Stress Scale**

The PSS-10 is a self-reported scale to measure the global level of perceived stress (65). This scale includes two factors: Factor 1 (Perceived Helplessness) is made of negatively phrased items (i.e., items 1, 2, 3, 6, 9, and 10; e.g., "In the last month, how often have

you felt nervous and stressed?"), and Factor 2 (Perceived Self-Efficacy) is made of positively phrased items (i.e., items 4, 5, 7, and 8; e.g., "In the last month, how often have you felt that things were going your way?").

## The Persian Version of the COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome

This self-report measure includes nine items, loading on two factors, assessing features of the anxiety syndrome linked to COVID-19. These are (1) avoidance (e.g., of public transport because of the fear of contracting COVID-19); (2) checking (e.g., of symptoms of COVID-19); (3) worrying (e.g., researching symptoms of COVID-19 at the cost of other activities); and (4) threat monitoring (e.g., paying close attention to others displaying possible symptoms of COVID-19. Items relating to checking, worrying, and threat monitoring load on the first factor ("perseveration") with a second factor comprising avoidance items ("avoidance"). Participants are asked to rate how frequently they experience each feature of the anxiety syndrome using a 5-point time anchored scale (0 = "Not at all" to 4 = "Nearly" every day over the last 2 weeks"). Scores range between 0 and 36, with higher scores indicative of increased levels of the anxiety syndrome. The C-19ASS has demonstrated good reliability and validity (35). In the current study, the Cronbach  $\alpha$  was 0.82.

# The Persian Version of the Fear of COVID-19

The FCV-19S (44) is a seven-item scale that assesses the fear of COVID-19. The seven items (e.g., "I am most afraid of coronavirus-19") are rated on a 5-point scale from 1 (strongly disagree) to 5 (strongly agree) with scores ranging from 7 to 35. The higher the score, the greater the fear of COVID-19.

# The Persian Version of the Psychological Behavioral Responses

The PBR (66) is a self-reported measure that assesses the characteristics of psychological and behavioral responses in COVID-19. This measure includes 5 items with scores ranging from 1 (never) to 4 (always) and has good validity and reliability.

## **Data Analysis**

To assess factor structure, exploratory factors analysis (EFA) was performed through maximum likelihood with Promax rotation using SPSS version 26. The Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) and the Bartlett's test of sphericity were employed to ensure the study sample was appropriate to perform the factor analysis. Items with absolute loading below 0.5 were removed (67). Next, following the two-step approach, this study employed covariance-based structural equation modeling and Amos version 27 to test the measurement model and structural model. First, to assess the measurement model, the maximum likelihood confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) was performed. Model fit was assessed using several model fit indexes and the model was revised according to the modification indices (67). The internal consistency of each construct was assessed using its Cronbach's alpha. Construct reliability was assessed using composite reliability (CR) and maximal reliability (MaxR). The convergent validity was assessed through average variance extracted (AVE) of the latent constructs. Cronbach's alpha, CR, and MaxR were >0.7, indicating good internal consistency and construct reliability, while AVE of >0.5 indicates good convergent validity. To establish discriminant validity, the heterotrait–monotrait ratio of correlation (HTMT) matrix with values <0.85 was considered acceptable discriminant validity (68). Next, the proposed model and hypothesis were tested. In order to test the hypotheses in the structural model, bootstrapping with 2,000 replications was performed (67). All tests in this study were two-tailed, and *p* values of <0.05 were considered statistically significant.

## **Ethical Considerations**

The study aims, number of items, time to complete the survey, the researchers' affiliation and email for queries, and the ethical code of study were inserted on the first page of the online questionnaire. These items informed participants that their participation was voluntary and that their responses would be published anonymously as group data. The protocol of this study was approved by the Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences Research Ethics Committee (IR.MAZUMS.REC.1400.13728).

## RESULTS

The results of the maximum likelihood EFA with Promax rotation extracted five factors, in which COVID-19 anxiety syndrome was divided into two factors, namely, perseverate thinking (five items) and avoidance (four items). The values of Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin (KMO) was 0.911 and Bartlett's test of sphericity showed the adequacy of the sampling and suitability of the data for performing the factor analysis (p < 0.001,  $\chi^2 = 10,557.720$ , df = 300). One item from perceived stress and two items from psychological behavioral responses were removed due to weak factor loadings of <0.5. The final factor structure explained 57.793% of the variance.

The maximum likelihood CFA was performed to assess the measurement model based on the factor structure obtained from EFA. The results showed that the initial measurement model with all first-order construct did not fit the data well  $[\chi^2(242) =$ 1,283.852, p < 0.001,  $\chi^2/df = 5.305$ , CFI = 0.898, IFI = 0.898, TLI = 0.883, SRMR = 0.059, and RMSEA (90% CI) = 0.068 (0.065, 0.072)]. Following the results of modification indices, five pairs of the item measurement error (i.e., anxiety syndrometwo pairs; fear of COVID-19-three pairs) were allowed to freely covary to improve the model fit. The revised measurement model with all first-order constructs has improved significantly  $[\Delta \chi^2]$  $(\Delta df = 4) = 411.581, p < 0.001$  and fitted the data well [ $\chi^2(238)$ ]  $= 872.271, p < 0.001, \chi^2/df = 3.665, CFI = 0.938, IFI = 0.938,$ TLI = 0.928, SRMR = 0.053, and RMSEA (90% CI) = 0.054 (0.050-0.058)]. Next, COVID-19 anxiety syndrome was included in the revised measurement model as second-order construct, and the results showed that the final measurement model fit also fitted the data well [ $\chi^2(240) = 1,016.966, p < 0.001, \chi^2/df =$ 4.237, CFI = 0.924, IFI = 0.924, TLI = 0.912, SRMR = 0.053, and RMSEA (90% CI) = 0.059 (0.055, 0.063)], and all factor loadings were > 0.5 and significantly.

**Table 2** shows the results of the measurement model assessment. All constructs (both first-order and second-order constructs) showed good internal consistency (Cronbach's alpha ranged from 0.721 to 0.886), and construct reliability (CR ranged from 0.724 to 0.876, MaxR ranged from 0.732 to 0.889). As shown in **Table 2**, all constructs' AVE was >0.5, except for construct of avoidance (0.398) and psychological behavioral responses (0.471). Although the AVE for these two constructs was <0.5, Fornell and Larcker (69) recommended that if AVE is <0.5, CR of >0.7 alone can be used to establish convergent validity of the construct. Indeed, AVE is a strict measure of convergent validity and a more conservative measure than CR (70). Therefore, all constructs have achieved convergent validity.

**Table 3** shows the results of HTMT matrix, and all values in the HTMT matrix were <0.9, demonstrating the acceptable discriminant validity of all constructs.

Next, the proposed structural model and hypotheses were tested while controlling for the effect of participants' age, gender, marital status, and education level. The results of the structural model assessment are shown in Table 4. The results of assessing total effect showed a significant positive relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.767, p < 0.001), and between fear of COVID-19 and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.121, p < 0.1210.001), providing support for H1 and H2. The total effect model explained 68% of the total variance of psychological behavioral responses. Moreover, the results of assessing direct effect showed a significant positive relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and perceived stress (b = 0.113, p < 0.01), between fear of COVID-19 and perceived stress (b = 0.455, p < 0.001), and between perceived stress and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.100, p < 0.001); thus, H3, H4, and H5 were supported. Lastly, using a bootstrapping approach, the results of assessing indirect effects supported H6 and H7 on the positive mediation role of perceived stress in the relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.011, p < 0.01) and between fear of COVID-19 and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.046, p < 0.001). The significant direct relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.756, p < 0.001) and between fear of COVID-19 and psychological behavioral responses (b = 0.075, p < 0.01) indicates that the mediation role of perceived stress for both relationships was partial.

The mediation model explained 70% of the total variance of psychological behavioral responses and 33% of the total variance of perceived stress. **Figure 1** shows the results of the structural model.

## DISCUSSION

The current study sought to assess the relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and fear of COVID-19 with psychological behavioral responses. Moreover, the study aimed to examine whether the COVID-19 perceived

#### TABLE 2 | Results of the Measurement model assessment.

Construct	Factor loading	Cronbach's alpha	CR	MaxR	AVE
First order construct					
Perseverate thinking					
Item 1	0.659	0.846	0.844	0.860	0.524
Item 2	0.588				
Item 3	0.814				
Item 4	0.825				
Item 5	0.706				
Avoidance					
Item 1	0.538	0.721	0.724	0.732	0.398
Item 2	0.684				
Item 3	0.671				
Item 4	0.618				
Fear of COVID-19					
Item 1	0.758	0.886	0.876	0.889	0.500
Item 2	0.813				
Item 3	0.611				
Item 4	0.740				
Item 5	0.793				
Item 6	0.538				
Item 7	0.678				
Perceived Stress					
Item 1	0.722	0.863	0.863	0.868	0.559
Item 2	0.789				
Item 3	0.792				
Item 5	0.683				
Item 6	0.746				
Psychological Behavioral Responses					
Item 3	0.546	0.721	0.724	0.755	0.47
Item 4	0.798				
Item 5	0.691				
Second order construct					
COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome		0.830	0.749	0.895	0.559
Perseverate thinking	0.578				
Avoidance	0.943				

TABLE 3 | Discriminant validity assessment using HTMT matrix.

	(1)	(2)	(3)	(4)	(5)
First order construct					
Perseverate thinking					
Avoidance	0.552				
Fear of COVID-19	0.615	0.482			
Perceived Stress	0.343	0.237	0.505		
Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.252	0.834	0.306	0.065	
Second order construct					
(6) COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome			0.645	0.344	0.564
	Perseverate thinking Avoidance Fear of COVID-19 Perceived Stress Psychological Behavioral Responses Second order construct	First order constructPerseverate thinkingAvoidance0.552Fear of COVID-190.615Perceived Stress0.343Psychological Behavioral Responses0.252Second order construct0.252	First order constructPerseverate thinkingAvoidance0.552Fear of COVID-190.6150.482Perceived Stress0.3430.237Psychological Behavioral Responses0.2520.834Second order constructUU	First order constructPerseverate thinkingAvoidance0.552Fear of COVID-190.6150.482Perceived Stress0.3430.2370.505Psychological Behavioral Responses0.2520.8340.306Second order constructUnit of the second s	First order constructPerseverate thinkingAvoidance0.552Fear of COVID-190.6150.482Perceived Stress0.3430.2370.505Psychological Behavioral Responses0.2520.8340.3060.065Second order construct

stress mediates the relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome, fear of COVID-19, and psychological behavioral responses.

The findings revealed that there was a significant positive correlation between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and psychological behavioral responses. This finding aligns with

#### TABLE 4 | Structural model assessment.

Paths	Unstandardized Path	95% confidence level
	coefficients	(Lower Bound, Upper Bound)
Total Effect		
COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome $\rightarrow$ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.767***	(0.708,0.832)
Fear of COVID-19 $\rightarrow$ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.121***	(0.089,0.155)
Direct Effects		
COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome $\rightarrow$ Perceived Stress	0.113**	(0.043,0.188)
Fear of COVID-19→ Perceived Stress	0.455***	(0.412,0.496)
Perceived Stress $\rightarrow$ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.100***	(0.074,0.127)
COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome $\rightarrow$ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.756***	(0.698,0.820)
Fear of COVID-19→ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.075**	(0.041,0.112)
Mediation Effects		
COVID-19 Anxiety Syndrome $\rightarrow$ Perceived Stress $\rightarrow$ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.011**	(0.004,0.021)
Fear of COVID-19 $\rightarrow$ Perceived Stress $\rightarrow$ Psychological Behavioral Responses	0.046***	(0.033,0.060)

\*\*\* p < 0.001, \*\* p < 0.05; Control variables: age, gender, marital status, and education level.



previous studies in determining a positive relationship between the COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and psychological behavioral responses such as depression, feelings of helplessness, persistent worrying, and never feeling clean after disinfecting (71). Pandemic psychological distress can shape the behavior (35) and it has been identified that people usually experience fear, sense of isolation (72), and a wide range of behavioral change (73) during novel pandemics (74). However, in response to the stress experienced by people as a result of COVID-19, there are many behavioral changes that have led to overcompliance with health protocols as well as many reports of non-compliance with these protocols such as wearing masks and hand washing (39). The current article has identified that a person's gender, age, and educational level have increased the likelihood of non-compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures. The findings of a longitudinal cohort study have indicated that non-compliance, especially with hygienerelated measures, was more prevalent in male participants and individuals with higher educations (75). This is why we have controlled the effects of gender, age, and education during the data analysis.

The current study also explored the positive correlation between fear of COVID-19 and psychological behavioral responses. According to the protection motivation theory (PMT), which proposed key contributors to people's willingness to make behavioral changes (76), the extent of the fear that the individual perceives, as well as the other factors such as coping skills, have the potential to determine individuals' behavioral response. The COVID-19 pandemic formed several fears for people such as fear of being contaminated (72) or the fear of the unknown (77, 78) that can trigger elements related to psychological behavioral responses. Due to the novel nature of the current pandemic with a rapid person-to-person transmission, as well as its potential for transmission from asymptomatic carriers, individuals may experience a threat that causes fear (19, 79). Fear of COVID-19 can lead to protective behaviors (49). It has been revealed by research (54) that fear of COVID-19 was the only predictor of positive behavior change such as improved hand hygiene or social distancing. Interestingly, they found that the COVID-19 fear and anxiety were stronger predictors than moral and political orientation (54). Similarly, fear can significantly increase individual engagement in preventive behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic (80). It is worth mentioning that the relationship between fear and health behaviors is 2-fold. A study conducted in Greece (2020) among 3,029 participants indicated that the greater application of safety or checking behaviors, as well as a high level of compliance with guidelines, led to an amplification of fear, potentially due to increased contamination awareness (19).

It has been suggested by the current study that there is a significant positive relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome and perceived stress. Also, the significant positive correlation between fear of COVID-19 and perceived stress was shown by the current study's findings. The person's appraisal of a stressor as threatening or not, as well as her/his own abilities to cope can indicate the perceived stress level (81). Several factors such as the inconsistency between policies and scientific evidence (82), the lockdown policies and quarantine (83, 84), evidences of possible fatal consequences of contracting the virus (85), repeated exposure to media reports (52), and the individual psychological trait (86) influence the perceived stress associated with COVID-19. The findings of an Iranian study have indicated that the most stressful event during the COVID-19 outbreak was the rise in essential goods prices. They have also found that the death of a family member due to COVID-19 infection was the main source of perceived stress (87). The anxiety and fear of contracting COVID-19 are also identified as the most important underlying factor influencing the level of COVID-19 perceived stress. The findings of a study (88) showed that higher COVID-19 perceived stress was associated with more emotional distress including fear and anxiety. It has been indicated that perceived stress due to COVID-19 among the Iranian general population was slightly high, and it has been correlated with using social media (89). Previous studies have also shown that, in some cases, social media can increase the perceived risk of the outbreaks (90). The findings of a large national study in Iran found a high level of stress among the general Iranian population during the COVID-19 outbreak in which those in middle age groups and low to moderate socioeconomic status experienced the highest stress due to worry about losing their jobs or income (91).

The findings of the current study showed that there is a positive significant correlation between the perceived stress of COVID-19 and psychological behavioral responses. Furthermore, the perceived stress of COVID-19 mediated the relationship between COVID-19 anxiety and fear of COVID-19, and psychological behavioral responses. Although there are studies that indicate that the more the individual perceives the stress, the higher the potential for engaging in unhealthy behaviors (92), the current study showed a contradictory finding. As such, the current study points out that the individuals who perceived high stress due to COVID-19 were more likely to comply with guidelines. This finding is supported by previous findings that indicated that practicing precautionary behaviors during the COVID-19 pandemic is strongly associated with perceived stress (66, 93). Some existing studies addressed the mediating role of perceived stress in relationships between different concepts and psychological behavioral responses in different settings. For example, a study conducted by Pfeffer et al. (94) indicated the moderating role of perceived stress and trait self-control in the context of intention and physical activity behavior. It has also been found that nearly half of the total effect of self-compassion on health behavior occurred through perceived stress (95). According to the transactional stress model (96), individuals' reactions and adaptation to the objective stressful events are determined by their cognitive appraisal of the stressors such as perceived stress. It has been addressed by the studies' findings that those individuals who perceive the high levels of stress may have more difficulty in realizing positive cognition, emotion, and behaviors and are at a greater risk for health problems (88, 97). However, the current study indicated that the more individuals perceived the COVID-19 stress, the higher the compliance with the protective measures. In line with this finding, a cross-sectional study with 3,727 Iranian participants revealed that respondents were motivated by the COVID-19 danger and fear control responses that indicates their high perceived efficacy (98). The extended parallel process model (EPPM) (99) suggests supporting theoretical explanation for the current study finding. EPPM suggests that individuals who are exposed to a risky situation usually apply two types of cognitive appraisal, namely, the efficacy of the recommended advice and perceived threat. Accordingly, individuals who perceive the COVID-19 threat in high levels while perceiving low efficacy usually act to protect themselves from the fear rather than the danger itself (fear control process). Instead, those who perceive high efficacy, even if they perceive a high level of threat, usually will be motivated to protect themselves from the danger (danger control process).

## **Study Limitations**

While the study provides new information relative to the mediating role of the perceived stress on the relationship between COVID-19 anxiety syndrome, fear of COVID-19, and psychological behavioral responses, it is not without its limitations. The cross-sectional design of this study does not allow for firm causal conclusions. Conducting longitudinal studies by collecting data at different points in time as well as experimental studies are recommended for future research since there are numerous complex and dynamic processes by which spirituality relates to mental health outcomes. In terms of mediation studies, the most salient mediating processes seem to involve stress dimensions, values/attitudes, and social control/norms, which need to be investigated in further studies. Furthermore, the data were gathered via online data collection. Despite its advantages (e.g., affordability and accessibility), online surveys have been criticized for selection bias and difficulty reaching certain types of participants (100, 101).

## CONCLUSION

The current study revealed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, fear and anxiety of COVID-19 can influence the psychological behavioral responses of the individuals; however, this can be explained through perceived stress. The visibility of protective factors in addition to risk factors can offer a broader view on measures to deal with depression in the general population resulting from global adverse situations such as the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. The current study findings are applicable for health policymakers to help them in developing health promotion programs and fostering resilience among the general

## REFERENCES

- Brooks SK, Webster RK, Smith LE, Woodland L, Wessely S, Greenberg N, et al. The psychological impact of quarantine and how to reduce it: rapid review of the evidence. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:912–20. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30460-8
- Kawohl W, Nordt C. COVID-19, unemployment, and suicide. Lancet Psychiatry. (2020) 7:389–90. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30141-3
- Lee SA, Mathis AA, Jobe MC, Pappalardo EA. Clinically significant fear and anxiety of COVID-19: a psychometric examination of the Coronavirus Anxiety Scale. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 290:113112. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113112
- Wilder-Smith A, Freedman DO. Isolation, quarantine, social distancing and community containment: pivotal role for old-style public health measures in the novel coronavirus (2019-nCoV) outbreak. J Travel Med. (2020) 27:taaa020. doi: 10.1093/jtm/taaa020
- Xiang, Y.-T., Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:228–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30046-8
- Gruber J, Prinstein MJ, Clark LA, Rottenberg J, Abramowitz JS, Albano AM, et al. Mental health and clinical psychological science in the time of COVID-19: challenges, opportunities, and a call to action. *Am Psychol.* (2020) 76:409–26. doi: 10.31234/osf.io/desg9
- Pfefferbaum B, North CS. Mental health and the Covid-19 pandemic. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:510–12. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2008017

population. Also, it is useful for organizations and workplaces because they have been known as the best place to provide psychological support to the general population. Workplaces have a considerable role in preventing the spread of COVID-19 infection, and conducting health promotion programs to increase psychological skills and coping mechanisms to address the negative effects of the COVID-19 pandemic (102).

# DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences Research Ethics Committee (IR.MAZUMS.REC.1400.13728). Written informed consent to participate in this study was provided by the participants' legal guardian/next of kin.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

All authors listed have made a substantial, direct, and intellectual contribution to the work and approved it for publication.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank the Mazandaran University of Medical Sciences.

- Sadeghzadeh M, Abbasi M, Khajavi Y, Amirazodi HJCP. Psychological correlates of anxiety in response to COVID-19 outbreak among Iranian University students. *Curr Psychol.* (2021) 1–10. doi: 10.1007/s12144-020-01237-7
- Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, McIntyre RS. A longitudinal study on the mental health of general population during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. *Brain, Behav, Immun.* (2020) 87:40–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020. 04.028
- Wilder-Smith A. COVID-19 in comparison with other emerging viral diseases: risk of geographic spread via travel. *Trop Dis, Travel Med Vaccines*. (2021) 7:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s40794-020-00129-9
- Batrawy A. Iran says 12 dead from new virus, rejects higher death toll. AP News (2020, Februaray 24). Retrieved from: https://apnews.com/article/ united-nations-health-ap-top-news-international-news-virus-outbreak-32540d09ec101aac057660ef1b0aa970
- Press A. Iran sees highest daily virus case, death counts in pandemic. CTV News (2021, August 8). Retrieved from: https://www.ctvnews.ca/ health/coronavirus/iran-sees-highest-daily-virus-case-death-counts-inpandemic-1.5539044
- 13. World Health Organization. WHO Director-General's Opening Remarks at the Media Briefing on COVID-19-11 March 2020. Geneva (2020).
- Haug N, Geyrhofer L, Londei A, Dervic E, Desvars-Larrive A, Loreto V, et al. Ranking the effectiveness of worldwide COVID-19 government interventions. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2020) 4:1303–12. doi: 10.1038/s41562-020-01009-0

- Paluszek MM, Landry CA, Taylor S, Asmundson GJ. The psychological sequelae of the COVID-19 pandemic: Psychological processes, current research ventures, and preparing for a postpandemic world. *Behav Therapist*. (2020) 43:158–63.
- Chirico F, Ferrari G, Nucera G, Szarpak L, Crescenzo P, Ilesanmi O. Prevalence of anxiety, depression, burnout syndrome, and mental health disorders among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a rapid umbrella review of systematic reviews. J Health Soc Sci. (2021) 6:209-20.
- Loades ME, Chatburn E, Higson-Sweeney N, Reynolds S, Shafran R, Brigden A, et al. Rapid systematic review: the impact of social isolation and loneliness on the mental health of children and adolescents in the context of COVID-19. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2020) 59:1218– 39.e1213. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2020.05.009
- Prendki V, Tau N, Avni T, Falcone M, Huttner A, Kaiser L, et al. A systematic review assessing the under-representation of elderly adults in COVID-19 trials. *BMC Geriatr*. (2020) 20:538. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01954-5
- Parlapani E, Holeva V, Voitsidis P, Blekas A, Gliatas I, Porfyri GN, et al. Psychological and Behavioral Responses to the COVID-19 Pandemic in Greece. *Front Psychiatry*. (2020) 11:821. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00821
- 20. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:1729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729
- Qian M, Wu Q, Wu P, Hou Z, Liang Y, Cowling BJ, et al. Psychological responses, behavioral changes and public perceptions during the early phase of the COVID-19 outbreak in China: a population based cross-sectional survey. *medRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.02.18.20024448
- Sharif Nia H, Akhlaghi E, Torkian S, Khosravi V, Etesami R, Froelicher ES, et al. Predictors of persistence of anxiety, hyperarousal stress, and resilience during the COVID-19 epidemic: a national study in Iran. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:3293. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.671124
- 23. Anderson-Shaw LK, Zar FA. COVID-19, moral conflict, distress, dying alone. J Bioeth Inq. (2020) 17:777–82. doi: 10.1007/s11673-020-10040-9
- 24. Jamshaid S, Malik NI, Haider AA, Jamshed K, Jamshad S. Overthinking hurts: rumination, worry and mental health of international students in China during Covid-19 pandemic. *Paper Presented at the International Joint Conference on Arts and Humanities (IJCAH 2020)*. Surabaya (2020).
- Morin CM, Carrier J, Bastien C, Godbout R. Sleep and circadian rhythm in response to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Can J Public Health*. (2020) 111:654– 7. doi: 10.17269/s41997-020-00382-7
- Goddard E, Co-operative Chair in Agricultural Marketing and Business. The impact of COVID-19 on food retail and food service in Canada: preliminary assessment. *Can J Agric Econ.* (2020) 69:167–75. doi: 10.1111/cjag. 12243
- Jovančević A, Milićević NJP. Optimism-pessimism, conspiracy theories and general trust as factors contributing to COVID-19 related behavior-a cross-cultural study. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2020) 167:110216. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110216
- Armitage R, Nellums LB. COVID-19 and the consequences of isolating the elderly. *Lancet Public Health*. (2020) 5:e256. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(20)30061-X
- Donovan NJ, Blazer D. Social isolation and loneliness in older adults: review and commentary of a National Academies report. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2020) 28:1233–44. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2020.08.005
- Brenner MH, Bhugra D. Acceleration of anxiety, depression, and suicide: secondary effects of economic disruption related to COVID-19. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:1422. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020. 592467
- DeJong CA, Verhagen JGD, Pols R, Verbrugge CA, Baldacchino AJB. Psychological impact of the acute COVID-19 period on patients with substance use disorders: we are all in this together. *Basic Clin Neurosci.* (2020) 11:207. doi: 10.32598/bcn.11.covid19.2543.1
- Hoffart A, Johnson SU, Ebrahimi O. Loneliness and social distancing during the COVID-19 pandemic: risk factors and associations with psychopathology. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:1297. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.589127

- Bareket-Bojmel L, Shahar G, Margalit MJ. COVID-19-related economic anxiety is as high as health anxiety: findings from the USA, the UK, and Israel. Int J Cogn Ther. (2020) 14:566–74. doi: 10.1007/s41811-020-00078-3
- Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 288:112954. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112954
- Nikčević AV, Spada MM. The COVID-19 anxiety syndrome scale: development and psychometric properties. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 292:113322. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.11 3322
- 36. Ahmadi Κ, Ramezani MA. Iranian emotional experience and expression during the COVID-19 crisis. Asia Pac J Public Health. (2020)32:285-6. doi: 10.1177/101053952093 7097
- 37. Liu N, Zhang F, Wei C, Jia Y, Shang Z, Sun L, et al. Prevalence and predictors of PTSS during COVID-19 outbreak in China hardest-hit areas: gender differences matter. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 287:112921. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112921
- Blakey SM, Abramowitz JS. Psychological predictors of health anxiety in response to the Zika virus. J Clin Psychol Med Settings. (2017) 24:270– 8. doi: 10.1007/s10880-017-9514-y
- Gao J, Zheng P, Jia Y, Chen H, Mao Y, Chen S, et al. Mental health problems and social media exposure during COVID-19 outbreak. *PLoS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0231924. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231924
- Garfin DR, Silver RC, Holman EA. The novel coronavirus (COVID-2019) outbreak: amplification of public health consequences by media exposure. *Health Psychol.* (2020) 39:355. doi: 10.1037/hea0000875
- Khademian F, Delavari S, Koohjani Z, Khademian Z. An investigation of depression, anxiety, and stress and its relating factors during COVID-19 pandemic in Iran. BMC Public Health. (2021) 21:1–7. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-10329-3
- Moghanibashi-Mansourieh A. Assessing the anxiety level of Iranian general population during COVID-19 outbreak. *Asian J Psychiatry*. (2020) 51:102076. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102076
- Schimmenti A, Billieux J, Starcevic V. The four horsemen of fear: An integrated model of understanding fear experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Clin Neuropsychiatry*. (2020) 17:41–5. doi: 10.36131/CN20200202
- Ahorsu DK, Lin, C.-Y., Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, et al. The fear of COVID-19 scale: development and initial validation. *Int J Ment Health Addict.* (2020) 1–9. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8
- Mertens G, Gerritsen L, Duijndam S, Salemink E, Engelhard IM. Fear of the coronavirus (COVID-19): Predictors in an online study conducted in March 2020. J Anxiety Disord. (2020) 74:102258. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102258
- Dsouza DD, Quadros S, Hyderabadwala ZJ, Mamun MA. Aggregated COVID-19 suicide incidences in India: fear of COVID-19 infection is the prominent causative factor. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 290:113145. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113145
- Mamun MA, Griffiths MD. First COVID-19 suicide case in Bangladesh due to fear of COVID-19 and xenophobia: possible suicide prevention strategies. *Asian J Psychiatry*. (2020) 51:102073. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102073
- Fernández RS, Crivelli L, Guimet NM, Allegri RF, Pedreira ME. Psychological distress associated with COVID-19 quarantine: latent profile analysis, outcome prediction and mediation analysis. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:75– 84. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.133
- Pakpour AH, Griffiths MD. The fear of COVID-19 and its role in preventive behaviors. J Concurrent Disord. (2020) 2:58–63. doi: 10.54127/WCIC8036
- Zhang Y, Ma ZF. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health and quality of life among local residents in Liaoning Province, China: a cross-sectional study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:2381. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17072381
- Devakumar D, Shannon G, Bhopal SS, Abubakar I. Racism and discrimination in COVID-19 responses. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1194. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30792-3
- Lima CKT, de Medeiros Carvalho PM, Lima IAAS, de Oliveira Nunes JVA, Saraiva JS, et al. The emotional impact of Coronavirus 2019-nCoV (new Coronavirus disease). *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 287:112915. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112915

- Colizzi M, Bortoletto R, Silvestri M, Mondini F, Puttini E, Cainelli C. Medically unexplained symptoms in the times of COVID-19 pandemic: a case-report. *Brain, Behav, Immun - Health* (2020) 5:100073. doi: 10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100073
- Harper CA, Satchell LP, Fido D, Latzman RD. Functional fear predicts public health compliance in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Ment Health Addict*. (2020) 19:1875–88. doi: 10.31234/osf.io/jkfu3
- Willis DE, Andersen JA, Bryant-Moore K, Selig JP, Long CR, Felix HC. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy: race/ethnicity, trust, and fear. *Clin Transl Sci.* (2021) 14:2200–7. doi: 10.1111/cts.13077
- 56. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou PJB. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain, Behav, Immun.* (2020) 88:901–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026
- Taylor S, Landry CA, Paluszek MM, Fergus TA, McKay D, Asmundson JJD, et al. COVID stress syndrome: concept, structure, and correlates. *Depress Anxiety*. (2020) 37:706–14. doi: 10.1002/da.23071
- Huang Y, Zhao N. Mental health burden for the public affected by the COVID-19 outbreak in China: who will be the high-risk group? *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 26:23–34. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1754438
- Schäfer SK, Sopp MR, Schanz CG, Staginnus M, Göritz AS, Michael TJP. Impact of COVID-19 on public mental health and the buffering effect of a sense of coherence. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2020) 89:386– 92. doi: 10.1159/000510752
- Park CL, Russell BS, Fendrich M, Finkelstein-Fox L, Hutchison M, Becker J. Americans' COVID-19 stress, coping, and adherence to CDC guidelines. J Gen Intern Med. (2020) 35:2296–303. doi: 10.1007/s11606-020-05898-9
- Galea S, Merchant RM, Lurie N. The mental health consequences of COVID-19 and physical distancing: the need for prevention and early intervention. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2020) 180:817– 18. doi: 10.1001/jamainternmed.2020.1562
- 62. Salari N, Hosseinian-Far A, Jalali R, Vaisi-Raygani A, Rasoulpoor S, Mohammadi M. Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Global Health*. (2020) 16:1–11. doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w
- Calculator FS. A-Priori Sample Size for Structural Equation Models Calculator. (2021). Retrieved from: https://www.danielsoper.com/statcalc/ calculator.aspx?id=89 (accessed December 09, 2021).
- Cohen J. Statistical Power Analysis for the Behavioral Sciences. 2nd ed. Hillsdale, NJ: Lawrence Earlbaum Associates (1988).
- Cohen S. Perceived stress in a probability sample of the United States. In: Spacapan S, Oskamp S, editors. *The Social Psychology of Health*. Sage Publications, Inc. (1988). p. 31–67.
- 66. Lee M, You M. Psychological and behavioral responses in south korea during the early stages of Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19). Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2020) 17:2977. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1709 2977
- 67. Pahlevan Sharif S, Sharif Nia. H. *Structural Equation Modeling With AMOS.* Tehran: Artin Teb (2018).
- Henseler J, Ringle CM, Sarstedt M. A new criterion for assessing discriminant validity in variance-based structural equation modeling. *J Acad Mark Sci.* (2015) 43:115–35. doi: 10.1007/s11747-014-0403-8
- Fornell C, Larcker DF. Evaluating structural equation models with unobservable variables and measurement error. J Mark Res. (1981) 18:39– 50. doi: 10.1177/002224378101800104
- Pahlevan Sharif S, She L, Yeoh KK, Naghavi N. Heavy social networking and online compulsive buying: the mediating role of financial social comparison and materialism. J Market Theory Pract. (2021) 1–13. doi: 10.1080/10696679.2021.1909425
- Zhang W, Yang X, Zhao J, Yang F, Jia Y, Cui C, et al. Depression and psychological-behavioral responses among the general public in china during the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic: survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e22227. doi: 10.2196/22227
- Coelho CM, Suttiwan P, Arato N, Zsido AN. On the nature of fear and anxiety triggered by COVID-19. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:3109. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.581314

- Zhang J. People's responses to the COVID-19 pandemic during its early stages and factors affecting those responses. *Hum Soc Sci Commun.* (2021) 8:37. doi: 10.1057/s41599-021-00720-1
- 74. Ropeik D. The consequences of fear. *EMBO Rep.* (2004) 5:S56–60. doi: 10.1038/sj.embor.7400228
- Nivette A, Ribeaud D, Murray A, Steinhoff A, Bechtiger L, Hepp U, et al. Non-compliance with COVID-19-related public health measures among young adults in Switzerland: insights from a longitudinal cohort study. Soc Sci Med. (2021) 268:113370. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113370
- Rogers RW. A protection motivation theory of fear appeals and attitude change1. J Psychol. (1975) 91:93–4. doi: 10.1080/00223980.1975.9915803
- Gallagher MW, Bentley KH, Barlow DH. Perceived control and vulnerability to anxiety disorders: a meta-analytic review. *Cognit Ther Res.* (2014) 38:571– 84. doi: 10.1007/s10608-014-9624-x
- Nicholas CR. Fear of the unknown: one fear to rule them all. J Anxiety Disord. (2016) 41:5–21. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.03.011
- World Health Organization. Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19): Situation Report, 73. (2020). Retrieved from: https://www.who.int/docs/ default-source/coronaviruse/situation-reports/20200402-sitrep-73-covid-19.pdf?sfvrsn=5ae25bc7\_2
- Yildirim M, Geçer E, Akgül Ö. The impacts of vulnerability, perceived risk, and fear on preventive behaviours against COVID-19. *Psychol Health Med.* (2021) 26:35–43. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2020.1776891
- Liu S, Lithopoulos A, Zhang, C.-Q., Garcia-Barrera MA, Rhodes RE. Personality and perceived stress during COVID-19 pandemic: testing the mediating role of perceived threat and efficacy. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2021) 168:110351–351. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2020.110351
- Pedrozo-Pupo JC, Pedrozo-Cortés MJ, Campo-Arias A. Perceived stress associated with COVID-19 epidemic in Colombia: an online survey. *Cad Saude Publica*. (2020) 36:e00090520. doi: 10.1590/0102-311x00090520
- Achterberg M, Dobbelaar S, Boer OD, Crone EA. Perceived stress as mediator for longitudinal effects of the COVID-19 lockdown on wellbeing of parents and children. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:2971. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-81720-8
- Torales J, Ríos-González C, Barrios I, O'Higgins M, González I, García O, et al. Self-perceived stress during the quarantine of COVID-19 pandemic in paraguay: an exploratory survey. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:1155. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.558691
- Onder G, Rezza G, Brusaferro S. Case-fatality rate and characteristics of patients dying in relation to COVID-19 in Italy. *JAMA*. (2020) 323:1775– 6. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.4683
- Flesia L, Monaro M, Mazza C, Fietta V, Colicino E, Segatto B, et al. Predicting perceived stress related to the Covid-19 outbreak through stable psychological traits and machine learning models. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:3350 doi: 10.3390/jcm9103350
- Mousavi, S. A.-M., Hooshyari Z, Ahmadi A. The most stressful events during the COVID-19 epidemic. *Iran J Psychiatry*. (2020) 15:220– 7. doi: 10.18502/ijps.v15i3.3814
- Yan L, Gan Y, Ding X, Wu J, Duan H. The relationship between perceived stress and emotional distress during the COVID-19 outbreak: effects of boredom proneness and coping style. J Anxiety Disord. (2021) 77:102328. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102328
- Shokri A, Moradi G, Piroozi B, Darvishi S, Amirihosseini S, Veysi A, et al. Perceived stress due to COVID-19 in Iran: emphasizing the role of social networks. *Med J Islam Repub Iran.* (2020) 34:55. doi: 10.47176/mjiri. 34.55
- Choi DH, Yoo W, Noh GY, Park K. The impact of social media on risk perceptions during the MERS outbreak in South Korea. *Comput Human Behav.* (2017) 72:422–31. doi: 10.1016/j.chb.2017.03.004
- Maarefvand M, Hosseinzadeh S, Farmani O, Safarabadi Farahani A, Khubchandani J. Coronavirus outbreak and stress in Iranians. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:4441. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17124441
- Ng DM, Jeffery RW. Relationships between perceived stress and health behaviors in a sample of working adults. *Health Psychol.* (2003) 22:638– 42. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.22.6.638
- 93. Lieberoth A, Lin, S.-Y., Stöckli S, Han H, Kowal M, et al. Stress and worry in the 2020 coronavirus pandemic: relationships to trust and compliance

with preventive measures across 48 countries in the COVIDiSTRESS global survey. *R Soc Open Sci.* (2021) 8:200589. doi: 10.1098/rsos.200589

- Pfeffer I, Englert C, Mueller-Alcazar A. Perceived stress and trait selfcontrol interact with the intention-behavior gap in physical activity behavior. Sport, Exerc Perform Psychol. (2020) 9:244–60. doi: 10.1037/spy 0000189
- 95. Homan KJ, Sirois FM. Self-compassion and physical health: exploring the roles of perceived stress and health-promoting behaviors. *Health Psychol Open.* (2017) 4:2055102917729542. doi: 10.1177/20551029177 29542
- 96. Lazarus RS, Folkman S. Stress, Appraisal, and Coping. New York, NY: Springer Publishing Company (1984).
- Lindholdt L, Labriola M, Andersen JH, Kjeldsen MZ, Obel C, Lund T. Perceived stress among adolescents as a marker for future mental disorders: a prospective cohort study. *Scand J Public Health.* (2021) 1–6. doi: 10.1177/1403494821993719
- Jahangiry L, Bakhtari F, Sohrabi Z, Reihani P, Samei S, Ponnet K, et al. Risk perception related to COVID-19 among the Iranian general population: an application of the extended parallel process model. *BMC Public Health*. (2020) 20:1571. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-09681-7
- Popova L. The extended parallel process model: illuminating the gaps in research. *Health Educ Behav.* (2012) 39:455–73. doi: 10.1177/1090198111418108
- 100. Vaske JJ. Advantages and disadvantages of internet surveys: introduction to the special issue. *Hum Dimens Wildl.* (2011) 16:149–53. doi: 10.1080/10871209.2011.572143

- 101. Wright KB. Researching internet-based populations: advantages and disadvantages of online survey research, online questionnaire authoring software packages, and web survey services. J Comp Mediat Commun. (2017) 10. doi: 10.1111/j.1083-6101.2005.tb00259.x
- 102. Chirico F, Ferrari G. Role of the workplace in implementing mental health interventions for high-risk groups among the working age population after the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Health Soc Sci.* (2021) 6:145–50.

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Sharif Nia, She, Kaur, Boyle, Khoshnavay Fomani, Hoseinzadeh, Kohestani and Rahmatpour. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Validation of the Peruvian Spanish Version of the Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 Scale to Measure Viral Anxiety of Medical Students During COVID-19

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Maria Francesca Moro, University of Cagliari, Italy

#### Reviewed by:

Tomás Caycho-Rodríguez, Universidad Privada del Norte, Peru Francisco Sampaio, Fernando Pessoa University, Portugal

#### \*Correspondence:

André Lapeyre-Rivera andre.lapeyre@unmsm.edu.pe Seockhoon Chung schung@amc.seoul.kr

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Public Mental Health, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 15 February 2022 Accepted: 11 April 2022 Published: 31 May 2022

#### Citation:

Lapeyre-Rivera A, Javier-Murillo N, Perea-Flórez F, Gamonal B, Velásquez-Rimachi V, Alva-Díaz C, Ahmed O and Chung S (2022) Validation of the Peruvian Spanish Version of the Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 Scale to Measure Viral Anxiety of Medical Students During COVID-19. Front. Psychiatry 13:876379. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.876379 André Lapeyre-Rivera<sup>1,2,3\*†</sup>, Nair Javier-Murillo<sup>3,4,5</sup>, Francisco Perea-Flórez<sup>3,4,5</sup>, Bryan Gamonal<sup>3,4,5</sup>, Víctor Velásquez-Rimachi<sup>3,6</sup>, Carlos Alva-Díaz<sup>6,7</sup>, Oli Ahmed<sup>8,9</sup> and Seockhoon Chung<sup>10\*†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Facultad de Medicina, Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos, Lima, Peru, <sup>2</sup> Sociedad Científica de San Fernando, Universidad Nacional Mayor de San Marcos, Lima, Peru, <sup>3</sup> Red de Eficacia Clínica y Sanitaria (REDECS), Lima, Peru, <sup>4</sup> Facultad de Medicina Humana, Universidad de Piura, Lima, Peru, <sup>5</sup> Sociedad Científica de la Universidad de Piura, Universidad de Piura, Lima, Peru, <sup>6</sup> Grupo de Investigación en Neurociencia, Efectividad Clínica y Salud Pública, Universidad Científica del Sur, Lima, Peru, <sup>7</sup> Departamento de Medicina y Oficina de Apoyo a la Docencia e Investigación (OADI), Servicio de Neurología, Hospital Daniel Alcides Carrión, Callao, Peru, <sup>8</sup> Department of Psychology, University of Chittagong, Chattogram, Bangladesh, <sup>9</sup> National Centre for Epidemiology and Population Health, Australian National University, Canberra, ACT, Australia, <sup>10</sup> Department of Psychiatry, Asan Medical Center, University of Ulsan College of Medicine, Seoul, South Korea

**Introduction:** The COVID-19 pandemic has created academic problems for Peruvian medical students leading to anxiety and depression. Hence, validated scales, such as the Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 items (SAVE-6), are required to identify and propose interventions to improve mental health. We aimed to perform a psychometric validation of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 on medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic in Lima, Peru, in 2022.

**Methods:** A total of 260 medical students at National University of San Marcos (UNMSM) participated in an online survey in January 2022. We collected sociodemographic characteristics and classified psychiatric symptoms using SAVE-6, the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 items (GAD-7) scale, and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 items (PHQ-9). We performed confirmatory and parallel factor analysis to examine the validity of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6.

**Results:** We explored the reliability and validity of SAVE-6 and SAVE-6 after excluding item 5, since factor loading of item 5 is too low. Both scales showed good internal consistencies (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.780$  and .82 and McDonald's  $\Omega = 0.792$  and .829, respectively). Furthermore, SAVE-6 after excluding item 5 showed good convergent validity with GAD-7 (r = 0.224, p < .001) and PHQ-9 (r = 0.217, p < .001). Consequently, instead of the full SAVE-6, SAVE-6 excluding item 5 proved to be reliable and valid enough to assess the anxiety of Peruvian medical students during the pandemic.

**Conclusion:** The Peruvian Spanish SAVE-6 scale excluding item 5, rather than the full SAVE-6, can be applied to measure viral anxiety of medical students in Peru with good validity and reliability.

Keywords: medical students, COVID-19, SAVE-6, anxiety, stress, Peru

## INTRODUCTION

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a considerable impact worldwide. As the World Health Organization (WHO) stated, deaths due to COVID-19 have exceeded five million, of which more than two million have been in the Americas (1). According to the data reviewed on March 15th 2022,  $\sim$ 200,000 deaths have been reported in Peru<sup>1</sup>, making it the country with the highest mortality rate (650.80 deaths per 100,000 inhabitants) and the third highest fatality rate (6.9%) in the world (2).

As part of the contingency plan for the pandemic, Peruvian universities established physical distancing measures that included only online classes, which meant no hospital rotations for medical students. This has been a mental challenge for students and may have frustrated their personal expectations. A systematic review and meta-analysis reported an increased prevalence of depression (39%) and anxiety (36%) in university students during the pandemic (3). Specifically, in medical students in China, the presence of COVID-19-related psychological distress was evident in  $\sim$ 27% of participants and 11% showed an acute stress reaction (4). Another study involving Chinese medical students during the initial phase of the pandemic reported that 0.9% of students showed severe anxiety symptoms, 2.7% had moderate symptoms, and 21.3% had mild symptoms (5). In Peru, an observational study on university students from different regions found that 51.2% of them showed medium-to-moderate levels of anxiety and 45% showed medium-to-high levels of depression (6). Additionally, a study conducted on first-year medical students in Lima, Peru revealed that 75.4% of participants manifested some degree of anxiety during COVID-19 (7).

Evidence suggests that the COVID-19 pandemic has a negative global impact on the mental health of students. College students often face stressful events such as a difficult study program, difficult assignments and projects, financial problems, and uncertainty about their future, and such challenges must be faced emotionally. This translates into higher rates of stress and anxiety compared to those in the general population (8). Evidently, during the pandemic period, mental health problems, such as anxiety (9), depression (10), and posttraumatic stress disorder (11), have increased. In a study by Son et al. (12) on university students, 71% of the participants had increased stress and anxiety levels owing to the COVID-19 pandemic. Additionally, studies show that the prevalence of depression, anxiety, and/or suicidal thoughts has assumed alarming proportions among college students (13). In turn, studies indicate that medical students are particularly vulnerable to poor mental well-being and psychological distress compared to the general population. In a research conducted by Saddik et al. (14), anxiety levels and the effects of online education on anxiety levels differed between medical students and the general university population.

Medical students must maintain optimal mental health through specific measures to ensure the continuity of their education and their subsequent successful professional practice, which involves promotion, prevention, and intervention in people's health (15, 16). Medical schooling is inherently a challenging and stressful academic experience that can make medical students vulnerable to depression, anxiety, and burnout. Studies investigating the mental health of practicing physicians have shown that stress that begins in medical school tends to continue throughout the years of medical practice (15). After medical school, a physician also often lends himself to a chronically stressful lifestyle (16). Owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, medical students are unprepared for situations of uncertainty in clinical practice, which can generate anxiety and stress and impact mental wellbeing (17). Therefore, simple questionnaires are needed to enable appropriate screening of these problems, as timely detection of anxiety in medical students is critical to proposing specific interventions to maintain their mental health and ensure proper development of their academic activities and future professional work.

There are scales to measure these problems, such as the COVID-19 Anxiety Scale (CAS-7) (18), the Fear of COVID-19 Scale (FCV-19S) (19), the Coronavirus Anxiety Scale (CAS) (20), and the Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 Items (SAVE-6) scale (21). CAS-7 (18) and FCV-19S (19) include items pertaining to worry, increased heartbeat, or repetitive thoughts, and CAS (20) includes items of physiological arousal symptoms associated with clinically elevated fear and anxiety. In our unpublished work on comparing these scales in the general population (22), CAS was the most discriminating and difficult, SAVE-6 was the least discriminating, and CAS-7 and FCV-19S were moderately discriminating. In this study, we attempted to screen medical students who needed psychological support for their anxiety regarding the pandemic in clinical clerkship rather than screening them for mental health impairments, and we considered that SAVE-6 was appropriate for the study objective.

The SAVE-6 is a self-reported questionnaire, in which each item is graded according to a Likert scale, receiving a value of 0 (never) to 4 (always), with a total score between 0 and 24 (21). It was developed to measure individual levels of anxiety regarding the pandemic among the general population derived from one of two factors (factor I—anxiety about the epidemic) of the SAVE-9 scale, which was developed for assessing work-related stress and anxiety specifically in response to the COVID-19 epidemic (23). SAVE-6 has already been validated in the general populations

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>https://covid19.minsa.gob.pe/sala\_situacional.asp (accessed March 23, 2022).

in South Korea (21), Lebanon (24), Bangladesh (25), and the United States (26). It was also applied with good reliability and validity to special populations, such as public-sector workers (27), cancer patients (28), medical students (29), and healthcare workers (30). In a study conducted on medical students in South Korea (29), where the psychometric properties and convergent validity of SAVE-6 were explored, the single-factor structural model of SAVE-6 was found to have good internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.756$ ) and good convergent validity with the Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 items (GAD-7) scale, CAS, and Work and Social Adjustment Scale (WSAS). Moreover, through receiver operating characteristic analysis, the appropriate cutoff score was determined as 15 points in accordance with at least a mild degree of generalized anxiety.

The present study was developed during the so-called third wave that referred to the rapid increase in positive cases of COVID-19 between December 2021 and March 2022<sup>2</sup>. With the vaccination process, which has slowed down<sup>2</sup>, and the constant political changes in Public Health (7 Ministers of Health since the first reported case of COVID-19 in Peru), there is no good expectation in the short and medium terms. Since the situation is not favorable in Peru, the necessary preventive measures in Public Health for new outbreaks or different pandemics are not being taken, and obtaining a reliable and valid instrument to measure anxiety due to COVID-19 among medical students in Peru is crucial, the validation of SAVE-6 could be an attractive alternative because standardized health indicators will be available for international comparative studies (31). Therefore, we aimed to perform a psychometric validation of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 on medical students during the COVID-19 pandemic in Lima, Peru, in 2022.

# **METHODS**

## **Participants and Procedure**

For this psychometric validation study, we calculated a sample of 281 students (with a type 1 error of 5% and an estimated proportion of 50%) for a total finite population of 1,050 medical students enrolled at National University of San Marcos (UNMSM) during the 2021-22 period. We collected data through an online survey in Google Forms in January 2022. During this time, we received results from 260 students, which represents an estimated sample for a type 1 error of 5.3%. The survey was sent through institutional emails provided by the UNMSM medical school. In Peru, medical school is divided into 7 years. In general, the curriculum is divided into pre-medical (first year), pre-clinical (second and third years), clinical (fourth to sixth years), and medical internship (seventh year) where the students gain practical experience in hospitals. In this study, students who provided consent and provided complete information were eligible to participate. The survey form was developed according to the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet e-Surveys (CHERRIES) guidelines (32), and investigators checked the usability and technical functionality of the survey form before implementation. The study protocol was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of UNMSM (application #0165).

# **Sociodemographic Characteristics**

We collected the following data: age, sex, and grade (number of years the student is studying at the time of the survey and can vary from 1 to 7 years).

## Measures

## Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 Items Scale

The SAVE-6 scale is a self-reported rating scale, which was developed for assessing one's pandemic-related anxiety (21). It was derived from the original SAVE-9 scale, which was developed to measure healthcare workers' occupational stress and anxiety response to the COVID-19 epidemic (23). SAVE-9 was clustered around two factors: Factor I-"Anxiety about the epidemic" (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8, namely SAVE-6) (21) and Factor II-"Work-related stress associated with the epidemic" (items 6, 7, and 9, namely SAVE-3) (33). In this study, we applied the SAVE-6 scale, which can be applied to the general population, rather than SAVE-9, which was developed for healthcare workers. While medical students can play roles similar to healthcare workers, they do not actually work as healthcare workers. Item 9 of SAVE-9 ("Do you think that your colleagues would have more work to do due to your absence from a possible quarantine and might blame you?") was not appropriate for application to medical students who do not work and are not replaced by other medical students. Additionally, items 6 and 7 can be confusing to medical students (29); hence, we determined SAVE-6 to be more applicable to medical students.

The 6 items of SAVE-6 are rated on a Likert scale ranging from 0 (never) to 4 (always). A higher total score reflects higher levels of anxiety. In this study, we translated the SAVE-6 scale using a translation and back-translation method. The translation team comprised a bilingual Peruvian translator expert in linguistics, who oversaw both the direct and reverse translation process. Together with this expert, the researchers oversaw semantic verification of the Spanish version of the SAVE-6 questionnaire (https://www.save-viralepidemic.net) to adapt it to the Peruvian context. To check the understanding of the adaptation, we conducted a pilot test with 30 medical students who were not included in our last sample.

## Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 Items

The GAD-7 scale is a self-reported scale for measuring the severity of general anxiety (34). The 7 items of GAD-7 are rated on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). A higher total score means higher levels of general anxiety. The Spanish version of GAD-7 (from Spain) was previously applied in Peru on medical students (7), which was validated in Spain among the general population (35). In this study, we applied the Spanish version of GAD-7 (35), and Cronbach's  $\alpha$  in this sample was 0.736.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup>https://www.minsa.gob.pe/reunis/data/vacunas-covid19.asp (accessed March 23, 2022).

### Patient Health Questionnaire-9 Items

The PHQ-9 is a self-reported rating scale for measuring the severity of depression (36). The 9 items of PHQ-9 are rated on a 4-point Likert scale ranging from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). A high total score means severe levels of depression. In this study, we applied the Peruvian Spanish version of PHQ-9 (37) validated among medical students, and Cronbach's  $\alpha$  in this sample was 0.883.

## **Statistical Analysis**

We explored the construct validity and reliability of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6. Normality was checked based on skewness and kurtosis values of each item within the range  $\pm$ 2 (38). To check the sampling adequacy and data suitability for factor analyses, the Kaiser-Meyer-Olkin (KMO) value and Bartlett's test of sphericity were examined. Confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) with the diagonally weighted least squares method was conducted to check the factor structure of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6. A satisfactory model fit for the factor structure was defined by a standardized root-meansquare residual (SRMR) value ≤.05, root-mean-square-error of approximation (RMSEA) value  $\leq .10$ , and comparative fit index (CFI) and Tucker-Lewis index (TLI) values  $\geq$ .90 (39, 40). Multi-group CFA was conducted to examine whether the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 can measure the pandemicrelated anxiety of medical students in the same way between sexes, among those with depression (PHQ-9 > 10), or those with anxiety (GAD-7  $\geq$  10). Internal consistency reliability was tested based on Cronbach's  $\alpha$  and McDonald's  $\Omega$ . Convergent validity of the Peruvian Spanish SAVE-6 with pre-existing GAD-7 and PHQ-9 scales were tested by Pearson's correlation coefficients. Psychometric properties were also assessed by conducting the item response theory (IRT) approach [graded response model (GRM)] and the Rasch model. Before running the GRM, IRT assumptions [unidimensionality (Loevinger's H coefficient), local dependence [p-values of  $G^2$ : adjusted for false discovery rate, FDR], and monotonicity [number of significant violations and Crit value]) were examined. Furthermore, item fits (assessed through  $S-\chi^2$  and its *p*-values [adjusted for FDR]) were assessed. In GRM, there are two parameters for items: in - slope/ discrimination parameter ( $\alpha$ ) and threshold/ difficulty parameters (b). For both parameters in GRM, local dependence and item fits were estimated using the R package mirt version 1.34. Unidimensionality and monotonicity were estimated through R package mokkoen version 3.0.6. In addition, IRT reliability was also calculated. In the Rasch model, infit mean square (infit MnSQ), outfit MnSQ, item difficulty, item and person separation index, and item and person reliability were estimated. Differential item functioning (DIF) bias across age, either having depression (PHQ-9  $\geq$  10) or having anxiety (GAD-7  $\geq$  10), estimated Mantel-Haenszel  $\chi^2$ . SPSS version 21.0 (IBM, Armonk, NY), AMOS version 27 (IBM), JASP version 0.14.1.0 software (JASP Team, Amsterdam, Netherlands), Rasch analysis, and DIF were run through jMetrik version 4.1.1 (Psychomeasurement Systems, Charlottesville, VA), and RStudio (RStudio, Boston, MA) was used for statistical analysis.

 TABLE 1 | Demographic characteristics of participants.

Variables	Mean $\pm$ SD, $n$ (%)			
Sex (male) (N = 260)	132 (50.8%)			
Grade ( <i>N</i> = 260)				
1st year	48 (18.4%)			
2nd year	52 (20%)			
3rd year	63 (24.2%)			
4th year	34 (13.1%)			
5th year	33 (12.7%)			
6th year	21 (8.1%)			
7th year	9 (3.5%)			
Rating scale scores				
Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 items (SAVE-6)	13.3 ± 4.1 (4~24)			
Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 items (GAD-7)	9.8 ± 3.7 (0~20)			
Patient Health Questionnaire-9 items (PHQ-9)	11.8 ± 5.7 (0~27)			

N, Total number of medical students; n, sample.

SD, standard deviation.

# RESULTS

# **Population Characteristics**

Among the 260 UNMSM medical students who participated in this study, 50.8% (132/260) were male; thus, the male/female ratio was 1.03. The participants' median age was 22 years (Q1: 20; Q3: 23.5). Most students (61.5%) had completed the first 3 years of medical school (163/260) (**Table 1**). The participants' mean rating scale results were  $13.3 \pm 4.1$  (range: 4–24),  $9.8 \pm 3.7$  (range: 0–20), and  $11.8 \pm 5.7$  (range: 0–27) for SAVE-6, GAD-7, and PHQ-9, respectively (**Table 1**).

# Factor Structure and Psychometric Properties of SAVE-6

## Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6

The distribution of six items of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 was within the normal limit based on the skewness and kurtosis for an acceptable limit range of  $\pm 2$  (**Table 2**). Sample adequacy and data suitability for conducting factor analysis were checked using the KMO measure of 0.80 and Bartlett's test of sphericity (p <.001). CFA had a good model fit [ $\chi 2$  (df, p-value) = 13.290 (9, 0.150), CFI = 0.993, TLI = 0.988, RMSEA = 0.043, SRMR = 0.051, **Table 3**) for the single-factor model of SAVE-6. However, the factor loading value of item 5 was too low (0.251, **Table 2**).

# Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6 Excluding Item 5

Since the factor loading value of item 5 in the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 was too low, we checked the psychometric properties of the scale excluding item 5. The KMO measure of 0.80 and Bartlett's test of sphericity (p < 0.001) showed the sample was adequate and data were suitable for conducting factor analysis for SAVE-6 excluding item 5. CFA had improved good model fits ( $\chi 2$  [df, *p*-value] = 7.183 (5, 0.207), CFI = 0.996, TLI = 0.992, RMSEA = 0.041, SRMR = 0.044, **Table 3**) for the single-factor structure model of SAVE-6 excluding item 5.

TABLE 2   Factor structure of the Peruvian Spanis	sh versions of SAVE-6 and SAVE-6 excluding item 5.
---	--

Items	Response scale					Descriptive			SAVE-6			SAVE-6 excluding item 5			
	0	1	2	3	4	М	SD	Skewness	Kurtosis	СІТС	CID	Factor loading	СІТС	CID	Factor loading
Item 1	2.7	15.8	40.4	30.8	10.4	2.30	0.948	-0.094	-0.306	0.565	0.738	0.620	0.541	0.811	0.603
Item 2	2.3	21.5	40.4	24.6	11.2	2.21	0.980	0.143	-0.524	0.624	0.723	0.737	0.742	0.752	0.745
Item 3	2.7	23.5	39.6	24.2	10.0	2.15	0.982	0.155	-0.516	0.710	0.700	0.848	0.667	0.775	0.855
Item 4	9.6	33.5	33.1	18.5	5.4	1.77	1.034	0.251	-0.495	0.536	0.745	0.642	0.583	0.801	0.653
Item 5	10.0	28.5	34.2	19.2	8.1	1.87	1.090	0.172	-0.585	0.228	0.824	0.251	-	-	-
Item 6	0.4	4.2	22.7	38.5	34.2	3.02	0.881	-0.550	-0.329	0.573	0.738	0.636	0.568	0.804	0.626

0 = never, 1 = rarely, 2 = sometimes, 4 = often, 5 = always.

M, mean; SD, standard deviation; CITC, corrected item-total correlation; CID, Cronbach's α if item deleted; CI, confidence interval; SAVE-6, Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 items.

Factor loading values of the items ranged between 0.603 and 0.855, Cronbach's  $\alpha$  between 0.752 and 0.811, and corrected itemtotal correlations between 0.541 and 0.742 (**Table 2**). Multi-group CFA results (**Supplementary Table S1**) showed strict invariance of SAVE-6 excluding item 5 across sexes, in those with depression (PHQ-9  $\geq$  10), and in those with anxiety (GAD-7  $\geq$  10).

## Reliability of SAVE-6 and SAVE-6 Without Item 5 and Evidence-Based on Relations to Other Variables

#### Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6

The Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 showed good internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.780$ , McDonald's  $\Omega = 0.792$ ) and good convergent validity based on Pearson's correlation coefficient with GAD-7 (r = 0.252, p <.001) and PHQ-9 (r = 0.242, p <.001) scores. The SAVE-6 score was significantly higher among participants with anxiety [GAD-7  $\geq$  10, t(258) = 14.719, p <.001] and depression [PHQ-9  $\geq$  10, t(258) = 4.978, p <.001].

**Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6 Excluding Item 5** The SAVE-6 showed good internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = 0.820, McDonald's  $\Omega$  = 0.829) and good convergent validity based on Pearson's correlation coefficient with GAD-7 (r = 0.224, p < 0.001) and PHQ-9 (r = 0.217, p <.001) scores when item 5 was excluded. The total score was significantly higher among participants with anxiety [GAD-7  $\geq$  10, t(258) = 13.144, p < 0.001] and depression [PHQ-9  $\geq$  10, t(258) = 4.615, p < 0.001].

# Graded Response Model

#### Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6

Information about IRT assumptions is presented in **Table 3** and **Supplementary Table S2**. Loevinger's H coefficient (0.412; **Table 3**) suggested that the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 was moderately unidimensional. Non-significant *p*-values of  $G^2$  (**Supplementary Table S2**) suggested the absence of local dependency between items. The absence of significant violation and the low value of the *Crit* statistic (<40) for all items indicated that the monotonicity assumption was valid. Results regarding Loevinger's H coefficient,  $G^2$ , and monotonicity suggested the suitability to run an IRT model. **Supplementary Table S3** presents the item fit statistics of the

Peruvian version of SAVE-6. After controlling the FDR, the *p*-values of  $S-\chi^2$  indicated that all items fit the scale well, which suggested that all the items belong to the scale. The slope/discrimination parameters ( $\alpha$ ) ranged between 0.472 and 4.031 (mean = 1.912) (Supplementary Table S3). Item 5 had a low slope, item 1 had a high slope, and the rest of the items had a very high slope. All items except item 5 provided reasonable information and were more efficient in discriminating among individuals assessed through the Peruvian version of SAVE-6. The threshold coefficients (b) in Supplementary Table S3 suggested that a higher latent trait or theta was required to endorse Likert-type response options from "often" to "always" in all items except item 6. Threshold characteristics curves (Figure 1A) showed that curves for item 5 were very flat. This suggested the non-suitability of item 5.

#### Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6 Excluding Item 5

Loevinger's H coefficient (0.536; Table 3) suggested that the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 was highly unidimensional, even when item 5 was excluded. Non-significant p-values of  $G^2$  (Supplementary Table S2), the absence of significant violation, and the low value of the Crit statistic (<40) for all items (Supplementary Table S2) suggested that the local dependence and monotonicity assumption was valid. Supplementary Table S3 presents the item fit statistics of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 excluding item 5. After controlling the FDR, the *p*-values of  $S-\chi^2$  indicated that all items fit the scale well, which suggested that all the items belong to the scale. The slope/discrimination parameters ( $\alpha$ ) ranged between 1.327 and 4.173 (mean = 2.218) (Supplementary Table S3). Item 1 had a moderate slope, whereas the rest of the items had a very high slope. All items provided reasonable information and were more efficient in discriminating among individuals assessed through the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 excluding item 5. Item 1 provided the least information and item 3 provided the most information about the latent trait. The threshold coefficients (b) in Supplementary Table S3 suggested that a higher latent trait or theta was required to endorse Likert-type response options: from "often" to "always" in all items except Item 6. Figure 1B presents the threshold characteristics curves of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6. Supplementary Figure S1 shows the scale
<b>TABLE 3</b>   Scale-level psychometric properties of the Peruvian Spanish versions
of SAVE-6 and SAVE-6 excluding item 5.

Scales	SAVE-6	SAVE-6 excluding item 5	Suggested cutoff
Psychometric properties	Ş	-	
Floor effect	0	0	15%
Ceiling effect	0.8	1.5	15%
Mean inter-item correlation	0.382	0.484	Between 0.15 and 0.50
Cronbach's α	0.780	0.824	≥0.7
McDonald's $\varOmega$	0.792	0.829	≥0.7
Split-half reliability (odd-even)	0.793	0.789	≥0.7
Standard error of measurement	1.92	1.55	Smaller than SD (5.25)/2
Loevinger's H coefficients	0.412	0.536	-
Rho coefficient	0.788	0.864	≥0.7
IRT reliability	0.863	0.837	≥0.7
Item separation index	7.639	8.583	≥2
Person separation index	2.018	2.322	≥2
Item reliability	0.983	0.987	≥0.7
Person reliability	0.803	0.844	≥0.7
Statistics from explora	atory factor ana	llysis	
KMO measure of sample adequacy	0.80	0.80	0.50
Bartlett's test of sphericity	489.1955, p < 0.001	464.258, <i>p</i> < 0.001	Significant
Determinant	0.148	0.164	
Eigenvalue	3.03	2.95	1 or above
Variance	50.45	59.01	
RSMR	0.060	0.050	
TLI	0.888	0.900	
Output from parallel a	nalysis		
Reduced eigenvalue	2.472	2.400	1 or above
95th percentile of random reduced eigenvalue	0.325	0.279	
Model fits of confirma	tory factor ana	lysis	
$\chi^2$ (df, <i>p</i> -value)	13.290 (9, 0.150	) 7.183 (5, 0.207)	Non-significant
CFI	0.993	0.996	>0.95
TLI	0.988	0.992	>0.95
RMSEA	0.043	0.041	<0.08

SAVE-6, Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-6 items; IRT, item response theory; KMO, Kaiser–Meyer–Olkin; RSMR, root-mean-square residual; TLI, Tucker–Lewis index; CFI, comparative fit index; RMSEA, root-mean-square-error of approximation; SRMR, standardized root-mean-square residual.

0.044

< 0.08

0.051

information curves of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 and SAVE-6 excluding item 5. Both scales were good for assessing the latent trait between -2.5 and 2.0 theta levels. However, there were several peaks in both curves that might be due to polytomous data.

## The Rasch Model

## Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6

**Supplementary Table S4** presents the Rasch model outputs of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6. Infit and mean squares of all the items were between the recommended range (0.50–1.50) except item 5. Items 6 and 4 had the lowest and highest item difficulty, respectively.

**Peruvian Spanish Version of SAVE-6 Excluding Item 5 Supplementary Table S4** presents the Rasch model outputs of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 when item 5 was excluded. Infit and mean squares of all the items were within the recommended range (0.50–1.50). Items 6 and 4 had the lowest and highest item difficulty, respectively. DIF results (**Supplementary Table S5**) showed an absence of DIF bias in items across sexes, in those with depression (PHQ-9  $\geq$  10), and in those with anxiety (GAD-7  $\geq$  10).

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we aimed to explore the psychometric properties of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 among medical students in Peru. We observed that SAVE-6 was a reliable and valid rating scale, which could assess medical school students' pandemic-related anxiety. The CFA showed a good model fit for the single-factor model of SAVE-6. Multi-group CFA showed that the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 can measure medical students' pandemic-related anxiety in the same way across sexes and in students with depression (PHQ-9  $\geq$  10) or anxiety (GAD- $7 \geq$  10). It also showed good internal consistency and convergent validity with other anxiety scales, such as GAD-7 and PHQ-9.

In this study, we assessed the efficiency of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 via GRM, a modern test theory model. Similar to the classic test theory, the unidimensionality test (Loevinger's H coefficient) confirmed the single-factor structure of both the Peruvian Spanish versions of SAVE-6 and SAVE-6 excluding item 5. The item fit values of SAVE-6 excluding item 5 confirmed that all items were included on the scale. Similar to the results of the factor analyses, item 5 of SAVE-6 had low slope parameters, and the threshold characteristic curves of this item were flat. However, all items of SAVE-6 excluding item 5 were sufficient to discriminate high scores from low scores. Both versions efficiently assessed the latent trait between -2.5and 2.0 theta levels. The Rasch analysis infit and outfit MnSqs showed similar results of factor analysis and GRM, and item 5 had higher infit and outfit MnSqs than the recommended value (0.5–1.5). These outputs suggested the unsuitability of this item. In both versions, item 6 was the least difficult, and item 4 was the most difficult. Both versions had the acceptable item and person separation indices and reliability. DIF results suggested consistent results with multi-group CFA. There was an absence of DIF bias in items of the Peruvian version of SAVE-6 across sexes, in those with depression, and in those with anxiety.

However, we observed that the factor loading value of item 5 ("Are you worried that others might avoid you even after the infection risk has been minimized?") in the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 was too low (0.251) among medical students

SRMR



in Peru. The reasons may be as follows. First, item 5 may not be useful to assess one's pandemic-related anxiety. Originally, SAVE-9 was clustered around two factors: pandemic-related anxiety (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, and 8) and work-related stress (items 6, 7, and 9). However, in Russia (41) and Germany (42), item 5 was not clustered around a pandemic-related anxiety subscale, but rather a work-related subscale, among a sample of healthcare

workers. Therefore, we can speculate that item 5 can be useful in measuring the work-related stress of healthcare workers rather than anxiety in response to a viral epidemic. Second, a sampling of medical students, who may play a similar role to healthcare workers, may influence the results. Similar results were observed in a sample of healthcare workers in Spain (30). In this study, the factor loading value of item 5 was low (0.38). Thus, the validity of the single-factor model of the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 needs to be checked in the general population. Third, cultural differences might influence the results. The clusters observed in studies conducted in Japan (43) and Turkey (44) were in parallel with the Korean study but differed in countries such as Russia and Germany. SAVE-6 showed a good fit for a single-factor model among the general populations of Korea (21), Lebanon (24), and the US (26). Further studies are needed to explore the differences in SAVE-6 clustering in other countries.

This study has some limitations. First, it was not possible to arrive at the previously calculated sample. However, the gap between the sample obtained and the one calculated is small (5.3% vs. 5%). Therefore, despite not being able to reach our target population sample, the results obtained from the psychometric validation process are reliable. In any case, we suggest corroborating these in various student populations. Additionally, there was heterogeneity in the percentages of students in each grade due to the poor response of students in the higher grades. Hence, this sample may not be representative of our population. This may have been due to the unavailability of Internet access or to the greater academic load that students in the final grades of medical school bear. However, we resent the survey over 4 weeks to reach as many participants as possible. Second, due to the current pandemic situation, face-to-face surveys have not been possible, and surveys had to be conducted online. Anonymous online surveys are likely to induce response biases. Third, the GAD-7 version applied in this study was not validated among medical students in Peru in Peruvian Spanish. We applied the European Spanish version of GAD-7, which might influence the results. Finally, the low factor loading value of item 5 might have come from the sampling issue, although we already compared the characteristics of item 5 among European countries. In the future, when SAVE-6 is applied to other samples, researchers should consider whether item 5 will be included or not.

## REFERENCES

- 1. World Health Organization. *WHO Coronavirus (COVID-19) Dashboard.* Available online at: https://covid19.who.int/ (accessed March 23, 2022).
- Johns Hopkins Coronavirus Resource Center. Mortality in the Most Affected Countries. Available online at: https://coronavirus.jhu.edu/data/mortality (accessed March 23, 2022).
- Li Y, Wang A, Wu Y, Han N, Huang H. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the mental health of college students: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:e669119. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.669119
- Li Y, Wang Y, Jiang J, Valdimarsdottir UA, Fall K, Fang F, et al. Psychological distress among health professional students during the COVID-19 outbreak. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:1952-4. doi: 10.1017/S0033291720001555
- Cao W, Fang Z, Hou G, Han M, Xu X, Dong J, et al. The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 287:112934. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112934
- Héctor SC, Luis YC, Leda JA, Edith NL, Carlos AI, C. MM, et al. Anxiety, depression, somatization and experiential avoidance indicators in peruvian university students in quarantine by COVID-19. *Rev Fac Med Hum.* (2021) 21:346-353. doi: 10.25176/RFMH.v21i2.3654
- Saravia-Bartra MM, Cazorla-Saravia P Cedillo-Ramirez L. Anxiety level of first-year medical students in a private university in peru during COVID-19. *Rev Fac Med Hum.* (2020) 20:568-73. doi: 10.25176/RFMH.v20i4.3198

In conclusion, the Peruvian Spanish version of SAVE-6 excluding item 5, rather than the full SAVE-6, can be applied to measure pandemic-related anxiety of medical students in Peru with good validity and reliability. In the current COVID-19 pandemic, this scale would be helpful in assessing the psychological problems of medical students.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

Ethical approval for all procedures and analyses conducted for the current manuscript was provided by the Research Ethics Committee of the Faculty of Medicine of UNMSM (application 0165). Electronic informed consent was obtained from all individual participants.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

AL-R, NJ-M, FP-F, and BG contributed to the acquisition of data. SC, OA, VV-R, and CA-D contributed to the analysis and interpretation of data. All authors agreed to be accountable for all aspects of the work to ensure that questions related to the accuracy or integrity of any part of the work were appropriately investigated and resolved. All authors contributed substantially to the conception and design of the study and to the article and approved the submitted version.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.876379/full#supplementary-material

- Ramon-Arbues E, Gea-Caballero V, Granada-Lopez JM, Juarez-Vela R, Pellicer-Garcia B, Anton-Solanas I. The prevalence of depression, anxiety and stress and their associated factors in college students. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:7001. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17197001
- Anindyajati G, Wiguna T, Murtani BJ, Christian H, Wigantara NA, Putra AA, et al. Anxiety and its associated factors during the initial phase of the covid-19 pandemic in indonesia. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:e634585. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.634585
- Le XTT, Dang AK, Toweh J, Nguyen QN, Le HT, Do TTT, et al. Evaluating the Psychological impacts related to COVID-19 of vietnamese people under the first nationwide partial lockdown in vietnam. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:e824. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00824
- Liu N, Zhang F, Wei C, Jia Y, Shang Z, Sun L, et al. Prevalence and predictors of PTSS during COVID-19 outbreak in China hardest-hit areas: gender differences matter. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 287:112921. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112921
- Son C, Hegde S, Smith A, Wang X, Sasangohar F. Effects of COVID-19 on College Students' Mental Health in the United States: interview survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e21279. doi: 10.2196/21279
- Wang X, Hegde S, Son C, Keller B, Smith A, Sasangohar F. Investigating mental health of US college students during the COVID-19 pandemic: cross-sectional survey study. J Med Internet Res. (2020) 22:e22817. doi: 10.2196/22817

- Saddik B, Hussein A, Sharif-Askari FS, Kheder W, Temsah MH, Koutaich RA, et al. Increased levels of anxiety among medical and non-medical university students during the COVID-19 Pandemic in the United Arab Emirates. *Risk Manag Healthc Policy*. (2020) 13:2395-406. doi: 10.2147/RMHP.S273333
- Riley GJ. Understanding the stresses and strains of being a doctor. *Med J Aust.* (2004) 181:350-3. doi: 10.5694/j.1326-5377.2004.tb06322.x
- Gentile JP Roman B. Medical student mental health services: psychiatrists treating medical students. *Psychiatry*. (2009) 6:38-45.
- Papanagnou D, Ankam N, Ebbott D. Ziring D. Toward a medical school curriculum for uncertainty in clinical practice. *Med Educ Online*. (2021) 26:1972762. doi: 10.1080/10872981.2021.1972762
- Silva WAD, de Sampaio Brito TR, Pereira CR. COVID-19 anxiety scale (CAS): development and psychometric properties. *Curr Psychol.* (2020):1-10. doi: 10.1007/s12144-020-01195-0
- Ahorsu DK, Lin CY, Imani V, Saffari M, Griffiths MD, Pakpour AH. The fear of COVID-19 scale: development and initial validation. *Int J Ment Health Addict*. (2020):1-9. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00270-8
- Lee SA. Coronavirus anxiety scale: a brief mental health screener for COVID-19 related anxiety. *Death Stud.* (2020) 44:393-401. doi: 10.1080/07481187.2020.1748481
- Chung S, Ahn MH, Lee S, Kang S, Suh S, Shin WY. The stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 bibitems (SAVE-6) scale: a new instrument for assessing the anxiety response of general population to the viral epidemic during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:e669606. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.669606
- 22. Park CHK, Ahmed O, Pang NTP, Kamu A, Silva WAD, Chung S. Validation study of the Korean version of the COVID-19 anxiety scale and psychometric comparison of different rating scales.
- 23. Chung S, Kim HJ, Ahn MH, Yeo S, Lee J, Kim K, et al. Development of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-9 (SAVE-9) scale for assessing work-related stress and anxiety in healthcare workers in response to viral epidemics. J Korean Med Sci. (2021) 36:e319. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2021. 36.e319
- 24. Hong Y, Yoo S, Mreydem HW, Abou Ali BT, Sale NO, Hammoudi SF, et al. Factorial validity of the arabic version of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 bibitems (SAVE-6) scale among the general population in lebanon. *J Korean Med Sci.* (2021) 36:e168. doi: 10.3346/jkms.2021.36.e168
- Ahmed O, Hossain KN, Hiramoni FA, Siddique RF Chung S. Psychometric properties of the bangla version of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 bibitems scale among the general population in Bangladesh. *Front Psychiatry*. (2022) 13:e804162. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.804162
- 26. Lee S, Lee J, Yoo S, Suh S, Chung S, Lee SA. The psychometric properties of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 bibitems: a test in the US General Population. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:e746244. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.746244
- Park CHK, Ju G, Yi K, Lee S, Suh S, Chung S. Application of stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 Items (SAVE-6) to public workers for measuring their anxiety response during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:e701543. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.701543
- Ahn MH, Lee J, Suh S, Lee S, Kim HJ, Shin YW, et al. Application of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 (SAVE-6) and coronavirus anxiety scale (CAS) to measure anxiety in cancer patient in response to COVID-19. *Front Psychol.* (2020) 11:e604441. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2020.604441
- Ahn J, Lee J, Hong Y, Park J, Chung S. Stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 for medical students: psychometric properties of the anxiety measure for the COVID-19 Pandemic. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:e705805. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.705805
- Moraleda-Cibrian M, Ahmed O, Albares-Tendero J, Chung S. Validity and reliability of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-6 (SAVE-6) scale to measure viral anxiety of healthcare workers in spain during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:e796225. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.796225
- Carvajal A, Centeno C, Watson R, Martinez M, Rubiales AS. How is an instrument for measuring health to be validated? *An Sist Sanit Navar*. (2011) 34:63–72. doi: 10.4321/s1137-66272011000100007

- Eysenbach G. Improving the quality of web surveys: the Checklist for Reporting Results of Internet E-Surveys (CHERRIES). J Med Internet Res. (2004) 6:e34. doi: 10.2196/jmir.6.3.e34
- 33. Son HS, Ahn MH, Kim K, Cho I-K, Lee J, Suh S, et al. Utility of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemic-3 bibitems as a tool for assessing workrelated stress, and relationship with insomnia and burnout of healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Sleep Med Res.* (2021) 12:161– 8. doi: 10.17241/smr.2021.01025
- Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB Lowe B, A. brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. Arch Intern Med. (2006) 166:1092– 7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092
- Garcia-Campayo J, Zamorano E, Ruiz MA, Pardo A, Perez-Paramo M, Lopez-Gomez V, et al. Cultural adaptation into Spanish of the generalized anxiety disorder-7 (GAD-7) scale as a screening tool. *Health Qual Life Outcomes*. (2010) 8:8. doi: 10.1186/1477-7525-8-8
- Kroenke K, Spitzer RL Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x
- Huarcaya-Victoria J, De-Lama-Morán R, Quiros M, Bazán J, Lora D. Propiedades psicométricas del Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) en estudiantes de medicina en Lima, Perú. *Revista de Neuro-Psiquiatria*. (2020) 83:72–8.
- Gravetter F, Wallnau L. Essentials of Statistics for the Behavioral Sciences 8th edn. Belmont, CA: Cengage Learning (2014).
- Byrne BM. Structural Equation Modeling With AMOS: Basic Concepts, Applications, and Programming 2nd ed. New York, NY: Taylor and Francis Group (2010).
- 40. Brown TA. Confirmatory Factor Analysis for Applied Research. Guilford Press. (2006).
- Mosolova E, Chung S, Sosin D. Mosolov S. Stress and anxiety among healthcare workers associated with COVID-19 pandemic in Russia. *Psychiatr Danub.* (2020) 32:549–56. doi: 10.24869/psyd.2020.549
- Konig J, Chung S, Ertl V, Doering BK, Comtesse H, Unterhitzenberger J, et al. The German translation of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-9 (SAVE-9) scale: results from healthcare workers during the second wave of COVID-19. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18179377
- 43. Okajima I, Chung S Suh S. Validation of the Japanese version of Stress and Anxiety to Viral Epidemics-9 (SAVE-9) and relationship among stress, insomnia, anxiety, and depression in healthcare workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. *Sleep Med.* (2021) 84: 397–402. doi: 10.1016/j.sleep.2021.06.035
- 44. Uzun N, Akca OF, Bilgic A Chung S. The validity and reliability of the stress and anxiety to viral epidemics-9 bibitems Scale in Turkish health care professionals. J Community Psychol. (2022) 50:797–805. doi: 10.1002/jcop.22680

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Lapeyre-Rivera, Javier-Murillo, Perea-Flórez, Gamonal, Velásquez-Rimachi, Alva-Díaz, Ahmed and Chung. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Is Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor Methylation Involved in the Association Between Prenatal Stress and Maternal Postnatal Anxiety During the COVID-19 Pandemic?

Livio Provenzi<sup>1,2\*</sup>, Marco Villa<sup>3</sup>, Fabiana Mambretti<sup>3</sup>, Andrea Citterio<sup>3</sup>, Serena Grumi<sup>2</sup>, Emanuela Bertazzoli<sup>4</sup>, Giacomo Biasucci<sup>5</sup>, Lidia Decembrino<sup>6</sup>, Barbara Gardella<sup>1,7</sup>, Roberta Giacchero<sup>4</sup>, Maria Luisa Magnani<sup>6</sup>, Renata Nacinovich<sup>8,9</sup>, Camilla Pisoni<sup>7</sup>, Federico Prefumo<sup>10,11</sup>, Simona Orcesi<sup>1,2</sup>, Barbara Scelsa<sup>12</sup>, Roberto Giorda<sup>3</sup> and Renato Borgatti<sup>1,2</sup> on behalf of the MOM-COPE Group<sup>†</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Brain and Behavioral Sciences, University of Pavia, Pavia, Italy, <sup>2</sup> Child Neurology and Psychiatry Unit, IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Pavia, Italy, <sup>3</sup> Scientific Institute IRCCS E. Medea, Bosisio Parini, Italy, <sup>4</sup> ASST Lodi, Lodi, Italy, <sup>5</sup> Guglielmo da Saliceto Hospital, Piacenza, Italy, <sup>6</sup> ASST Pavia, Pavia, Italy, <sup>7</sup> Fondazione IRCCS Policlinico San Matteo, Pavia, Italy, <sup>8</sup> ASST Monza, Monza, Italy, <sup>9</sup> Department of Medicine and Surgery, Università Bicocca, Milan, Italy, <sup>10</sup> ASST Spedali Civili, Brescia, Italy, <sup>11</sup> Division of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Department of Clinical and Experimental Sciences, University of Brescia, Italy, <sup>12</sup> ASST Sacco Fatebenefratelli, Milan, Italy

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic is a collective trauma that may expose susceptible individuals to high levels of stress. Pregnant women represent a high-risk population, considering that pregnancy is a period of heightened neuroplasticity and susceptibility to stress through epigenetic mechanisms. Previous studies showed that the methylation status of the *BDNF* gene is linked with prenatal stress exposure. The goals of this study were (a) to assess the association between pandemic-related stress and postnatal anxiety and (b) to investigate the potential role of maternal *BDNF* methylation as a significant mediator of this association.

**Methods:** In the present study, we report data on the association among pandemicrelated stress during pregnancy, maternal *BDNF* methylation, and postnatal anxiety symptoms. Pandemic-related stress and postnatal anxiety were assessed through selfreport instruments. *BDNF* methylation was estimated in 11 CpG sites in DNA from mothers' buccal cells. Complete data were available from 108 mothers.

**Results:** Results showed that pandemic-related stress was associated with an increased risk of postnatal anxiety, r = 0.20, p < 0.05. CpG-specific *BDNF* methylation was significantly associated with both prenatal pandemic-related stress, r = 0.21, p < 0.05, and postnatal maternal anxious symptoms, r = 0.25, p = 0.01. Moreover, a complete mediation by the *BDNF* CpG6 methylation emerged between pandemic-related stress during pregnancy and postnatal maternal anxiety, ACME = 0.66, p < 0.05.

**Conclusion:** These findings suggest that BDNF epigenetic regulation by pandemicrelated stress might contribute to increase the risk of anxiety in mothers. Policymakers should prioritize the promotion of health and wellbeing in pregnant women and mothers during the present healthcare emergency.

Keywords: anxiety, BDNF, COVID-19, methylation, epigenetics, pandemic, pregnancy, stress

## **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia

#### Reviewed by:

Natalya Glushkova, Kazakhstan School of Public Health, Kazakhstan Claudia I. Iacob, University of Bucharest, Romania

## \*Correspondence:

Livio Provenzi livio.provenzi@unipv.it

<sup>†</sup>Members of the MOM-COPE project: Lilia Altieri, Eleonora Basso, Giulia Bensi, Elisa Bettiga, Renza Bonini, Anna Cavallini, Giovanna Centinaio, Rossana Falcone, Elisa Maria Fazzi, Paola Guerini, Gaia Kullmann, Alessia Leidi, Maria Roberta Longo, Mario Motta, Dario Pantaleo, Benedetta C. Pietra, Arsenio Spinillo, Pierangelo Veggiotti, Patrizia Vergani, Marco Zecca

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

> Received: 22 May 2022 Accepted: 14 June 2022 Published: 14 July 2022

#### Citation:

Provenzi L, Villa M, Mambretti F, Citterio A, Grumi S, Bertazzoli E, Biasucci G, Decembrino L, Gardella B, Giacchero R, Magnani ML, Nacinovich R, Pisoni C, Prefumo F, Orcesi S, Scelsa B, Giorda R and Borgatti R (2022) Is Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor Methylation Involved in the Association Between Prenatal Stress and Maternal Postnatal Anxiety During the COVID-19 Pandemic? Front. Psychiatry 13:950455. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.950455

## INTRODUCTION

Pregnancy is a period of heightened neuroplasticity for women (1). Changes in brain connectivity and neuroendocrine regulation are meant to facilitate the transition to motherhood and to prepare the women to develop appropriate caregiving skills and attachment sensitivity to the newborn soon after delivery (2, 3). Nonetheless, this same heightened neuroplasticity may also result in increased susceptibility to adverse conditions and stressful exposures during pregnancy (4-6). The consequences of prenatal stress may be deleterious for women, and they may set the stage for a greater risk of developing anxious symptoms, which may impair not only maternal mental health but also the early establishment of an intimate and reciprocally satisfying relationship with the infant. Recent research suggests that environmental stress may alter epigenetic mechanisms-such as DNA methylation-at specific sites of genes involved in stress reactivity and regulation.

The COVID-19 pandemic is an unprecedented healthcare emergency and at the same time a prolonged and unpredictable collective trauma that has dramatically affected every domain of our life. The fear of contagion, the partial knowledge of the virus and its implications, together with the lockdown limitations that were key to the success of mitigation and containment strategies are sources of psychological distress that should not be underestimated in at-risk individuals. A recent meta-analytic study suggested that during the pandemic anxiety-rather than depressive-symptomatology may be heightened in pregnant and postpartum women (7). In the present study, we report on the association between pandemic-related stress experienced by women during pregnancy and maternal anxious symptoms after delivery. Moreover, we highlight the role played by the DNA methylation of a specific stress-related target gene-namely, the *BDNF* gene—in mediating this relationship.

## Neuroplasticity and Stress Susceptibility During Pregnancy

During pregnancy, the neurobiology of mothers undergoes dramatic changes that involve regulatory processes occurring at the level of the central nervous system and different neuroendocrine axes (1). A great variety of intertwined functional and structural changes occurs in the female brain throughout pregnancy and may continue during the postpartum period. These neurobiological adaptations are meant to be largely informed by neuroendocrine and environmental triggers (8, 9). Specific brain areas in which variations in brain volume occur involve the medial preoptic area (mPOA) and the hippocampus (10, 11), brain areas that have well-known associations with the emergence of specific caregiving behaviors in both animal models and humans (12, 13). Mechanisms underlining the restructuring of the maternal brain across pregnancy involve neurogenesis, synaptic remodeling, and reshaping of dendrites (1, 14–16).

Such a general reconfiguration of maternal neurobiology has relevant implications for the susceptibility of pregnant women to stressful exposures. Indeed, as pregnancy is a time windows of increased interaction between genes and environmental exposures, it is also a critical period for regulation triggered by adverse and stressful conditions (17). Heightened risk of stress-related risk conditions has been highlighted in women exposed to adverse events during pregnancy (18, 19). Rates of postpartum anxiety range from 10 to 17% (20, 21) and anxious symptoms reported by mothers after delivery have often precursors in stress experiences during pregnancy (22). A history of stress and adverse conditions during pregnancy is one of the most significant antecedents of postnatal anxiety in mothers (23). Timely identification of prenatal risk and postnatal signs of maternal anxiety is crucial in clinical settings as untreated maternal anxiety may have a plethora of consequences for both women's later psychological adjustment to motherhood and child developmental trajectories (5, 24–28).

## The Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor Gene: An Epigenetic Target for Stress Exposure and Psychiatric Risk

Among the mechanisms involved in setting the risk for stress susceptibility during pregnancy, the epigenetic regulation of specific stress-related genes has been recently reviewed and confirmed (29). Behavioral epigenetics refers to alterations of the DNA function that are highly malleable in response to environmental exposures, that do not involve mutations of the dinucleotide sequence, and that can affect gene expression and protein synthesis (30). In other words, whereas the genome consists of the genetic information contained in the DNA that informs gene transcription and expression, the epigenome defines which genes of this repertoire are actually expressed (31). DNA methylation is by far the most investigated epigenetic mechanism in animal and human neurobehavioral studies. It occurs when a methyl group binds to specific 5'cytosine guanine-3' dinucleotides (i.e., CpG sites) and may contribute to reducing gene expression (i.e., gene silencing) (32). Adverse exposures occurring during specific temporal window of heightened neuroplasticity and susceptibility to stress may be especially capable of leaving epigenetic marks capable of contributing to the dysregulation of key physiologic, neuroendocrine, and neurobehavioral systems (33). Moreover, DNA methylation is of specific concern when it occurs at the level of stress-related genes that are known for their implications in behavioral, cognitive, and socio-emotional development as well as in the promotion of physical and mental health (34, 35).

The brain-derived neurotropic factor (*BDNF*) gene may be a specific target gene of interest that has shown to be susceptible to epigenetic regulation following stressful exposures (36) and to be significantly associated with increased risk of psychiatric disorders, including anxious symptomatology (37). *BDNF* is a member of the neurotrophic growth factor family. It contains 11 exons in humans, nine of which include promoters that regulate its expression (38, 39). A large variety of cells express the *BDNF* molecule in different tissues using different splice sites, leading to the formation of numerous *BDNF* transcripts variants (40). It plays key functions in the regulation of proliferation, growth, maintenance, and survival of specific target neurons during pregnancy and in postnatal life (41, 42). Like

other neurotrophins, *BDNF* is essential for the outgrowth and activity-dependent neuroplastic remodeling that occurs during pregnancy (43, 44).

Notably, the BDNF gene is susceptible to epigenetic regulation by environmental stimulations, and this may be especially true during time windows of heightened neuroplasticity like pregnancy (45, 46). Environmental challenges and threats occurring during pregnancy may affect BDNF methylation profiles both in the brain and in peripheral tissues, such as blood and buccal cells (46, 47). Increased BDNF methylation has been documented in response to adverse life conditions in central and peripheral tissues of both animal models and humans (48, 49) and similar trends in BDNF methylation have been reported between peripheral and central assessments (37). CpG sites located in different exons may show environmentally regulated changes in their methylation status; nonetheless, the specific CpG sites and loci of epigenetic regulation of the BDNF gene by environmental stress exposures only partially overlap among different studies (37, 40). Higher stress-related serum cortisol has been linked with concurrent reduction in BDNF serum expression during the second trimester of pregnancy (50).

Animal models suggest that variations in *BDNF* expression may be mirrored in impairments of learning, memory, and social behavior, including anxiety-like traits (51). Associations with stress-related mood disorders and anxiety have been also reported in humans assessing *BDNF* methylation in peripheral tissues, such as blood and saliva (36, 52–55). Notably, previous research mainly focused on the effects of prenatal stress on the regulation of the *BDNF* methylation status in the offspring, highlighting statistically significant positive associations (47, 56, 57). Despite the fact that stress-related increases in glucocorticoids during pregnancy have been found to be associated with a lower synthesis of maternal *BDNF* (58), little is known about the effects of stress during pregnancy on the epigenetic regulation of maternal *BDNF* and on the subsequent risk for mental health, such as anxiety symptomatology.

## The Present Study

The COVID-19 pandemic is an unprecedented healthcare emergency that is challenging all the domains of our daily life. Its rapid spread and the lack of complete knowledge about the virus resulted in the employment of population-based behavioral strategies to contain and manage the contagion. As these strategies resulted in prolonged and repeated lockdown periods, psychological stress emerged as a non-negligible side effect of the pandemic on a global scale. As the exposure to stress is of particular concern during time windows of heightened neuroplasticity, we wondered whether and how this collective trauma was affecting the health of women and infants. As such, we launched the Measuring the Outcomes of Maternal COVID-19-related Prenatal Exposure (MOM-COPE) research project in April 2020. The MOM-COPE project is a multicentric and prospective study that involves ten neonatal units in Northern Italy and that includes the collection of self-report, behavioral, and epigenetic correlates of pandemic-related stress during pregnancy and further health-related and development outcomes from birth to 12-month-age of the infant (59). In the present study, we report on the association among pandemicrelated stress during pregnancy, maternal BDNF methylation, and postnatal anxiety symptoms. Our first goal was to assess the association between pandemic-related stress and postnatal anxiety. Based on the literature reviewed above, we hypothesized a positive and significant relationship, with mothers reporting higher prenatal stress showing also the greatest elevations in postnatal anxious symptoms. Our second goal was to assess the role of maternal BDNF methylation as a significant mediator of this association. As suggested by previous research in animal models and humans, we hypothesized that (a) higher prenatal pandemic-related stress would be associated with increased methylation of the BDNF gene and (b) such an altered epigenetic status would associate with greater reports of anxiety after delivery. As previous research did not univocally highlight specific candidate CpG sites, we explored this association by focusing on a CpG-rich locus in the promoter region of the BDNF gene.

## MATERIALS AND METHODS

## Participants

The MOM-COPE is a prospective and multi-centric cohort study that involves ten neonatal units in Northern Italy and is aimed at highlighting the behavioral and epigenetic consequences of prenatal pandemic-related stress during the COVID-19 emergency for maternal health and infants' development. The fully detailed description of this project is reported elsewhere (59). Here we report on a sample of 108 mothers with complete prenatal ( $T_0$ ) and neonatal ( $T_1$ ) data between May 2020 and February 2021. Mothers were included if at least 18-year-old, in the absence of prenatal and perinatal diseases or injuries, if they delivered at term (i.e., from 37 + 0 to 41 + 6 weeks of gestation), and if they were negative for COVID-19 at delivery. Mothers were not considered eligible to the study in presence of any maternal or infants' comorbidity.

## Ethics

The study was approved on April, 8th 2020 by the Ethics Committees (protocol ID 20200037366) of the project lead institution (IRCCS Mondino Foundation, Pavia, Italy) and the participating hospitals. All the procedures were performed in accordance with the 2018 Declaration of Helsinki for studies conducted with human participants. All mothers provided informed consent to participate to the study.

## **Procedures**

Mothers were first contacted at antepartum classes or immediately following the postpartum period. Sociodemographic and neonatal data were obtained from medical records. Within 48 h from delivery, the mothers filled in a first set of questionnaires to provide retrospective quantitative measures of prenatal COVID-19-related stress and present anxiety symptoms. Between 6 and 24 h, buccal cells were obtained from mothers to assess *BDNF* methylation.

#### TABLE 1 | Pandemic-related stress questionnaire.

	Pandemic-related stress (Response: 5-point Likert scale)
	During pregnancy
1	How much worried were you about the risk of COVID-19 infection?
2	How much did you feel that your pregnancy was at risk due to COVID-19 pandemic?
3	How much did you fear for your health?
4	How much did you fear for your baby's health?
5	How much did you feel that you were losing confidence in your health?
6	How much did you feel you had lost faith in medicine?

**TABLE 2** | Positions of the selected BDNF CpG sites human genome assembly GRCh37 (hg19).

CpG site #	Position
1	Chr11: 27,723,218–27,723,219
2	Chr11: 27,723,214-27,723,215
3	Chr11: 27,723,203-27,723,204
4	Chr11: 27,723,190-27,723,191
5	Chr11: 27,723,161-27,723,162
6	Chr11: 27,723,159-27,723,160
7	Chr11: 27,723,143-27,723,144
8	Chr11: 27,723,137-27,723,138
9	Chr11: 27,723,128-27,723,129
10	Chr11: 27,723,125-27,723,126
11	Chr11: 27,723,095-27,723,096

## Measures

## Sample Characteristics

Mothers self-reported socio-demographic characteristics (i.e., age, educational level, and occupational status), pandemic-related stress during pregnancy, and present anxious symptoms. Neonatal characteristics (i.e., gestational age, birth weight, head circumference, neonatal length, Apgar at minute 1, breastfeeding at birth, and mode of delivery) were collected from medical records.

## Questionnaires

For pandemic-related stress, an *ad hoc* questionnaire was developed to target dimensions of stress specifically related to the present COVID-19 healthcare emergency (Items are reported in **Table 1**); a mean score was obtained, ranging from 1 (low) to 5 (high). Anxious symptoms were assessed using the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI-Y) (60), a well-validated questionnaire that includes 20 items and provides a global score ranging from 20 (low) to 80 (high). A STAI-Y score above 40 is usually index of clinically relevant elevations in anxious symptoms. Mothers were considered eligible to the study only if negative to SARS-CoV-2. Nonetheless, PCR testing could not exclude direct or indirect exposures to the virus that thus were explored with *ad hoc* items indicating whether they had symptoms reminiscent of COVID-19 in the previous months, whether their relatives or significant others were positive to the virus, as well as whether they were

hospitalized in intensive care units and/or eventually died with COVID-19. The physical direct/indirect exposure to the COVID-19 virus was dichotomized as 0 (no exposure) and 1 (at least one direct or indirect exposure).

## **Brain-Derived Neurotropic Factor Methylation**

Maternal buccal cells samples were collected using the OraCollect kit OC-175 (DNA Genotek, Ottawa, Canada) between 6 and 24 h from delivery. Methylation assessment was conducted according to previous validated procedures from this lab (61, 62). The genomic DNA was extracted following manufacturer's protocols and its quality was assessed using a Qubit fluorimeter (Invitrogen, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Waltham, Massachusetts, United States). The methylation status of 11 CpG sites in the BDNF gene promoter region (chr11: 27,723,096-27,723,219; see Table 2 for CpG-specific positions) was assessed by PCR amplification of bisulfite-treated DNA followed by Next Generation Sequencing (NGS) on a NEXTSeq-500 (Illumina, San Diego, California, United States). The region was selected based on previous research on the association of BDNF methylation with maternal mental health and stress (46). Figure 1 illustrates the study methodology.

## Plan of Analysis

Variables of interest (pandemic-related stress, anxious symptoms, and CpG-specific BDNF% methylation) were first tested for normal distribution. Kurtosis and asymmetry were within the  $\pm$  2 range and no outliers (values over  $\pm$  3 standard deviations from the mean) were detected. The presence of significant differences in variables of interest by exposure to the COVID-19 virus was tested with independent-sample t-tests. Separate Pearson's bivariate correlations were used to assess the presence of significant associations among pandemic-related stress during pregnancy, maternal anxious symptoms after delivery, and CpG-specific BDNF% methylation. Multiple-testing bias was checked using the Benjamini-Hochberg procedure, q < 0.05. CpG-specific BDNF% methylation values for which a significant association emerged with both pandemic-related stress and anxious symptoms were subsequently tested in a mediation model to assess their role as significant mediators of the relationship between pandemic-related stress and maternal anxious symptoms. The model was tested using R (version 4.0.0) (63) mediation package (64). A post hoc power analysis setting medium size effect, alpha = 0.05, and sample size 108 revealed an adequate power of 0.89. The statistical analyses were carried setting p < 0.05.

## RESULTS

The socio-demographic descriptive statistics for the sample are reported in **Table 3**. The Cronbach alpha for the pandemicrelated stress questionnaire was 0.83, suggesting a satisfactory internal consistency. All items loaded on a single factor solution with loadings above 0.72. Thirty-four mothers (32%) reported STAI-Y scores higher than the clinical cut-off. No statistically significant differences emerged for pandemic-related stress



TABLE 3 | Descriptive statistics.

	Min	Max	Mean	SD
Gestational age (weeks)	37.00	42.00	39.71	1.05
Birth weight (grams)	2430.00	4345.00	3342.88	413.82
Apgar at minute 1	6.00	10.00	9.18	0.69
Maternal educational level (years of study)	5.00	23.00	14.44	3.57
			Ν	%
Infant's sex (females)			55	50.9
Delivery (eutocic)			69	63.9
Maternal occupational status (employed)			95	88.0

**TABLE 4** Comparison between mothers with and without any direct or indirect exposure to the COVID-19 during pregnancy for variables of interest.

	Exposure to the COVID-19 virus						
	No	(n = 5	9)	Ye	19)		
	Mean	SD	ES	Mean	SD	ES	
Pandemic-related stress	2.34	0.62	0.08	2.54	0.70	0.10	
Anxious symptoms	35.68	9.86	1.28	34.61	9.58	1.37	
BDNF CpG-specific% methylation							
CpG 1	1.31	0.61	0.08	1.34	0.48	0.07	
CpG 2	0.46	0.22	0.03	0.54	0.25	0.04	
CpG 3	0.54	0.24	0.03	0.58	0.28	0.04	
CpG 4	0.32	0.14	0.02	0.37	0.18	0.03	
CpG 5	0.69	0.35	0.05	0.81	0.64	0.09	
CpG 6	0.51	0.24	0.03	0.52	0.19	0.03	
CpG 7	0.57	0.27	0.04	0.57	0.27	0.04	
CpG 8	0.66	0.31	0.04	0.67	0.29	0.04	
CpG 9	0.69	0.33	0.04	0.69	0.30	0.04	
CpG 10	0.93	0.36	0.05	0.88	0.33	0.05	
CpG 11	0.73	0.36	0.05	0.74	0.27	0.04	

during pregnancy, maternal anxious symptoms post-delivery, and *BDNF* promoter region CpG-specific% methylation values between individuals with or without any direct/indirect exposure to the COVID-19 virus (**Table 4**).

A significant correlation emerged between pandemic-related stress and postnatal maternal anxious symptoms, r = 0.20, p < 0.05. The associations of *BDNF* CpG-specific% methylation values with pandemic-related stress during pregnancy and postnatal maternal anxious symptoms are reported in **Figure 2**. Pandemic-related stress was significantly correlated with CpG sites 4 (r = 0.20, p = 0.037), 6 (r = 0.21, p = 0.027), and 11 (r = 0.20, p = 0.040). Anxious symptoms were significantly correlated with CpG sites 2 (r = 0.21, p = 0.027), 3 (r = 0.21, p = 0.026), 6 (r = 0.25, p = 0.011), and 10 (r = 0.28, p = 0.003). All significant associations survived Benjamini-Hochberg check.

As *BDNF* CpG6 showed significant associations with both prenatal pandemic-related stress and postnatal maternal anxious symptoms, the methylation value at this CpG site was tested in the mediation model (**Figure 3**). A complete mediation by *BDNF* CpG6% methylation emerged (ACME = 0.66, 95% C.I. (0.00, 1.83), p < 0.05; ADE = 2.19, 95% C.I. (-0.55, 4.89), p > 0.10.

## DISCUSSION

In this study, we were interested in investigating the association between prenatal pandemic-related stress experienced by women during the COVID-19 healthcare emergency and the levels of anxious symptoms reported after delivery. Moreover, we wanted to assess the role played by the methylation status of the *BDNF* promoter region in mediating this association, as previous research suggested that this gene might be susceptible to epigenetic regulation by adverse conditions occurring during pregnancy. Our findings are consistent with previous literature, suggesting that increased methylation of this gene may be involved in setting the risk for heightened anxious symptoms in mothers who experienced greater pandemic-related stress during gestation.

First, this effect seems to be independent of the actual exposure of women to the SARS-CoV-2 virus. In the present sample, we excluded women who tested positive for the COVID-19 by PCR assessment during pregnancy or at delivery. Moreover, we asked women to report any symptoms that could be reminiscent of COVID-19 disease as well as the presence of family members



or significant others who were positive, had been hospitalized, or died with COVID-19 when they were pregnant. As we compared women with or without any direct or indirect exposure to the SARS-CoV-2, no significant differences emerged for prenatal pandemic-related stress nor anxious symptoms assessed postnatally. As such, it is plausible to speculate that direct or indirect exposure to COVID-19 did not increase the risk of mental health problems in women during the COVID-19 pandemic. This is noteworthy for clinical practice, as healthcare professionals should not consider the presence of COVID-19 diagnosis as a risk factor for pandemic-related mental health risk and a broader preventive approach should be adopted. Indeed, pregnancy is a period of heightened neuroplasticity for women (1) and this may increase future mothers' susceptibility to stressful exposures (65). From this perspective, policymakers and healthcare professionals should be aware that pregnant women may be a specific at-risk population during a global pandemic, as they might be exposed to high levels of stress and risk of anxious symptomatology independently from the actual positivity to the virus.

Second, prenatal pandemic-related stress emerged as significantly associated with post-natal anxious symptoms in this sample. This finding confirms previous literature that already demonstrated how high levels of prenatal stress might predispose women to mental health problems after delivery (23). Nonetheless, the percentage of mothers reporting elevations in the standardized anxiety scale was well above (32%) previous reports on similar community samples (i.e., 10–17%) (20,



21). As such, during the present healthcare emergency, this heightened risk for impaired mental health for mothers should not be underestimated. The mental health risk connected to pandemic-related stress may act as a silent pandemic that is relatively independent of SARS-CoV-2 direct or indirect exposure and that may have critical consequences for mothers' wellbeing. Moreover, previous research has shown that high levels of maternal anxiety after delivery may be a trigger condition for further negative health consequences for mothers as well as for their infants (66). For example, evidence from the Generation R study suggested that mothers with high levels of postnatal anxiety had a higher probability to have infants with difficult temperament characterized by increased motor activity and negative emotionality (67). More recently, regulatory problems have been identified in infants of mothers with elevated levels of postnatal anxiety (68). Moreover, infants of mothers with high levels of anxiety may also develop socio-cognitive problems, such as attention bias toward threat-related stimuli (69). Recognizing, targeting, and taking care of pandemic-related stress with appropriate preventive and dedicated healthcare strategies should be a priority goal of policymakers and clinicians during the time of pandemic we are living in order to promote better maternal health and to prevent long-term detrimental consequences for children development.

Third, higher levels of CpG-specific *BDNF* methylation in the promoter region were found to be significantly associated with both prenatal pandemic-related stress (27% of assessed CpG sites) and maternal post-delivery anxious symptoms (36% of assessed CpG sites). The *BDNF* gene is well-known to be involved in neuroplasticity processes that occur during pregnancy and that constitutes part of the biological communications occurring between the maternal and the fetal compartments (43). Not surprisingly, the *BDNF* regulation has been previously found to be susceptible to stressful exposures occurring during pregnancy (45, 47). It has also been shown that the epigenetic regulation of the *BDNF* gene may be involved in setting the risk for psychiatric and affective disorders, such as depression and anxiety (36, 53). In our sample, a specific CpG site (CpG6; chr11-27,723,190–27,723,191) emerged as a significant mediator of the relationship between pandemic-related stress and postpartum maternal anxiety. This CpG site is included in one of the promoter regions of the *BDNF* gene previously highlighted by Kertes et al. (46) to be plausible loci of epigenetic regulation in relation to both maternal adversity exposure and postnatal mental health issues, including anxiety-related outcomes. This finding suggests that epigenetic regulation of *BDNF* gene by adverse events occurring during pregnancy may play a causal role in contributing to increased risk of maternal anxious symptoms after delivery.

Of course, it should be highlighted that BDNF is only one of the genes involved in the risk of affective symptomatology in pregnant women and mothers. Previous research reported on different stress-related genes, including-among others-BDNF, but also SLC6A4 (35, 70), NR3C1 (33, 71), and FKBP5 (72). It is possible that the epigenetic regulation occurring at multiple target sites may interact in producing higher rates of mental health risk in pregnant women and mothers and this should be tested in future studies with larger samples that will eventually provide the opportunity to conduct epigenome-wide assessments. Although previous research suggests a global trend in similar methylation levels of BDNF assessed in central and peripheral tissues (37), it should be recognized that the actual expression of BDNF variants may be under the control of a large number of splices and thus tissue-related differences cannot be excluded (40). We further recognize additional limitations of this study. Although the MOM-COPE is a longitudinal project, the data reported in the present study are cross-sectional and this limits the possibility to draw valid conclusions about the causal directions of associations. We assessed pandemic-related stress with an *ad hoc* self-report questionnaire that was developed to be sensitive to the specific nature of this unprecedented healthcare emergency. The obtained measure is retrospective. Although this may limit the generalizability of these findings, the concordance of our results with previous studies on the association of prenatal stress and maternal anxiety may indirectly corroborate the goodness of our ad hoc tool. The Pearson's bivariate correlation indexes reported are significant, but the strength of the association of BDNF CpG-specific% methylation with pandemic-related stress and anxiety symptoms is mild. As such, it is largely possible that other factors may be involved; notably, we did not include women who tested positive for SARS-CoV-2 during pregnancy and we did not collect information on previous stressful or traumatic events that occurred during women's life. As such, we cannot exclude that additional previous adverse experiences may have already contributed to increased stress susceptibility in these women. In our study, only a specific BDNF CpG site was significantly associated with both prenatal pandemic-related stress and postnatal maternal anxious symptoms and was therefore investigated as a mediator. The biological relevance and plausibility of a single CpG site may be controversial; still, it might inform future research questions on the epigenetic mechanisms involved in short- and long-term impact of pandemic-related stress in vulnerable populations.

## CONCLUSION

In sum, this study provides for the first time evidence of the role played by epigenetic regulation of the BDNF-a target gene that has known implications in prenatal stress and psychiatric disorders-in setting the risk of less-thanoptimal mental health in pregnant women during the COVID-19 pandemic. These findings have specific implications for scientific advances as well as for healthcare professionals and policymakers. First, the present study contributes to the emerging literature on the behavioral epigenetic vestiges of prenatal stress exposure suggesting that a potential mediation pathway involving increased methylation of the BDNF gene may be involved in setting the stage for heightened maternal anxiety soon after delivery. Second, with these findings, we highlight the presence of a hidden and silent pandemic that is relatively independent of the actual positivity to the SARS-CoV-2 virus, but that is likewise risky for mothers' mental health. Investing in appropriate and timely care solutions for pregnant women and mothers during a time of pandemic should be a priority for perinatal healthcare professionals. Policymakers have the opportunity to strengthen existing services and to promote the development of new actions that prioritize the promotion of health and wellbeing in pregnant women and mothers during the present healthcare emergency.

## REFERENCES

- Barba-Müller E, Craddock S, Carmona S, Hoekzema E. Brain plasticity in pregnancy and the postpartum period: links to maternal caregiving and mental health. Arch Womens Ment Health. (2019) 22:289–99. doi: 10.1007/s00737-018-0889-z
- Kinsley CH, Trainer R, Stafisso-Sandoz G, Quadros P, Marcus LK, Hearon C, et al. Motherhood and the hormones of pregnancy modify concentrations of hippocampal neuronal dendritic spines. *Horm Behav.* (2006) 49:131–42. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2005.05.017
- Swain JE, Kim P, Spicer J, Ho SS, Dayton CJ, Elmadih A, et al. Approaching the biology of human parental attachment: brain imaging, oxytocin and coordinated assessments of mothers and fathers. *Brain Res.* (2014) 1580:78– 101. doi: 10.1016/j.brainres.2014.03.007

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics committee Pavia. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

LP and RB: conceptualization. LP and RGio: methodology. LP, RGio, MV, FM, and AC: formal analysis. GB, LD, BG, RGia, MM, RN, CP, FP, EB, and BS: data collection. MV, FM, AC, and SG: data curation. LP and SG: writing—original draft preparation. RGio, MV, FM, and AC: visualization. SO and RB: supervision. LP: project administration and funding acquisition. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

## FUNDING

This study was supported by funds from the Italian Ministry of Health (Cinque per Mille 2017) and from Fondazione Roche Italia "Ricerca Indipendente 2020" to author LP.

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Beril Calgan, Eleonora Fullone, Vanessa Manfredini, Francesca Masoni, Giada Pettenati, and Elisa Rinaldi were trainees in psychology (IRCCS Mondino Foundation) at the time of study and they provided critical help with data collection. Cinzia Fattore provided fundamental support with administrative issues and IRB procedures. We are thankful to Echo Arte e Comunicazione Cooperative Society for supporting us in the MOM-COPE project dissemination. We are also thankful to all the families who participated in this study.

- Boersma GJ, Tamashiro KL. Individual differences in the effects of prenatal stress exposure in rodents. *Neurobiol Stress.* (2015) 1:100–8. doi: 10.1016/j. ynstr.2014.10.006
- Pawluski JL, Lonstein JS, Fleming AS. The neurobiology of postpartum anxiety and depression. *Trends Neurosci.* (2017) 40:106–20. doi: 10.1016/j.tins.2016. 11.009
- Wadhwa PD, Sandman CA, Garite TJ. The neurobiology of stress in human pregnancy: implications for prematurity and development of the fetal central nervous system. *Prog Brain Res.* (2001) 133:131–42. doi: 10.1016/s0079-6123(01)33010-8
- Hessami K, Romanelli C, Chiurazzi M, Cozzolino M. COVID-19 pandemic and maternal mental health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Matern Neonatal Med.* (2020) 1–8. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2020.184 3155 [Epub ahead of print].

- Hillerer KM, Jacobs VR, Fischer T, Aigner L. The maternal brain: an organ with peripartal plasticity. *Neural Plast.* (2014) 2014:574159. doi: 10.1155/2014/ 574159
- 9. Kohl J, Autry AE, Dulac C. The neurobiology of parenting: a neural circuit perspective. *Bioessays.* (2017) 39:1-11. doi: 10.1002/bies.20160 0159
- Numan M. Motivational systems and the neural circuitry of maternal behavior in the rat. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2007) 49:12–21. doi: 10.1002/dev.2 0198
- Pawluski JL, Lambert KG, Kinsley CH. Neuroplasticity in the maternal hippocampus: relation to cognition and effects of repeated stress. *Horm Behav.* (2016) 77:86–97. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2015.06.004
- Montirosso R, Arrigoni F, Casini E, Nordio A, De Carli P, Di Salle F, et al. Greater brain response to emotional expressions of their own children in mothers of preterm infants: an fMRI study. *J Perinatol.* (2017) 37:716–22. doi: 10.1038/jp.2017.2
- Pereira M, Morrell JI. The changing role of the medial preoptic area in the regulation of maternal behavior across the postpartum period: facilitation followed by inhibition. *Behav Brain Res.* (2009) 205:238–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bbr. 2009.06.026
- Hoekzema E, Barba-Müller E, Pozzobon C, Picado M, Lucco F, García-García D, et al. Pregnancy leads to long-lasting changes in human brain structure. *Nat Neurosci.* (2017) 20:287–96. doi: 10.1038/nn.4458
- Feldman R. The adaptive human parental brain: implications for children's social development. *Trends Neurosci.* (2015) 38:387–99. doi: 10.1016/j.tins. 2015.04.004
- Feldman R, Braun K, Champagne FA. The neural mechanisms and consequences of paternal caregiving. *Nat Rev Neurosci.* (2019) 20:205–24. doi: 10.1038/s41583-019-0124-6
- Babenko O, Kovalchuk I, Metz GAS. Stress-induced perinatal and transgenerational epigenetic programming of brain development and mental health. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 48:70–91. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2014.11.013
- Cardwell MS. Stress pregnancy considerations. Obstet Gynecol Surv. (2013) 68:119–29. doi: 10.1097/OGX.0b013e31827f2481
- Hobel CJ, Goldstein A, Barrett ES. Psychosocial stress and pregnancy outcome. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* (2008) 51:333–48. doi: 10.1097/GRF.0b013e31816f2709
- 20. Miller ES, Chu C, Gollan J, Gossett DR. Obsessive-compulsive symptoms during the postpartum period: a prospective cohort. *J Reprod Med.* (2013) 58:115–22.
- Paul IM, Downs DS, Schaefer EW, Beiler JS, Weisman CS. Postpartum anxiety and maternal-infant health outcomes. *Pediatrics*. (2013) 131:e1218–24. doi: 10.1542/peds.2012-2147
- Heron J, O'Connor TG, Evans J, Golding J, Glover V. The course of anxiety and depression through pregnancy and the postpartum in a community sample. J Affect Disord. (2004) 80:65–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2003.08.004
- Britton JR. Maternal anxiety: course and antecedents during the early postpartum period. Depress. *Anxiety*. (2008) 25:793–800. doi: 10.1002/da. 20325
- Dennis CL, Falah-Hassani K, Shiri R. Prevalence of antenatal and postnatal anxiety: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2017) 210:315– 23. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.116.187179
- Goodman JH, Watson GR, Stubbs B. Anxiety disorders in postpartum women: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Affect Disord. (2016) 203:292–331. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.05.033
- Drury SS, Scaramella L, Zeanah CH. The neurobiological impact of postpartum maternal depression: prevention and intervention approaches. *Child Adolesc Psychiatr Clin N Am.* (2016) 25:179–200. doi: 10.1016/j.chc.2015. 11.001
- Glasheen C, Richardson GA, Fabio A. A systematic review of the effects of postnatal maternal anxiety on children. *Arch Womens Ment Health.* (2010) 13:61–74. doi: 10.1007/s00737-009-0109-y
- Stein A, Pearson RM, Goodman SH, Rapa E, Rahman A, McCallum M, et al. Effects of perinatal mental disorders on the fetus and child. *Lancet.* (2014) 384:1800–19. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61277-0
- Cao-Lei L, de Rooij SR, King S, Matthews SG, Metz GAS, Roseboom TJ, et al. Prenatal stress and epigenetics. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2020) 117:198–210. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2017.05.016

- Jaenisch R, Bird A. Epigenetic regulation of gene expression: how the genome integrates intrinsic and environmental signals. *Nat Genet.* (2003) 33:245–54. doi: 10.1038/ng1089
- Booij L, Wang D, Lévesque ML, Tremblay RE, Szyf M. Looking beyond the DNA sequence: the relevance of DNA methylation processes for the stress-diathesis model of depression. *Philos Trans R Soc B Biol Sci.* (2013) 368:20120251. doi: 10.1098/rstb.2012.0251
- Hyman SE. How adversity gets under the skin. Nat Neurosci. (2009) 12:241–3. doi: 10.1038/nn0309-241
- Berretta E, Guida E, Forni D, Provenzi L. Glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) methylation during the first thousand days: environmental exposures and developmental outcomes. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2021) 125:493–502. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.03.003
- Palma-Gudiel H, Córdova-Palomera A, Leza JC, Fañanás L. Glucocorticoid receptor gene (NR3C1) methylation processes as mediators of early adversity in stress-related disorders causality: a critical review. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2015) 55:520–35. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2015.05.016
- Provenzi L, Giorda R, Beri S, Montirosso R. SLC6A4 methylation as an epigenetic marker of life adversity exposures in humans: a systematic review of literature. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2016) 71:7–20. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev. 2016.08.021
- Zheleznyakova GY, Cao H, Schiöth HB. BDNF DNA methylation changes as a biomarker of psychiatric disorders: literature review and open access database analysis. *Behav Brain Funct*. (2016) 12:17. doi: 10.1186/s12993-016-0101-4
- Duffy HBD, Roth TL. Increases in Bdnf DNA methylation in the prefrontal cortex following aversive caregiving are reflected in blood tissue. *Front Hum Neurosci.* (2020) 14:594244. doi: 10.3389/fnhum.2020.594244
- Boulle F, Van Den Hove DLA, Jakob SB, Rutten BP, Hamon M, Van Os J, et al. Epigenetic regulation of the BDNF gene: implications for psychiatric disorders. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 17:584–96. doi: 10.1038/mp.2011.107
- Pruunsild P, Kazantseval A, Aid T, Palm K, Timmusk T. Dissecting the human BDNF locus: bidirectional transcription, complex splicing, and multiple promoters. *Genomics*. (2007) 90:397–406. doi: 10.1016/j.ygeno.2007.05.004
- Antonakopoulos N, Iliodromiti Z, Mastorakos G, Iavazzo C, Valsamakis G, Salakos N, et al. Association between brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) levels in 2 <sup>nd</sup> trimester amniotic fluid and fetal development. *Mediators Inflamm.* (2018) 2018:8476217. doi: 10.1155/2018/8476217
- Barbacid M. Neurotrophic factors and their receptors. Curr Opin Cell Biol. (1995) 7:148–55. doi: 10.1016/0955-0674(95)80022-0
- Huang EJ, Reichardt LF. Neurotrophins: roles in neuronal development and function. *Annu Rev Neurosci.* (2001) 24:677–736. doi: 10.1146/annurev.neuro. 24.1.677
- Briana DD, Malamitsi-Puchner A. Developmental origins of adult health and disease: the metabolic role of BDNF from early life to adulthood. *Metabolism*. (2018) 81:45–51. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2017.11.019
- 44. Deuschle M, Hendlmeier F, Witt S, Rietschel M, Gilles M, Sánchez-Guijo A, et al. Cortisol, cortisone, and BDNF in amniotic fluid in the second trimester of pregnancy: effect of early life and current maternal stress and socioeconomic status. *Dev Psychopathol.* (2018) 30:971–80. doi: 10.1017/S0954579418000147
- Braithwaite EC, Kundakovic M, Ramchandani PG, Murphy SE, Champagne FA. Maternal prenatal depressive symptoms predict infant NR3C1 1F and BDNF IV DNA methylation. *Epigenetics*. (2015) 10:408–17. doi: 10.1080/ 15592294.2015.1039221
- Kertes DA, Bhatt SS, Kamin HS, Hughes DA, Rodney NC, Mulligan CJ. BNDF methylation in mothers and newborns is associated with maternal exposure to war trauma. *Clin Epigenetics*. (2017) 9:68. doi: 10.1186/s13148-017-0367-x
- Gilmore JH, Jarskog LF, Vadlamudi S. Maternal infection regulates BDNF and NGF expression in fetal and neonatal brain and maternal-fetal unit of the rat. *J Neuroimmunol.* (2003) 138:49–55. doi: 10.1016/S0165-5728(03)00095-X
- Blaze J, Scheuing L, Roth TL. Differential methylation of genes in the medial prefrontal cortex of developing and adult rats following exposure to maltreatment or nurturing care during infancy. *Dev Neurosci.* (2013) 35:306– 16. doi: 10.1159/000350716
- 49. Unternaehrer E, Meyer AH, Burkhardt SCA, Dempster E, Staehli S, Theill N, et al. Childhood maternal care is associated with DNA methylation of the genes for brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) and oxytocin receptor (OXTR) in peripheral blood cells in adult men and women. *Stress.* (2015) 18:451–61. doi: 10.3109/10253890.2015.1038992

- Christian LM, Mitchell AM, Gillespie SL, Palettas M. Serum brainderived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) across pregnancy and postpartum: associations with race, depressive symptoms, and low birth weight. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2016) 74:69–76. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2016.08. 025
- Takei S, Morinobu S, Yamamoto S, Fuchikami M, Matsumoto T, Yamawaki S. Enhanced hippocampal BDNF/TrkB signaling in response to fear conditioning in an animal model of posttraumatic stress disorder. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2011) 45:460–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2010.08.009
- Hauck S, Kapczinski F, Roesler R, de Moura Silveira É, Magalhães PV, Kruel LRP, et al. Serum brain-derived neurotrophic factor in patients with trauma psychopathology. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2010) 34:459– 62. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2010.01.010
- 53. Thaler L, Gauvin L, Joober R, Groleau P, de Guzman R, Ambalavanan A, et al. Methylation of BDNF in women with bulimic eating syndromes: associations with childhood abuse and borderline personality disorder. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2014) 54:43–9. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp. 2014.04.010
- 54. Weder N, Zhang H, Jensen K, Yang BZ, Simen A, Jackowski A, et al. Child abuse, depression, and methylation in genes involved with stress, neural plasticity, and brain circuitry. J Am Acad Child Adolesc Psychiatry. (2014) 53: 417–24.e5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaac.2013.12.025
- Suliman S, Hemmings SM, Seedat S. Brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF) protein levels in anxiety disorders: systematic review and metaregression analysis. *Front Integr Neurosci.* (2013) 7:55. doi: 10.3389/fnint.2013. 00055
- Boersma GJ, Lee RS, Cordner ZA, Ewald ER, Purcell RH, Moghadam AA, et al. Prenatal stress decreases Bdnf expression and increases methylation of Bdnf exon IV in rats. *Epigenetics*. (2013) 9:437–47. doi: 10.4161/epi.27558
- Winston JH, Li Q, Sarna SK. Chronic prenatal stress epigenetically modifies spinal cord BDNF expression to induce sex-specific visceral hypersensitivity in offspring. *Neurogastroenterol Motil.* (2014) 26:715–30. doi: 10.1111/nmo. 12326
- Yu IT, Lee SH, Lee YS, Son H. Differential effects of corticosterone and dexamethasone on hippocampal neurogenesis in vitro. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2004) 317:484–90. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2004.03.071
- Provenzi L, Grumi S, Giorda R, Biasucci G, Bonini R, Cavallini A, et al. Measuring the outcomes of maternal COVID-19-related prenatal exposure (MOM-COPE): study protocol for a multicentric longitudinal project. *BMJ Open*. (2020) 10:e044585. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-044585
- Spielberger CD. State-Trait Anxiety Inventory: Bibliography. 2nd ed. Palo Alto, CA: Consulting Psychologists Press (1989).
- Provenzi L, Fumagalli M, Scotto di Minico G, Giorda R, Morandi F, Sirgiovanni I, et al. Pain-related increase in serotonin transporter gene methylation associates with emotional regulation in 4.5-year-old pretermborn children. *Acta Paediatr Int J Paediatr.* (2020) 109:1166–74. doi: 10.1111/ apa.15077
- 62. Fumagalli M, Provenzi L, De Carli P, Dessimone F, Sirgiovanni I, Giorda R, et al. From early stress to 12-month development in very preterm infants: preliminary findings on epigenetic mechanisms and brain growth. *PLoS One.* (2018) 13:e0190602. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0190602

- 63. R Core Team. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. Vienna: R Foundation for Statistical Computing (2020).
- 64. Tingley D, Yamamoto T, Hirose R, Keele L, Imai K. Mediation: R package for causal mediation analysis. *J Stat Softw.* (2014) 59:1–38.
- Entringer S, Buss C, Shirtcliff EA, Cammack AL, Yim IS, Chicz-Demet A, et al. Attenuation of maternal psychophysiological stress responses and the maternal cortisol awakening response over the course of human pregnancy. *Stress.* (2010) 13:258–68. doi: 10.3109/10253890903349501
- Britton JR. Infant temperament and maternal anxiety and depressed mood in the early postpartum period. Women Heal. (2011) 51:55–71. doi: 10.1080/ 03630242.2011.540741
- Henrichs J, Schenk JJ, Schmidt HG, Velders FP, Hofman A, Jaddoe VWV, et al. Maternal pre– and postnatal anxiety and infant temperament. The generation R study. *Infant Child Dev.* (2009) 18:556–72. doi: 10.1002/icd.639
- Martini J, Petzoldt J, Knappe S, Garthus-Niegel S, Asselmann E, Wittchen HU. Infant, maternal, and familial predictors and correlates of regulatory problems in early infancy: the differential role of infant temperament and maternal anxiety and depression. *Early Hum Dev.* (2017) 115:23–31. doi: 10.1016/j. earlhumdev.2017.08.005
- Morales S, Brown KM, Taber-Thomas BC, LoBue V, Buss KA, Pérez-Edgar KE. Maternal anxiety predicts attentional bias towards threat in infancy. *Emotion*. (2017) 17:874–83. doi: 10.1037/emo0000275
- Devlin AM, Brain U, Austin J, Oberlander TF. Prenatal exposure to maternal depressed mood and the MTHFR C677T variant affect SLC6A4 methylation in infants at birth. *PLoS One.* (2010) 5:e12201. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.001 2201
- Sosnowski DW, Booth C, York TP, Amstadter AB, Kliewer W. Maternal prenatal stress and infant DNA methylation: a systematic review. *Dev Psychobiol.* (2018) 60:127–39. doi: 10.1002/dev.21604
- Yehuda R, Daskalakis NP, Bierer LM, Bader HN, Klengel T, Holsboer F, et al. Holocaust exposure induced intergenerational effects on FKBP5 methylation. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2016) 80:372–80. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2015.08.005

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Provenzi, Villa, Mambretti, Citterio, Grumi, Bertazzoli, Biasucci, Decembrino, Gardella, Giacchero, Magnani, Nacinovich, Pisoni, Prefumo, Orcesi, Scelsa, Giorda and Borgatti. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia

#### REVIEWED BY Cleoputri Yusainy, University of Brawijaya, Indonesia Dmitry Grigoryev, National Research University Higher School of Economics, Russia

\*CORRESPONDENCE Knut Stavem knut.stavem@medisin.uio.no

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 28 April 2022 ACCEPTED 24 June 2022 PUBLISHED 15 July 2022

#### CITATION

Stavem K, Heir T, Dammen T, Brønstad E, Lerum TV, Durheim MT, Lund KMA, Aarli BB and Einvik G (2022) The course and determinants of post-traumatic stress over 12 months after hospitalization for COVID-19. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:931349. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.931349

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Stavem, Heir, Dammen, Brønstad, Lerum, Durheim, Lund, Aarli and Einvik. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The course and determinants of post-traumatic stress over 12 months after hospitalization for COVID-19

Knut Stavem<sup>1,2,3\*</sup>, Trond Heir<sup>2,4</sup>, Toril Dammen<sup>2,5</sup>, Eivind Brønstad<sup>6,7</sup>, Tøri Vigeland Lerum<sup>2,8</sup>, Michael T. Durheim<sup>2,9</sup>, Kristine M. A. Lund<sup>10</sup>, Bernt B. Aarli<sup>11,12</sup> and Gunnar Einvik<sup>1,2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway, <sup>2</sup>Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Oslo, Oslo, Norway, <sup>3</sup>Health Services Research Unit, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway, <sup>4</sup>Norwegian Centre for Violence and Traumatic Stress Studies, Oslo, Norway, <sup>5</sup>Division of Mental Health and Addiction, Oslo University Hospital, Oslo, Norway, <sup>6</sup>Thoracic Department, St. Olavs Hospital, Trondheim, Norway, <sup>7</sup>Department of Circulation and Medical Imaging, Faculty of Medicine and Health Sciences, Norwegian University of Science and Technology (NTNU), Trondheim, Norway, <sup>8</sup>Department of Pulmonary Medicine, Oslo University Hospital Rikshospitalet, Oslo, Norway, <sup>10</sup>Department of Infectious Diseases, Østfold Hospital Trust Kalnes, Grålum, Norway, <sup>11</sup>Department of Thoracic Medicine, Haukeland University Hospital, Bergen, Norway, <sup>12</sup>Department of Clinical Science, University of Bergen, Bergen, Norway

**Objective:** To assess the trajectory of symptoms and symptom-defined post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) from 1.5 to 12 months after hospitalization for COVID-19 and determine risk factors for persistent symptoms and PTSD.

**Methods:** This was a prospective cohort study of consecutive patients discharged after hospitalization for COVID-19 before 1 June 2020 in six hospitals in Southern Norway. Symptom-defined PTSD was assessed by the post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5) at 1.5, 3 and/or 12 months after hospitalization, using DSM-5 criteria. Changes in PCL-5 symptom score and the prevalence of PTSD were analyzed with multivariable mixed models.

**Results:** In total, 388 patients were discharged alive, and 251 (65%) participated. Respondents had a mean (SD) age of 58.4 (14.2) years, and 142 (57%) were males. The prevalence of symptom-defined PTSD was 14, 8, and 9% at 1.5, 3, and 12 months, respectively. WHO disease severity for COVID-19 was not associated with PCL-5 scores. Female sex, lower age and non-Norwegian origin were associated with higher PCL-5 scores. The odds ratio (OR) (95%CI) for PTSD was 0.32 (0.12 to 0.83, p = 0.019) at 3 months and 0.38 (0.15 to 0.95, p = 0.039) at 12 months compared to 1.5 months. There was no association between PTSD and WHO severity rating.

**Conclusions:** The level of PTSD symptoms decreased from 1.5 to 3 months after hospitalization, but did not decrease further to 12 months, and there was no association between PTSD symptoms and COVID-19 disease severity.

#### KEYWORDS

post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD), COVID-19, PCL-5 questionnaire, cohort, follow-up, medium-term

## Introduction

Post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) is a chronic and debilitating mental condition that may develop in response to traumatic events that involve a life-threatening component, including acute medical diseases. A meta-analysis reported that 17–44% of critical illness survivors reported clinically important PTSD symptoms, and that symptoms of PTSD were associated with pre-ICU psychopathology, but not with age, disease severity, or ICU length of stay (1).

During the severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) outbreak in 2002–2004, many recovered SARS patients showed symptoms of PTSD at 1 and 3 months after discharge from hospital, and 4–5% satisfied the criteria for PTSD (2), although higher rates have been reported (3). Furthermore, the level of hypoxia is associated with PTSD symptoms (2). The prevalence of PTSD 12 months after hospitalization for the Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS) were even higher, with 24% reporting severe or very severe PTSD (4).

Patients hospitalized for COVID-19 are characterized by fever, cough, dyspnea, chest pain, or confusion, and typically 10–20% of hospitalized patients have critical illness requiring care in the intensive unit (5, 6). Until June 2022, cumulatively 15.8% of patients hospitalized for COVID-19 in Norway required ICU care (7).

Recent studies have reported significant PTSD symptoms during and after hospitalization for COVID-19 among 2–40 % of patients with follow-up of 1–6 months, and just recently 12–15 months, in cross-sectional or cohort studies (8–20). Prevalence rates vary according to time after acute COVID-19, assessment method, sample selection, and geographical region. During follow-up, female sex and continued symptoms, but not age or disease severity, were associated with PTSD (20).

To understand the course of stress reactions, repeated measurements of PTSD symptoms during the convalescence of COVID-19 and longer observation times are necessary (9, 17). This study investigated the course of symptoms of PTSD over 12 months after COVID-19 onset, focusing on the change in symptoms and possible association with disease severity.

## Materials and methods

## Design and population

This was a multicenter study, inviting patients 2–6 weeks after discharge from six major hospitals in Norway after COVID-19, before 1 June 2020. All patients >18 years of age with a discharge diagnosis (International Statistical Classification of Diseases and Related Health Problems 10) of U07.1, U07.2, or J12.x were eligible. Among all 454 survivors, we excluded 15 patients living outside the hospitals' catchment areas, 13 unable to provide informed consent, and 38 participating in a conflicting COVID-19 treatment trial. In total, 251 (65%) of 388 eligible patients provided data for this study.

The Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Health Region South East (no. 2020/125384) and data protection officers at participating centers approved the study. Written informed consent was obtained by mail or a secure web-form. The study is registered with ClinicalTrials.gov (NCT04535154).

## Data collection

As this was an observational study, clinical treatment was up to each hospital. However, during the study follow-up visits, we used a standard protocol.

Data were collected at four time points: (i) Previous medical history and data during COVID-19 hospitalization were extracted from the electronic medical records (EMR); (ii) about 1.5 month after hospitalization, participants responded to a paper or on-line questionnaire; all participants returned to the respective hospitals' outpatient clinics for a visit, including self-completed questionnaires at (iii) 3 and (iv) 12 months after hospitalization.

# Demographics, clinical variables, and comorbidity

Basic demographics, symptoms, Charlson's comorbidity index (21), and severity of COVID-19 were extracted from the EMR by study physicians/nurses. COVID-19 severity was classified using a WHO ordinal severity score (22): 3 no oxygen supplementation, 4 oxygen supplementation, 5 highflow oxygen or non-invasive ventilation, or 6–7 mechanical ventilation. We obtained supplementary information on sociodemographics, height, weight, and smoking history by selfreport at the 3-month visit.

## Assessment of PTSD

Symptoms of PTSD were assessed using a Norwegian version of the PCL-5 (PTSD Checklist for DSM-5) questionnaire (23). The PCL-5 contains 20 items on an ordinal scale (0 to 4), which are summed to a total score (range 0–80, with 80 denoting maximal symptoms). The PCL-5 also has an alternative scoring algorithm fitted to the five clusters of the DSM-5 PTSD criteria (24). We used the DSM-5 criteria scoring to define symptom-defined PTSD.

## Statistical analyses

We analyzed data from respondents with at least one response to PCL-5 (n = 251). Descriptive statistics are presented as mean (SD), median (25th to 75th percentile) or number (%). We present PTSD symptoms as continuous scores on the PCL-5 total scale and the prevalence of PTSD using DSM-5 scoring.

We conducted longitudinal analyses using mixed models, thereby accounting for missing values and enabling us to use all available data. For PCL-5 total scores, we used a linear mixed model with random effect (intercept) at the patient level, and an unstructured covariance structure. The model was fitted using maximum likelihood. Because the distribution of PCL-5 total score was highly skewed with many subjects having a score of 0, we tried log and square-root transformations of the PCL-5 total scores. However, this did not improve the distribution of the residuals or the model fit. Therefore, we used untransformed values as the dependent variable and bootstrapping with 10,000 iterations to estimate 95% confidence intervals and p-values. We included independent variables selected a priori: occasion (1.5, 3, or 12 months), age (per year), sex (male vs. female), living alone (married/cohabiting vs. single/divorced/widowed), born in Norway (yes vs. no), education (university level vs. lower level), Charlson comorbidity score  $(0, 1, \ge 2)$ , and WHO ordinal severity score (3, 4, 5-7).

Adding a random effect at the hospital level to the model only marginally influenced the coefficients and did not alter the results. The intraclass correlation coefficient (ICC) at the hospital level was only 0.029 compared to 0.657 at the patient level. Therefore, we omitted the hospital level in further analysis. In a supplementary analysis, we repeated the linear mixed models for PCL-5 total scores with the same approach and the same variables.

PTSD was analyzed using a logistic mixed model, with random effect (intercept) at the patient level, and an unstructured covariance structure. Here we only used occasion (1.5, 3, or 12 months) and WHO ordinal severity score as covariates, because of the low number of events.

We used Stata version 17.0 (Stata Corporation, College Station, TX) or R (The R Foundation for Statistical Computing) for all statistical analyses. We chose a 5% significance level.

## Results

The participants had a mean age of 58.4 years, range 16.6 to 91.3 years. Overall, 35/142 men (25%) and 13/109 women (12%) had been admitted to the ICU. Further demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants are shown in Table 1.

The mean (SD) PCL-5 total scores were 14.2 (14.2), 11.2 (12.9), and 10.4 (12.4) at 1.5, 3, and 12 months, respectively. Symptom-defined PTSD was present in 27 (14%), 18 (8%), and

TABLE 1 Descriptive statistics for respondents (N = 251), number (%) unless otherwise stated.

	n	
Age (years), mean (SD)		58.4 (14.2)
Sex, male		142 (57)
Education, university level (>13 years)	236	129 (55)
Norwegian origin	226	163 (72)
Smoking status, current/previous		121 (48)
Living alone (unmarried/divorced/widowed)	226	62 (27)
Body mass index (kg/m2), mean (SD)	235	28.2 (4.6)
Comorbidity		
Myocardial infarction		14 (6)
Congestive heart failure		11 (4)
Peripheral vascular disease		4 (2)
Cerebrovascular accident or transitory ischemic		6 (2)
attack		
Dementia/chronic cognitive deficit		0 (0)
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease		8 (3)
Connective tissue disease		3 (1)
Peptic ulcer disease		13 (5)
Liver disease, incl cirrhosis		3 (1)
Diabetes		21 (8)
Hemiplegia		0 (0)
Moderate to severe chronic kidney disease, on		7 (3)
dialysis, or transplant		
Solid tumor		10 (4)
Leukemia		2 (1)
Lymphoma		0 (0)
AIDS		0 (0)
Charlson comorbidity index, weighted, mean (SD)		0.49 (0.99)
Charlson comorbidity index		
0		180 (72)
1		41 (16)
$\geq 2$		30 (12)
Status at hospital admission		
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg), mean (SD)	247	134 (18.4)
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg), mean (SD)	247	78.3 (11.4)
Body temperature (°C), mean (SD)	244	37.6 (1.1)
Pulse rate (per min), mean (SD)	245	85.6 (19.2)
Respiratory rate (per min), mean (SD)	240	23.9 (8)
Arterial blood gas at admission		
pH, mean (SD)	220	7.46 (0.05)
$P_aO_2$ (kPa), mean (SD)	222	9.9 (2.2)
P <sub>a</sub> CO <sub>2</sub> (kPa), mean (SD)	222	4.4 (0.9)
WHO severity rating		
3 Hospitalized, no oxygen therapy		87 (35)
4 Oxygen by mask or nasal prongs		121 (48)
5 Non-invasive ventilation or high-flow oxygen		10 (4)
6 Intubation and mechanical ventilation		32 (13)
7 Ventilation + ECMO		1 (0)

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 Continued

	n	
NEWS2 score at admission	234	3.9 (2.6)
Admission to intensive care unit		48 (19)
Times and length of stay (days), median (25th to		
75th percentile)		
Hospital length of stay	249	6 (3 to 11)
Length of stay in intensive care unit	46	10.5 (5 to
		15)
Time from hospital admission to response		
Survey 1 (1.5 months)*	192	46 (29.5 to
		56.5)
Survey 2 (3 months)*	173	97 (84 to
		119)
Survey 3 (12 months)*	168	386 (358.5
		to 406)

\*Only for respondents in the respective surveys. ECMO, extracorporeal membrane oxygenation.



19 (9%) of the patients at the same time points, but there was no association with disease severity (Figure 1).

In multivariable analysis of continuous PCL-5 scores, 3month and 12-month scores were lower than 1.5-month scores, but there was no association with COVID-19 severity (Table 2, Figure 2). However, female gender, non-Norwegian origin, and lower age were associated with increased PCL-5 total scores.

Stratified analysis according to sex, showed a similar development in PTSD symptoms over time for men and women, and more PTSD symptoms with non-Norwegian origin TABLE 2 Predictors of PCL-5 total symptom score, multivariable linear mixed model (n = 565 observations, 225 patients).

Fixed effects	Coef.**	95% Conf. interva	1 P
Occasion			
1.5 months*	0		
3 months	-3.64	(−5.30 to −1.98)	< 0.00
12 months	-3.76	(−5.51 to −2.01)	< 0.00
WHO severity rating			
3* No oxygen use	0		
4 Oxygen use	0.82	(-0.68 to 2.32)	0.29
5–7 High flow, ventilatory support	1.06	(-1.15 to 3.27)	0.35
Sex			
Female*	0		
Male	-5.90	(−7.49 to −4.31)	< 0.00
Age, per year	-0.07	(−0.13 to −0.02)	0.008
Education			
Lower level*	0		
University level	1.17	(-0.37 to 2.71)	0.138
Marital status			
Married/cohabiting*	0		
Single/divorced/widowed	1.14	(-0.50 to 2.77)	0.174
Norwegian origin?			
Yes*	0		
No	7.83	(5.79 to 9.88)	< 0.00
Charlson comorbidity index			
0*	0		
1	2.76	(0.74 to 4.78)	0.007
$\geq 2$	0.15	(-2.04 to 2.35)	0.89
Random effects	SD		
Participant (intercept)	10.03		
Residual	6.78		
Model statistics			
Intraclass correlation coefficient	0.686		
Akaike's information criterion	4306.8		
Marginal/conditional R <sup>2</sup>	0.149/0.733		

\* Baseline category.

\*\* Unstandardized beta coefficient.

(Supplementary Table 1). However, the results for educational level seemed inconsistent, with more symptoms with higher education among women, but less symptoms with higher education among men. Being single/divorced was associated with more symptoms only among men. Finally, the association for Charlson comorbidity index was different for men and women, with score  $\geq 2$  being associated with less PTSD symptoms only among men.

The multivariable logistic model (n = 618 observations, 221 patients) showed odds ratios (OR) (95%CI) for PTSD of 0.32 (0.12 to 0.83, p = 0.019) at 3 months and 0.38 (0.15 to 0.95, p = 0.039) at 12 months compared to 1.5 months, and 0.93 (0.26



to 3.29) for WHO severity rating 4 and 1.01 (0.19 to 5.38) for severity 5–7 compared to severity 3, respectively. ICC was 0.745.

## Discussion

This study has shown a prevalence of PTSD of 14% at 1.5 months, declining to 8–9% after 3–12 months. Furthermore, there was no association between the severity of acute COVID-19 and PTSD symptoms or prevalence at follow-up.

The prevalence of PTSD in this study was in line with studies with similar populations 2–12 months after hospitalization for COVID-19 (10, 11, 13–17), but lower than in some populations with more severe disease (8, 12, 18, 25). However, rates of PTSD disorders following COVID-19 as low as 3.8% has been reported in combined hospitalized/non-hospitalized samples (26).

The differences in prevalence of PTSD between our study and some other studies may possibly be explained by the use of different assessment methods, or populations.

The present study recruited a large proportion of all hospitalized patients in strict geographical catchment areas and may therefore be less affected by selection bias, e.g., healthy non-participant bias in studies recruiting based on lasting symptoms. This, and some other studies (11, 13, 15–17), may therefore be more representative of all hospitalized patients.

Symptoms of PTSD improved from 1.5 to 3 months, in line with reports from some studies from 1 to 2, or 1 to 3 months (17, 27–29), but not in others (30). There is less information on change in PTSD symptoms over as long as 12 months. One study reported the presence of moderate PTSD symptoms in 12% and severe in 6.5% 12 months after hospitalization, and these rates were unchanged from 4 months after hospitalization (16), as from 3 to 12 months in the present study. In contrast, studies have reported an increase in PTSD symptoms scores from 3 to 6 months after hospitalization (31), or from baseline to follow-up after 24–60 weeks in subjects recruited from advertisements or referrals in the community (32). Recently Mazza et al. reported a reduction in PTSD symptoms over time from 1 month to 12 months, although the change from 6 to 12 months seemed to be small (18).

In the present study we found no significant association between the severity of COVID-19 during hospitalization, i.e., graded requirement for oxygen treatment, and the total score of PCL-5 during the follow-up. This, however, supports previous reports of no association between disease severity and adverse mental outcomes in COVID-19 (20).

In contrast, female sex was associated with higher symptom score, in line with findings in other studies (20) and PTSD in general (33). It is possible that young people are less prepared for being affected by acute severe illness (34), and that birth place outside Norway may be related to higher probability of previous PTSD, lower confidence in authorities or information given, or language difficulties.

A Charlson comorbidity index of 1, but not of  $\geq 2$ , was associated with PCL-5 scores, which was most marked in the analysis in males. We do not have a good explanation for this. It could be by chance, content of the medical records, or coding issues. Some of the comorbidities might also be more important in this context, than what is reflected in the weights in this index. In the stratified analysis, this inconsistency was present only among men, who constituted 57% of the sample, and an even larger percentage of those with severe disease requiring ICU admission. In the stratified analyses, the statistical power was smaller, in particular among women, which limits conclusions to be made.

Strengths of the study are the prospective design with multiple assessments, inclusion of several large centers covering approximately 50% of the Norwegian population, and the long follow-up. The use of questionnaires and symptomdefined PTSD, instead of diagnostic interviews for assessment of PTSD represents a limitation, as in most other studies. The response rate among participants was not optimal, and may have caused a bias, and the number of patients with severe disease was small, reducing the statistical power. We did not register whether PTSD was present prior to COVID-19. However, the PCL-5 items were specifically linked to the infectious disease.

In this study the prevalence of PTSD was low. There was an early improvement in symptoms of PTSD, but no further improvement beyond 3 months. In general, about half of PTSD cases remit within 6 months, and the probability of remission does not vary much across exposure types (35). A similar remission rate of PTSD symptoms over a much shorter time period in our study suggests that COVID-19 PTSD may have a better prognosis than PTSD from most other causes.

In conclusion, the symptom load of PTSD declined from 1.5 to 3 months, with no further decline from 3 to 12 months. Symptoms of PTSD were not associated with COVID-19 severity.

## References

1. Parker AM, Sricharoenchai T, Raparla S, Schneck KW, Bienvenu OJ, Needham DM. Post-traumatic stress disorder in critical illness survivors: a

## Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Regional Committee for Medical and Health Research Ethics, Health Region South East. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

GE and KS conceived and designed the study, with assistance from TD and TH. EB, TL, MD, KL, and BA contributed to data collection. KS, GE, and TH conducted data analysis. KS, GE, TH, and TD contributed to interpretation of the data. KS, GE, TD, TH, EB, TL, MD, KL, and BA critically reviewed and commented on the paper. All authors approved the final version.

## **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.931349/full#supplementary-material

meta analysis. Crit Care Med. (2015) 43:1121-9. doi: 10.1097/CCM.0000000000 00882

2. Wu KK, Chan SK, Ma TM. Post-traumatic stress after SARS. *Emerg Infect Dis.* (2005) 11:1297-300. doi: 10.3201/eid1108.041083

3. Ahmed H, Patel K, Greenwood DC, Halpin S, Lewthwaite P, Salawu A, et al. Long-term clinical outcomes in survivors of severe acute respiratory syndrome and Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus outbreaks after hospitalization or ICU admission: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Rehabil Med.* (2020) 52:jrm00063. doi: 10.2340/16501977-2694

4. Park HY, Park WB, Lee SH, Kim JL, Lee JJ, Lee H, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder and depression of survivors 12 months after the outbreak of Middle East respiratory syndrome in South Korea. *BMC Public Health.* (2020) 20:605. doi: 10.1186/s12889-020-08726-1

5. Guan WJ Ni ZY, Hu Y, Liang WH, Ou CQ, He JX, et al. Clinical characteristics of coronavirus disease 2019 in China. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:1708–20. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2002032

6. Docherty AB, Harrison EM, Green CA, Hardwick HE, Pius R, Norman L, et al. Features of 20 133 UK patients in hospital with covid-19 using the ISARIC WHO clinical characterization protocol: prospective observational cohort study. *BMJ.* (2020) 369:m1985. doi: 10.1136/bmj.m1985

7. Folkehelseinstituttet. COVID-19, influensa og andre luftveisinfeksjoner. Rapport – uke 21 og 22, onsdag 8. juni 2022: FHI; 2022 [updated 08.06.2022]. Available online at: https://www.fhi.no/contentassets/ 8a971e7b0a3c4a06bdbf381ab52e6157/vedlegg/2022/ukerapport-for-uke-21og-22-30.05-\$-\$05.06.22.pdf

8. Janiri D, Carfi A, Kotzalidis GD, Bernabei R, Landi F, Sani G, et al. Posttraumatic stress disorder in patients after severe COVID-19 infection. JAMA Psychiatry. (2021) 78:567–9. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2021.0109

9. Nagarajan R, Krishnamoorthy Y, Basavarachar V, Dakshinamoorthy R. Prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder among survivors of severe COVID-19 infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Affect Disord.* (2021) 299:52–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.11.040

10. Rass V, Ianosi BA, Zamarian L, Beer R, Sahanic S, Lindner A, et al. Factors associated with impaired quality of life three months after being diagnosed with COVID-19. *Qual Life Res.* (2021) 3:1–4. doi: 10.1007/s11136-021-02 998-9

11. Tarsitani I., Vassalini P., Koukopoulos A., Borrazzo C., Alessi F. Di Nicolantonio C., et al. Post-traumatic stress disorder among COVID-19 survivors at 3month follow-up after hospital discharge. *J Gen Intern Med.* (2021) 36:1702– 7. doi: 10.1007/s11606-021-06731-7

12. Writing Committee for the CSG, Morin L, Savale L, Pham T, Colle R, Figueiredo S, et al. 4-month clinical status of a cohort of patients after hospitalization for COVID-19. JAMA. (2021) 325:1525-34. doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.3331

13. Naidu SB, Shah AJ, Saigal A, Smith C, Brill SE, Goldring J, et al. The high mental health burden of "Long COVID" and its association with on-going physical and respiratory symptoms in all adults discharged from hospital. *Eur Respir J.* (2021) 57:2020. doi: 10.1183/13993003.04364-2020

14. Einvik G, Dammen T, Ghanima W, Heir T, Stavem K. Prevalence and risk factors for post-traumatic stress in hospitalized and non-hospitalized COVID-19 patients. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:2079. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18042079

15. Simani L, Ramezani M, Darazam IA, Sagharichi M, Aalipour MA, Ghorbani F, et al. Prevalence and correlates of chronic fatigue syndrome and post-traumatic stress disorder after the outbreak of the COVID-19. *J Neurovirol.* (2021) 27:154–9. doi: 10.1007/s13365-021-00949-1

16. Bellan M, Baricich A, Patrucco F, Zeppegno P, Gramaglia C, Balbo PE, et al. Long-term sequelae are highly prevalent one year after hospitalization for severe COVID-19. *Sci Rep.* (2021) 11:22666. doi: 10.1038/s41598-021-0 1215-4

17. Horn M, Wathelet M, Fovet T, Amad A, Vuotto F, Faure K, et al. Is COVID-19 associated with posttraumatic stress disorder? *J Clin Psychiatry.* (2020) 82:13641. doi: 10.4088/JCP.20m 13641

18. Mazza MG, Palladini M, De Lorenzo R, Bravi B, Poletti S, Furlan R, et al. 1year mental health outcomes in a cohort of COVID-19 survivors. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2021) 145:118–24. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2021.11.031

19. Huang X, Liu L, Eli B, Wang J, Chen Y, Liu Z. Mental Health of COVID-19 Survivors at 6 and 12 Months post-diagnosis: a cohort study. *Front Psychiatry*. (2022) 13:863698. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.863698

20. Sun LL, Wang J, Wang YS, Pan X, Luo J, Liu H, et al. 15-Month health outcomes and the related risk factors of hospitalized COVID-19 patients from onset: a cohort study. *Front Med.* (2022) 9:854788. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.854788

21. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR, A. new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis.* (1987) 40:373–83. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8

22. Novel Coronavirus, COVID-19 Therapeutic Trial Synopsis. Geneva, Switzerland: WHO (2020). Available online at: https://www.who.int/blueprint/ priority-diseases/key-action/COVID-19\_Treatment\_Trial\_Design\_Master\_ Protocol\_synopsis\_Final\_18022020.pdf

23. Blevins CA, Weathers FW, Davis MT, Witte TK, Domino JL. The posttraumatic stress disorder checklist for DSM-5 (PCL-5): development and initial psychometric evaluation. *J Trauma Stress*. (2015) 28:489–98. doi: 10.1002/jts.22059

24. Using the PTSD Checklist for DSM-5. Washington D.C.: National Center for PTSD, Veterans Administration (2022).

25. Mazza MG, De Lorenzo R, Conte C, Poletti S, Vai B, Bollettini I, et al. Anxiety and depression in COVID-19 survivors: role of inflammatory and clinical predictors. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 89:594–600. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.037

26. Khademi M, Vaziri-Harami R, Shams J. Prevalence of mental health problems and its associated factors among recovered COVID-19 patients during the pandemic: a single-center study. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:602244. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.602244

27. De Lorenzo R, Conte C, Lanzani C, Benedetti F, Roveri L, Mazza MG, et al. Residual clinical damage after COVID-19: a retrospective and prospective observational cohort study. *PLoS ONe.* (2020) 15:e0239570. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0239570

28. Mazza MG, Palladini M, De Lorenzo R, Magnaghi C, Poletti S, Furlan R, et al. Persistent psychopathology and neurocognitive impairment in COVID-19 survivors: effect of inflammatory biomarkers at three-month follow-up. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2021) 94:138–47. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2021.02.021

29. Vlake JH, Wesselius S, van Genderen ME, van Bommel J. Boxma-de Klerk B, Wils EJ. Psychological distress and health-related quality of life in patients after hospitalization during the COVID-19 pandemic: A single-center, observational study. *PLoS ONE.* (2021) 16:e0255774. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0255774

30. De Lorenzo R, Cinel E, Cilla M, Compagnone N, Ferrante M, Falbo E, et al. Physical and psychological sequelae at three months after acute illness in COVID-19 survivors. *Panminerva Med.* (2021). doi: 10.23736/S0031-0808.21.04399-8

31. Tu Y, Zhang Y, Li Y, Zhao Q, Bi Y, Lu X, et al. Post-traumatic stress symptoms in COVID-19 survivors: a self-report and brain imaging follow-up study. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2021). doi: 10.1038/s41380-021-01223-w

32. Kyzar EJ, Purpura LJ, Shah J, Cantos A, Nordvig AS, Yin MT. Anxiety, depression, insomnia, and trauma-related symptoms following COVID-19 infection at long-term follow-up. *Brain Behav Immun Health.* (2021) 16:100315. doi: 10.1016/j.bbih.2021.100315

33. Schou TM, Joca S, Wegener G, Bay-Richter C. Psychiatric and neuropsychiatric sequelae of COVID-19 - A systematic review. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2021) 97:328–48. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2021.07.018

34. Varma P, Junge M, Meaklim H, Jackson ML. Younger people are more vulnerable to stress, anxiety and depression during COVID-19 pandemic: a global cross-sectional survey. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry.* (2021) 109:110236. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2020.110236

35. Morina N, Wicherts JM, Lobbrecht J, Priebe S. Remission from post-traumatic stress disorder in adults: a systematic review and metaanalysis of long term outcome studies. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2014) 34:249– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2014.03.002

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia

#### **REVIEWED BY**

Arlette Setiawan, Universitas Padjadjaran, Indonesia Thiago Teixeira Guimarães, Air Force University, Brazil Alena Zolotareva, National Research University Higher School of Economics, Russia

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE Chan Shen cshen@pennstatehealth.psu.edu

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 15 June 2022 ACCEPTED 21 July 2022 PUBLISHED 09 August 2022

#### CITATION

Shen C, Rashiwala L, Wiener RC, Findley PA, Wang H and Sambamoorthi U (2022) The association of COVID-19 vaccine availability with mental health among adults in the United States. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:970007. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.970007

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shen, Rashiwala, Wiener, Findley, Wang and Sambamoorthi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The association of COVID-19 vaccine availability with mental health among adults in the United States

# Chan Shen <sup>1\*</sup>, Lucy Rashiwala<sup>2</sup>, R. Constance Wiener<sup>3</sup>, Patricia A. Findley<sup>4</sup>, Hao Wang<sup>5</sup> and Usha Sambamoorthi<sup>2</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Departments of Surgery and Public Health Sciences, Penn State College of Medicine, Hershey, PA, United States, <sup>2</sup>Department of Pharmacotherapy, College of Pharmacy, University of North Texas Health Science Center, Fort Worth, TX, United States, <sup>3</sup>Department of Dental Public Health and Professional Practice, School of Dentistry, West Virginia University, Morgantown, WV, United States, <sup>4</sup>Rutgers School of Social Work, New Brunswick, NJ, United States, <sup>5</sup>Department of Emergency Medicine, JPS Health Network, Integrative Emergency Services, Fort Worth, TX, United States

**Objective:** To assess whether COVID-19 vaccine approval and availability was associated with reduction in the prevalence of depression and anxiety among adults in the United States.

**Methods:** We adopted cross sectional and quasi-experimental design with mental health measurements before vaccine availability (June 2020, N = 68,009) and after vaccine availability (March 2021, N = 63,932) using data from Census Pulse Survey. Depression and anxiety were derived from PHQ-2 and GAD-2 questionnaires. We compared rates of depression and anxiety between June 2020 and March 2021. Unadjusted and adjusted analysis with replicate weights were conducted.

**Results:** Depression prevalence was 25.0% in June 2020 and 24.6% in March 2021; anxiety prevalence was 31.7% in June 2020 and 30.0% in March 2021 in the sample. In adjusted analysis, there were no significant differences in likelihood of depression and anxiety between June 2020 and March 2021.

**Conclusion:** Depression and anxiety were not significantly different between June 2020 and March 2021, which suggests that the pandemic effect continues to persist even with widespread availability of vaccines.

#### KEYWORDS

COVID-19, depression, anxiety, Census pulse survey, vaccine availability

## Introduction

The year 2020 brought unprecedented situations around the globe. During the COVID-19 pandemic, many households faced isolation, fear, violence, drug abuse, and anxiety. The pandemic has impacted every aspect of society resulting in economic uncertainty, limited interpersonal connections, mortality, drug abuse, and social disruption. Furthermore, America has faced riots, protests, police brutality, and political divisiveness as well (1). In April 2020, the Bureau of Labor Statistics (2020) reported a

record-high unemployment rate of 14.7% (2). As of June, 2022, more than one million deaths have been reported due to COVID-19 in the US (3).

Numerous studies in the literature have examined the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on mental health. Two meta-analyses found that prevalence rates of depression and anxiety increased substantially during the COVID-19 outbreak (4, 5). One of them covered 12 studies with sample sizes ranging from 600 to 7,236 participants, and the pooled prevalence of depression was 25% during the COVID-19 outbreak, which is 7 times higher than the global estimated prevalence of depression of 3.44% in 2017 (4). The other meta-analysis paper covering 14 studies on the prevalence of depression with a sample size of 44,531 people, found an even higher prevalence rate of depression at 33.7% during COVID-19 (5). That study also examined prevalence of anxiety using 17 studies with a sample size of 63,439 and estimated the prevalence rate of anxiety to be also very high at 31.9% during COVID-19 (5).

Several studies have further researched the relationship between mental health during the pandemic and multiple factors such as government role, food insufficiency, housing, and income level (6–8). However, few studies considered the impact of vaccine availability and whether it helps reduce mental stress. One study on chronic kidney disease patients found that COVID-19 vaccination improved anxiety and depression in this special group of patients (9). However, there is significant skepticism about COVID-19 vaccine and it is unknown whether the availability of vaccine improved mental health in the general public.

This study aims to fill the knowledge gap by assessing if COVID-19 vaccine availability was associated with reduction in the prevalence of depression and anxiety among a nationally representative group of adults in the US. We compared the prevalence of depression and anxiety before and after COVID-19 vaccine became available using a nationally representative household survey.

## Methods

#### Data source

The data source we used for this study is the Census pulse survey. The Census pulse survey is a nationally representative household survey was designed by the United States Census Bureau in collaboration with numerous federal agencies to measure social and economic impact due to the coronavirus pandemic in the US (10). The pulse survey contains information on demographic characteristics, education, income, employment, food sufficiency, access to healthcare physical and mental health and other COVID-19 related information such as vaccine and testing.

## Study design

We adopted a cross sectional and quasi-experimental design with mental health measurements in June 2020 and March 2021. Specifically, we used the survey results from Census Household Pulse Survey (HPS) during the following two waves: Week 7: June 11- June 16, 2020, and Week 27: March 17- 29, 2021. We chose these two waves of data for comparison purposes because in June 2020 individuals were subject to high stress due to prolonged health regulations, lock downs, and social isolation due to physical and social distancing, and in March 2021 vaccines were approved and became available to all adults over 18 years of age.

The inclusion criteria for the study were non-missing data on PHQ-2 and GAD-2 scores. Between week 7 and week 27, the census pulse survey consisted of 131,941 adults representing 209,245,170 adults in the United States.

## Measures

The dependent variables examined in this study were depression (yes/no) and anxiety (yes/no) based on Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-2) and Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-2) questionnaires. PHQ-2, a patient-reported outcome measure (PROM) assesses depression symptoms with two questions. 1. Little interest or pleasure in doing things. 2. Feeling down, depressed, or hopeless. GAD-2 assesses anxiety symptoms with two questions. 1. Feeling nervous, anxious or on edge. 2. Not being able to stop or control worrying. Each question is rated from 0 to 3 (Not at all (0), several days (1), More than half the days(2), and nearly every day (3). Thus, both PHQ-2 and GAD-2 scores range from 0 to 6. Adults with PHQ-2 score 3 or greater should be screened for major depressive disorder (11). Sensitivity of PHQ-2 is 97% and specificity is 67%. Adults with GAD-2 score 3 or greater should be screened for generalized anxiety disorder (12). Sensitivity of GAD-2 is 86% and specificity is 83%. In our study, adults who scored 3 or greater PHQ-2 were classified as having depression and adults who scored 3 or more in GAD-2 were classified as having anxiety.

Other explanatory variables included age, sex, food insecurity, education, income, race and ethnicity, marital status, loss of employment (whether reported lost work during the past 4 weeks), region.

## Statistical analysis

We tested group differences using Rao-Scott chi-square. Multivariable logistic regressions were used to analyze factors associated with the presence of depression and anxiety respectively. In these regressions, our main focus was on time TABLE 1 Description of selected characteristics of adult (18 years or older) respondents in weeks 7 (june 2020) and 27 (march 2021) United States Census Pulse Survey.

	N					
	14	Wt. %	Ν	Wt. %		
	68,009	100.0	63,932	100.0		
					0.085	0.770
Female	40,588	51.6	37,828	52.0		
Male	27,421	48.4	26,104	48.0		
					1.673	0.796
White	52,049	63.5	48,968	65.4		
African American	5,009	11.0	4,225	10.3		
Latino/Hispanic	5,677	16.5	5,660	15.8		
Asian	2,940	5.0	2,990	5.1		
Other race	2,334	4.0	2,089	3.5		
					1.101	0.894
Married	39,596	55.9	38,090	56.7		
Widow	3,510	3.9	3,893	4.5		
Sep/Div	11,859	13.9	10,937	13.7		
Never married	12,813	26.0	10,634	24.6		
					1.929	0.587
Less than high school	1,259	8.1	1,180	7.6		
High School	21,806	51.7	19,983	49.3		
Associate degree	6,961	8.9	6,638	10.0		
College	37,983	31.3	36,131	33.1		
					14.451	0.071
LT \$25,000	6854	15.5	5645	12.7		
\$25,000-\$34,999	5820	11.3	4894	9.7		
\$35,000-\$49,999	7094	11.8	6297	10.8		
\$50,000-\$74,999	11437	17.0	10433	16.5		
\$75,000-\$99,999	9276	12.1	8462	11.7		
\$100,000-\$149,999	11608	13.9	10996	14.0		
\$150,000-\$199,999	5455	6.0	5452	6.4		
GE \$200,000	6319	6.3	6414	7.3		
					0.152	0.985
Northeast	11,453	17.2	10,054	17.2		
South	23,280	38.1	19,855	37.7		
Midwest	14,141	20.4	13,172	20.7		
West	19,135	24.2	20,851	24.3		
					2.607	0.272
Employed	38,862	54.7	37,135	59.1		
Not employed	29,082	45.2	26,715	40.7		
	_	_			1.266	0.737
	MaleWhiteAfrican AmericanLatino/HispanicAsianOther raceMarriedWidowSep/DivNever marriedLess than high schoolHigh SchoolAssociate degreeCollegeLT \$25,000\$35,000-\$34,999\$35,000-\$149,999\$100,000-\$149,999\$150,000-\$199,999\$100,000-\$199,999\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$100,000-\$149,000\$	Male       27,421         White       52,049         African American       5,009         Latino/Hispanic       5,677         Asian       2,940         Other race       2,334         Married       39,596         Widow       3,510         Sep/Div       11,859         Never married       12,813         Less than high school       1,259         High School       21,806         Associate degree       6,961         College       37,983         LT \$25,000       6854         \$25,000-\$34,999       5820         \$35,000-\$49,999       5820         \$35,000-\$49,999       5455         GE \$200,000       6319         Northeast       11,453         South       23,280         Midwest       14,141         West       19,135         Employed       38,862         Not employed       29,082         Private       52,992         Public       9,939	Male       27,421       48.4         White       52,049       63.5         African American       5,009       11.0         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5         Asian       2,940       5.0         Other race       2,334       4.0         Married       39,596       55.9         Widow       3,510       3.9         Sep/Div       11,859       13.9         Never married       12,813       26.0         Less than high school       1,259       8.1         High School       1,259       8.1         High School       21,806       51.7         Associate degree       6,961       8.9         College       37,983       31.3         LT \$25,000       6854       15.5         \$25,000-\$34,999       5820       11.3         \$35,000-\$49,999       7094       11.8         \$50,000-\$149,999       11608       13.9         \$150,000-\$149,999       11608       13.9         \$150,000-\$199,999       2455       6.0         GE \$200,000       6319       6.3         Northeast       11,453       17.2         South <td>Male       27,421       48.4       26,104         White       52,049       63.5       48,968         African American       5,009       11.0       4,225         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5       5,660         Asian       2,940       5.0       2,990         Other race       2,334       4.0       2,089         Married       39,596       55.9       38,090         Widow       3,510       3.9       3,893         Sep/Div       11,859       13.9       10,937         Never married       1,259       8.1       1,180         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180         College       37,983       3.1       1,893         Associate degree       6,961       8.9       6,638         Sto,000-\$34,999       7094       11.8       6297         Sto,000-\$49,999       9276       12.1       8462         Sto,000-\$149,999       11608       13.9       10996         Sto,000-\$199,999       9276       12.1       8462</td> <td>Male       27,421       48.4       26,104       48,06         White       52,049       63.5       48,968       65.4         African American       5,009       11.0       4.225       10.3         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5       5,660       15.8         Asian       2,940       5.0       2,990       5.1         Other race       2,334       4.0       2,089       3.5         Married       39,596       55.9       38,090       56.7         Widow       3,510       3.9       3,893       4.5         Sep/Div       11,859       13.9       10,937       13.7         Never married       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         South a bigh school       1,259       8.1       1,83       10.0         College       37,983       31.3       36,131       33.1         J       55,000-534,999       7094       1.8       6297       10.8</td> <td>Female       40,588       51.6       37,828       52.0         Male       27,21       48.4       26,104       48.0         White       52,049       63.5       48,968       65.4         African American       5,009       11.0       4,225       10.3         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5       5,600       15.8         Avian       2,940       5.0       2,909       3.5         Other race       2,334       4.0       2,089       3.5         Married       39,596       55.9       38,090       66.7         Widow       3,510       3.9       3,893       4.5         SpepDivi       11,859       13.9       10,973       13.7         Never married       12,806       51.7       19,983       49.3         Associate degree       6,961       8.9       6,638       10.0         Associate degree       6,961       8.9       6,638       10.0         SpepDov       155       6,638       10.0       14.51         TS2,5000       6541       15.5       16.55       16.5         SpepDov       794       11.8       6.297       10.8</td>	Male       27,421       48.4       26,104         White       52,049       63.5       48,968         African American       5,009       11.0       4,225         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5       5,660         Asian       2,940       5.0       2,990         Other race       2,334       4.0       2,089         Married       39,596       55.9       38,090         Widow       3,510       3.9       3,893         Sep/Div       11,859       13.9       10,937         Never married       1,259       8.1       1,180         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180         College       37,983       3.1       1,893         Associate degree       6,961       8.9       6,638         Sto,000-\$34,999       7094       11.8       6297         Sto,000-\$49,999       9276       12.1       8462         Sto,000-\$149,999       11608       13.9       10996         Sto,000-\$199,999       9276       12.1       8462	Male       27,421       48.4       26,104       48,06         White       52,049       63.5       48,968       65.4         African American       5,009       11.0       4.225       10.3         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5       5,660       15.8         Asian       2,940       5.0       2,990       5.1         Other race       2,334       4.0       2,089       3.5         Married       39,596       55.9       38,090       56.7         Widow       3,510       3.9       3,893       4.5         Sep/Div       11,859       13.9       10,937       13.7         Never married       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         High School       1,259       8.1       1,180       7.6         South a bigh school       1,259       8.1       1,83       10.0         College       37,983       31.3       36,131       33.1         J       55,000-534,999       7094       1.8       6297       10.8	Female       40,588       51.6       37,828       52.0         Male       27,21       48.4       26,104       48.0         White       52,049       63.5       48,968       65.4         African American       5,009       11.0       4,225       10.3         Latino/Hispanic       5,677       16.5       5,600       15.8         Avian       2,940       5.0       2,909       3.5         Other race       2,334       4.0       2,089       3.5         Married       39,596       55.9       38,090       66.7         Widow       3,510       3.9       3,893       4.5         SpepDivi       11,859       13.9       10,973       13.7         Never married       12,806       51.7       19,983       49.3         Associate degree       6,961       8.9       6,638       10.0         Associate degree       6,961       8.9       6,638       10.0         SpepDov       155       6,638       10.0       14.51         TS2,5000       6541       15.5       16.55       16.5         SpepDov       794       11.8       6.297       10.8

(Continued)

#### TABLE 1 Continued

		June	June 2020		h 2021	<b>Chi-square</b>	<i>p</i> -value
		N	Wt. %	Ν	Wt. %		
Lost work						2.489	0.288
	Yes	26,204	47.5	22,539	43.8		
	No	41,711	52.4	41,284	56.1		
Food sufficiency						10.829	0.004
	Yes	46,016	58.4	48,773	67.9		
	No	21,803	41.2	15,020	31.8		

Based on adults (aged 18 or older) who responded to the United States Census Pulse Survey in week 7 or Week 27, with no missing data in Patient Health Questionnaire-2 and Generalized Anxiety Disorder 2-item questions. Due to missing data (marital status, employment, income, health insurance, lost work, food sufficiency), the column percentages may not add to 100%. Missing data are not included in the table. Group differences were tested with Rao-Scott chi-square statistics.

LT, Less than; GE, Greater than or equal; Sep/Div, Separated Divorced; Wt, Weighted. The red indicates that these are statistically significant.

and we controlled for age, sex, food insecurity, education, income, race and ethnicity, marital status, loss of employment, and region. All analyses were conducted with the SAS survey procedures to take the survey weights provided by the Census pulse survey into consideration.

## Results

Table 1 illustrates the characteristics of adult respondents in week 7 and week 27 in US Census Pulse Survey. There were 51.8% females, 64.3% white, 10.7% African American, 16.2% Hispanic/Latino, 5.0% Asian and 3.8% other race or multiracial; and 9.6% did not have health insurance. Demographic, socio-economic, and healthcare access (age, sex, race and ethnicity, education, and health insurance) did not differ between June 2020 and March 2021 (Table 1).

With respect to depression, 25.0% in June 2020 and 24.6% in March 2021 had PHQ-2 score  $\geq$  3 (Table 2). With respect to anxiety, 31.7% in June 2020 and 30.0% in March 2021 had a GAD-2 score  $\geq$  to 3 (Table 2). The differences were not statistically significant. In adjusted analysis, there were no significant differences in likelihood of depression and anxiety between June 2020 and March 2021.

In adjusted logistic regression (Table 3), those who reported food insufficiency (AOR = 2.93, 95% CI = 2.25, 3.79) and those who were never married (AOR = 1.52, 95% CI = 1.02, 2.28) were more likely to have depression compared to those who reported food sufficiency and were married. Adults who did not lose work during the pandemic were less likely to have depression (AOR = 0.62, 95% CI = 0.47, 0.83) compared to those who lost employment.

In adjusted logistic regression (Table 3), those who reported food insufficiency (AOR = 2.82, 95% CI = 2.09, 3.81), loss of employment (AOR = 0.57, 95% CI = 0.44, 0.74) were more likely to be anxious compared to those with food sufficiency and did not lose employment. Being married was associated with lower odds of anxiety (AOR = 1.25, 95% CI = 0.85, 1.83). Being a

female was associated with higher odds of anxiety (AOR = 1.39, 95% CI = 1.06, 1.83) compared to males.

## Discussion

This study examined the association of COVID-19 vaccine availability and mental health. We observed adult depression prevalence rate at 25.0% in June 2020 and at 24.6% in March 2021 based on Census pulse survey. Therefore, the result suggests that the depression prevalence was relatively stable over this time period. We also report that anxiety was initially 31.7% at the beginning of the pandemic and 30.0% in March 2021. People who lost their jobs, had food insecurity, and were older were more likely to experience depression and anxiety in the study period. Females, in general, were more likely to experience anxiety, and people who were never married were more likely to experience depression during the study period.

These depression and anxiety rates were much higher than numbers found in the literature in the year preceding the COVID-19 pandemic. For example, one study found that in 2019, 18.5% of U.S. adults were experiencing depression, of which 11.5% reported mild symptoms, 4.2% reported moderate symptoms, and 2.8% reported severe symptoms (13). Another study showed that during that same year, there were 15.6% who reported experiencing the anxiety, of which 9.5% reported mild symptoms, 3.4% reported moderate symptoms, and 2.7% reported severe symptoms (14).

Several studies during the pandemic showed an increase in depression and anxiety symptoms that were above the 2019 levels and were similar to the results of this study. A metaanalysis with pooled prevalence showed depression levels at 25% from January 1, 2020 to May 8, 2020 (4). In another metaanalysis conducted without a lower time limit and until May 2020, the prevalence of depression was 33.7% (much higher than our results); however, the prevalence of anxiety was 33.7% (similar to our results) (5). Other researchers have also reported that there was a higher burden of depression symptoms among

		With de	pression				anxiety		
		N	Wt. %	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value	Ν	Wt. %	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value
ALL	26,903	24.8			36,484	30.9			
Time				0.035	0.852			0.48	0.489
	June 2020	14,285	25.0			20,221	31.7		
Ma	March 2021	12,618	24.6			16,263	30.0		
Sex				1.666	0.197			7.119	0.008
	Female	17,240	26.3			24,376	34.3		
	Male	9663	23.2			12,108	27.3		
Race and ethnicity				3.900	0.420			2.812	0.590
	White	19,229	23.2			26,662	29.6		
	African American	2,290	27.6			2,969	34.2		
	Latino/Hispanic	2,946	28.3			3,840	34.1		
	Asian	1,101	22.6			1,369	26.6		
	Other race	1,337	33.3			1,644	36.6		
Marital status				35.555	< 0.001			25.033	< 0.001
	Married	12,003	18.6			18,150	25.3		
	Widow	1,459	24.8			1,668	26.4		
	Sep/Divorced	6,105	30.2			7,584	35.8		
	Never married	7,203	35.8			8,915	41.4		
Education		,,200	0010	12.739	0.005	0,910		6.895	0.075
Education	LT High School	835	31.8	12000	01000	966	37.7	0.070	01070
	High School	10,881	27.7			13,257	32.5		
	Associate degree	3,180	26.8			4,073	33.5		
	College	12,007	18.0			18,188	26.0		
Income	Concge	12,007	10.0	36.893	< 0.001	10,100	20.0	34.120	< 0.001
meonie	LT \$25,000	4,741	37.3	50.075	<0.001	5,470	43.0	51.120	<0.001
	\$25,000-\$34,999	3,170	32.0			3,868	37.3		
	\$35,000-\$49,999	3,384	29.2			4,220	34.8		
	\$50,000-\$74,999	4,723	29.2			6,343	31.4		
	\$75,000-\$99,999	3,141	20.7			4,461	26.7		
	\$100,000-\$149,999	3,271	16.9			5,006	22.6		
	\$150,000-\$199,999	1,353	14.6			2,249	21.3		
<b>D</b> '	GE \$200,000	1,353	13.2	0.022	0.042	2,388	19.6	0.000	0.020
Region		4.1.40	22.5	0.833	0.842	5.0.45	20.1	0.880	0.830
	Northeast	4,149	23.5			5,945	28.1		
	South	9,218	25.8			12,230	35.1		
	Mid-west	5,178	23.4			7,053	43.5		
	West	8,358	25.5			11,256	37.4		
Employment				6.291	0.043			1.974	0.378
	Employed	14,169	21.9			20,931	41.0		
1.1 .	Not employed	12,702	28.6			15,512	22.4	44.5.5	
Health insurance	<b>D</b> .1			16.766	< 0.001			13.160	0.004
	Private	18,742	21.9			26,569	20.9		
	Public	5,113	29.9			6,182	48.1		
	None	2,531	37.8			3,041	25.9		

TABLE 2 Description of selected characteristics of adult respondents by depression and anxiety (row percentages) United States Census Pulse Survey–week 7 (june 2020) and week 27 (march 2021).

(Continued)

		With depression				With anxiety			
		N	Wt. %	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value	Ν	Wt. %	Chi-square	<i>p</i> -value
Lost work				45.427	< 0.001			61.924	< 0.001
	Lost work	14,147	33.2			18,832	41.0		
	No	12,715	17.8			17,594	22.4		
Food sufficiency				133.962	< 0.001			89.638	< 0.001
	Yes	12,523	15.4			18,803	20.9		
	No	14,309	40.9			17,592	48.1		
Comorbid dep and anx	iety			496.000	< 0.001			496.000	< 0.001
	Yes	21610	65.7			21610	81.8		
	No	5293	6.5			14874	14.1		

#### TABLE 2 Continued

Based on adults (aged 18 or older) who responded to the United States Census Pulse Survey in week 7 or Week 27, with no missing data in Patient Health Questionnaire-2 and Generalized Anxiety Disorder 2-item questions. Missing data (marital status, employment, income, health insurance, lost work, and food sufficiency) are not presented in the table. Group differences were tested with Rao-Scott chi-square statistics.

Dep, Depression; LT, Less than; GE, Greater than or equal; Sep/Div, Separated Divorced; Wt, Weighted. The red indicates that these are statistically significant.

U.S. adults in a study from March 31, 2020, to April 13, 2020 in which 27.8% reported depression symptoms (15).

Our study differs from the previous ones in that its time frame encompasses the availability of the COVID-19 vaccine for the general public and the potential for some resolution of depression and anxiety. The initial high levels of depression and anxiety were not unexpected as COVID-19 brought uncertainty and stress with its high transmission and number of hospitalizations and deaths in the early months of 2020. Additionally, the poor health messaging, lockdowns, economic downturn, and poor management of the pandemic in early 2020 were also factors that could be expected to impact depression and anxiety symptoms. A prior study found that COVID-19 vaccination improved anxiety and depression in chronic kidney disease patients (9). However, in this study, depression and anxiety levels remained high in March 2021, despite the widespread availability of the vaccines that were shown to sharply decrease severe COVID-19, hospitalizations, and death (16).

Three main factors may explain the high levels of depression and anxiety that did not subside after the availability of vaccines: vaccine hesitancy, concern for children ineligible for the vaccine, and social determinants. There is significant vaccine hesitancy in the Us. One online survey indicated that 41% of participants reported a belief of an adverse effect on fertility with the vaccination, and 38% reported being unsure about an adverse effect on fertility (17). In the U.S., the mixed messages, political discourse, and social media were evident. In a study of social networking tweets, the most retweeted tweets had misinformation (18). The researchers suggested that many of the tweets were from anti-vaxxer activists and systematic professional sources (18). Prior studies that shown that individuals with less education, less income, and who were black were more likely to have vaccine hesitancy or decline vaccinations (19, 20). Another study found that children and adolescents in England who had prior COVID-19 infection were more hesitant to receive vaccine and also had lower level of depression and anxiety (21). It is interesting to note that in a study conducted in Germany, COVID-19-related anxiety was associated with higher vaccine acceptance (22).

The other potential factor for maintaining high levels of anxiety and depression symptoms was concern about children and COVID-19. In March 2021, children under 12 years did not have access to vaccinations, and school boards were considering returning the children to in-person learning. In a study conducted in mid-March 2020, parents of children from primary school to college were surveyed, and parents who perceived stress and had children in middle or high school were at greater risk for depression and anxiety (23).

Our findings also indicated an association of depression and anxiety with social determinants of health such as employment, food sufficiency, and marital status (a proxy for social support). Regardless of COVID-19, individuals with untreated depressive disorders had lower employment rates (24). In a study of 424 adults, employment at baseline was associated with lower depressive symptoms throughout the life course of the depression (25). In one study, from June 15 to June 30, 2020, direct or household employment loss (job insecurity) was associated with a greater risk of poor mental health (26). Food insecurity has also been an identified risk factor for depression in older adults (27, 28). Researchers conducting a meta-analysis for risk factors for depression and anxiety indicated a positive relationship with food insecurity (29).

In our study, we found that persons who had never married were associated with depressive symptoms. In a literature review of marriage and psychiatric illness prior to the pandemic, marriage was both a protecting and predisposing factor for psychiatric illness, depending upon the quality of the marriage TABLE 3 Adjusted odds ratios and 95% (confidence intervals) selected characteristics from separate logistic regressions on depression and anxiety United States Census Pulse Survey–Week 7 (june 2020) and week 27 (march 2021).

		AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -value	AOR	95% CI	<i>p</i> -valu
Time							
	June 2020(Ref)						
	March 2021	0.87	[0.65,1.16]	0.3495	0.94	[0.73, 1.20]	0.6060
Sex							
	Female	1.14	[0.85, 1.53]	0.3690	1.39	[1.06, 1.83]	0.0172
	Male (Ref)						
Age	0.93	[0.89, 0.97]	0.0005	0.91	[0.88, 0.95]	< 0.001	
Race and ethnicity							
	White (Ref)						
	AA	0.82	[0.50, 1.34]	0.4221	0.82	[0.50, 1.33]	0.4174
	Latino	0.74	[0.43, 1.26]	0.2629	0.70	[0.43, 1.13]	0.1408
	Asian	0.85	[0.40, 1.79]	0.6615	0.70	[0.37, 1.33]	0.2677
	Other race	1.11	[0.58, 2.14]	0.7424	0.91	[0.45, 1.83]	0.7844
Marital status							
	Married (Ref)						
	Widow	1.55	[0.78, 3.11]	0.2104	1.15	[0.56, 2.37]	0.6979
	Sep/Div	1.45	[1.00, 2.12]	0.0506	1.28	[0.88, 1.85]	0.1922
	Never Married	1.52	[1.02, 2.28]	0.0381	1.25	[0.85, 1.83]	0.2455
Education							
	LT HS	1.18	[0.55, 2.54]	0.6628	0.99	[0.52, 1.89]	0.9794
	HS	1.18	[0.86, 1.62]	0.3047	0.94	[0.72, 1.24]	0.6712
	Assoc deg	1.24	[0.75, 2.04]	0.4065	1.06	[0.69, 1.63]	0.7816
	College (Ref)						
Income							
	LT \$25,000 (Ref)						
	\$25,000-\$34,999	0.98	[0.53, 1.81]	0.9355	0.95	[0.56, 1.62]	0.8593
	\$35,000-\$49,999	0.98	[0.58, 1.65]	0.9282	0.96	[0.53, 1.73]	0.8897
	\$50,000-\$74,999	0.87	[0.51, 1.49]	0.6096	0.90	[0.54, 1.51]	0.6906
	\$75,000-\$99,999	0.83	[0.44, 1.56]	0.5547	0.82	[0.47, 1.43]	0.4821
	\$100,000-\$149,999	0.76	[0.40, 1.45]	0.3986	0.74	[0.41, 1.31]	0.2970
	\$150,000-\$199,999	0.72	[0.36, 1.45]	0.3566	0.75	[0.40, 1.42]	0.3764
	GE \$200,000	0.72	[0.35, 1.49]	0.3738	0.75	[0.38, 1.47]	0.3981
Region	011 0200,000	002	[0.003, 1125]	010700	0170	[0.00, 117,]	0.0701
	Northeast (Ref)						
	South	1.06	[0.71, 1.57]	0.7806	1.05	[0.72, 1.53]	0.8087
	Mid-west	0.96	[0.60, 1.53]	0.8623	0.93	[0.60, 1.44]	0.7473
	West	1.04	[0.68, 1.61]	0.8491	1.07	[0.70, 1.62]	0.7625
Health insurance	TT CSC	1.01	[0.00, 1.01]	0.0191	1.07	[0.70, 1.02]	0.7025
incurtin insurance	Private (Ref)						
	Public	1.12	[0.77, 1.63]	0.5606	1.08	[0.73, 1.59]	0.6935
	None	1.12	[0.77, 1.63] [0.70, 1.88]	0.5965	1.08	[0.75, 1.59] [0.65, 1.85]	0.6935
Lost work	INDIE	1.14	[0.70, 1.00]	0.5705	1.10	[0.03, 1.03]	0.7215
LUST WUIK	Lost work (Ref)						
		0.62	[0 47 0 92]	0.0012	0.57	[0 44 0 74]	-0.001
Food sufficiency	No	0.62	[0.47, 0.83]	0.0012	0.57	[0.44, 0.74]	< 0.001
rood sunciency	Vac (Daf)						
	Yes (Ref)	2.02	[2.25, 2.50]	0.0000	2.02	[2.00. 2.01]	0.000
	No	2.92	[2.25, 3.79]	0.0000	2.82	[2.09, 3.81]	< 0.001

Based on adults (aged 18 or older) who responded to the United States Census Pulse Survey in week 7 or Week 27, with no missing data in Patient Health Questionnaire-2 and Generalized Anxiety Disorder 2-item questions.

AOR, Adjusted Odds Ratio; 95% CI, 95% Confidence Interval; Dep, Depression; LT, Less than; GE, Greater than or equal; Sep/Div, Separated Divorced.

(30). A study of job loss during the pandemic and marriage indicated that married individuals were 1-2% less likely to develop mental health problems related to work/income (31). Another study indicated that during the pandemic, the quality of the marriage was related to depression and anxiety and that individuals with no relationships scored better than individuals with poor ones (32).

Our finding that depression and anxiety symptoms did not improve after COVID-19 vaccine became available has implications for future mental healthcare needs and healthcare delivery. During the period studied in this research, there was increased use of telehealth for anxiety and depression in some settings (33). In one study, telehealth reduced depression but not anxiety during the pandemic (34). In a survey study conducted in Arkansas, 42% of participants reported using telehealth; and those with anxiety and/or depression had three times greater odds than those with no diagnosis (35). Telehealth may be a viable means by which to meet mental healthcare needs beyond COVID-19.

With each wave of COVID-19, there may continue to be high levels of depression and anxiety symptoms. The means to provide pharmacological and non-pharmacological therapies to alleviate the mental health burden need to be expanded. Future studies need to explore barriers to COVID-19 related mental healthcare utilization and the impact of mental health therapies on outcomes among adults with depression and or anxiety.

## Strengths and limitations

Our study has many strengths and some limitations. We used nationally representative data with near realtime collection. The findings from this study may inform public health planning and policies to address mental health. Availability of repeated cross-sections enabled assessment of COVID-19 related mental health burden over time. However, the survey lacked information on some variables such as chronic conditions, health status, loss/impact of COVID-19 on family and friends, the severity of depression and anxiety, physical activity, and vaccine hesitancy that may have influenced mental health.

## Conclusion

Depression and anxiety symptoms did not change significantly between June 2020 and March 2021. These results suggest that the effects of the pandemic on mental health continue to persist despite the widespread availability of vaccines that would have been considered to assuage some of the symptoms.

## Data availability statement

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://www.census.gov/programssurveys/household-pulse-survey/datasets.html.

## Author contributions

CS and US contributed to conception and design of the study. LR and US performed the statistical analysis. All authors contributed to the writing of the manuscript, read, and approved the submitted version.

## Funding

This project described was supported in part by the National Institute of General Medical Sciences, 5U54GM104942-05 (RW) and by the National Institutes of Health (NIH) Agreement No. 1OT2OD032581-01 (US) and NIH/1OT2HL158258-01 (US), and the National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities through the Texas Center for Health Disparities (NIMHD), 5U54MD006882-10 (HW and US).

## Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Author disclaimer

The views and conclusions contained in this document are those of the authors and should not be interpreted as representing the official policies, either expressed or implied, of the NIH.

## References

1. Burch AE, Jacobs M. COVID-19, Police violence, and educational disruption: the differential experience of anxiety for racial and ethnic households. *J Racial Ethn Health Disparities*. (2021) 1:1–18. doi: 10.1007/s40615-021-01188-0

2. US Bureau of Labor Statistics. *The Unemployment Rate Rises to a Record High of 14.7 Percent In April 2020*. Available online at: https://www.bls.gov/opub/ted/2020/unemployment-rate-rises-to-record-high-14-point-7-percent-in-april-2020.htm (accessed July 25, 2022).

3. Statista. Total Number of Cases and Deaths From Coronavirus (COVID-19) in the United States as of May 15, 2022. Available online at https://www.statista. com/statistics/1101932/coronavirus-covid19-cases-and-deaths-number-us-americans (accessed July 25, 2022).

 Bueno-Notivol J, Gracia-García P, Olaya B, Lasheras I, López-Antón R, Santabárbara J. Prevalence of depression during the COVID-19 outbreak: a metaanalysis of community-based studies. *Int J Clin Health Psychol.* (2021) 21:100196– 100196. doi: 10.1016/j.ijchp.2020.07.007

5. Salari N, Hosseinian-Far A, Jalali R, Vaisi-Raygani A, Rasoulpoor S, Mohammadi M, et al. Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Global Health.* (2020) 16:57. doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w

6. Riehm KE, Holingue C, Smail EJ, Kapteyn A, Bennett D, Thrul J, et al. How the COVID-19 pandemic has changed our lives: a study of psychological correlates across 59 countries. *J Clin Psychol.* (2021) 77:556–70. doi: 10.1002/jclp.23082

7. Yenerall J, Jensen K. Food security, financial resources, and mental health: evidence during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Nutrients*. (2021) 14:161. doi: 10.3390/nu14010161

8. Riehm KE, Holingue C, Smail EJ, Kapteyn A, Bennett D, Thrul J, et al. Trajectories of mental distress among U. S adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Ann Behav Med.* (2021) 55:93-102. doi: 10.1093/abm/kaaa 126

9. Garcia-Llana H, Panizo N, Gandía L, Orti M, Giménez-Civera E, Forquet C, et al. COVID-19 vaccination improved psychological distress (anxiety and depression scores) in chronic kidney disease patients: a prospective study. *Vaccines (Basel).* (2022) 10:299. doi: 10.3390/vaccines10020299

10. Bureau TUSC. *Measuring Household Experiences during the Coronavirus Pandemic*. Available online at: https://www.census.gov/data/experimental-data-products/household-pulse-survey.html.

11. Arroll B, Goodyear-Smith F, Crengle S, Gunn J, Kerse N, Fishman T, et al. Validation of PHQ-2 and PHQ-9 to screen for major depression in the primary care population. *Ann Fam Med.* (2010) 8:348–53. doi: 10.1370/afm.1139

12. Wild B, Eckl A, Herzog W, Niehoff D, Lechner S, Maatouk I, et al. Assessing generalized anxiety disorder in elderly people using the GAD-7 and GAD-2 scales: results of a validation study. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2014) 22:1029–38. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2013.01.076

13. Villarroel MA, Terlizzi EP. Symptoms of depression among adults: United States, 2019. NCHS Data Brief. (2020). pp. 1–8.

14. Terlizzi EP, Villarroel MA. *Symptoms of generalized anxiety disorder among adults: United States, 2019.* US Department of Health and Human Services, Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. (2020).

15. Ettman CK, Abdalla SM, Cohen GH, Sampson L, Vivier PM, Galea S. prevalence of depression symptoms in US adults before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Network Open.* (2020) 3:e2019686–e2019686. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.19686

16. Roghani A. The Influence of COVID-19 vaccination on daily cases, hospitalization, and death rate in tennessee, united states: case study. *JMIRx Med.* (2021) 2:e29324. doi: 10.2196/29324

17. Burlotos A, Díaz PAV, Pacheco MAH, de León Angel LDP, Camas MM, Sepulveda-Delgado J, et al. Fear about adverse effect on fertility is a major cause of COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy in the United States. *Andrologia.* (2022) 54:e14361. doi: 10.1111/and.14361

18. Jemielniak D, Krempovych Y. An analysis of AstraZeneca COVID-19 vaccine misinformation and fear mongering on Twitter. *Public Health.* (2021) 200:4–6. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2021.08.019

19. Willis DE, Andersen JA, Bryant-Moore K, Selig JP, Long CR, Felix HC, et al. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy: race/ethnicity, trust, and fear. *Clin Transl Sci.* (2021) 14:2200–7. doi: 10.1111/cts.13077

20. Sekizawa Y, Hashimoto S, Denda K, Ochi S, So M. Association between COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and generalized trust, depression, generalized anxiety, and fear of COVID-19. *BMC Public Health.* (2022) 22:126. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-12479-w

21. Fazel M, Puntis S, White SR, Townsend A, Mansfield KL, Viner R, et al. Willingness of children and adolescents to have a COVID-19 vaccination: results of a large whole schools survey in England. *EClin Med.* (2021) 40:101144–101144. doi: 10.1016/j.eclinm.2021.101144

22. Bendau A, Plag J, Petzold MB, Ströhle A. COVID-19 vaccine hesitancy and related fears and anxiety. *Int Immunopharmacol.* (2021) 97:107724. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2021.107724

23. Wu M, Xu W, Yao Y, Zhang L, Guo L, Fan J, et al. Mental health status of students' parents during COVID-19 pandemic and its influence factors. *General Psychiatr.* (2020) 33:250. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100250

24. Zuelke AE, Luck T, Schroeter ML, Witte AV, Hinz A, Engel C, et al. The association between unemployment and depression-Results from the population-based LIFE-adult-study. *J Affect Disord.* (2018) 235:399-406. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.04.073

25. Heinz AJ, Meffert BN, Halvorson MA, Blonigen D, Timko C, Cronkite R. Employment characteristics, work environment, and the course of depression over 23 years: does employment help foster resilience? *Depress Anxiety.* (2018) 35:861–7. doi: 10.1002/da.22782

26. Ganson KT, Tsai AC, Weiser SD, Benabou SE, Nagata JM. Job Insecurity and symptoms of anxiety and depression among U. S young adults during COVID-19. *J Adolesc Health.* (2021) 68:53–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2020.10.008

27. Smith L, Il Shin J, McDermott D, Jacob L, Barnett Y, López-Sánchez GF, et al. Association between food insecurity and depression among older adults from low- and middle-income countries. *Depress Anxiety*. (2021) 38:439–46. doi: 10.1002/da.23147

28. Jung SE, Kim S, Bishop A, Hermann J. Poor nutritional status among low-income older adults: examining the interconnection between self-care capacity, food insecurity, and depression. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* (2019) 119:1687–94. doi: 10.1016/j.jand.2018.04.009

29. Pourmotabbed A, Moradi S, Babaei A, Ghavami A, Mohammadi H, Jalili C, et al. Food insecurity and mental health: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Public Health Nutr.* (2020) 23:1778–90. doi: 10.1017/S136898001900435X

30. Mina S. Predictors of marriage in psychiatric illness: a review of literature. J Psychiatr Psychiatric Dis. (2019) 3:14–22. doi: 10.26502/jppd.2572-519X0058

31. Jace CE, Makridis CA. Does marriage protect mental health? evidence from the COVID-19 pandemic. *Soc Sci Q.* (2021) 102:2499–515. doi: 10.1111/ssqu.13063

32. Pieh C. O' Rourke T, Budimir S, Probst T. Relationship quality and mental health during COVID-19 lockdown. *PloS ONE.* (2020) 15:e0238906. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0238906

33. Jaffe DH, Lee L, Huynh S, Haskell TP. Health inequalities in the use of telehealth in the United States in the lens of COVID-19. *Popul Health Manag.* (2020) 23:368–77. doi: 10.1089/pop.2020.0186

34. Graziano S, Boldrini F, Righelli D, Milo F, Lucidi V, Quittner A, et al. Psychological interventions during COVID pandemic: telehealth for individuals with cystic fibrosis and caregivers. *Pediatr Pulmonol.* (2021) 56:1976-84. doi: 10.1002/ppul.25413

35. Andersen JA, Rowland B, Gloster E, McElfish PA. Telehealth utilization during COVID-19 among people with diagnosed mental health conditions. *Telemed J E Health.* (2022) 28:743–6. doi: 10.1089/tmj.2021.0356

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia

#### REVIEWED BY

Dhirendra Paudel, Mental Health and Yoga Pvt Ltd., Nepal Giorgia Varallo, University of Parma, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Dan Shan D.Shan6@nuigalway.ie

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 24 June 2022 ACCEPTED 16 August 2022 PUBLISHED 30 August 2022

#### CITATION

Shan D, Liu C, Li S and Zheng Y (2022) Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item questionnaire. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:977361. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.977361

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shan, Liu, Li and Zheng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item questionnaire

## Dan Shan<sup>1\*†</sup>, Chang Liu<sup>2†</sup>, Shaoyang Li<sup>3†</sup> and Yuandian Zheng<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Medicine, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland, <sup>2</sup>School of Clinical Medicine, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Science, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, <sup>4</sup>College of Osteopathic Medicine, Kansas City University, Kansas City, MO, United States

**Background:** Policies dealing with the Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic vary across the globe, the different governmental responses then affect the public perception of COVID-19. Many unofficial Chinese media outlets frequently spread misinformation about COVID-19 and exaggerated reports of rare sequelae of Omicron for monetization and attention seeking, leading to panics in the Chinese public. In comparison the attitudes toward Omicron in other countries around the world, especially in North America and Western Europe have shifted to a more relaxed stance.

**Objective:** This article primarily aims to investigate the association between Chinese people's attitudes toward the potential after-effects of Omicron and their anxiety status, as compared to these of people living in North America or Western Europe.

**Methods:** We conducted a questionnaire survey *via* the Credamo and collected valid data from 500 Chinese (not living in Shanghai), another 500 Chinese (living in Shanghai) and 500 people living in North America or Western Europe in June 2022. Kendall's coefficient of rank correlation tau-sub-b was used to examine this association.

**Results:** The results suggested that subjective attitudes of Chinese participants toward the sequelae of Omicron were positively and significantly associated with their anxiety status [i.e., the Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scores] in Shanghai (China) (Tb = 0.44, p < 0.01) and other parts of China outside Shanghai (Tb = 0.37, p < 0.01). However, no such significant correlation was found in North America & Western Europe (Tb = -0.01, p > 0.05).

**Conclusion:** Our findings showed that Chinese participants who were more worried about the after-effects of Omicron had higher levels of anxiety. Although it is true that Long COVID-19 should be a concern, exaggerated media reporting can impact negatively on an individual's mental wellbeing. Only through the dissemination of robust scientific studies, the misinformation and the fears that follow it can be put to rest.

KEYWORDS

anxiety, COVID-19, Omicron, pandemic, sequelae

## Introduction

## Background

Coronavirus Disease 2019 (COVID-19) outbreak elicited by severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) began in December 2019 (1). As of June 7, 2022, the COVID-19 has led to more than 536 million confirmed cases and 6.32 million deaths globally (2). It has been considered a serious event, impacting significantly on the mental health of the global population (3).

## Coronavirus disease 2019 and anxiety

In order to reduce the risk of coronavirus exposure in public, staying-at-home campaign was highly recommended or even mandated (4). As a result, the fear of contracting the virus, high unemployment due to economic loss, interrupted daily routine during recurrent periods of lockdown, the inability of engaging in most canceled outdoor events and other factors induced by COVID-19 severely impacted public mental health (5). In the general Chinese population, varying degrees of anxiety resulted from many factors, such as overestimating threat and intolerance of uncertainty to COVID-19, ranging from 2 to 37%, yielded a pooled prevalence of 19.1% (6–14). In North America and Western Europe, a pooled prevalence of anxiety was slightly lower than 15% (15).

## Omicron and after-effects

Omicron, a newest and most popular variant of the Coronavirus, firstly discovered on November 24, 2021, has clinical characteristics mainly consisting of mild symptoms but extremely high communicable capacity (16). With reference to the after-effects of COVID-19, previous studies showed that delta variant or other preceding variants could possibly cause patients many impacts such as hair loss, altered sense of smell and taste (17–19), while the consequence of Omicron is unclear and still under evaluation (20).

## Omicron in China

The COVID-19 pandemic was well controlled in China owing to its zero-tolerance approach to coronavirus applied in the past 2 years (21-24), but for this reason, no herd immunity barrier has been established (25); meanwhile, other countries (especially Western countries) attempted coexistence with COVID-19 in order to return things that were severely impacted such as economy by pandemic to normal (26). Hence, once the pandemic spread internationally, the potential risk caused by highly contagious Omicron to the whole country (i.e., China) could be very high (27). Unfortunately, Omicron suddenly broke out in Shanghai, China starting in March and continued to grow at a rate of about 10,000 confirmed patients per day until May (28, 29). The dire situation was not brought under control until early June (30, 31).

# People's perception of coronavirus disease 2019 *via* media outlets in China and the West

It is important to note that all traditional news media outlets in China are controlled by Central Publicity Department (CPD) the information published come under more censorship than their western counterparts (32). As is often the case, alternative forms of traditional media flourished instead under the radar of the government control regime, citizen journalism as it is coined became the new way many people obtain news (33, 34). From this understanding it is evident that the flourishing unofficial Chinese media outlets, mostly owned by individuals and private companies, are comparable with traditional news media in the West in terms of function. The popular hosting platforms (e.g., WeChat, Sina Microblog, ZhiHu, and Bilibili) for the unofficial Chinese media outlets are also in and of itself a social media platform, making it very easy to share articles and comments to friends and families. Similar to how western traditional media also uses social media (e.g., Twitter and Facebook) to promote their news articles for views. Therefore, from this perspective, the comparison of how media affects individuals' perception of events is valid in this context, though exceptions that disputable opinions or comments are restricted to access may still exist in these Chinese media outlets.

However, compared to North America and Western Europe, where more than half of the residents there have had actual experience with COVID-19 (35, 36), the low COVID-19 prevalence in China led to a greater likelihood that Chinese people obtain the information of COVID-19 through the media outlets (37, 38). Hence, Chinese people's perception toward COVID-19 could be, to a much larger extent, dependent on unofficial reports of these media outlets, which have been found an effective medium to acquire relevant information for the public (37–39).

## The current study

Many Chinese owned media outlets frequently spread non-evidence-based information of COVID-19 or greatly exaggerated rare sequelae of Omicron lacking common consent of systematic study for the sake of attention, leading Chinese people to panic situation, in comparison with the large shift in attitudes toward Omicron in other countries around the world, especially in North America and Western Europe (40-42). Therefore, this article mainly intends to explore the association between Chinese people's attitudes toward the potential sequelae of Omicron and their anxiety levels, as compared to these of people residing in North America or Western Europe. In addition, this study is also intended to present up-to-date information regarding risks of evidence-based sequelae that Omicron may cause to patients. Based on the backgrounds of COVID-19 and its information's propagation via media outlets mentioned above in these countries, we propose Hypothesis 1 and Hypothesis 2.

- 1. Chinese people holding more negative attitudes toward the after-effects of Omicron will also have higher anxiety scores, compared to those residing in North America and Western Europe.
- 2. Residents in North America and Western Europe will have lower anxiety levels in terms of Generalized Anxiety Disorder 7-item (GAD-7) mean scores, compared to those residing in China.

## Materials and methods

## Overview

We conducted a questionnaire survey via the Credamo, a professional online survey platform similar to Qualtrics Online Sample (43), by randomly recruiting intending participants who were interested in our study, starting on June 1, 2022, and ending on June 8, 2022, and the use of human data from the surveys was carried out ethically in accordance with the principles of the Declaration of Helsinki (as revised in 2013). During this process, a Chinese version of questionnaire was used to collect the data from Chinese participants directly through a webpage-based answering platform on Credamo.<sup>1</sup> An English version of the same questionnaire was separately submitted to the Credamo company to help collect the data from North America and Western Europe. To eliminate any potential misunderstanding of participants to questions due to different versions of questionnaires (i.e., Chinese vs. English), each question in the questionnaire was followed with a relevant example explaining the intention we were hoping to ask. On the first page of the questionnaire survey all participants received an adequate description of the purpose of the survey and were asked to tick a box to confirm an online informed consent prior to filling out survey. Furthermore, all data were collected anonymously through the Credamo using continuous identifier numbers to distinguish participants instead of recording their names or other sensitive information.

For survey answering quality, two attention check questions at different point in the survey were used. A one US dollar or RMB/GBP/Euro equivalent monetary incentive was offered for each participant who completed the survey. Meanwhile, we manually checked the time taken for completing each survey as well as the IP address of responders in case of the same responders joining the survey multiple times. Moreover, on the first page of the questionnaire survey, participants were informed about finishing the questionnaire truthfully under personal anxiety status developed explicitly during the pandemic era that Omicron dominated. Also, they were strictly informed that only those who did not experience any personal COVID-19 related situation that had caused their mental status deteriorated severely, were permitted to complete the questionnaire survey.

## Questionnaire contents

The questionnaire was mainly comprised of the following information collected:

<sup>1</sup> www.credamo.com

- 1. Demographic information
- 2. How many shots of vaccine did you get?
- 3. Have you ever been infected with COVID-19?
- 4. Do you support coexistence or zero-tolerance approach of the Omicron-dominated pandemic in your country?
- 5. Do you have psychological fear toward your real-life friends who were infected with COVID-19 (i.e., do you want to be wary of them inwardly)?
- Subjective attitudes toward Omicron about its after-effects (i.e., "to what extent do you think Omicron could cause sequelae?")
- 7. The 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder-7 (GAD-7) scale.

A total of 1,500 people were initially recruited to complete the questionnaire survey. Invalid data were excluded, and new participants were recruited until 1,500 individual data fulfilled our standard inclusion criteria. Finally, a total of 1,623 people living in China, North America or Western Europe were independently recruited and surveyed through the Credamo platform. Of them, 78 were excluded for the failure in the attention check questions (e.g., responded wrongly to the instruction "please chose the answer Blue"), 33 were excluded for completing the survey in less than 100 s, 12 were excluded with additional analyses for other reasons such as answering the questionnaire questions inconsistently or contradictorily. Eventually, a valid sample of 1,500 participants was analyzed collectively (688 females and 812 males; mean age = 26.74 years, SD = 3.81 years; age range: 18–34 years).

# Generalized anxiety disorder 7-item scale

The anxiety status of the participants was assessed using the 7-item version of the Generalized Anxiety Disorder scale or GAD-7. It consists of seven items based on seven core symptoms, asking respondents how often they experienced these symptoms in the past 2 weeks, and is preferably used to measure an individual's proximate level of anxiety in a timely manner during the pandemic era (44-48). For each item, participants were asked to choose the degree to which they agreed or disagreed with the statement, on a scale of 0-3, with 0 denoting "not at all," 1 denoting "several days," 2 denoting "more than half the days" and 3 denoting "nearly every day." In the GAD-7 scale, total score of participants for the seven items ranging from 0 to 21 was summed up. A total score of 0-4, 5-9, 10-14, and 15-21 were classified as minimal anxiety, mild anxiety, moderate anxiety, and severe anxiety, respectively. Hence, a higher total score indicated a higher level of anxiety status of participants. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha coefficient for the total scale was 0.91, suggesting excellent overall internal consistency.

## Statistical analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using the software program SPSS (version 26.0) except for the data cleaning process which included detection and removal of invalid or missing data completed on the Credamo data platform. A reliability test was conducted for the GAD-7 scale, using Cronbach's alpha coefficients as a measure of internal consistency ( $\alpha > 0.70$ regarded as acceptable). Mean differences were compared by using parametric tests. Finally, Kendall's coefficient of rank correlation tau-sub-b was used to examine the association between the subjective attitudes of participants toward the aftereffects of Omicron (ordinal variable) and the GAD-7 self-report scale scores (continuous variable), according to Khamis (49).

## Results

## Sample characteristics

There were 1,623 individuals from mainland China (Shanghai vs. non-Shanghai), North America and Western Europe, who enrolled in the survey, and 1,500 (92.4%) were included in the analysis participants after data cleaning. Relevant descriptive statistics were presented in Table 1.

# Mean comparison of general anxiety disorder 7-item scores

Regarding the mean differences of GAD-7 shown in **Table 2**, our results suggested that no any statistically significant difference was found in terms of gender, vaccination status, infection status of participants from outside Shanghai, view of coexistence with COVID-19, psychological fear toward friends infected with COVID-19 within groups (i.e., Non-Shanghai area (China), Shanghai (China), and North America and Western Europe; all p > 0.05), except for subjective attitudes of participants toward the sequelae of Omicron (all p < 0.05). However, there was strongly significant difference with reference to the mean of GAD-7 scores by area between groups as shown in **Figure 1** (mean  $\pm SD = 5.768 \pm 3.59$ , 9.034  $\pm 3.93$  and  $3.94 \pm 2.53$ , respectively; F = 287.485, p < 0.001).

## Kendall's tau-b analysis model

In **Table 3**, Kendall's coefficient of rank correlation tau-subb as a type of inferential statistics was conducted to investigate the correlation between subjective attitudes of participants toward the sequelae of Omicron and their anxiety levels among different areas. Most importantly, it was found that subjective attitudes of Chinese participants toward the sequelae

n (%)

<i>N</i> = 1,500	China (Shanghai) n = 500	China (non-Shanghai) n = 500	North America or Europe n = 500			
Variables						
Gender						
Male	278 (55.6)	291 (58.2)	243 (48.6)			
Female	222 (44.4)	209 (41.8)	257 (51.4)			
Vaccination status						
1 dose	13 (2.6)	10 (2)	68 (13.6)			
2 doses	28 (5.6)	110 (22)	105 (21.0)			
3 doses	459 (91.8)	380 (76)	327 (65.4)			
Infection status						
Yes	14 (2.8)	4 (0.8)	393 (78.6)			
No	486 (97.2)	496 (99.2)	107 (21.4)			
View of coexistence with COVID-19						
Support zero-tolerance approach (because of fearing sequelae of Omicron)	212 (42.4)	335 (67.0)	39 (7.8)			
Support zero-tolerance approach (because of misgiving medical resource crowding)	93 (18.6)	79 (15.8)	20 (4)			
Support co-existence with virus as much as possible	195 (39)	86 (17.2)	441 (88.2)			
Psychological fear toward friends infected with COVID-19						
No	247 (49.4)	259 (51.8)	483 (96.6)			
Yes	253 (50.6)	241 (48.2)	17 (3.4)			
Subjective attitude toward the sequelae of Omicron						
No sequelae	5 (1.0)	11 (2.2)	283 (56.6)			
Mild sequelae	54 (10.8)	229 (45.8)	106 (21.2)			
Moderate sequelae	185 (37.0)	146 (29.2)	67 (13.4)			
Severe sequelae	256 (51.2)	114 (22.8)	44 (8.8)			

of Omicron were positively and significantly associated with their anxiety status (i.e., GAD-7 scores) in Shanghai (China) (Tb = 0.44, p < 0.01) and other parts of China outside Shanghai (Tb = 0.37, p < 0.01). However, no such significant correlation was found in North America & Western Europe (Tb = -0.01, p > 0.05). This meant that there was a tendency for Chinese participants to report higher levels of anxiety the more they feared the sequelae of Omicron.

## Discussion

The given study mainly examined the association between participants' attitudes toward the potential after-effects of Omicron and their anxiety status, and mean of GAD-7 scores of participants from different areas (Shanghai vs. Outside Shanghai within China vs. North America and Western Europe). The results of our study primarily showed that the more severe the sequelae of omicron the Chinese participants perceived, the higher their anxiety levels, but such relationship did not statistically and significantly exist in participants from North America and Western Europe. Also, regarding the mean of GAD-7 scores among different areas, participants from North America and Western Europe had relatively lowest anxiety levels (mean  $\pm$  SD = 3.94  $\pm$  2.53), followed by participants from China outside Shanghai (mean  $\pm$  SD = 5.768  $\pm$  3.59), and then participants from Shanghai (mean  $\pm$  *SD* = 9.034  $\pm$  3.93). These findings were consistent with our primary hypotheses in the introduction section. In addition, according to the results of one-way ANOVA as shown in Table 2, no statistical and significant difference of participants' levels of anxiety was found in terms of gender, vaccination status, infection status of participants from outside Shanghai, subjective view of coexistence with COVID-19, personal psychological fear toward friends infected with COVID-19. However, there was a significant difference in terms of the infection status (Yes vs. No) of participants in Shanghai (China) and their corresponding GAD-7 mean scores. This might be understandable that the people in Shanghai were urgently required to respond a sudden pandemic situation, which led to a panic to the public with increased anxiety.

#### TABLE 2 General anxiety disorder 7-item (GAD-7) scores of participants (N = 1,500).

#### Variables

GAD-7 scores

	Means (SD)			[95%CI]			p		
	CN SH	CN Non-SH	NA and WE	CN SH	CN Non-SH	NA and WE	CN SH	CN Non-SH	NA and WE
Gender							0.578	0.731	0.664
Male	8.74 (3.97)	5.23 (2.34)	3.77 (1.80)	[8.27, 9.21]	[4.96, 5.50]	[3.54, 4.00]			
Female	9.11 (3.75)	6.03 (2.08)	4.11 (2.66)	[8.62, 9.60]	[5.75, 6.31]	[3.78, 4.44]			
Vaccination status							0.344	0.544	0.650
1 Dose	8.69 (3.97)	7.00 (3.33)	4.21 (2.59)	[6.53, 10.85]	[4.93, 9.07]	[3.59, 4.83]			
2 Doses	10.07 (4.81)	5.70 (3.71)	3.92 (2.57)	[8.29, 11.85]	[5.01, 6.39]	[3.43, 4.41]			
3 Doses	8.98 (3.87)	5.76 (3.56)	3.89 (2.52)	[8.63, 9.33]	[5.40, 6.12]	[3.62, 4.16]			
Infection status							0.000	0.837	0.067
Yes	4.06 (2.65)	10.50 (4.04)	3.89 (2.48)	[2.67, 5.45]	[6.54, 14.46]	[3.64, 4.14]			
No	7.07 (4.11)	5.73 (3.56)	4.15 (2.74)	[6.70, 7.44]	[5.42, 6.04]	[3.63, 4.67]			
VOC							0.936	0.092	0.099
SZAFS	9.17 (3.86)	5.63 (3.54)	4.73 (3.07)	[8.62, 9.72]	[5.25, 6.01]	[3.77, 5.69]			
SZAMM	8.93 (3.93)	7.16 (4.17)	4.64 (2.29)	[8.13, 9.73]	[6.24, 8.08]	[3.64, 5.64]			
SCV	9.35 (3.31)	6.05 (3.17)	4.50 (2.87)	[8.89, 9.81]	[5.38, 6.72]	[4.23, 4.77]			
PFTF							0.823	0.526	0.284
Yes	9.13 (3.86)	5.83 (3.54)	3.29 (2.14)	[8.65, 9.61]	[5.38, 6.28]	[2.27, 4.31]			
No	8.94 (4.00)	5.71 (3.64)	3.96 (2.55)	[8.44, 9.44]	[5.27, 6.15]	[3.73, 4.19]			
SATSO							0.000	0.000	0.060
No sequelae	6.80 (5.36)	3.64 (3.91)	3.95 (2.50)	[2.11, 11.49]	[1.33, 5.95]	[3.66, 4.24]			
Mild sequelae	7.04 (3.93)	4.64 (3.36)	3.45 (2.69)	[5.99, 8.09]	[4.20, 5.08]	[2.94, 3.96]			
Moderate sequelae	7.17 (2.73)	5.31 (2.34)	4.42 (2.23)	[6.78, 7.56]	[4.93, 5.69]	[3.89, 4.95]			
Severe sequelae	10.85 (3.79)	8.82 (3.61)	4.34 (2.68)	[10.39, 11.31]	[8.16, 9.48]	[3.55, 5.13]			

CN, China, SH, Shanghai, NA, North America; WE, Western Europe; VOC, View of coexistence with COVID-19; SZAFS, Support zero-tolerance approach (because of fearing sequelae of Omicron); SZAMM, Support zero-tolerance approach (because of misgiving medical resource crowding); SCV, Support co-existence with virus as much as possible; PFTF, Psychological fear toward friends infected with COVID-19; SATSO, Subjective attitude toward the sequelae of Omicron.

Shan et al.


TABLE 3 Correlation between SATSO and GAD-7 scores among different areas.

Kendall's tau	ı-b	SATSO in China (Shanghai) ( <i>n</i> = 500)	SATSO in China outside Shanghai ( <i>n</i> = 500)	SATSO in North America and Western Europe $(n = 500)$
GAD-7 scores	Correlation coefficient	0.44**	0.37**	-0.01
	Sig. (2-tailed)	0.00	0.00	0.70

N = 1,500. \*\*Representing the correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (p < 0.01).

SATSO, Subjective attitude toward the sequelae of Omicron.

Admittedly, participants' mindsets toward the pandemic might differ due to different cultures (50). But in the context of the COVID-19 pandemic in today's advanced technological society, media outlets have been seen as useful means of spreading information about COVID-19 and measuring public attention toward COVID-19 in both China and the Western countries (37-39, 51, 52). Online COVID-19 infodemic (i.e., pandemic of misinformation), without prudent journalistic judgments of media content, could be easily and quickly disseminated and thus influence public opinions (39), therefore resulting in deadly consequences (51, 52). In addition, as we mentioned in the Introduction section, Chinese people's perceptions toward COVID-19 could largely rely on the propagation of information of COVID-19 through media outlets, in comparison with the residents in North America and Western Europe, where a virus co-existence policy with relatively few restrictions to the public resulted in a great number of people being affected with COVID-19; but meanwhile, these people were thus allowed to have an actual experience of how long-term COVID-19 impacts their body,

rather than only acquiring relevant information *via* media reports. Hence, the propagation of information about COVID-19 should be concerned, especially for the Chinese public.

Over the course of the COVID-19 pandemic, researchers are still struggling with the after-effects of coronavirus as it continued to evolve. Nowadays, as the COVID-19 variants prior to Omicron have nearly fade away, investigating and discussing the potential sequelae of Omicron that is the most prevalent variant in the current pandemic situation is necessary (53). Nevertheless, due to the significant lag in the publication of studies relevant to COVID-19 sequelae, the findings of recently published articles may not be applied to the latest Omicron situation. For example, the study suggesting that COVID-19 could lead to greater reduction in brain gray matter thickness was conducted in 2021 when the participants involved in this study were infected with the earliest variant of COVID-19 rather than Omicron (54); meanwhile, these participants were unvaccinated and generally older. Therefore, it is difficult to match these sequelae with the current less threatening Omicron. But a very recently published article suggested that the

probability of Omicron causing long-term impacts to patients (4.5% of Omicron patients developed sequelae) was half that of Delta (10.8%) (55).

Some anecdotal findings reported by Chinese mass media indicated that most negative impacts of Omicron sequelae to human body were not reversible. However, that was not what previous studies actually found. For example, Zhao et al. suggested that mild Omicron sequelae such as slightly reduced attention and memory ability, which were even not perceived by participants themselves, were much improved over time (56). Similarly, another study followed the health status of patients with COVID-19 in Wuhan for 1 year after discharge from the hospital, and found that the after-effects of COVID-19 such as fatigue, sleeping disturbance and depression initially presented were improved greatly over time in these patients (57). Moreover, given that the study was conducted on the first batch of patients infected with COVID-19 in Wuhan, its findings were also not time-sensitive in the current context of Omicron.

Many anecdotal news online also stated that there was evidence that COVID-19 could induce male impotence. In fact, although a relevant study did suggest that COVID-19 may induce testicular damage, which could eventually result in decreased libido and fertility, the subjects involved in this study were animal rather than human patients; meanwhile, it was found that such negative impacts could be preventable by vaccination (58). However, when the findings of this study were reported by the mass media outlets, they overly exaggerated the impacts of COVID-19 by just saying "New study shows COVID-19 infection could cause testicular atrophy and reduced fertility in men." The lack of evidence for statements such as the effects of COVID-19 on fertility and intelligence is not only unfair and discriminatory to those infected with COVID-19, but also affects the psychological state of those who have never suffered COVID-19 infection and increases their anxiety level. Therefore, the mass media reports were misleading to the public, which should have been avoided as much as possible. Regarding the effectiveness of vaccination against long COVID-19, two studies by Ayoubkhani et al. demonstrated that people who completed two doses of vaccine were less likely to develop long-term sequelae after being infected with COVID-19 (59, 60).

Furthermore, it is also important to note that the COVID-19 sequelae are not necessarily related to the COVID-19 itself. More specifically, any influenza or infectious disease may also induce similar negative impacts as COVID-19. For instance, a cross-sectional study with a large French cohort suggested that the so-called sequelae of COVID-19 perceived by patients themselves may be more psychological or actually caused by other diseases than the laboratory-confirmed result of COVID-19 infection (61).

Another issue to note is that our study found around half of the Chinese participants (Table 1) having psychological fear toward friends infected with COVID-19, though no significant difference between such mindsets and their anxiety levels was found in terms of GAD-7 mean scores. Therefore, we should advocate avoiding whether implicitly or explicitly discriminating people infected with COVID-19 who have the potential to suffer from various degrees of psychological disorders due to surrounding pressures such as social rejection.

Overall, with the widespread vaccination around the world, threats of the COVID-19 pandemic have been weakened. As can be seen from the outbreak in Shanghai recently, a large number of asymptomatic patients, even confirmed cases, were mainly mild symptom patients. Given that the global pandemic has become the norm, a total zero-out policy is not desirable. What we should do is to face the COVID-19 bravely with a more open and inclusive mind. In the current article, it seems that the fear of Omicron after-effects is more frightening than the COVID-19 itself in Chinese population. Thus, policy makers should enhance the public's awareness of the latest change of pandemic situation, to eliminate unnecessary worries and reduce the psychological burden of Chinese people.

#### Limitation

The current study has several limitations. First, this study was a cross-sectional study that might restrict causal inference. Second, the sample size was not large enough, thereby limiting the generalizability of this study. Third, this study was based on self-reported responses of participants. Although the data derived from an online professional data collection platform, more study with more professional research methods in similar topics is needed to carry out in the future, when conditions are permitted. Finally, another limitation in this study is the fact that participants' media exposure was hard to track and measure, so a direct correlation between participants' perceptions toward COVID-19 or Omicron specifically resulted from exposure to media outlets and their anxiety levels could be biased and still needs more study to further demonstrate.

# Conclusion

Currently, the global pandemic is subsiding as the novel coronavirus gradually evolves in a less harmful direction. However, due to the exaggeration about the long effects of Omicron by mass media outlets, which is currently the most prevalent variant of COVID-19, a variety of fears about Omicron long effects and a great deal of unpredictability about the future pandemic continue to plague people. In the current study we found that Chinese participants who were more worried about the after-effects of Omicron had higher levels of anxiety. Overall, although we still need to pay sufficient attention to COVID-19 and its long effects, we should take everything related to COVID-19 seriously based on the available scientific evidence, and not easily believe exaggerated or even false reports in the mass media. Also, to eliminate unnecessary worries and reduce the psychological burden of Chinese people, policy makers should put sufficient efforts to enhance the public's awareness of the latest change of pandemic situation. In the future, more relevant studies are needed to reveal the long-term impacts of Omicron or subsequent variants of COVID-19.

#### Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **Ethics statement**

Ethical review and approval were not required for this study on human participants in accordance with the local legislation and institutional requirements. The participants were notified to provide their written informed consent online before participation in this study.

#### Author contributions

DS proposed the research idea, collected and analyzed the data from China, and wrote the initial manuscript. CL performed the literature search, provided the idea for the analysis, and collected the data from North America and

#### References

1. Huang C, Wang Y, Li X, Ren L, Zhao J, Hu Y, et al. Clinical features of patients infected with 2019 novel coronavirus in Wuhan, China. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:497-506. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30183-5

2. Elflein J. Number of coronavirus (COVID-19) cases, recoveries, and deaths worldwide. Hamburg: Statista (2022).

3. Rauch SA, Simon NM, Rothbaum BO. Rising tide: Responding to the mental health impact of the COVID-19 pandemic. *Depress Anxiety.* (2020) 37:505-9. doi: 10.1002/da.23058

4. Quiroga B, Giorgi M, Barril G. During COVID-19 stay at home even if you are a hemodialysis patient. *Ther Apher Dial.* (2021) 25:705-6. doi: 10.1111/1744-9987.13615

5. Lakhan R, Agrawal A, Sharma M. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and stress during COVID-19 pandemic. *J Neurosci Rural Pract.* (2020) 11:519–25. doi: 10.1055/s-0040-1716442

6. Ahmed MZ, Ahmed O, Aibao Z, Hanbin S, Siyu L, Ahmad A. Epidemic of COVID-19 in China and associated psychological problems. *Asian J Psychiatry.* (2020) 51:102092. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102092

7. Hamidi S, Zandiatashbar A. Compact development and adherence to stay-athome order during the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal investigation in the United States. *Landsc Urban Plan.* (2021) 205:103952.

8. Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during COVID-19 outbreak in China: A web-based cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 288:112954. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020. 112954

Western Europe. SYL contributed to the substantial revisions of the manuscript in terms of reviewers' comments. YDZ checked the accuracy of the data analysis and was responsible for final proofreading and contributing to minor revisions of the latest manuscript. All authors have read and approved the final version of the manuscript and agreed with the order of the presentation of the authors.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the professional online survey platform Credamo for data provided in this article.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

9. Lei L, Huang X, Zhang S, Yang J, Yang L, Xu M. Comparison of prevalence and associated factors of anxiety and depression among people affected by versus people unaffected by quarantine during the COVID-19 epidemic in Southwestern China. *Med Sci Monit.* (2020) 26:e924609. doi: 10.12659/MSM.924609

10. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Behav Immunity.* (2020) 88:901–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026

11. Qiu J, Shen B, Zhao M, Wang Z, Xie B, Xu Y. A nationwide survey of psychological distress among Chinese people in the COVID-19 epidemic: Implications and policy recommendations. *Gen Psychiatry*. (2020) 33:e100213. doi: 10.1136/gpsych-2020-100213

12. Urairak B. Effect of the COVID-19 pandemic related mental health on state anxiety in Thailand. Asian Adm Manage Rev. (2022) 5(1):1–6.

13. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2020) 17:1729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph1705 1729

14. Zhou SJ, Zhang LG, Wang LL, Guo ZC, Wang JQ, Chen JC, et al. Prevalence and socio-demographic correlates of psychological health problems in Chinese adolescents during the outbreak of COVID-19. *Eur Child Adolesc Psychiatry*. (2020) 29:749–58. doi: 10.1007/s00787-020-01541-4

15. Li Y, Scherer N, Felix L, Kuper H. Prevalence of depression, anxiety and posttraumatic stress disorder in health care workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: A systematic review and meta-analysis. PLoS One. (2021) 16:e0246454. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0246454

16. Meo SA, Meo AS, Al-Jassir FF, Klonoff DC. Omicron SARS-CoV-2 new variant: Global prevalence and biological and clinical characteristics. *Eur Rev Med Pharmacol Sci.* (2021) 25:8012–8.

17. Hussain N, Agarwala P, Iqbal K, Omar HMS, Jangid G, Patel V, et al. A systematic review of acute telogen effluvium, a harrowing post–COVID–19 manifestation. *J Med Virol.* (2022) 94:1391–401. doi: 10.1002/jmv.27534

18. Izquierdo-Dominguez A, Rojas-Lechuga MJ, Mullol J, Alobid I. Olfactory dysfunction in the COVID-19 outbreak. J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol. (2020) 30:317–26. doi: 10.18176/jiaci.0567

19. Mastrangelo A, Bonato M, Cinque P. Smell and taste disorders in COVID-19: From pathogenesis to clinical features and outcomes. *Neurosci Lett.* (2021) 748:135694. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2021.135694

20. Lapid N. Explainer: Why you should still try to avoid catching omicron. London: Reuters (2022).

21. Burki T. China's successful control of COVID-19. Lancet Infect Dis. (2020) 20:1240-1. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(20)30800-8

22. Chen J, Guo X, Pan H, Zhong S. What determines city's resilience against epidemic outbreak: Evidence from China's COVID-19 experience. *Sustain Cities Soc.* (2021) 70:102892. doi: 10.1016/j.scs.2021. 102892

23. Qi J, Zhang D, Zhang X, Takana T, Pan Y, Yin P, et al. Short and medium-term impacts of strict anti-contagion policies on non-COVID-19 mortality in China. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2022) 6:55–63. doi: 10.1038/s41562-021-01189-3

24. Silver A. Covid-19: Why China is sticking to "zero tolerance" public health measures. *BMJ.* (2021) 375:n2756. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n2756

25. An Z, Wang F, Pan A, Yin Z, Rodewald L, Feng Z. Vaccination strategy and challenges for consolidating successful containment of COVID-19 with population immunity in China. *BMJ*. (2021) 375:e066125. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-066125

26. Li KLA. Success and challenges: China's state capacity of popular mobilization in the COVID-19 pandemic. *Chin Stud.* (2022) 11:68–78. doi: 10.4236/chnstd.2022. 112006

27. Mallapaty S. China's Zero-COVID strategy: What happens next? Nature. (2022) 602:15-6. doi: 10.1038/d41586-022-00191-7

28. Baum SD, Adams VM. Pandemic refuges: lessons from 2 years of COVID-19. *Risk Anal.* (2022):1–9. doi: 10.1111/risa.13953

29. Bradsher K. Surge of omicron infections prompts lockdowns in China. New York, NY: The New York Times (2022).

30. Wang EF. Shanghai starts coming back to life as COVID lockdown eases. New York, NY: AP News (2022).

31. Pike L, Nagorski T. Shanghai's COVID lockdown is over. Its economic problems aren't. Grid. (2022). Available online at: https://www.grid.news/story/global/2022/06/09/shanghais-covid-lockdown-is-over-its-economic-problems-arent/(accessed June 9, 2022)

32. Hassid J. Controlling the Chinese media: An uncertain business. Asian Survey. (2008) 48:414-30. doi: 10.1525/as.2008.48.3.414

33. Xia S. A study on the profit model of we media in China. *Glob Med J.* (2017) 15:28.

34. Xin X. The impact of "citizen journalism" on Chinese media and society. J Pract. (2010) 4:333-44. doi: 10.1080/17512781003642931

35. Mandavilli A. *The coronavirus has infected more than half of Americans, the C.D.C. Reports.* New York, NY: The New York Times (2022).

36. Daria S, Islam MR. The SARS—CoV—2 omicron wave is indicating the end of the pandemic phase but the COVID—19 will continue. *J Med Virol.* (2022) 94:2343. doi: 10.1002/jmv.27635

37. Lin Y, Hu Z, Alias H, Wong LP. Influence of mass and social media on psychobehavioral responses among medical students during the downward trend of COVID-19 in Fujian, China: Cross-sectional study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e19982. doi: 10.2196/19982

38. Zhao Y, Cheng S, Yu X, Xu H. Chinese public's attention to the COVID-19 epidemic on social media: Observational descriptive study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e18825. doi: 10.2196/18825

39. Luo Y, Cheng Y. The presumed influence of COVID-19 misinformation on social media: Survey research from two countries in the global health crisis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:5505. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18115505

40. Schmelz K, Bowles S. Opposition to voluntary and mandated COVID-19 vaccination as a dynamic process: Evidence and policy implications of changing

beliefs. Proc Natl Acad Sci. (2022) 119:e2118721119. doi: 10.1073/pnas.211872 1119

41. Tang JW, Caniza MA, Dinn M, Dwyer DE, Heraud JM, Jennings LC, et al. An exploration of the political, social, economic and cultural factors affecting how different global regions initially reacted to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Interface Focus.* (2022) 12:20210079. doi: 10.1098/rsfs.2021.0079

42. Toovey OT, Tang JW. The emergence of the omicron variant. *Clin Infect Pract.* (2022) 13:100134. doi: 10.1016/j.clinpr.2022.100134

43. Gong S, Lu JG, Schaubroeck JM, Li Q, Zhou Q, Qian X. Polluted psyche: Is the effect of air pollution on unethical behavior more physiological or psychological? *Psychol Sci.* (2020) 31:1040–7. doi: 10.1177/0956797620943835

44. Löwe B, Decker O, Müller S, Brähler E, Schellberg D, Herzog W, et al. Validation and standardization of the generalized anxiety disorder screener (GAD-7) in the general population. *Med Care.* (2008) 46:266–74. doi: 10.1097/MLR. 0b013e318160d093

45. Singh P, Cumberland WG, Ugarte D, Bruckner TA, Young SD. Association between generalized anxiety disorder scores and online activity among US adults during the COVID-19 pandemic: Cross-sectional analysis. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e21490. doi: 10.2196/21490

46. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B. A brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: The GAD-7. *Arch Internal Med.* (2006) 166:1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092

47. Toussaint A, Hüsing P, Gumz A, Wingenfeld K, Härter M, Schramm E, et al. Sensitivity to change and minimal clinically important difference of the 7item generalized anxiety disorder questionnaire (GAD-7). J Affect Disord. (2020) 265:395–401. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.032

48. Williams N. The GAD-7 questionnaire. Occup Med. (2014) 64:224–224. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqt161

49. Khamis H. Measures of association: How to choose? J Diagn Med Sonogr. (2008) 24:155–62. doi: 10.1177/8756479308317006

50. Lin F, Chen X, Cheng EW. Contextualized impacts of an infodemic on vaccine hesitancy: The moderating role of socioeconomic and cultural factors. *Inf Process Manag.* (2022) 59:103013. doi: 10.1016/j.ipm.2022.103013

51. Bridgman A, Merkley E, Loewen PJ, Owen T, Ruths D, Teichmann L, et al. The causes and consequences of COVID-19 misperceptions: understanding the role of news and social media. *Harv Kennedy Sch Misinformation Rev.* (2020) 1:1-18. doi: 10.37016/mr-2020-028

52. Gisondi MA, Barber R, Faust JS, Raja A, Strehlow MC, Westafer LM, et al. A deadly infodemic: Social media and the power of COVID-19 misinformation. *J Med Internet Res.* (2022) 24:e35552. doi: 10.2196/35552

53. Katella K. Omicron, Delta, alpha, and more: What to know about the coronavirus variants. New Haven CT: Yale Medicine (2022).

54. Douaud G, Lee S, Alfaro-Almagro F, Arthofer C, Wang C, McCarthy P, et al. SARS-CoV-2 is associated with changes in brain structure in UK biobank. *Nature.* (2022) 604:697–707. doi: 10.1038/s41586-022-04569-5

55. Antonelli M, Pujol JC, Spector TD, Ourselin S, Steves CJ. Risk of long COVID associated with delta versus omicron variants of SARS-CoV-2. *Lancet.* (2022) 399:2263–4. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(22)00941-2

56. Zhao S, Shibata K, Hellyer PJ, Trender W, Manohar S, Hampshire A, et al. Rapid vigilance and episodic memory decrements in COVID-19 survivors. *Brain Commun.* (2022) 4:fcab295. doi: 10.1093/braincomms/fcab295

57. Huang L, Yao Q, Gu X, Wang Q, Ren L, Wang Y, et al. 1-year outcomes in hospital survivors with COVID-19: A longitudinal cohort study. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:747–58. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)01755-4

58. Lai CC, Shih TP, Ko WC, Tang HJ, Hsueh PR. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) and coronavirus disease-2019 (COVID-19): The epidemic and the challenges. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*. (2020) 55:105924. doi: 10.1016/j.ijantimicag.2020.105924

59. Ayoubkhani D, Bermingham C, Pouwels KB, Glickman M, Nafilyan V, Zaccardi F, et al. Trajectory of long COVID symptoms after COVID-19 vaccination: Community-based cohort study. *BMJ.* (2022) 377:e069676. doi: 10.1136/bmj-2021-069676

60. Ayoubkhani D, Bosworth ML, King S, Pouwels KB, Glickman M, Nafilyan V, et al. Risk of long covid in people infected with SARS-CoV-2 after two doses of a COVID-19 vaccine: Community-based, matched cohort study. *medRxiv* [Preprint] (2022). doi: 10.1101/2022.02.23.22271388

61. Matta J, Wiernik E, Robineau O, Carrat F, Touvier M, Severi G, et al. Association of self-reported COVID-19 infection and SARS-CoV-2 serology test results with persistent physical symptoms among french adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *JAMA Intern Med.* (2022) 182:19–25.

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

\*CORRESPONDENCE Dan Shan D.shan6@nuigalway.ie

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 07 September 2022 ACCEPTED 14 September 2022 PUBLISHED 06 October 2022

#### CITATION

Shan D, Liu C, Li S and Zheng Y (2022) Corrigendum: Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item questionnaire. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1038966. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1038966

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Shan, Liu, Li and Zheng. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms. Corrigendum: Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item questionnaire

#### Dan Shan<sup>1\*†</sup>, Chang Liu<sup>2†</sup>, Shaoyang Li<sup>3†</sup> and Yuandian Zheng<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Medicine, National University of Ireland, Galway, Ireland, <sup>2</sup>School of Clinical Medicine, University of Cambridge, Cambridge, United Kingdom, <sup>3</sup>Faculty of Science, The Hong Kong Polytechnic University, Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China, <sup>4</sup>College of Osteopathic Medicine, Kansas City University, Kansas City, MO, United States

#### KEYWORDS

anxiety, COVID-19, Omicron, pandemic, sequelae

#### A corrigendum on

Increased anxiety from fear of Omicron in China as compared to North America and Western Europe: A cross-sectional Kendall's tau-b analysis using the generalized anxiety disorder 7-item questionnaire

by Shan, D., Liu, C., Li, S., and Zheng, Y. (2022). Front. Psychiatry 13:977361. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.977361

In the original article, there was a statistical error in the **Materials and Methods** section, page 4. The text read as "Eventually, a valid sample of 1,500 participants was analyzed collectively (892 females and 192 males; mean age = 26.74 years, SD = 3.81 years; age range: 18-34 years)." The statement has been corrected as follows:

"Eventually, a valid sample of 1,500 participants was analyzed collectively (688 females and 812 males; mean age = 26.74 years, SD = 3.81 years; age range: 18-34 years)."

The authors apologize for this error and state that this does not change the scientific conclusions of the article in any way. The original article has been updated.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia

#### REVIEWED BY

Virginia Pedrinelli, University of Pisa, Italy Larisa Ivascu, Politehnica University of Timişoara, Romania

\*CORRESPONDENCE Liming Lu lulimingleon@126.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 19 May 2022 ACCEPTED 23 August 2022 PUBLISHED 14 September 2022

#### CITATION

Zhan J, Chen C, Yan X, Wei X, Zhan L, Chen H and Lu L (2022) Relationship between social support, anxiety, and depression among frontline healthcare workers in China during COVID-19 pandemic. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:947945. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.947945

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhan, Chen, Yan, Wei, Zhan, Chen and Lu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Relationship between social support, anxiety, and depression among frontline healthcare workers in China during COVID-19 pandemic

#### Jie Zhan<sup>1,2,3†</sup>, Chen Chen<sup>2†</sup>, Xiaoting Yan<sup>2</sup>, Xiaojing Wei<sup>2</sup>, Lechang Zhan<sup>3</sup>, Hongxia Chen<sup>3</sup> and Liming Lu<sup>2</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Postdoctoral Research Station, Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, The Second Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, <sup>2</sup>Clinical Research and Data Center, South China Research Center for Acupuncture and Moxibustion, Medical College of Acu-Moxi and Rehabilitation, Guangzhou University of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Rehabilitation, Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine, Guangzhou, China

**Background:** Social support is an important factor affecting individual mental health. However, the relationship between social support and mental health in frontline healthcare workers (FHW) during the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic has garnered less attention. In this study, we aimed to investigate the level of social support and the prevalence of depression and anxiety in FHW during the COVID-19 pandemic and determine the factors affecting the relationship between social support, depression, and anxiety.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional study using an online survey was conducted to collect data from FHW between 15 February and 31 March 2020 in China. The data included demographic factors, Self-rated Depression Scale (SDS), Self-rated Anxiety Scale (SAS), and Social Support Rate Scale (SSRS). Spearman correlation test was performed to determine the correlation among SAS, SDS, and SSRS scores. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to determine the relationship among demographic factors, social support, depression, and anxiety in FHW.

**Results:** Of all 201 participants, 44 (21.9%) had depressive symptoms and 32 (15.9%) had anxiety symptoms. The average total SSRS scores among FHW were lower than that of the norms of the Chinese general population (37.17  $\pm$  7.54 versus 44.38  $\pm$  8.38, *P* < 0.001). Marital status positively affected the SSRS score ( $\beta$  = 7.395, *P* < 0.01). Age over 40 years old negatively affected the SSRS score ( $\beta$  = -5.349, *P* = 0.017). The total SSRS score, subjective social support score, objective social support score, and support utilization score among FHW negatively correlated with the SAS score and SDS score (*P* < 0.05). A lower support utilization score was significantly associated with

high anxiety and depressive symptoms ( $\beta = -0.869$ , P = 0.024;  $\beta = -1.088$ , P = 0.035, respectively).

**Conclusion:** During the COVID-19 pandemic, FHW experienced depression, anxiety, and inadequate social support. The marital status and age had a major impact on social support. Social support was inversely associated with depression and anxiety. Improving the mental health of FHW by strengthening social support is crucial. Future studies are needed to investigate how to improve the level of social support and mental health condition of FHW facing public health emergencies in the future.

KEYWORDS

depression, anxiety, social support, COVID-19, frontline healthcare workers

#### Introduction

Since its outbreak in December 2019 in Wuhan, coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) has posed a huge challenge to the healthcare system of China. On 29 January 2020, all 31 Chinese provinces declared public health emergencies and initiated lockdown policies in affected areas (1). As of 31 March 2020, 81,518 cases and 3,187 deaths were reported in China (2).

Amidst the development of the COVID-19 pandemic, frontline healthcare workers (FHW) globally were under tremendous pressure, and many suffered from psychological disorders (3), such as anxiety, depression, psychological stress response, and sleep disorders (4). When this online survey was conducted, the COVID-19 pandemic in China was still serious, with more than 2,400 confirmed cases and 139 deaths every day (5). FHW had to simultaneously prevent and treat the infection of COVID-19. The exhaustive work and risk of being infected by the virus caused a heavy psychological burden on FHW. Wearing protective equipment can relatively limit the communication of FHW. These factors can induce the presence of anxiety and depression among FHW during the COVID-19 pandemic. A cross-sectional study performed in the early stages of the COVID-19 outbreak reported that a significant proportion of FHW in China reported symptoms of depression (50.4%), anxiety (44.6%), insomnia (34.0%), and distress (71.5%) (6). Furthermore, anxiety symptoms can compromise work and frontline activities that can negatively affect private and social leisure activities (7). Previous studies focusing on the mental health reactions of healthcare workers during the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic reported that post-traumatic stress disorder, anxiety, and depression were associated with impairment in both work and social functioning (8, 9). FHWs are the direct providers of hospital services and are a key factor in controlling the pandemic (10). These psychological disorders affect the quality of life and health of FHW and also their professional performance, which greatly reduce their work efficiency and negatively affect the control of the COVID-19 pandemic.

Social support, which refers to the social connections, social integration, and major group relationships for individuals, is an important part of social psychology (11). Social support can enhance the protection of self-consciousness and effectively relieve the psychological disorders of individuals (12, 13). Lau proposed that social support is a crucial factor in alleviating stressful events and reducing their negative effects on the physical and mental health of individuals (14). Social support is associated with depression among health workers in developed countries (15, 16). Similarly, Chinese physicians had a higher prevalence of depressive symptoms and lower social support than the Chinese general population (17). A cross-sectional survey of Chinese doctors reported that social support is an important protective factor for the psychology of doctors. The more social support provided to doctors, the lower their depressive and anxiety symptoms (18). Another study also revealed that sufficient social support and training on positive coping skills can reduce anxiety in medical staff during the COVID-19 pandemic (19). Although these studies investigated the association between social support, depression, and anxiety among health workers, the relationship between social support and mental health among FHW during the COVID-19 pandemic was not investigated. The studies on psychological disorders of FHW in China mostly focused on epidemiological surveys (6, 20, 21). However, the relationship between social support and mental health among FHW during the COVID-19 pandemic has garnered less attention. The factors affecting the relationship between social support and mental health among FHW remains is yet to be investigated, which limits us from taking effective measures to help reduce psychological disorders, such as depression and anxiety, among FHW.

To bridge this gap, in this study, we aimed to investigate the level of social support and the prevalence of depression and anxiety among FHW during the COVID-19 pandemic and determine the factors affecting the relationship between social support, depression, and anxiety. We hope that our research can help us better understand the psychological needs of FHW during the pandemic and provide a basis for government health departments to formulate effective psychological rehabilitation intervention policies.

# Materials and methods

#### Ethical approval

This study was conducted in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki and approved by the Ethics Committee of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine (No. ZE2020-036). This trial has been registered at the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (No. ChiCTR2000029815). All participants provided their informed consent prior to their participation in the electronic questionnaire (with a "yes or no" question) to confirm their willingness to participate in this study. The data was stored on a cloud server accessible only to the main author.

#### Study design and participants

This cross-sectional study was conducted from 15 February to 31 March 2020 in China after the COVID-19 outbreak has been declared as a public health emergency of international concern. As the Chinese government advised the public to reduce their face-to-face interactions and tightened restrictions on the flow of people, potential participants were invited to complete an anonymous online questionnaire. The online questionnaire was developed using the SurveyStar<sup>1</sup> (Changsha Ranxing Information Technology Co., Ltd., Changsha, China). Next, we shared the questionnaire on the social media, including WeChat and Tencent QQ. The responses to the questionnaire were automatically collected into an EXCEL spreadsheet by the SurveyStar for further data analyses.

The inclusion criteria for the participants were as follows: (1) being a FHW; (2) age >18 years; (3) Chinese resident; (4) no history of mental illness; (5) submitted only one survey using the same IP address; and (6) volunteered to participate in this study. The exclusion criteria included the following: (1) working time on the frontline of COVID-19 prevention and control <1 week; (2) trainee, interns, external hired, or dispatched personnel; (3) refusal to participate in the survey; and (4) the time to complete the questionnaire being <5 min.

To determine the practicability of the online questionnaire, the constituent instruments were pilot-tested beforehand on

a group of 20 FHW, and these individuals were excluded from the main study.

#### Survey development

#### Socio-demographic characteristics

Demographic and social data were self-reported by the participants, which included their age, gender, marital status (married or single), educational level (master's degree or above, bachelor's degree or lower), profession (doctor or nurse), seniority (primary, intermediate, or senior), and the number of days working at the frontline since COVID-19 outbreak (7–28, >28 days). The participants were asked whether they were currently working in one of the following three departments: fever clinics, isolation ward for suspected cases, and treatment ward for confirmed cases. The respondents who answered with a "yes" were defined as FHW and those who answered with a "no" were defined as second-line healthcare workers. The latter were excluded from this study.

#### Depressive symptoms

Depressive symptoms of FHW were assessed by the wellestablished Self-rated Depression Scale (SDS) (22). SDS is a widely recognized tool for evaluating depressive disorder (23). The score of each item was added and then multiplied by 1.25 as a total score ranged from 25 to 100, with a higher score indicating more depressive symptoms. The severity rating index for SDS were as follows: normal (25– 52), mild (53–62), moderate (63–72), and severe (73–100). We categorized FHW with an SDS score  $\geq$ 53 as having depressive symptoms. In this study, the Cronbach's alpha of SDS was 0.886.

#### Anxiety symptoms

Anxiety symptoms were assessed by using the Self-rated Anxiety Scale (SAS) (24, 25). An aggregate score of 20 items was multiplied by 1.25, with a higher score indicating more severe levels of anxiety. Anxiety score of <50 was considered normal, that of 50–60 was considered mild, that of 61– 70 was considered moderate, and that >70 was considered severe. We set the cutoff point of SAS at 50 to suggest anxiety symptoms. In this survey, the Cronbach's alpha of SAS was 0.806.

#### Social support

Social support was assessed by using the Social Support Rate Scale (SSRS), which was designed to determine how

80

<sup>1</sup> https://www.wjx.cn

much support respondents received from their family, friends, and social contexts (26, 27). SSRS consists of three subscales: subjective support (four items on the number of friends who offered assistance, relationship with neighbors, relationship with colleagues, and the level of support from family members), objective support (three items on the living conditions in the past year, problem-solving channels in emergency situations, and the sources of psychological comfort in the event of stress or resistance), and support utilization (three items on the way one expresses when in trouble, the way in which one seeks help when in trouble, and the willingness of participation in group activities). The total SSRS score is the sum of these three subscales scores, with a higher score indicating higher levels of social support (28). In this study, the Cronbach's alpha value of SSRS was 0.844.

#### Statistical analyses

The dataset was entered and analyzed using the statistical package for the social sciences (SPSS) version 25.0 (IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, United States). The following descriptive statistics were used, including frequencies (n), percentages (%), means, and standard deviations (SD).

Shapiro–Wilk test was performed to examine the normality. Reliability was assessed with Cronbach's alpha. One-sample mean test was performed to identify the difference in the SSRS score between FHW and the norms of Chinese general population. One-way analysis of variance was conducted to identify the difference in the SDS, SAS, and SSRS of the FHW based on the demographic factors. Spearman correlation analyses were performed to examine the relationship among the scores of SAS, SDS, and SSRS.

Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to examine the association between social support and demographic factors. The dependent variable was the total SSRS score, and the independent variables included age, marital status, and seniority. We also conducted multiple linear regression analysis to identify the relation among social support and the SDS and SAS scores. The dependent variable was the SDS and SAS scores. The independent variables included subjective social support score, objective social support score, support utilization score, and the total SSRS score. The regression model was statistically significant (P < 0.05), indicating a linear correlation between the dependent and independent variables. All tolerance values were >0.1, and the VIF value was <10, which indicated that no data had multicollinearity (29). Regression coefficient estimates (β), standard error (SE) of  $\beta$ , 95% confidence intervals (CIs) of  $\beta$ , and P-values were also analyzed. P < 0.05 was considered to indicate statistical significance.

#### Results

#### Sample characteristics

A total of 211 participants answered questionnaires in the survey, of which 201 fulfilled the study inclusion criteria, giving an effective response rate of 95.3%. Of the 201 participants (mean age = 33.31 years, SD = 7.12 years), 100% worked on the frontline during the COVID-19 pandemic, 43.3% were between the ages of 30 and 39, 74.6% were women, 58.2% were married, and 82.1% had a bachelor's degree or lower. In terms of professionally, 63.2% were registered nurses, 55.2% held a primary professional title, 47.8% of healthcare workers were affiliated with the suspected case isolation ward unit, and 73.6% worked on the frontline for 7–28 days. The socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants are presented in Table 1.

#### Assessment of depression and anxiety

Among 201 FHW, the mean scores of SAS and SDS were 40.98 (SD = 8.20) and 43.30 (SD = 11.38), respectively. A total of 44 (21.9%) participants self-reported depressive symptoms, and 32 (15.9%) participants self-reported anxiety symptoms (Table 1).

In terms of depression and anxiety, the participants were distributed across the three levels of severity. Based on the data of this survey, 44 participants reported depressive symptoms, 32 (72.7%) reported mild depression, 9 (20.5%) reported moderate depression, and 3 (6.8%) reported severe depression. Of 32 participants with anxiety symptoms, 29 (90.6%) reported mild anxiety, 2 (6.3%) reported moderate anxiety, and 1 (3.1%) reported severe anxiety (Figure 1).

#### Assessment of social support

The average scores of SSRS, subjective support, objective support, and support utilization were 37.17 (SD = 7.54), 20.20 (SD = 3.97), 9.41 (SD = 3.47), and 7.56 (SD = 2.02), respectively. Shapiro–Wilk test showed that the total SSRS score and three subscales scores of the SSRS were normally distributed (P > 0.05). The one-sample mean test showed that the total SSRS score and three subscales scores of the SSRS among FHW were lower than that of the norms of the Chinese general population (30), respectively (P < 0.01) (Table 2).

TABLE 1 The socio-demographic and clinical characteristics of the participants.

Characteristic	Total sample	Depressive symptoms	Anxiety symptoms
Participants	201 (100%)	44 (21.9%)	32 (15.9%)
Age, <i>n</i> (%)			
20–29	74 (36.8%)	13 (29.55%)	10 (31.25%)
30-39	87 (43.3%)	21 (47.73%)	12 (37.50%)
>40	40 (19.9%)	10 (22.72%)	10 (31.25%)
Gender, <i>n</i> (%)			
Male	51 (25.4%)	11 (25.00%)	10 (31.25%)
Female	150 (74.6%)	33 (75.00%)	22 (68.75%)
Marital status, n (%)			
Single	84 (41.8%)	16 (36.36%)	12 (37.50%)
Married	117 (58.2%)	28 (63.64%)	20 (62.50%)
Education, n (%)			
Bachelor's degree or lower	165 (82.1%)	39 (88.64%)	27 (84.38%)
Master's degree or above	36 (17.9%)	5 (11.36%)	5 (15.62%)
Profession, n (%)			
Doctor	74 (36.8%)	12 (27.27%)	11(34.37%)
Nurse	127 (63.2%)	32 (72.73%)	21(65.63%)
Seniority, n (%)			
Primary	111 (55.2%)	25 (56.82%)	14 (43.75%)
Intermediate	58 (28.9%)	13 (29.55%)	13 (40.63%)
Senior	32 (15.9%)	6 (13.63%)	5 (15.62%)
Department, n (%)			
Fever clinics	83 (41.2%)	21 (47.73%)	14 (43.75%)
Isolation ward for suspected cases	96 (47.8%)	18 (40.91%)	15 (46.87%)
Treatment ward for confirmed cases	22 (11.0%)	5 (11.36%)	3 (9.38%)
Number of days on the frontline since the	COVID-19 outbreak, n (%)		
7–28 days	148 (73.6%)	27 (61.36%)	24 (75.00%)
>28 days	53 (26.4%)	17 (38.64%)	8 (25.00%)
SDS score, mean $\pm$ SD	$43.30\pm11.38$	$60.02\pm 6.19$	
SAS score, mean $\pm$ SD	$40.98\pm8.20$		$54.47\pm5.79$

SAS, Self-rated Anxiety Scale; SDS, Self-rated Depression Scale; SD, standard deviation.

# The association between demographic factors and social support, depression, and anxiety

One-way analysis of variance showed no significant difference in the effect of demographic factors on depressive and anxiety symptoms (Table 3). However, a one-way analysis of variance showed that FHW within the age of 30–39 years old had a higher SSRS score compared with the younger FHW ( $39.22 \pm 7.45$  versus  $34.62 \pm 6.93$ , P < 0.01). Moreover, the total SSRS score of married FHW was higher than that of unmarried FHW ( $39.92 \pm 6.73$  versus  $33.33 \pm 6.93$ , P < 0.01). Compared with FHW with primary titles, FHW with senior titles had a lower total SSRS score ( $39.34 \pm 7.34$  versus  $35.64 \pm 7.72$ , P = 0.013), whereas FHW with intermediate titles had a higher

total SSRS score than those with senior titles (38.90  $\pm$  6.70 versus 35.64  $\pm$  7.72, *P* = 0.007) (Table 3).

Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to investigate the association between social support and demographic factors. The regression model was statistically significant [F(5,195) = 11.216, P < 0.001], which suggested that a linear correlation existed between the dependent and independent variables. In this study, all tolerance values were greater than 0.1 (minimum 0.3) and the VIF was less than 10 (maximum 3.5), which indicated that all data had no multicollinearity. Multiple linear regression analysis showed that being married positively affected the SSRS score ( $\beta = 7.395$ , P < 0.01), and age over 40 years old negatively affected the SSRS score ( $\beta = -5.349$ , P = 0.017). Multiple linear regression analysis also showed that age, marital status, and seniority were



TABLE 2 The difference of social support scores among frontline healthcare workers and the norms of Chinese general population.

Variable	Total sample $(n = 201)$	Norms of general population	t	P-value
Total SSRS score, mean $\pm$ SD	$37.17\pm7.54$	$44.38\pm8.38$	-13.560	< 0.001
Subjective social support score, mean $\pm$ SD	$20.20\pm3.97$	$23.81\pm4.75$	-12.896	< 0.001
Objective social support score, mean $\pm$ SD	$9.41\pm3.47$	$12.68\pm3.47$	-13.341	< 0.001
Support utilization score, mean $\pm$ SD	$7.56\pm2.02$	$9.38\pm3.40$	-12.781	< 0.001

SD, standard deviation; SSRS, Social Support Rate Scale.

associated with social support, which explained 20.3% of all variance (Table 4).

# The association between social support and depression and anxiety

Spearman correlation test showed that the total SSRS score, subjective social support score, objective social support score, and support utilization score among FHW were all negatively correlated with the SAS score and SDS score (P < 0.05) (Table 5). Multiple linear regression analysis suggested that a lower support utilization score was respectively significantly associated with high anxiety and depressive symptoms ( $\beta = -0.869$ , P = 0.024;  $\beta = -1.088$ , P = 0.035, respectively). Multiple linear regression analysis also showed that the total SSRS score, objective social support score, and support utilization score were associated with anxiety and depressive symptoms, which explained 8.9 and 14.9% of all variance, respectively (Tables 6, 7).

## Discussion

To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study to investigate the relationship between the levels of social support and the prevalence of depression and anxiety among FHW during the COVID-19 pandemic in China. FHW are the direct providers of hospital services and the main force in controlling COVID-19. Understanding their level of social support and the relationship between psychological impact and social support can help Chinese hospital management and health policymakers take effective measures to further improve the mental health well-being of FHW, thus improving their professional performance and work efficiency.

#### Prevalence of depression and anxiety

This study showed that during the COVID-19 pandemic, the prevalence of depressive and anxiety symptoms among FHW was 21.9 and 15.9%, respectively. However, using the same measurement as in our study, the prevalence of depressive and anxiety symptoms among FHW in the early stages of the COVID-19 pandemic was 35.8 and 22.4% (31), respectively, which was significantly higher than the population surveyed in our study. This is most likely associated with the deployment of psychological assistance services by the Chinese government. On 26 January 2020, the Ministry of Health of the Chinese Government issued a guideline for emergency psychological crisis intervention and counseling (32). On 2 February 2020, the state council of China set up

Variable	Total SSRS score (mean ± SD)	F	P-value	SAS score (mean ± SD)	F	P-value	SDS score (mean ± SD)	F	P-value
Total sample ( $n = 201$ )	$37.17\pm7.54$			$40.98 \pm 8.20$			$43.30 \pm 11.38$		
Age									
20–29 ( <i>n</i> = 74)	$34.62\pm 6.93$	7.982	< 0.001	$40.70\pm7.45$	0.780	0.460	$42.62\pm10.49$	0.651	0.523
30–39 ( <i>n</i> = 87)	$39.22 \pm 7.45^a$			$40.55\pm8.52$			$43.05\pm11.76$		
>40 ( <i>n</i> = 40)	$37.43 \pm 7.59$			$42.43 \pm 8.87$			$45.10\pm12.22$		
Gender									
Male ( <i>n</i> = 51)	$38.75\pm7.52$	3.016	0.084	$41.92\pm9.56$	0.899	0.344	$43.67 \pm 11.25$	0.071	0.790
Female ( <i>n</i> = 150)	$36.63\pm7.50$			$40.66\pm7.70$			$43.17\pm11.46$		
Marital status									
Single ( <i>n</i> = 84)	$33.33 \pm 6.93$	45.704	< 0.001	$40.68\pm8.70$	0.194	0.660	$43.11\pm10.90$	0.041	0.841
Married ( $n = 117$ )	$39.92 \pm 6.73$			$41.20\pm7.86$			$43.44 \pm 11.76$		
Education									
Bachelor's degree or lower $(n = 36)$	$37.14\pm7.51$	0.001	0.979	$39.11 \pm 10.33$	2.291	0.132	$41.72\pm11.30$	0.840	0.360
Master's degree or above $(n = 165)$	$37.18\pm7.57$			$41.39\pm7.64$			$43.64\pm11.40$		
Profession									
Doctor $(n = 74)$	$38.03 \pm 7.24$	1.520	0.219	$39.82 \pm 9.04$	2.340	0.128	$41.72\pm10.80$	2.278	0.133
Nurse ( <i>n</i> = 127)	$36.67\pm7.70$			$41.65\pm7.63$			$44.22\pm11.65$		
Seniority									
Primary $(n = 32)$	$39.34 \pm 7.34^{b}$	5.362	0.005	$39.72 \pm 8.38$	0.448	0.639	$42.09 \pm 12.23$	0.470	0.626
Intermediate ( $n = 58$ )	$38.90 \pm 6.70^{\mathrm{b}}$			$41.26\pm8.66$			$42.66 \pm 10.80$		
Senior $(n = 111)$	$35.64\pm7.72$			$41.20\pm7.95$			$43.98 \pm 11.48$		
Department									
Fever clinics $(n = 83)$	$37.67 \pm 8.34$	1.277	0.281	$41.07\pm8.33$	1.053	0.351	$43.66 \pm 12.00$	0.194	0.824
Isolation ward for suspected cases $(n = 96)$	$36.35\pm7.13$			$41.44\pm8.33$			$43.29\pm11.40$		
Treatment ward for confirmed cases $(n = 22)$	$38.82\pm5.75$			$38.64 \pm 7.04$			$41.95\pm9.03$		
Number of days on the frontline	since the COVID-19 ou	tbreak							
7–28 days ( $n = 148$ )	$37.20\pm7.47$	0.011	0.916	$40.90\pm8.70$	0.055	0.815	$42.89 \pm 11.33$	0.739	0.391
>28 days ( $n = 53$ )	$37.08 \pm 7.80$			$41.21\pm 6.69$			$44.45\pm11.56$		

TABLE 3 Difference in total SSRS, SDS, and SAS based on demographic characteristics.

One-way analysis of variance showed age, marital status, seniority had an effect on total SSRS score. SAS, Self-rated Anxiety Scale; SDS, Self-rated Depression Scale; SD, standard deviation; SSRS, Social Support Rate Scale. <sup>a</sup>Compared with participants with 20–29 years old, P < 0.01. <sup>b</sup>Compared with participants with senior title, P < 0.05.

TABLE 4 Regression analysis of the effects of demographic factors on social support.

Variable	le Unstandardized coefficients		Unstandardized coefficients Standardized t coefficients		t	P-value	95% confidence interval for $\beta$		
	β	SE				Lower bound	Upper bound		
Constant	34.129	1.670		20.432	< 0.001	30.834	37.423		
Age (ref. 20-2	29)								
30-39	-0.370	1.466	-0.024	-0.252	0.801	-3.262	2.522		
>40	-5.349	2.224	-0.284	-2.405	0.017	-9.735	-0.963		
Marital statu	s (ref. single)								
Married	7.395	1.325	0.485	5.581	< 0.001	4.782	10.008		
Seniority (ref	. intermediate)								
Senior	2.236	1.788	0.109	1.250	0.213	-1.29	5.761		
Primary	-0.716	1.441	-0.047	-0.497	0.620	-3.559	2.127		
$R^2$	0.223								
Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>	0.203								

TABLE 5 Correlations between social support, anxiety, and depression.

Variables	S	SDS	S	SAS
	r	P-value	r	P-value
Total SSRS score	-0.345	< 0.001	-0.222	0.002
Subjective social support score	-0.260	< 0.001	-0.156	0.027
Objective social support score	-0.257	< 0.001	-0.176	0.013
Support utilization score	-0.335	< 0.001	-0.268	< 0.001

SAS, Self-rated Anxiety Scale; SDS, Self-rated Depression Scale; SSRS, Social Support Rate Scale.

TABLE 6 Regression analysis of the effects of social support on depression.

Variables	β (SE)	95% CI	P-value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Objective social support score	-0.066 (0.396)	-0.848, 0.715	0.867	0.149
Support utilization score	-1.088 (0.513)	-2.099, -0.076	0.035	
Total SSRS score	-0.353 (0.222)	-0.789, 0.084	0.113	

 $\beta$ , the coefficients; CI, confidence interval; SE, standard error; SSRS, Social Support Rate Scale.

TABLE 7 Regression analysis of the effects of social support on anxiety.

Variables	β (SE)	95% CI	P-value	Adjusted R <sup>2</sup>
Objective social support score	-0.039 (0.296)	-0.622, 0.544	0.896	0.089
Support utilization score	-0.869 (0.382)	-1.624, -0.115	0.024	
Total SSRS score	-0.136 (0.165)	-0.462, 0.190	0.412	

 $\beta,$  the coefficients; CI, confidence interval; SE, standard error; SSRS, Social Support Rate Scale.

a nationwide psychological assistance hotline to help people suffering from psychological disorders due to the epidemic (33). These programs are not only for patients with COVID-19 and the general public but also for all healthcare workers. Participants in this study received psychological assistance services before submitting questionnaires, which can reduce the prevalence of depression and anxiety.

# Factors affecting the level of depression and anxiety

Our findings showed that no significant difference was found in the effect of demographic factors (such as age, gender, seniority, and education level) on depression and anxiety symptoms. The main reasons can be related to the small sample size of this study and the relatively low proportion of FHW with depression and anxiety. Many FHW experiencing symptoms of anxiety and depression had mild degrees of depression and anxiety in our study. Among all the participants, only 12 (27.3%) had moderate and severe depression, and 3 (9.4%) had moderate and severe anxiety. A previous study reported that the anxiety levels in health workers did not vary significantly with age, education, and marital status (34). However, a recent metaanalysis revealed the prevalence of anxiety and depression was higher among females and nursing staff than among males and doctors during the COVID-19 pandemic (3). Nurses, FHW, female, young, and intermediate seniority were associated with a severe degree of depression and anxiety (6, 35). Furthermore, a significant causal relationship was found between depression and age and working on the frontline (36). Another study reported that working in an isolation ward or fever clinic was an independent risk factor for depression and anxiety among frontline pediatric nurses, whereas age and education level did not have any significant effect on depression and anxiety (37). The effect of demographic factors on depression and anxiety is controversial and more rigorously designed studies are required to further clarify this issue.

#### Level of social support

Our study revealed that the total SSRS score of FHW was significantly lower than that of the general population. The three dimensions of social support (namely subjective social support, objective social support, and support utilization) of FHW were all significantly lower than the Chinese general population. In SSRS, subjective social support refers to the support received from family, friends, and colleagues. During the COVID-19 pandemic, the government-imposed quarantine policies and increased workloads limited the time that FHW could spend with family members and friends. Objective support refers to any type of visible or actual social support, especially economic assistance, received from any source, including the government, non-governmental organizations, religious groups, and local communities (38). The low social status of healthcare workers in China can limit their access to objective social support beyond family members (39). The lockdown policies imposed by the government can also limit their participation in community activities, which made it difficult for them to obtain community help. Support utilization refers to the degree of willingness to seek social support. Fear of stigma can make FHW reluctant to seek outside support (40). Moreover, excessive workloads and minimal vacations can also lead to extreme fatigue for FHW, which can limit their willingness to join in social interactions during breaks (41).

#### Correlation between social support and depression and anxiety

We also found a negative correlation between the levels of social support and the severity of depressive and anxiety symptoms. The participants in our study who reported higher levels of social support were less likely to have symptoms of depression and anxiety, which indicated that social support is an important protective factor for the mental health of FHW. This was consistent with the results from previous studies (42, 43).

Subjective social support reflects the personal experience and feelings of social support (44). People with higher subjective social support score indicates that they receive adequate support, understanding, and respect from their family, friends, and colleagues. High subjective social support can help individuals to reduce loneliness and build a positive self-image, self-efficacy, and self-esteem, thus bringing more understanding, respect, courage, and professional achievements to themselves (45), which has a positive effect on reducing depression and anxiety of FHW.

Objective social support emphasizes the existence of visible social support (46). Those who scored higher on objective social support indicated that they received more visible help and support from the government, local communities, and nongovernmental organizations. It also means they have extensive social networks. A high level of objective social support helps individuals to reduce the stress in work and life, and maintain good mental health, which can decrease the depressive and anxiety symptoms in FHW. Moreover, a wide social network can decrease the perceived threat of stressful events among FHW and reduce the physical reactions induced by stress, which also has a positive effect on reducing anxiety and depressive symptoms (47).

High social support utilization indicates a greater willingness to seek social support. This usually manifests as an emotional outpouring to family or friends or seeking help by participating in activities organized by the local community or religious groups. In our study, the higher the social support utilization of FHW, the less likely they were to have symptoms of depression and anxiety. This is consistent with the finding that a better connection with others can mitigate the harmful effects of stressful life events (48).

# Factors affecting the level of social support

In the present study, the level of social support for FHW positively correlated with age. One possible reason could be that healthcare workers over 30 years are more likely to have experienced severe acute respiratory syndrome (SARS) and middle east respiratory syndrome (MERS) outbreaks; therefore, they have more experience in seeking social support in the COVID-19 pandemic (49). Moreover, being older also means they have a wider social network and more access to social support than younger people (less than 30 years old). Individuals who had more social support generally had better mental health than those who had less (50).

Our findings also showed that being single was associated with a low level of social support among FHW. One possible reason is that married healthcare workers have higher quality and wider social networks than single healthcare workers because they can receive additional social support from their spouse and spouse's family (51). These results are consistent with the study by Jaffar Abbas to some extent (52).

Interestingly, despite previous research showing differences in social support between male and female healthcare workers (17), our study showed that gender does not affect the level of social support. This can be because both male and female healthcare workers have longer working hours during the COVID-19 pandemic. Therefore, they did not have sufficient time to participate in family and social activities to seek social support (53). This may also explain why no difference was found in the social support between nurses and doctors in this study.

The results of this study showed that the department where FHW work and how long they worked on the frontline did not affect their social support because FHW feel so exhausted during the COVID-19 pandemic that they were reluctant to seek social support through social and family activities (54).

Previous studies have reported that healthcare workers with high education levels and seniority will receive more social support from patients and the social environment because of their high professional level and rich experience (55). However, the result of the present study showed that education level and seniority do not affect the social support of FHW. Further study is required to explain this phenomenon.

#### Policy implications

Based on our findings, during COVID-19 pandemic, policy makers should: (1) reduce the working hours and workload of

FHW and give them more time to participate in social and family activities; (2) pay more attention to the mental health of unmarried and young FHW and extend more help to alleviate the symptoms of depression and anxiety.

#### Limitations

This study has several limitations. First, this study used self-report measures, hence there was a risk of information bias. Second, our study was a cross-sectional study that limited our ability to make statements on causality. In the absence of further follow-up studies, caution should be exercised regarding causality. Third, the income level and religious belief of FHW were not considered in this study, which has a certain relationship with social support. Further prospective and longitudinal studies with a large sample size are needed to assess the impact of social support levels on the mental health in the context of COVID-19 pandemic.

## Conclusion

In this study, we showed that 21.9 and 15.9% of FHW had depressive and anxiety symptoms, respectively. There was lower social support among FHW in comparison to the Chinese general population during the COVID-19 pandemic. The marital status and age had a major effect on social support. Social support was inversely associated with depression and anxiety. These findings signify that social support plays an important role in mental health, and health policymakers should pay more attention to the psychological status of FHW. Efforts should also be made to address their low level of social support, to reduce adverse psychological outcomes among FHW. More studies are required to determine how to improve the level of social support and mental health condition of FHW facing public health emergencies in the future.

# Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in this study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine (No. ZE2020-036). Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

#### Author contributions

JZ and LL designed the study. JZ, LZ, and HC were responsible for the development and distribution of questionnaire. XY and XW were responsible for data auditing and data cleaning. JZ, CC, and LL analyzed and interpreted the data. CC and JZ revised the manuscript on the basis of comments from other authors. All authors have read and approved the final manuscript.

# Funding

This study was funded by the special project of Science and Technology of Traditional Chinese Medicine of Guangdong Provincial Hospital of Chinese Medicine (No. YN2020QN23), China Postdoctoral Science Foundation (No. 2021M700906), special project of "Lingnan modernization of traditional Chinese medicine" in 2019 Guangdong Provincial R&D Program (No. 2020B1111100008), and the Chinese Medicine Innovation Team Project of the State Administration of Traditional Chinese Medicine. The funders had no influence on study design, data collection and analysis, decision to publish, or preparation of the manuscript.

#### Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all participants who have been involved in this study and the Changsha Ranxing Information Technology Co., Ltd. for providing us a platform of electronic questionnaires. Changsha Ranxing Information Technology Co., Ltd. was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication. We also thank MJEditor (www.mjeditor.com) for English language editing.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that this study received support from Changsha Ranxing Information Technology Co., Ltd. The funder was not involved in the study design, collection, analysis, interpretation of data, the writing of this article, or the decision to submit it for publication.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# References

1. The People's Government of Tibet Autonomous Region. *Tibet Launched A Level I Response to A Major Public Health Emergency.* (2020). Available online at: http://www.xizang.gov.cn/xwzx\_406/xw\_tp/202001/t20200130\_131210. html (accessed May 1, 2022).

2. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. *The Latest Situation of New Coronavirus Pneumonia By* 24:00 on 31 *March.* (2020). Available online at: http://www.nhc.gov.cn/xcs/yqtb/202003/ ec2689b0e716468fbfff7cf890c74bb7.shtml (accessed May 1, 2022).

3. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:901–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026

4. Luo M, Guo L, Yu M, Jiang W, Wang H. The psychological and mental impact of coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) on medical staff and general public -A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 291:113190. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113190

5. National Health Commission of the People's Republic of China. *The Latest Situation of New Coronavirus Pneumonia By* 24:00 on 14 *February*. (2020). Available online at: http://www.nhc.gov.cn/xcs/yqtb/202002/ 50994e4df10c49c199ce6db07e196b61.shtml (accessed May 1, 2022).

6. Lai J, Ma S, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. *JAMA Netw Open*. (2020) 3:e203976. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.3976

7. Carmassi C, Pedrinelli V, Dell'Oste V, Bertelloni CA, Cordone A, Bouanani S, et al. Work and social functioning in frontline healthcare workers during the covid-19 pandemic in Italy: role of acute post-traumatic stress, depressive and anxiety symptoms. *Riv Psichiatr.* (2021) 56:189–97. doi: 10.1708/3654.36346

 Carmassi C, Pedrinelli V, Dell'Oste V, Bertelloni CA, Grossi C, Gesi C, et al. PTSD and depression in healthcare workers in the italian epicenter of the COVID-19 outbreak. *Clin Pract Epidemiol Ment Health.* (2021) 17:242–52. doi: 10.2174/ 1745017902117010242

9. Carmassi C, Dell'Oste V, Barberi FM, Bertelloni CA, Pedrinelli V, Dell'Osso L. Mental health symptoms among general practitioners facing the acute phase of the COVID-19 pandemic: detecting different reaction groups. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:4007. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19074007

10. Spoorthy MS, Pratapa SK, Mahant S. Mental health problems faced by healthcare workers due to the COVID-19 pandemic-A review. *Asian J Psychiatr.* (2020) 51:102119. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2020.102119

11. Finfgeld-Connett D. Clarification of social support. J Nurs Scholarsh. (2015) 37:4-9. doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2005.00004.x

12. Sarason BR, Pierce GR, Shearin EN, Sarason IG. Perceived social support and working models of self and actual others. *J Pers Soc Psychol.* (1991) 60:273–87.

13. Ozbay F, Johnson DC, Dimoulas E, Morgan CA, Charney D, Southwick S. Social support and resilience to stress: from neurobiology to clinical practice. *Psychiatry*. (2007) 4:35–40.

14. Lau EYH, Chan KKS, Lam CB. Social support and adjustment outcomes of first-year university students in Hong Kong: self-esteem as a mediator. *J Coll Stud Dev.* (2018) 59:129–34.

15. Tomioka K, Morita N, Saeki K, Okamoto N, Kurumatani N. Working hours, occupational stress and depression among physicians. *Occup Med.* (2011) 61:163–70. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqr004

 Song J, Cheng TC. How do gender differences in family responsibilities affect doctors' labour supply? Evidence from Australian panel data. Soc Sci Med. (2020) 265:113475. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2020.113475

17. Fu C, Wang G, Shi X, Cao F. Social support and depressive symptoms among physicians in tertiary hospitals in China: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:217. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03219-w

18. Sun J, Sun R, Jiang Y, Chen X, Li Z, Ma Z, et al. The relationship between psychological health and social support: evidence from physicians in China. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0228152. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0228152

19. Zhu W, Wei Y, Meng X, Li J. The mediation effects of coping style on the relationship between social support and anxiety in Chinese medical staff during COVID-19. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2020) 20:1007. doi: 10.1186/s12913-020-05 871-6

20. Ni MY, Yang L, Leung CMC, Li N, Yao XI, Wang Y. Mental health, risk factors, and social media use during the COVID-19 epidemic and cordon sanitaire among the community and health professionals in Wuhan, China: cross-sectional survey. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2020) 7:e19009. doi: 10.2196/1 9009

21. Kang L, Ma S, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.028

22. Zung WW. A self-rating depression scale. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1965) 12:63–70. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1965.01720310065008

23. Liang Y, Chen M, Zheng X, Liu J. Screening for Chinese medical staff mental health by SDS and SAS during the outbreak of COVID-19. *J Psychosom Res.* (2020) 133:110102. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110102

24. Zung WW, Magruder-Habib K, Velez R, Alling W. The comorbidity of anxiety and depression in general medical patients: a longitudinal study. *J Clin Psychiatry.* (1990) 51:77–80.

25. Hu HH, Li G, Arao T. The association of family social support, depression, anxiety and self-efficacy with specific hypertension self-care behaviours in Chinese local community. *J Hum Hypertens*. (2015) 29:198–203. doi: 10.1038/jhh. 2014.58

26. Xiao SY. Theoretical basis and application in research of Social Support Rating Scale. J Clin Psychiatry. (1994) 4:98–100. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1423-5

27. Dai W, Chen L, Tan H, Wang J, Lai Z, Kaminga AC, et al. Association between social support and recovery from post-traumatic stress disorder after flood: a 13-14 year follow-up study in Hunan, China. *BMC Public Health.* (2016) 16:194. doi: 10.1186/s12889-016-2871-x

28. Wang XD, Wang XL, Ma H. *Manual of Mental Health Rating Scale*. Beijing: China Mental Health Magazine (1999). p. 82–122.

29. Yang WC, Lin CH, Wang FC, Lu MJ. Factors related to the improvement in quality of life for depressed inpatients treated with fluoxetine. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2017) 17:309. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1471-3

30. Zhang MY. *Psychiatric Rating Scale Manual.* 2nd ed. Changsha: Hunan Science and Technology Press (1993). p. 35–42.

31. Guo JM, Liao LM, Wang BG, Li XQ, Guo LR, Tong Z, et al. Psychological effects of COVID-19 on hospital staff: a national cross-sectional survey in mainland China. *Vasc Invest Ther.* (2021) 4:6–11.

32. The Ministry of Health of China. A Notification on the Issuance of Guidelines for Emergency Psychological Crisis Intervention in Novel Coronavirus Outbreaks of Pneumonia. (2020). Available online at: http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2020-01/27/ content\_5472433.htm (accessed May 1, 2022).

 The State Council of China. A Notification to Set Up Nationwide Psychological Assistance Hotlines Against the 2019-nCoV Outbreak. (2020). Available online at: http://www.gov.cn/xinwen/2020-02/02/content\_5473937.htm (accessed May 1, 2022).

34. Liu CY, Yang YZ, Zhang XM, Xu X, Dou QL, Zhang WW, et al. The prevalence and influencing factors in anxiety in medical workers fighting COVID-19 in China: a cross-sectional survey. *Epidemiol Infect.* (2020) 148:e98. doi: 10.1017/S0950268820001107

35. Elbay RY, Kurtulmuş A, Arpacıoğlu S, Karadere E. Depression, anxiety, stress levels of physicians and associated factors in Covid-19 pandemics. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 290:113130. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113130

36. Şahin MK, Aker S, Şahin G, Karabekiroğlu A. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, distress and insomnia and related factors in healthcare workers during COVID-19 pandemic in Turkey. *J Community Health.* (2020) 45:1168–77. doi: 10.1007/s10900-020-00921-w

37. Zheng R, Zhou Y, Qiu M, Yan Y, Yue J, Yu L, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of depression, anxiety, and stress among Hubei pediatric nurses during COVID-19 pandemic. *Compr Psychiatry*. (2021) 104:152217. doi: 10.1016/j. comppsych.2020.152217

38. Viseu J, Leal R, de Jesus SN, Pinto P, Pechorro P, Greenglass E. Relationship between economic stress factors and stress, anxiety, and depression: moderating role of social support. *Psychiatry Res.* (2018) 268:102–7. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres. 2018.07.008

39. Wu SJ, Qiu S, Liao HC. Theory of the domestic doctor the influence of the social status of people in the health industry. *J Med Theory Pract.* (2015) 28:2269–71. doi: 10.19381/j.issn.1001-7585.2015.16.095

40. Lin CY, Peng YC, Wu YH, Chang J, Chan CH, Yang DY. The psychological effect of severe acute respiratory syndrome on emergency department staff. *Emerg Med J*. (2007) 24:12–7. doi: 10.1136/emj.2006.035089

41. Watson AG, McCoy JV, Mathew J, Gundersen DA, Eisenstein RM. Impact of physician workload on burnout in the emergency department. *Psychol Health Med.* (2019) 24:414–28. doi: 10.1080/13548506.2018.1539236

42. Guntzviller LM, Williamson LD, Ratcliff CL. Stress, social support, and mental health among young adult hispanics. *Fam Community Health.* (2020) 43:82–91. doi: 10.1097/FCH.00000000000224

43. Alnazly E, Khraisat OM, Al-Bashaireh AM, Bryant CL. Anxiety, depression, stress, fear and social support during COVID-19 pandemic among Jordanian healthcare workers. *PLoS One.* (2021) 16:e0247679. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0247679

44. Gyasi RM, Phillips DR, Abass K. Social support networks and psychological wellbeing in community-dwelling older Ghanaian cohorts. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2018) 31:1047–1057. doi: 10.1017/S1041610218001539

45. Feng D, Su S, Wang L, Liu F. The protective role of self-esteem, perceived social support and job satisfaction against psychological distress among Chinese nurses. *J Nurs Manag.* (2018) 26:366–72. doi: 10.1111/jonm.12523

46. Cao M, Kan J. Influence of social support on career identification in nurses. *Nurs Res.* (2020) 24:380–1.

47. Gu Y, Hu J, Hu Y, Wang J. Social supports and mental health: a cross-sectional study on the correlation of self-consistency and congruence in China. *BMC Health Serv Res.* (2016) 16:207. doi: 10.1186/s12913-016-1463-x

48. Wilkinson A, Bowen L, Gustavsson E, Håkansson S, Littleton N, McCormick J, et al. Maintenance and development of social connection by people with long-term conditions: a qualitative study. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2019) 16:1875. doi: 10.3390/ijerph16111875

49. Wen Z. From "barefoot doctor" to "anti-epidemic goddess". *Elder Educ.* (2020) 05:4–5.

50. Baek RN, Tanenbaum ML, Gonzalez JS. Diabetes burden and diabetes distress: the buffering effect of social support. *Ann Behav Med.* (2014) 48:145–55. doi: 10.1007/s12160-013-9585

51. Cairney J, Boyle M, Offord DR, Racine Y. Stress, social support and depression in single and married mothers. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2003) 38:442–9. doi: 10.1007/s00127-003-0 661-0

52. Abbas J, Aqeel M, Abbas J, Shaher BAJ, Sundas J, Zhang W. The moderating role of social support for marital adjustment, depression, anxiety, and stress: evidence from Pakistani working and nonworking women. *J Affect Disord.* (2019) 244:231–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.07.071

53. Usman N, Mamun M, Ullah I. COVID-19 infection risk in pakistani healthcare workers: the cost-effective safety measures for developing countries. *Soc Health Behav.* (2020) 3:75–7.

54. Rotenstein LS, Torre M, Ramos MA, Rosales RC, Guille C, Sen S, et al. Prevalence of burnout among physicians: a systematic review. *JAMA*. (2018) 320:1131–50. doi: 10.1001/jama.2018.12777

55. Wang YX. Research on the Relationship Between Subjective Socioeconomic Status, Self-Esteem, Perceived Social Support and Subjective Well-Being of Clinical Nurses. Xining: Qinghai normal university (2021).

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Francesca Conte, Second University of Naples, Italy

#### REVIEWED BY

Siqi Ge, Beijing Tiantan Hospital, China Jie Zhang, Capital Medical University, China Wenjie Jiao, The Affiliated Hospital of Qingdao University, China

\*CORRESPONDENCE Xinchun Duan duanxinchun45@163.com Yong Cui cuiyong@ccmu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Mood Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 29 May 2022 ACCEPTED 01 September 2022 PUBLISHED 03 October 2022

#### CITATION

Tong Y, Zhang Q, Wang X, Du Y, Chang D, Cui Y and Duan X (2022) Dynamic changes in mental health status related to the COVID-19 pandemic among health care workers and inpatients in China. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:956068. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.956068

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Tong, Zhang, Wang, Du, Chang, Cui and Duan. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Dynamic changes in mental health status related to the COVID-19 pandemic among health care workers and inpatients in China

## Yujun Tong<sup>1†</sup>, Qian Zhang<sup>2†</sup>, Xiaoran Wang<sup>1</sup>, Yanlin Du<sup>1</sup>, Dong Chang<sup>1</sup>, Yong Cui<sup>1\*</sup> and Xinchun Duan<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Thoracic Surgery, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>Clinical Epidemiology and EBM Unit, National Clinical Research Center for Digestive Diseases, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

**Background:** Exposure to coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) can cause severe mental health problems, the dynamics of which remain unclear. This study evaluated the mental status of frontline health care workers (FHWs) and suspected infected patients (SIPs) during different periods of the COVID-19 outbreak.

**Materials and methods:** Demographic and psychological data were collected through a cross-sectional survey of 409 participants in a hospital from 20 January to 7 August 2020. COVID-19 outbreaks were divided into three periods owing to the time, place, and scale, including the national outbreak period (a nationwide pandemic period from 20 January to 8 April 2020), sporadic period (a stable period from 9 April to 10 June), and local epidemic period (a local pandemic in Beijing from 11 June to 7 August 2020). Acute psychological disorders (APDs), including symptoms of anxiety and depression, were assessed using the Zung Self-Rating Anxiety/Depression Scale (SAS/SDS).

**Results:** A total of 206 FHWs and 203 SIPs completed the electronic questionnaire. Overall, the prevalence rates of anxiety and depression among SIPs were 3.9 and 19.4%, respectively, while significantly higher prevalence rates (17.7 and 25.1%) were found among FHWs, *P*-value < 0.05. Psychological status among SIPs did not differ significantly across the three periods. The FHWs were more vulnerable, as their SAS and SDS scores and almost all the dimension scores were significantly higher during the local epidemic period than during the national outbreak and sporadic periods (all *P*-values < 0.001). The prevalence of anxiety (34.41%) and depression (41.94%) was significantly higher during the local epidemic period (*P* < 0.001). Logistic and linear mixed models showed that age, sex, and doctor-patient ratio especially, independently influenced most dimension scores of SAS and SDS among FHWs (*P* < 0.05).

**Conclusion:** Compared to the COVID-19 epidemic at the national level, the local epidemic had a greater influence on FHWs' mental health. More attention should be given to the workload of FHWs.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, anxiety, depression, healthcare workers, mental health

# Introduction

Coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) currently represents an unprecedented threat to human health worldwide (1, 2). The first cases of this novel coronavirus (3, 4) were reported in Wuhan, the capital city of Hubei Province, China, in December 2019. Subsequently, the virus was identified as severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus 2 (SARS-CoV-2) by the World Health Organization. The disease has a very strong infectious ability, such that it rapidly spread within a few months and finally became a worldwide health threat. The World Health Organization announced that as of 30 March 2021, 126,372,442 cases had been diagnosed, and 2,769,696 persons had died from COVID-19 due to the high mortality rate and lack of effective treatment (5). The primary routes of transmission include short-distance person-to-person contact, respiratory droplets, and aerosols. The pandemic has relentlessly affected normal social order, caused social panic, and seriously influenced public mental health (6), especially for those frequently exposed to highrisk environments.

Frontline health care workers (FHWs) are the most important force in preventing the spread of COVID-19 and protecting public health (7). However, due to factors such as direct exposure to infectious individuals, a shortage of protective equipment, prolonged separation from family and friends, and even stigmatization (8), FHWs often experience acute psychological disorders (APDs), such as anxiety and depression (9-11). As early as May 2020, the International Council of Nurses reported that more than 90,000 medical workers had been infected with COVID-19. This figure is likely to be conservative because countries were busy combatting the pandemic. Studies (12, 13) have shown that during the outbreak of SARS and Middle East respiratory syndrome (MERS), many frontline staff were infected in their workplaces, which often provoked their loss of emotional control and finally the emergence of APDs.

The effective control of the COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan was followed by a short period of tranquility. However, the calm soon ended in June 2020 with a local outbreak in the Xinfadi Agricultural Wholesale Market in Fengtai District, Beijing. At this time, increasing numbers of medical staff devoted themselves to handling the drastically increasing number of suspected infected patients (SIPs). The state of the spread of COVID-19 worldwide is not positive. Such a serious situation requires not only effective treatment programs but also more medical staff on the frontlines to combat the pandemic. Although doctor-patient mental health is a concern among scholars, the periods covered in most studies are relatively short (3, 14). Therefore, this study investigated the dynamic changes in APDs caused by the COVID-19 pandemic among health care workers and inpatients over a relatively long period, with the main purpose of providing important evidence for psychological interventions.

# Materials and methods

# Study design, participants, and data collection

This study was a cross-sectional survey conducted from 20 January to 7 August 2020, to observe the different psychosocial status of FHWs and SIPs during outbreaks of COVID-19 (Figure 1). During this time, a total of 503 FHWs were sent to isolation wards to combat the COVID-19 epidemic, each of whom worked in a totally closed environment for 3 weeks. According to the COVID-19 prevention policy, 914 consecutive SIPs were hospitalized in the isolation ward for a definitive diagnosis. A total of 41% of FHWs and 29% of SIPs in our hospital during this period were sampled for the psychological health status survey. All the data were collected by questionnaire on a professional online assessment platform.<sup>1</sup> Participants completed anonymous self-evaluation forms in the Mini Program provided by WeChat APP linked to the survey website using their own cell phones with each patient submitting questionnaire only once. The exclusion criteria included old age

Abbreviations: APDs, acute psychological disorders; COVID-19, coronavirus disease 2019; FHWs, frontline health care workers; MERS, Middle East respiratory syndrome; SARS, severe acute respiratory syndrome; SAS, the Zung Self-Rating Anxiety Scale; SDS, the Zung Self-Rating Depression Scale; SIPs, suspected infected patients.

<sup>1</sup> www.wjx.cn



(80 years or above), blurred vision, communication disorders, illiteracy, non-use of cell phones, or refusal to cooperate. All participants were enrolled from isolation wards in Beijing Friendship Hospital, which is a third-level grade A general hospital in Beijing affiliated with Capital Medical University. During the COVID-19 outbreak period, the isolation wards mainly received patients with suspected infection from fever clinics. SIPs were screened by throat swab nucleic acid tests at least twice with an interval of 24 h. The results were reviewed by the team of chief examiners. If COVID-19 infection was confirmed, the infected patients were transferred to a designated hospital for further treatment. The other patients were released from the isolation wards. All the enrolled participants signed informed consent forms, and the study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Friendship Hospital (2020-P2-161-01).

The demographic characteristics included age, sex, area of residence (Fengtai District or other districts), education status (high school or below, bachelor's degree, master's degree, and doctoral degree), marital status (single, married, and divorced), and number of children in the participant's family (no children, one or more children). Participants were classified into three groups according to the enrolment date: national outbreak period, sporadic period and local epidemic period (**Figure 2**). The COVID-19 outbreak in Wuhan lasted from 20 January to 8 April 2020, and the number of local infected cases in Beijing increased during this period, which was defined as the national outbreak period. From 9 April to 10 June 2020, the epidemic in Wuhan was effectively controlled, and the number of local confirmed cases in Beijing remained stable, without a remarkable increase. This period was defined as the sporadic period. From 11 June to 7 August 2020, a new COVID-19 outbreak occurred in the Xinfadi Agricultural Wholesale Market in Fengtai District, Beijing, and the number of cases increased rapidly. This period was called the local epidemic period.

#### Assessment criteria

The symptoms of anxiety and depression were assessed with the Zung Self-Rating Anxiety/Depression Scale (SAS/SDS) (15, 16). These scales have been widely applied in clinical practice and scientific research, showing good reliability and convincing results in the Chinese population (17-19). The SAS and the SDS both include 20 items, with each item scored on a scale from 1 to 4, indicating none or a little of the time, some of the time, a good part of the time, and most or all of the time. The participants responded according to their psychological and physical symptoms within the past week. According to convention in China, the threshold score of anxiety on the selfreported scale is 50. Scores in the range of 50-59 indicate slight anxiety, scores from 60 to 69 indicate moderate anxiety, and scores above 70 indicate severe anxiety. For depression, the cutoff score is 53, with scores in the range of 53-62 implying slight depression, scores ranging from 63 to 72 indicating moderate depression, and scores above 73 indicating severe depression.

Physical symptoms of anxiety and depression can manifest in multiple systems, such as the cardiovascular, digestive, respiratory, skeletal and muscle, urinary, and reproductive systems. The related physical complaints are often composed of factors in several dimensions. The SAS/SDS includes only the abovementioned physical symptoms. Therefore, the SAS/SDS is an appropriate instrument for dimensional analysis and theoretically supports the detection of the cause of mental disease.

A four-factor structure of the SAS/SDS (20, 21), which is generally stable and significantly correlated with relevant variables, was adopted in this study. The SAS contained four factors: anxiety and panic (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 18), somatic control (items 5, 9, 13, 17, 19), vestibular sensations (items 6, 10, 11, 12, 14), and gastrointestinal/muscular sensations (items 7, 8, 15, 16, 20). The SDS also consisted of four dimensions: core depression (items 1, 3, 6, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20), cognitive depression (items 10, 11, 12, 16), anxiety (items 4, 13, 15), and somatic control (items 5, 7, 9). Items 2 and 8 were not included.

#### Statistical analysis

The independent continuous variables, including age, SAS score, SDS score and dimension score, were described as means

Tong et al.



with standard deviations (SDs) and analyzed by ANOVA tests among the three-period groups. Categorical variables, including sex, area of residence, education status, marital status, and the number of children, were described as frequencies (%) and analyzed by the chi-square test or Fisher's exact test. Bonferroniadjusted tests were used for multiple comparisons. Univariate and stepwise multivariate logistic regression models were used to calculate the factors influencing anxiety and depression status. All the collected characteristics were entered into the multivariate logistic regression models, and only significant variables remained in the final models. Odds ratios and 95% CIs were calculated for each variable. Linear mixed models were used to calculate the influencing factors with the SAS score, SDS score and dimension score. SAS statistical software version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc.) was used for statistical analysis. All statistical analyses were tested at a significance level of 0.05 (two-sides).

# Results

# Demographic characteristics of the enrolled health care workers and patients

A total of 203 health care workers assigned to isolation wards during the COVID-19 pandemic period from January to August were enrolled and completed the survey. The demographic characteristics of the enrolled FHWs are shown in **Table 1**. Across the three periods (national outbreak period, sporadic period, and local epidemic period), there was no significant difference among the medical staff assigned to the isolation wards in terms of age, with most staff being approximately 30 years old (F = 0.724, P = 0.696). The number of female workers was almost double the number of male workers

(P = 0.801). The FHWs surveyed in the local epidemic period had lower education levels than those surveyed in the previous periods, with 34.41% of FHWs having a master's degree or higher vs. 54.10 and 57.14% in the national outbreak period and sporadic period, respectively (P = 0.011). The FHWs surveyed in different periods showed no significant differences regarding other demographic characteristics, including marital status, number of children in the participant's family, and area of residence. Notably, the workload differed significantly across the three periods and presented an upward trend. The doctorpatient ratio was only 0.75 during the national outbreak period and rose to 4.21 during the local epidemic period, which meant that medical resources were so limited that one doctor had to treat 4-5 patients in the isolation wards during the local epidemic period. A total of 206 SIPs in the isolation wards were enrolled and completed the survey. As shown in Table 1, the demographic characteristics of patients in the isolation wards were similar among patients surveyed during the national outbreak period, sporadic period and local epidemic period (all P-values > 0.05).

# The psychological status of participants in the isolation ward during the COVID-19 pandemic

The psychological status of health care workers in the isolation wards was significantly poor during the local epidemic period (Table 2). The SAS and SDS scores and the scores for almost all the dimensions of the SAS/SDS, except for the second dimension of the SDS (P = 0.09), were higher in the local epidemic period than in the national outbreak and sporadic periods (all *P*-values < 0.001). The health care workers assigned to isolation wards during the local epidemic period had SAS and

	National outbreak period	Sporadic period	Local epidemic period	$F/\chi^2$ value	P-value
FHWs	<i>n</i> = 61	n = 49	<i>n</i> = 93		
Age	$31.30\pm4.41$	$30.78 \pm 4.24$	$31.83 \pm 5.79$	0.724	0.696
Sex					
Male	20 (32.79)	14 (28.57)	26 (27.96)	0.443	0.801
Female	41 (67.21)	35 (71.43)	67 (72.04)		
Area of residence					
Fengtai district	10 (16.39)	4 (8.16)	14 (15.05)	1.777	0.411
Other district	51 (83.61)	45 (91.84)	79 (84.95)		
Education level					
Bachelor's or below	28 (45.90)	21 (42.86)	61 (65.59)	9.093	0.011
Master's or above	33 (54.10)	28 (57.14)	32 (34.41)		
Marital status					
Not married	21 (34.43)	16 (32.65)	31 (33.33)	0.040	0.980
Married or divorced	40 (65.57)	33 (67.35)	62 (66.67)		
Children					
None	33 (54.10)	29 (59.18)	40 (43.01)	3.875	0.144
1 or more	28 (45.90)	20 (40.82)	53 (56.99)		
Doctor-patient ratio	0.75	1.37	4.21	202	< 0.001
Patients	n = 33	<i>n</i> = 35	<i>n</i> = 138		
Age	$38.09 \pm 11.80$	$37.46 \pm 12.00$	$39.92 \pm 14.00$	0.446	0.800
Sex					
Male	14 (42.42)	20 (57.14)	73 (52.90)	1.627	0.443
Female	19 (57.58)	15 (42.86)	65 (47.10)		
Area of residence					
Fengtai district	10 (30.30)	14 (40.00)	43 (31.16)	1.803	0.582
Other district	23 (69.70)	21 (60.00)	95 (68.84)		
Education level					
Bachelor's or below	29 (87.88)	27 (77.14)	127 (92.03)	#	0.060
Master's or above	4 (12.12)	8 (22.86)	11 (7.97)		
Marital status					
Not married	12 (36.36)	10 (28.57)	39 (28.26)	0.861	0.650
Married or divorced	21 (63.64)	25 (71.43)	99 (71.74)		
Children					
None	15 (45.45)	11 (31.43)	45 (32.61)	2.118	0.347
1 or more	18 (54.55)	24 (68.57)	93 (67.39)		

TABLE 1 The demographic characteristics of enrolled health care workers and patients during the national outbreak period, sporadic period and local epidemic period.

#Fisher's exact test. FHWs, Health care workers.

SDS scores of 44.14  $\pm$  14.32 and 50.53  $\pm$  13.36, respectively, which were 8–10 points higher than the scores in the national outbreak and sporadic periods (**Figure 3A**). Furthermore, the proportion of health care workers with anxiety (34.41%) and depression (41.94%) was higher during the local epidemic period (P < 0.001). The prevalence of anxiety and depression in FHWs during the national outbreak period and sporadic period was 1.6 and 13.1% and 6.1 and 8.1%, respectively. The overall incidence of anxiety and depression in FHWs was 17.7 and 25.1%, respectively.

The psychological status of the patients in the isolation wards was stable overall (Figure 3B) and showed no significant

differences across the three periods (**Table 2**). The prevalence of anxiety and depression among the SIPs was 0 and 21% during the national outbreak period, 5.7 and 8.6% during the sporadic period, and 4.4 and 21.7% during the local epidemic period, respectively. The average incidence of anxiety and depression among the SIPs was 3.9 and 19.4%, respectively.

There were evident changes in health care workers' and patients' psychological status across the three periods (Figure 4). A comparison of the SAS and SDS scores of the patients in the isolation wards showed an approximately equilateral triangle indicating similar values in each period. In contrast to the patients, the health care workers in the isolation wards scored

	National outbreak period	Sporadic period	Local epidemic period	$F/\chi^2$ value	P-value
FHWs	<i>n</i> = 61	n = 49	<i>n</i> = 93		
SAS scores	$32.52\pm 6.08$	$34.59\pm7.62$	$44.14 \pm 14.32^{*}$	34.211	< 0.001
1	60 (98.36)	46 (93.88)	61 (65.59)	33.084	< 0.001
$\geq 2$	1 (1.64)	3 (6.12)	32 (34.41)		
F1	$7.73 \pm 1.75$	$8.06\pm2.09$	$10.47\pm4.29^{\star}$	19.736	< 0.001
F2	$9.04 \pm 2.87$	$9.49 \pm 2.89$	$14.35\pm4.90^{\star}$	57.31	< 0.001
F3	$6.84\pm0.98$	$7.53 \pm 1.87$	$8.53 \pm 3.08^{**}$	15.507	< 0.001
F4	$8.61\pm2.36$	$9.13\pm2.71$	$10.42 \pm 3.88^{**}$	8.846	0.012
SDS scores	$42.28\pm10.06$	$42.51\pm9.01$	$50.53 \pm 13.36^{*}$	20.851	< 0.001
1	53 (86.89)	45 (91.84)	54 (58.06)	26.142	< 0.001
$\geq 2$	8 (13.11)	4 (8.16)	39 (41.94)		
D1	$15.41 \pm 4.80$	$15.48 \pm 4.27$	$18.21 \pm 5.62^{*}$	13.289	0.001
D2	$10.64\pm2.72$	$10.28\pm2.86$	$11.37\pm3.37$	4.812	0.09
D3	$5.29 \pm 1.93$	$5.43 \pm 1.68$	$7.06 \pm 2.87^{*}$	19.391	< 0.001
D4	$5.49 \pm 1.86$	$5.48 \pm 1.80$	$7.50 \pm 2.86^{*}$	27.354	< 0.001
D5	$5.10 \pm 1.55$	$5.43 \pm 1.26$	$6.01 \pm 1.80^{**}$	11.648	0.003
SIPs	n = 33	<i>n</i> = 35	n = 138		
SAS scores	$32.18\pm7.18$	$31.29\pm 6.79$	$34.42\pm8.83$	4.969	0.083
1	33 (100.00)	33 (94.29)	132 (95.65)	#	0.490
≥2	0	2 (5.71)	6 (4.35)		
F1	$7.73 \pm 1.75$	$7.21 \pm 1.69$	$8.36\pm2.77$	5.797	0.055
F2	$9.85\pm3.81$	$9.57\pm3.05$	$10.73\pm3.99$	2.77	0.25
F3	$6.63\pm0.80$	$6.71 \pm 1.64$	$7.03\pm1.66$	5.1	0.078
F4	$7.65 \pm 1.92$	$7.43 \pm 1.71$	$7.93\pm2.41$	0.555	0.758
SDS scores	$43.97 \pm 10.80$	$39.69 \pm 8.41$	$43.22\pm11.39$	2.611	0.271
1	26 (78.79)	32 (91.43)	108 (78.26)	3.175	0.205
≥2	7 (21.21)	3 (8.57)	30 (21.74)		
D1	$17.20\pm 6.21$	$15.07\pm3.59$	$16.98\pm5.23$	2.244	0.326
D2	$10.30\pm3.42$	$9.32\pm3.57$	$9.69\pm3.72$	1.454	0.483
D3	$5.76\pm2.02$	$5.32\pm2.21$	$5.59\pm2.19$	1.406	0.495
D4	$4.85\pm1.55$	$4.75\pm1.24$	$5.54 \pm 1.95$	6.466	0.039
D5	$5.49 \pm 1.17$	$4.79 \pm 1.41$	$5.01 \pm 1.62$	4.574	0.102

TABLE 2 Depression and anxiety status and scores for the enrolled health care workers and patients.

#Fisher's exact test. \*The variables in the local epidemic period were significantly different from those in both the national outbreak period and the sporadic period. \*\*The variables in the local epidemic period were significantly different from those in the national outbreak period. SAS: F1, anxiety and panic (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 18); F2, somatic control (items 5, 9, 13, 17, 19); F3, vestibular sensations (items 6, 10, 11, 12, 14); F4, gastrointestinal/muscular sensations (items 7, 8, 15, 16, 20). SDS: D1, core depressive factor (items 1, 3, 6, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20); D2, cognitive factor (items 10, 11, 12, 16); D3, anxiety factor (items 4, 13, 15); D4, somatic factor (items 5, 7, 9); D5, (items 2, 8).

much higher during the local epidemic period, with skewness in the triangle.

# Comparison of the Zung self-rating anxiety scale and the Zung self-rating depression scale scores between frontline health care workers and suspected infected patients during the periods

Figure 5 and Table 2 show the differences between the scores of FHWs and SIPs during the COVID-19 pandemic.

There was no significant difference between FHWs and SIPs during the national outbreak period (P = 0.484 and P = 0.456). In the sporadic period, the SAS scores of the FHWs ( $34.59 \pm 7.62$ ) were higher than those of the SIPs ( $31.29 \pm 6.79$ ), with a *p*-value of 0.014. There was no significant difference in SDS scores between FHWs and SIPs during the sporadic period (P = 0.176). In the local epidemic period, the SAS and SDS scores of the FHWs were both higher than those of the SIPs (P < 0.001).

The anxiety rate in FHWs was 17.7%, which was higher than that in SIPs (3.9%) ( $\chi^2 = 20.430$ , P < 0.001). The depression rates in SIPs and FHWs were 19.4 and 25.1%, respectively ( $\chi^2 = 1.924$ , P = 0.165).



# Factors influencing anxiety and depression among doctors in isolation wards during the COVID-19 pandemic

The multivariate logistic regression models (**Table 3**) showed that age (OR = 0.248, 95% CI: 0.068–0.905) and the doctor-patient ratio (OR = 2.434, 95% CI: 1.705–3.476) were independent factors of anxiety, while for depression, only the doctor-patient ratio was an independent factor (OR = 1.718, 95% CI: 1.369–2.156).

The linear mixed models (Table 4) showed that age influenced the total SAS (P = 0.011), total SDS (P = 0.029), F1 (P = 0.007), F2 (P = 0.011), F3 (P = 0.026), D1 (P = 0.038),

and D4 (P = 0.014) scores. Sex also independently influenced the total SAS (P = 0.030), F2 (P = 0.037), F3 (P = 0.040), and F4 (P = 0.049) scores. The doctor-patient ratio independently influenced most of the dimension scores, including total SAS and SDS, F1, F2, F3, F4, D1, D3, D4, and D5 scores (all P < 0.005).

# Discussion

A total of 409 participants were included in this study, including FHWs and patients from the isolation wards of Beijing Friendship Hospital in Beijing, China. Overall, the incidence



of anxiety and depression among FHWs was 17.7 and 25.1%, respectively, which was significantly higher than the incidence among SIPs (3.9 and 19.4%). Furthermore, the occurrence of APDs in patients was basically stable during the three different periods, but the figures for FHWs fluctuated drastically across periods. The scores in the local epidemic period were



FIGURE 5

Comparison of SAS **(A)** and SDS **(B)** scores of frontline health care workers (FHWs) and suspected infected patients (SIPs) during different periods.

significantly higher than those in the previous two periods. In addition, age, sex, and doctor-patient ratio were independent risk factors for APDs. It is worth noting that the doctorpatient ratio was the strongest influencing factor for almost all dimensions of the SAS and SDS (only the cognitive dimension in the SDS was not related).

Theoretically, the closeness of contact with COVID-19 determines the risk of being infected and the degree of APD occurrence (22, 23). A recent study (24) based on 43 investigations showed that anxiety and depression were more frequent in FHWs than in non-FHWs. Previous studies (25) showed that anxiety and depression rates were 20.8 and 29.2%, respectively, in infected patients. Among FHWs, the anxiety and depression rates ranged from 38.5 to 44.6% and 21.7 to 50.4%, respectively (22, 26). In our study, the prevalence was consistent with previous studies. It was reported that the reasons for the higher prevalence of APD among FHWs were sociodemographic factors, current and past medical history, psychological and social factors, and job-related factors (24).

The brain is the central organ of stress adaptation that is responsible for sensing and judging the degree of stress and reacting accordingly physiologically and behaviorally (27). Acute and chronic stress can lead to imbalances in the neural circuits of cognition, anxiety and emotion, which in turn affect the physiology and behavior of the whole body through neuroendocrine, autonomic nerve, immune, and metabolic mediators (27, 28). Therefore, when the experience of tension and danger goes beyond the body's short-term adaptive capability, neural circuits become blocked, which results in mental disorders, such as schizophrenia, anxiety, and depression (28). This can explain why the occurrence of anxiety, depression and other psychological disorders was significantly higher

	Univariate logistic regression model			Multivariate logistic regression model		
	OR	95% CI	Р	OR	95% CI	Р
Anxiety						
Age	0.384	0.111-1.330	0.131	0.248	0.068-0.905	0.035
Sex						
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Female	2.389	0.938-6.084	0.068			
Area of residence						
Fengtai district	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Other district	0.99	0.349-2.807	0.985			
Education level						
Bachelor's degree or below	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Master's degree or above	0.531	0.249-1.131	0.101			
Marital status						
Not married	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Married or divorced	0.751	0.357-1.581	0.451			
Children						
None	Ref	Ref	Ref			
1 or more	1.012	0.492-2.080	0.974			
Doctor-patient ratio	2.338	1.644-3.326	< 0.001	2.434	1.705-3.476	< 0.00
Depression						
Age	0.287-1.728	0.444				
Sex						
Male	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Female	1.009	0.503-2.024	0.979			
Area of residence						
Fengtai district	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Other district	0.814	0.335-1.982	0.651			
Education level						
Bachelor's degree or below	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Master's degree or above	0.962	0.509-1.820	0.906			
Marital status						
Not married	Ref	Ref	Ref			
Married or divorced	1.285	0.645-2.558	0.476			
Children						
None	Ref	Ref	Ref			
1 or more	1.63	0.857-3.098	0.136			
Doctor-patient ratio	1.718	1.369-2.156	< 0.001	1.718	1.369-2.156	< 0.00

TABLE 3 Factors influencing anxiety and depression status in univariate and multivariate logistic regression models.

OR: odds ratio.

among FHWs than among SIPs and other groups. FHWs were continuously exposed to health-damaging circumstances (29), while SIPs could be discharged after a short stay in the hospital when they tested negative.

In the present study, we found that the doctor-patient ratio was the strongest risk factor influencing the occurrence of APDs among FHWs by affecting various dimensions of the SAS and SDS, including anxiety and panic, somatic control, vestibular sensations, gastrointestinal/muscular sensation factors, core depression, anxiety, and somatic factors (20, 21). A higher doctor-patient ratio implied that FHWs had to care for and manage more patients. In addition, the high proportion of older individuals among SIPs meant that FHWs wearing protective clothing had to be more careful and perform more communication, medical documentation and complex treatments. Simultaneously, the increasing number of SIPs led to higher working hours and workload, causing FHWs to suffer higher psychological and physical pressures (30–33).

		Mixed	model
		β	Р
SAS	Age	-0.475	0.011
	Sex	4.129	0.030
	Doctor-patient ratio	3.480	< 0.001
F1	Age	-0.149	0.007
	Doctor-patient ratio	0.858	< 0.001
F2	Age	-0.172	0.011
	Sex	1.434	0.037
	Doctor-patient ratio	1.615	< 0.001
F3	Age	-0.090	0.026
	Sex	0.844	0.040
	Doctor-patient ratio	0.469	< 0.001
F4	Sex	1.123	0.049
	Doctor-patient ratio	0.527	< 0.001
SDS	Age	-0.436	0.029
	Doctor-patient ratio	2.732	< 0.001
D1	Age	-0.182	0.038
	Education level	1.718	0.043
	Doctor-patient ratio	1.014	< 0.001
D2	NA	NA	NA
D3	Doctor-patient ratio	0.546	< 0.001
D4	Age	-0.100	0.014
	Doctor-patient ratio	0.631	< 0.001
D5	Area of residence	-0.740	0.025
	Doctor-patient ratio	0.236	0.001

SAS: F1, anxiety and panic (items 1, 2, 3, 4, 18); F2, somatic control (items 5, 9, 13, 17, 19); F3, vestibular sensations (items 6, 10, 11, 12, 14); F4, gastrointestinal/muscular sensations (items 7, 8, 15, 16, 20). SDS: D1, core depressive factor (items 1, 3, 6, 14, 17, 18, 19, 20); D2, cognitive factor (items 10, 11, 12, 16); D3, anxiety factor (items 4, 13, 15); D4, somatic factor (items 5, 7, 9); D5, (items 2, 8); NA, not applicable.

In the early periods of COVID-19, Chinese government and hospitals took effective measures to address mental health problems, for example, adopting the psychological protection measures provided by the International Guidelines for Psychological Crisis Intervention, establishing psychological expert groups in hospitals and creating network mental health consulting services (6). Necessary training regarding professional knowledge, mental health, and protective equipment can build the confidence of health care workers, help them overcome the panic linked to the pandemic, and reduce nosocomial infections, thus reducing the occurrence of APDs (23). Above all, the findings suggest that in the long-term fight against COVID-19, more attention should be given to the workload of FHWs, including the doctorpatient ratio, working hours, and night duty arrangements. In addition, the establishment of critical care isolation wards is particularly important.

One strength of this study is that it tracked the dynamic changes in mental health status among participants in different periods. As a result, it provided objective and reliable results regarding the mental health impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic. A self-rating scale, the Zung Self-Rating Anxiety/Depression Scale (SAS/SDS), was adopted in this study. In addition, an in-depth dimensional analysis was conducted to show the main symptoms of anxiety and depression. However, several limitations exist in this study. First, the mental changes experienced by FHWs before and after isolation could not be followed up on due to the cross-sectional survey design of this study. Second, the convenience sampling methods and limited sample size might lead to selection bias. Third, the SAS and SDS have no diagnostic efficacy, even though they have been used in many psychological studies worldwide.

# Conclusion

The present study reveals that FHWs have a much higher chance of experiencing APDs than do SIPs. Furthermore, the prevalence of anxiety and depression among SIPs remained relatively stable, while the prevalence among FHWs fluctuated drastically, with the highest incidence of anxiety and depression occurring during the local epidemic period. Analysis of the related risk factors proved that age, sex, and especially the doctor-patient ratio were independent risk factors for APDs. Our findings suggest that psychological assistance measures should be implemented not only in the anti-epidemic period but also before and after exposure to COVID-19. In addition, more concern and attention should be given to the workload of FHWs.

## Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### Ethics statement

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Friendship Hospital (2020-P2-161-01). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

YT and QZ collected the questionnaires and clinical data. QZ analyzed the data. YT and XD wrote the manuscript with input from all authors. XD and YC designed the study and reviewed the final manuscript. All authors

TABLE 4 Influencing factors in SAS scores, SDS scores, and dimension scores in the linear mixed model.

participated in designing various parts of the study and the interpretation of the results.

## Funding

This work was supported by the Research Foundation of Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University (No. yyqdkt2020-22) and Wu Jieping Medical Foundation (No. 320.6750.2020-17-4).

## Acknowledgments

We thank all patients and health care workers involved in our study for their impartial contributions. We also thank the Research Foundation of Beijing Friendship Hospital and Wu Jieping Medical Foundation for financial support.

# References

1. WHO. Statement on the Second Meeting of the International Health Regulations (2005) Emergency Committee Regarding the Outbreak of Novel Coronavirus (2019nCoV). (2020). Available online at: https://www.who.int/news-room/detail/30-01-2020-statement-on-thesecond-meeting-of-the-international-health-regulations-(2005)-emergency-committee-regarding-the-outbreak-of-novel-coronavirus-(2019-ncov) (accessed Feb 15, 2020).

 Cucinotta D, Vanelli M. WHO declares COVID-19 a pandemic. Acta Bio Med. (2020) 91:157–60.

3. Zhu N, Zhang D, Wang W, Li X, Yang B, Song J, et al. A novel coronavirus from patients with pneumonia in China, 2019. *N Engl J Med.* (2020) 382:727-33. doi: 10.1056/NEJM0a2001017

4. Zhou P, Yang XL, Wang XG, Hu B, Zhang L, Zhang W, et al. A pneumonia outbreak associated with anew coronavirus of probable bat origin. *Nature.* (2020) 579:270–3.

 World Health Organization. COVID-19 Weekly Epidemiological Update. (2021). Available online at: https://www.who.int/publications/m/item/weeklyepidemiological-update-on-covid-19---31-march-2021 (accessed March 30, 2021).

6. Bao Y, Sun Y, Meng S, Shi J, Lu L. 2019-nCoV epidemic: address mental health care to empower society. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:e37–8. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20) 30309-3

7. Zhang WR, Wang K, Yin L, Zhao WF, Xue Q, Peng M, et al. Mental health and psychosocial problems of medical health workers during the COVID-19 epidemic in China. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2020) 89:242–50. doi: 10.1159/000507639

8. Maunder R, Hunter J, Vincent L, Bennett J, Peladeau N, Leszcz M, et al. The immediate psychological and occupational impact of the 2003 SARS outbreak in a teaching hospital. *CMAJ.* (2003) 168:1245–51.

9. Lee AM, Wong JG, McAlonan GM, Cheung V, Cheung C, Sham PC, et al. Stress and psychological distress among SARS survivors 1 year after the outbreak. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2007) 52:233–40. doi: 10.1177/070674370705200405

10. Van Bortel T, Basnayake A, Wurie F, Jambai M, Koroma AS, Muana AT, et al. Psychosocial effects of an Ebola outbreak at individual, community and international levels. *Bull World Health Organ.* (2016) 94:210–4. doi: 10.2471/BLT. 15.158543

11. Pappa S, Ntella V, Giannakas T, Giannakoulis VG, Papoutsi E, Katsaounou P. Prevalence of depression, anxiety, and insomnia among healthcare workers during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 88:901–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.026

12. Sepkowitz KA, Eisenberg L. Occupational deaths among healthcare workers. Emerg Infect Dis. (2005) 11:1003–8. doi: 10.3201/eid1107.041038

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The reviewer JZ declared a shared parent affiliation with the authors to the handling editor at the time of review.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

13. Elkholy AA, Grant R, Assiri A, Elhakim M, Malik MR, Van Kerkhove MD, et al. MERS-CoV infection among healthcare workers and risk factors for death: retrospective analysis of all laboratory-confirmed cases reported to WHO from 2012 to 2 June 2018. *J Infect Public Health*. (2020) 13:418–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jiph. 2019.04.011

14. Kang LJ, Ma SM, Chen M, Yang J, Wang Y, Li R, et al. Impact on mental health and perceptions of psychological care among medical and nursing staff in Wuhan during the 2019 novel coronavirus disease outbreak: a cross-sectional study. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:11–7. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.03.028

15. Zung WW. A rating instrument for anxiety disorders. *Psychosomatics*. (1971) 12:371–9. doi: 10.1016/S0033-3182(71)71479-0

16. Zung WW. A self-rating depression scale. Arch Gen Psychiatry. (1965) 12:63–70. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.1965.01720310065008

17. Dunstan DA, Scott N, Todd AK. Screening for anxiety and depression: reassessing the utility of the Zung scales. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2017) 17:329. doi: 10.1186/s12888-017-1489-6

18. Yue T, Li Q, Wang R, Liu Z, Guo M, Bai F, et al. Comparison of hospital anxiety and depression scale (HADS) and Zung self-rating anxiety/depression scale (SAS/SDS) in evaluating anxiety and depression in patients with psoriatic arthritis. *Dermatology*. (2020) 236:170–8. doi: 10.1159/00049 8848

19. Zhu JH, Sun L, Zhang L, Wang H, Fan A, Yang B, et al. Prevalence and influencing factors of anxiety and depression symptoms in the first-line medical staff fighting against COVID-19 in Gansu. *Front Psychiatry.* (2020) 11:386. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2020.00386

20. Olatunji BO, Deacon BJ, Abramowitz JS, Tolin DF. Dimensionality of somatic complaints: factor structure and psychometric properties of the self-rating anxiety scale. *J Anxiety Disord.* (2006) 20:543–61. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2005.0 8.002

21. Romera I, Cohen HD, Perez T, Caballero L, Gilaberte IF. Factor analysis of the Zung self-rating depression scale in a large sample of patients with major depressive disorder in primary care. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2008) 8:4. doi: 10.1186/1471-244X-8-4

22. Lai JB, Ma SM, Wang Y, Cai Z, Hu J, Wei N, et al. Factors associated with mental health outcomes among health care workers exposed to coronavirus disease 2019. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e203976. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020. 3976

23. Wang LQ, Zhang M, Liu GM, Nan SY, Li T, Xu L, et al. Psychological impact of coronavirus disease (2019) (COVID-19) epidemic on medical staff in different posts in China: a multicenter study. *J Psychiatr Res.* (2020) 129:198–205. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychires.2020.07.008

24. Vindegaard N, Benros ME. COVID-19 pandemic and mental health consequences: systematic review of the current evidence. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 89:531-42. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.05.048

25. Zhang J, Lu HP, Zeng HP, Zhang S, Du Q, Jiang T, et al. The differential psychological distress of populations affected by the COVID-19 pandemic. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 87:49–50. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.04.031

26. Wang Y, Ma SM, Yang C, Cai Z, Hu S, Zhang B, et al. Acute psychological effects of coronavirus disease 2019 outbreak among healthcare workers in China: a cross-sectional study. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2020) 10:348. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01031-w

27. McEwen BS, Gray JD, Nasca C. 60 Years Of neuroendocrinology: redefining neuroendocrinology: stress, sex and cognitive and emotional regulation. *J Endocrinol.* (2015) 226:T67–83. doi: 10.1530/JOE-15-0121

28. McEwen BS. Allostasis and the epigenetics of brain and body health over the life course the brain on stress. *JAMA Psychiatry*. (2017) 74:551–2. doi: 10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2017.0270

29. Taylor WD, Blackford JU. Mental health treatment for front-line clinicians during and after the coronavirus disease 2019 (COVID-19) pandemic: a plea to the medical community. *Ann Intern Med.* (2020) 173:574–5. doi: 10.7326/M20-2440

30. Mo YY, Deng L, Zhang LY, Lang Q, Liao C, Wang N, et al. Work stress among Chinese nurses to support Wuhan for fighting against the COVID-19 epidemic. *J Nurs Manag.* (2020) 28:1002–9. doi: 10.1111/jonm.13014

31. Zhou YJ, Wang WJ, Sun YP, Qian W, Liu Z, Wang R, et al. The prevalence and risk factors of psychological disturbances of frontline medical staff in China under the COVID-19 epidemic: workload should be concerned. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 277:510–4. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.059

32. Mosheva M, Palmor NH, Ilan SD, Matalon N, Pessach IM, Afek A, et al. Anxiety, pandemic-related stress and resilience among physicians during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Depress Anxiety*. (2020) 37:965-71. doi: 10.1002/da.23085

33. Fava GA, McEwen BS, Guidi J, Gostoli S, Offidani E, Sonino N. Clinical characterization of allostatic overload. *Psychoneuroendocrinology*. (2019) 108:94–101. doi: 10.1016/j.psyneuen.2019.05.028

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Francesca Conte, Second University of Naples, Italy

REVIEWED BY Yumei Wang, The First Hospital of Hebei Medical University, China Wang Feng, China Health Education Center, China

\*CORRESPONDENCE Hongguang Chen chenhg@bjmu.edu.cn Mengqian Li mengqianli@ncu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 02 August 2022 ACCEPTED 20 September 2022 PUBLISHED 10 October 2022

#### CITATION

Wang X, Fan Q, Li Y, Xiao J, Huang Y, Guo T, Chen H and Li M (2022) The changes in psychological symptoms of COVID-19 patients after "re-positive". *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1010004. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1010004

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wang, Fan, Li, Xiao, Huang, Guo, Chen and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The changes in psychological symptoms of COVID-19 patients after "re-positive"

# Xing Wang<sup>1,2†</sup>, Qinyi Fan<sup>3†</sup>, Yunyue Li<sup>4</sup>, Junjian Xiao<sup>5</sup>, Yanyan Huang<sup>5</sup>, Tiantian Guo<sup>5</sup>, Hongguang Chen<sup>6\*</sup> and Menggian Li<sup>7\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>School of Life Sciences, Nanchang University, Nanchang, China, <sup>2</sup>Clinical Medical Experiment Center, Nanchang University, Nanchang, China, <sup>3</sup>The First Psychiatric Hospital of Harbin, Harbin, China, <sup>4</sup>Queen Mary College, Nanchang University, Nanchang, China, <sup>5</sup>Department of Psychosomatic Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University, Nanchang, China, <sup>6</sup>NHC Key Laboratory of Mental Health (Peking University), Peking University Sixth Hospital, National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders, Peking University Institute of Mental Health, Beijing, China, <sup>7</sup>Department of Psychosomatic Medicine, Gao Xin Hospital of The First Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University, Nanchang, China

**Background:** Previous studies have showed that individuals infected with COVID-19 were more likely to report psychological symptoms. However, little is known about the changes from testing positive to negative to positive again.

**Methods:** This survey was conducted through the questionnaires including the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7), the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9), as well as the Self-Rating Scale of Sleep (SRSS) to explore the psychological status of COVID-19 and re-positive cases.

"re-positive" is defined as a positive RT-PCR test at any time during the recovery period after testing negative.

**Results:** A total of 94 COVID-19 patients presented the prevalence rates of anxiety, depression, insomnia, and any of the three psychological symptoms being 26.6, 8.6, 12.8, and 31.9%, respectively. Among these, 32 cases were re-tested positive during the recovery period, with the prevalence rates of anxiety, depression, insomnia, and any of the three psychological symptoms being 21.9, 18.7, 31.2, and 37.5%, respectively. The psychological status after re-positive showed a significant decrease in anxiety (P = 0.023), an increase in depression, and a significant rise in insomnia (P = 0.035). For those with no psychological symptoms during initial-positive, after re-positive, 5.88% reported depression, and 11.76% reported insomnia. For those who experienced only anxiety symptoms during initial-positive, after re-positive, 33.3% reported depression, and 33.3% reported insomnia.

**Conclusions:** Our findings encompassed the urgent concern for anxiety in initial-positive COVID-19 patients, depression in re-positive COVID-19 patients, and insomnia in both initial and re-positive patients, hence enabling targeted interventions for appeasing the psychological burden of COVID-19 patients.

#### KEYWORDS

COVID-19 patients, re-positive, anxiety, depression, insomnia

## Introduction

There is growing evidence of studies associating COVID-19 survivors with increased psychological symptoms. It's reported that symptoms aroused by COVID-19 infection, side effects of treatment, concerns about sequelae, social isolation, and stigma all partook to a higher risk of psychological symptoms in COVID-19 patients (1-3). Previous studies recounted that the prevalence of cases with post-infection anxiety ranges from 6.5 to 63% (4-6). In studies implicating both hospitalized and non-hospitalized patients, the prevalence rates for depression and insomnia range between 12 and 48 and 2-63%, respectively (4, 7, 8). Psychological symptoms and implications related to a COVID-19 infection comprise both acute and long-term consequences. In addition, the re-positive rate was found to be correlated to illness severity, according to the Acute Physiology and Chronic Health Evaluation II (APACHE II) severity-of-disease classification system, and the confusion, urea, respiratory rate, and blood pressure (CURB-65) score. Since the physical condition may worsen after re-positive, what will take place in the psychological status of COVID-19 patients remain unknown. This study aims to explore changes in the severity of psychological symptoms and the mutual changes in anxiety, depression, and insomnia in re-positive COVID-19 patients.

#### Methods

#### Participants and procedure

A total of 94 initially confirmed COVID-19 patients were enrolled from Bayan County and Pingfang District of Harbin City, in Heilongjiang Province from September 23, 2021, to December 31, 2021. Located in the northern part of Northeast China, Harbin is the capital city of Heilongjiang Province with a resident population of approximately 9.8 million. Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic in 2020, Harbin has been a low-prevalence city with two small-scale indigenous outbreaks.

These patients were diagnosed and treated fulfilling the criteria of the 8th version of the Guidelines on the Diagnosis and Treatment of COVID-19 by the National Health Commission of China. Confirmed patients with COVID-19 were treated at one of the designated hospitals, the Harbin Infectious Diseases Hospital, which was a dedicated hospital for COVID-19 patients. Once the RT-PCR test turned negative after the treatment, patients were transferred to designated Harbin Second Hospital for rehabilitation. Paper-and-pencil questionnaires were utilized to investigate the psychological symptoms of all COVID-19 patients transferred to Harbin Second Hospital. A total of

94 respondents were enrolled except for two children. "Repositive" is interpreted as a positive RT-PCR test at any time during the 14 days or 14+7 days recovery period in the Harbin Second Hospital. Of the 94 COVID-19 negative cases, 32 were re-positive during the recovery period. The repositive patients will be re-transferred to Harbin Infectious Diseases Hospital for treatment until their tests turn negative and then transferred back to Harbin Second Hospital for recovery. Both the initial-positive patients and re-positive patients were surveyed within 2 days of admission to the Harbin Second Hospital. All the 32 re-positive cases received the two questionnaires at intervals of more than 2 weeks. This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University (Ethical number: 2020-051).

#### Measures

Anxiety, depressive symptoms, and insomnia were assessed using the 7-item Generalized Anxiety Disorder (GAD-7) (9), the 9-item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) (10), and the Self-Rating Scale of Sleep (SRSS) (11) in Chinese version, separately. Each item on the GAD-7 and PHQ-9 was gauged with a fourpoint Likert scale (0 = "not at all" to 3 = "extremely") to infer the severity of a particular symptom within the past 2 weeks. There are 10 items in total, and each item has five levels (1-5). The higher the score, the more severe the sleep problem. The cutoffs to screen for possible positive cases of anxiety, depression and sleep disorders were a GAD-7 score  $\geq$ 5, a PHQ-9 score  $\geq$ 5, and an SRSS score  $\geq$ 23, respectively. The Cronbach's  $\alpha$  for self-reported GAD-7, PHQ-9, and SRSS for COVID-19 patients in the first investigation were 0.92, 0.78, and 0.91, respectively. For COVID-19 re-positive patients in the second survey, the Cronbach's a for GAD-7, PHQ-9, and SRSS were 0.96, 0.84, and 0.92, respectively.

#### Statistical analyses

Descriptive analyses were executed based on frequencies for all variables, including demographic data, as well as factors linked with the risk of COVID-19 cases, which were applied by the exact probability tests as the low frequencies. The paired samples *t*-test or Chi-squared test was conducted to spot the differences in psychological status of the 32 patients pre-and post-re-positive. Data were analyzed employing the statistical software IBM SPSS version 22 (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA), and figures were drawn by GraphPad prism 9 (GraphPad Software, Inc., San Diego, CA). All statistical analysis was performed with a *P*-value <0.05 using a two-tailed test deemed statistically significant.

#### Results

#### Sociodemographic characteristics

A total of 94 initially confirmed COVID-19 patients were implicated, with 55 females and 39 males, of which 32 were re-tested positive for COVID-19 during rehabilitation. The sociodemographic characteristics of 94 patients were as follows: 58.5% female, 50.0% older than the age of 45 years, 16.0% with at least one underlying disease, 84.0% quarantined for more than 15 days, 76.6% married, 83.0% with high school or less, 24.4% with no source of revenue.

## The prevalence rates of anxiety, depression, and insomnia symptoms among COVID-19 patients

The prevalence of anxiety, depression, insomnia, and any of the three psychological symptoms in initially confirmed 94 COVID-19 patients were 26.6, 8.6, 12.8, and 31.9% (see Table 1), respectively. For the 32 re-positive cases, the prevalence rates were 43.8, 12.5, 21.9, and 46.9% (data not shown) in the initial-positive, respectively. The prevalence rates after repositive were 21.9, 18.7, 31.2, and 37.5 %, with increases of -50.0% ( $\chi^2 = 6.411$ , P = 0.001), 50.0% ( $\chi^2 = 0.117$ , P = 0.732), 42.9% ( $\chi^2 = 6.733$ , P = 0.009) and -20.0% $(\chi^2 = 16.737, P < 0.001)$ . Most of the initial COVID-19 cases screening positive for anxiety, depression, and insomnia showed mild symptoms. Nevertheless, there was an increase in the proportion of cases with severe anxiety and moderate insomnia in COVID-19 patients after re-positive. Notably, an impressive proportion of COVID-19 patients with anxiety symptoms was observed in cases with medical history than those without (P < 0.05) (see Table 2). Moreover, a higher proportion of re-positive patients with insomnia was viewed over the age of 45 years (P < 0.05) (see Table 3). We also compared the demographic characteristics of 32 repositive cases and the remaining 62 cases without re-positive cases and found that there was no statistical difference in demographic characteristics between the two groups except that the proportion of cases with a medical history was higher in re-positive cases than that in the other group (P=0.006) (see Supplementary Table 1).

#### The severity changes of the three psychological symptoms after re-positive

Furthermore, the paired samples *t*-test comparing the consistency assessment of COVID-19's severity between 32 initial-positive and re-positive, reflected a general decrease in

anxiety (P = 0.023), with most of the re-positive patients who initially exhibited mild or moderate anxiety symptoms becoming normal (Figure 1A); with a slight but not significant increase in depression symptoms (P = 0.949), 66.67% of initially mild and 100.00% of initially moderately cases altering into normal, while 17.85% of initially normal cases presented with depression (Figure 1B). Moreover, these patients withstood a significant increase in insomnia after re-positive (P = 0.035), as 20.00% of initially normal patients suffered from insomnia and 14.29% of initially mild insomnia transformed into the moderate level (Figure 1C).

#### The mutual changes of three psychological symptoms after re-positive

In addition, we compared the conversion rates among the three psychological symptoms between initial-positive and re-positive. Results demonstrated that for those who had no psychological symptoms during initial-positive, after re-positive, 5.88% reported anxiety problems, 5.88% reported depression symptoms, and 11.76% reported insomnia. For those who were only positive for anxiety symptoms during initial-positive, after re-positive, 33.3% reported depression, and 33.3% reported insomnia (see Table 4).

#### Discussion

In this study, we analyzed the psychological effects of the re-positive test on COVID-19 patients by comparing the changes in psychological symptoms between the initialpositive and re-positive. The detection rate of cases with psychological symptoms in this study was slightly lower than those announced in previous studies. A study from the late COVID-19 implied that the prevalence of depression and anxiety symptoms was 49.06 and 56.60% in COVID-19 patients (12). Additionally, a meta-analysis of 31 studies of COVID-19 patients revealed a pooled prevalence of 47% for anxiety, 45% for depression, and 34% for insomnia (8). The differences may be pertained to the epidemic control during the study period, the progress of vaccine development and vaccination, COVID-19 treatment, measurement, and the severity of the included subjects. Since these studies were performed at the early stages of the outbreak, when little was known about the virus, an effective vaccine, or a specific therapeutic agent, the uncertainty bestowed to high-level patient stress and fear of disease. Furthermore, the information overload generated by constant news media reports about deaths of infected cases contributed to patients' vulnerability to depression, and even negative thoughts after infection (13).

	Anxiety		Depression		Insomnia		Anyone <sup>†</sup>	
	COVID-19 cases (N = 94) n (%)	Re-positive cases (N = 32) n (%)	COVID-19 cases (N = 94) n (%)	Re-positive cases (N = 32) n (%)	COVID-19 cases (N = 94) n (%)	Re-positive cases (N = 32) n (%)	COVID-19 cases (N = 94) n (%)	Re-positive cases (N = 32) n (%)
Normal	69 (73.4%)	25 (78.1%)	86 (91.4%)	26 (81.3%)	82 (87.2%)	22 (68.8%)	64 (68.1%)	20 (62.5%)
Mild	20 (21.3%)	3 (9.4%)	6 (6.4%)	4 (12.5%)	12 (12.8%)	8 (25.0%)	29 (30.9%)	10 (32.3%)
Moderate	3 (3.2%)	1 (3.1%)	1 (1.1%)	1 (3.1%)	0	2 (6.2%)	4 (4.3%)	3 (9.4%)
Severe	2 (2.1%)	3 (9.4%)	1 (1.1%)	1 (3.1%)	0	0	3 (3.2%)	3 (9.4%)

TABLE 1 The prevalence and severity of anxiety, depression, and insomnia among COVID-19 patients.

<sup>†</sup> The total rate is more than 100.0% since comorbidity is indicated here.

TABLE 2 The demographic distribution of psychological symptoms among initially confirmed COVID-19 patients (N = 94).

Characteristics	Group	Anxiety		Depression		Insomnia	
		N (%)	Р	N (%)	Р	N (%)	Р
Gender	Male	8 (20.5%)	0.345	1 (2.6%)	0.134	3 (7.7%)	0.348
	Female	17 (30.9%)		7 (12.7%)		9 (16.4%)	
Age	<45	7 (14.9%)	0.065	3 (6.4%)	0.714	4 (8.5%)	0.355
	≥45	18 (38.3%)		5 (10.6%)		8 (17.0%)	
Medical history	No	17 (21.5%)	0.022	5 (6.3%)	0.113	8 (10.1%)	0.096
	Yes	8 (53.3%)		3 (20.0%)		4 (26.7%)	
The total duration of isolation, day	7–15	6 (40.0%)	0.125	2 (13.3%)	0.609	1 (6.7%)	0.683
	>15	19 (24.1%)		6 (7.6%)		11 (13.9%)	
Marital status	Married	20 (27.8%)	0.786	4 (5.6%)	0.084	8 (11.1%)	0.466
	Others	5 (22.7%)		4 (18.1%)		4 (18.1%)	
Educational level	High school or less	22 (28.2%)	0.546	7 (9.0%)	1.000	10 (12.8%)	1.000
	Undergraduate degree/college	3 (18.8%)		1 (6.3%)		2 (12.5%)	
Source of income	No	3 (13.0%)	0.217	0 (0)	0.276	3 (13.0%)	0.901
	Not sure	3 (25.0%)		1 (8.3%)		2 (16.7%)	
	Yes	19 (32.2%)		7 (11.9%)		7 (11.9%)	

The stressors for COVID-19 patients were the disease itself, treatment regimen, and worries about family health, resulting in changes in mood, sleep, behavior, etc. The gradual adaptation process was reflected in COVID-19 patients' attitudes upon admission, from uncertainty about the disease to anticipation and suspicion of the examinations, to confrontation and acceptance following the diagnosis, which ultimately culminated in gratitude for the experience (14). This study also identified a significant reduction in symptom burden associated with depression and anxiety over time with hospitalization (15). However, cases who had been gradually improving physically and psychologically with the treatment appeared to experience changes in their psychological state after experiencing a re-positive result. Our findings indicated a general decrease in anxiety symptoms, and a slight increase in depressive symptoms of COVID-19 patients after repositive. Notably, the sleep status of the patients deteriorated considerably, with a significant increase in insomnia. This might be explained by the disrupted discharge expectations and psychological distress caused by all kinds of uncertainties after re-positive.

For re-positive COVID-19 cases, the considerable worsening of insomnia earned attention. Being in prolonged hospitalization, their sleep habits might be affected by reduced physical activity, psychological stress, lack of a regular work schedule and social activities, changes in living conditions, etc. (16). Furthermore, due to the absence of other recreational pastimes and a rigorous schedule, COVID-19 patients might

Characteristics	Group	Anxiety		Depression		Insomnia	
		N (%)	Р	N (%)	Р	N (%)	Р
Gender	Male	3 (30.0%)	0.648	3 (30.0%)	0.346	4 (40.0%)	0.683
	Female	4 (18.2%)		3 (13.6%)		6 (27.3%)	
Age	<45	1 (8.3%)	0.212	1 (8.3%)	0.370	0(0)	0.004
	$\geq 45$	6 (30.0%)		5 (25.0%)		10 (50.0%)	
Medical history	No	5 (22.7%)	1.000	4 (18.2%)	1.000	6 (27.3%)	0.683
	Yes	2 (20.0%)		2 (20.0%)		4 (40.0%)	
The total duration	7-15	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A	N/A
of isolation, day							
	>15	7 (21.9%)		7/32(21.9%)		10 (31.25%)	
Marital status	Married	6 (25.0%)	0.646	5 (20.8%)	1.000	8 (33.3%)	1.000
	Others	1 (12.5%)		1 (12.5%)		2 (25.0%)	
Educational level	High school or less	7 (25.9%)	0.560	6 (22.2%)	0.555	9 (33.3%)	1.000
	Undergraduate	0(0)		0 (0)		1 (20.0%)	
	degree/college						
Source of income	No	1 (14.3%)	1.000	1 (14.3%)	1.000	2 (28.6%)	1.000
	Not sure	0 (0)		0 (0)		1 (50.0%)	
	Yes	6 (26.1%)		5 (21.7%)		7 (30.4%)	

TABLE 3 The demographic distribution of psychological symptoms among re-positive confirmed COVID-19 patients (N = 32).

also devour more time on electronic devices and have particular potential to experience altered biorhythms with late bedtimes and late wakeups during hospital admission (17). Previous research has also reported that spending more time on electronic devices before falling asleep affects sleep quality (18). In addition, re-positive patients are likely to be more apprehensive about their health status and experience greater fear of sequelae. With extended treatment periods, there may also be a feeling of more loneliness. These presumably explain the deterioration of sleep status in re-positive patients. The social and family burden of cases over 45 years old were relatively heavy, and the problem of insomnia in this group after re-positive was more prominent as shown in this study. Besides, our study also unearthed a slight increase in overall depression in re-positive patients, with some rated as normal or anxiety symptoms at initial-positive suffering from depression symptoms after re-positive. This result is consistent with previous studies in Wuhan (19). Patients receiving the RT-PCR re-positive result probably tend to suffer helplessness, worry, and disappointment, which facilitates the co-morbidity of anxiety symptoms and depression symptoms.

During the COVID-19 pandemic, health concerns are associated with clinically significant levels of psychological problems. WHO noted an increased risk of serious illness due to COVID-19 in patients with pre-existing non-communicable diseases, comprising cardiovascular disease, diabetes, cancer, etc. (20). Meanwhile, comorbid chronic disease has been identified as the most important risk factor for COVID-19 death (21), and some diseases such as myasthenia gravis may be exacerbated due to COVID-19 infection (22). Similar to previous studies (23-25), patients with other prior medical conditions were more likely to have anxiety symptoms. Besides, a significantly higher percentage of patients with a medical history in the re-positive group was also observed. These results may be attributed to the possibility that patients with medical history are more worried about their health status and fear and uncertainty about the physical impact of the interaction between the underlying disease and COVID-19 infection. Moreover, this distress and concern of patients with medical history may be aggravated after re-positive, triggering varying degrees of insomnia. Findings imply the significance of psychological interventions to address the heightened risk of depression and insomnia in re-positive COVID-19 patients.

This study had several impediments. First, the results of this study were limited to a sample of COVID-19 patients with non-severe disease types. Next, we employed a selfassessment scale, which may lead to recall bias. The current study points up the critical importance of screening and monitoring the psychological symptoms of re-positive COVID-19 patients and offering necessary psychological support and

106



intervention. In this process, special attention should be paid to the anxiety symptoms of initial-positive COVID-19 patients, depression in re-positive COVID-19 patients, and insomnia symptoms of both initial and re-positive patients, to lessen the psychological burden of patients with COVID-19.
Initial-positive cases	Total		<b>Re-positive cases</b>	
		Anxiety + $N$ (%)	Depression + $N$ (%)	Insomnia + N (%)
Anxiety-, Depression-, Insomnia-	17	1 (5.88%)	1(5.88%)	2 (11.76%)
Anxiety+, Depression -, Insomnia-	6	3 (50.00%)	2 (33.33%)	2 (33.33%)
Anxiety -, Depression +, Insomnia-	0	N/A	N/A	N/A
Anxiety -, Depression -, Insomnia+	1	0 (0)	0 (0)	1 (100.00%)

TABLE 4 The mutual changes of psychological symptoms after re-positive.

(+) self-report positive, (-) self-report negative.

## Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author/s.

## **Ethics statement**

This study was approved by the Research Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of Nanchang University (Ethical number: 2020-051). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

ML planned the study. XW and QF were involved in the data collection and curation process. HC performed the data processing. YH and TG analyzed the results and interpreted them. YL and JX drafted the original manuscript. HC and ML implemented major revisions to the manuscript and ultimately approved the manuscript for publication. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# Funding

This project was funded by the Science and Technology Plan Projects of Jiangxi Provincial Health Commission in 2020 (Grant: 2020-133); the Capital's Funds for Health Improvement and Research (Grant: 2022-2G-4116). The funding sources were

# References

1. Duan L, Zhu G. Psychological interventions for people affected by the COVID-19 epidemic. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2020) 7:300– 2. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30073-0 not involved in the study's design, the collection, analysis, and interpretation of data, the writing of the report, and the decision to submit the article for publication.

## Acknowledgments

We would like to express our heartfelt gratitude to the COVID-19 patients partaking in this study.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.1010004/full#supplementary-material

2. Xiang YT, Yang Y, Li W, Zhang L, Zhang Q, Cheung T, et al. Timely mental health care for the 2019 novel coronavirus outbreak is urgently needed. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2020) 7:228–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30046-8

3. Chen X, Liao Z, Huang S, Huang Q, Lin S, Li Y, et al. Stigmatizing attitudes toward COVID-19 among patients, their relatives and healthy residents in Zhangjiajie. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:808461. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.808461

4. Hu Y, Chen Y, Zheng Y, You C, Tan J, Hu L, et al. Factors related to mental health of inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2020) 89:587–93. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2020.07.016

5. Dong Y, Su T, Jiao P, Kong X, Wu S. Prevalence and factors associated with depression and anxiety of hospitalized patients with COVID-19. *Cold Spring Harbor Lab Press.* (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.03.24.20043075

6. Qi R, Chen W, Liu S, Thompson PM, Zhang LJ, Xia F, et al. Psychological morbidities and fatigue in patients with confirmed COVID-19 during disease outbreak: prevalence and associated biopsychosocial risk factors. *medRxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.05.08.20031666

7. Ma YF Li W, Deng HB, Wang L, Wang Y, Wang PH, et al. Prevalence of depression and its association with quality of life in clinically stable patients with COVID-19. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 275:145–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020. 06.033

8. Deng J, Zhou F, Hou W, Silver Z, Wong CY, Chang O, et al. The prevalence of depression, anxiety, and sleep disturbances in COVID-19 patients: a meta-analysis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2021) 1486:90–111. doi: 10.1111/nyas.14506

9. Spitzer RL, Kroenke K, Williams JB, Löwe B, A. brief measure for assessing generalized anxiety disorder: the GAD-7. *Arch Intern Med.* (2006) 166:1092–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.166.10.1092

10. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x

11. Li JM, Yin SF, Duan JX, Zhang QB. Analysis rating of sleep state of 13273 normal persons (In Chinese). *Health Psychol J.* (2000) 8:351–53. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1005-1252.2000.03.057

12. Zhao Q, Hu C, Feng R, Yang Y. Investigation of the mental health of patients with novel coronavirus pneumonia (in Chinese) Chin. *J Neurol.* (2020) 53:E003. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.cn113694-20200220-00102.e

13. Yang L, Wu D, Hou Y, Wang X, Ruan L. Analysis of psychological state and clinical psychological intervention model of patients with COVID-19. *MedRxiv*. (2020) 5:40899. doi: 10.1101/2020.03.22. 20040899

14. Sun N, Wei L, Wang H, Wang X, Gao M, Hu X, et al. Qualitative study of the psychological experience of COVID-19 patients during hospitalization. *J Affect Disord*. (2021) 278:15–22. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.040

15. Moseholm E, Midtgaard J, Bollerup S, Apol ÁD, Olesen OB, Jespersen S, et al. Psychological distress among hospitalized COVID-19 patients in Denmark during the first 12 months of the pandemic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:10097. doi: 10.3390/ijerph191610097

16. Altena E, Baglioni C, Espie CA, Ellis J, Gavriloff D, Holzinger B, et al. Dealing with sleep problems during home confinement due to the COVID-19 outbreak: Practical recommendations from a task force of the European CBT-I Academy. *J Sleep Res.* (2020) 29:e13052. doi: 10.1111/jsr.13052

17. Marelli S, Castelnuovo A, Somma A, Castronovo V, Mombelli S, Bottoni D, et al. Impact of COVID-19 lockdown on sleep quality in university students and administration staff. *J Neurol.* (2021) 268:8–15. doi: 10.1007/s00415-020-10056-6

18. Cellini N, Canale N, Mioni G, Costa S. Changes in sleep pattern, sense of time and digital media use during COVID-19 lockdown in Italy. *J Sleep Res.* (2020) 29:e13074. doi: 10.1111/jsr.13074

19. Mei Q, Wang F, Bryant A, Wei L, Yuan X, Li J. Mental health problems among COVID-19 survivors in Wuhan, China. *World Psychiatry.* (2021) 20:139–40. doi: 10.1002/wps.20829

20. World Health Organization. *Clinical Management of COVID-19*. Geneva: World Health Organization (2020).

21. Zhou F, Yu T, Du R, Fan G, Liu Y, Liu Z, et al. Clinical course and risk factors for mortality of adult inpatients with COVID-19 in Wuhan, China: a retrospective cohort study. *Lancet.* (2020) 395:1054–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(20)30566-3

22. Delly F, Syed MJ, Lisak RP, Zutshi D. Myasthenic crisis in COVID-19. J Neurol Sci. (2020) 414:6888. doi: 10.1016/j.jns.2020.116888

23. Ko CH, Yen CF, Yen JY, Yang MJ. Psychosocial impact among the public of the severe acute respiratory syndrome epidemic in Taiwan. *Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2006) 60:397–403. doi: 10.1111/j.1440-1819.2006.01522.x

24. Wu P, Fang Y, Guan Z, Fan B, Kong J, Yao Z, et al. The psychological impact of the SARS epidemic on hospital employees in China: exposure, risk perception, and altruistic acceptance of risk. *Can J Psychiatry.* (2009) 54:302–11. doi: 10.1177/070674370905400504

25. Zhong J, Zhong C, Qiu L, Li J, Zhou Y. Risk and protective factors for anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic. *BMC Public Health.* (2021) 21:1118. doi: 10.1186/s12889-021-11118-8

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

#### REVIEWED BY

Jelena Blanuša, College for Vocational Education of Preschool Teachers and Coaches, Serbia Vesna Barzut, Educons University, Serbia

## \*CORRESPONDENCE

Hui Wang 3077581637@qq.com Xufeng Liu lxf\_fmmu@163.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 14 July 2022 ACCEPTED 09 September 2022 PUBLISHED 13 October 2022

#### CITATION

Feng T, Ren L, Liu C, Li K, Wu L, Wei X, Yuan S, Cui L-B, Yang X, Li D, Yang W, Li Y, Wang B, Wang H and Liu X (2022) The relations between different components of intolerance of uncertainty and symptoms of depression during the COVID-19 pandemic: A network analysis. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:993814. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.993814

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Feng, Ren, Liu, Li, Wu, Wei, Yuan, Cui, Yang, Li, Yang, Li, Wang, Wang and Liu. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# The relations between different components of intolerance of uncertainty and symptoms of depression during the COVID-19 pandemic: A network analysis

Tingwei Feng<sup>1†</sup>, Lei Ren<sup>1†</sup>, Chang Liu<sup>2†</sup>, Kuiliang Li<sup>3</sup>, Lin Wu<sup>1</sup>, Xinyi Wei<sup>4</sup>, Shangqing Yuan<sup>5</sup>, Long-Biao Cui<sup>1</sup>, Xi Yang<sup>6</sup>, Danyang Li<sup>7</sup>, Wei Yang<sup>8</sup>, Ye Li<sup>8</sup>, Buyao Wang<sup>9</sup>, Hui Wang<sup>1\*</sup> and Xufeng Liu<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Military Medical Psychology School, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, <sup>2</sup>BrainPark, Turner Institute for Brain and Mental Health and School of Psychological Sciences, Monash University, Clayton, VIC, Australia, <sup>3</sup>School of Psychology, Army Medical University, Chongqing, China, <sup>4</sup>Department of Psychology, Renmin University of China, Beijing, China, <sup>5</sup>School of Psychology, Capital Normal University, Beijing, China, <sup>6</sup>Department of Health Economy Management, Xijing Hospital, Fourth Military Medical University, Xi'an, China, <sup>7</sup>College of Education Science, Changji University, Changji, China, <sup>8</sup>Psychological Counseling Center, Xijing University, Xi'an, China, <sup>9</sup>Clinical and Psychological Counseling, DongFang College, Beijing University of Chinese Medicine, Langfang, China

**Background:** The relations between depression and intolerance of uncertainty (IU) have been extensively investigated during the COVID-19 pandemic. However, there is a lack of understanding on how each component of IU may differentially affect depression symptoms and vice versa. The current study used a network approach to reveal the component-to-symptom interplay between IU and depression and identify intervention targets for depression during the COVID-19 pandemic.

**Methods:** A total of 624 college students participated in the current study. An IU-Depression network was estimated using items from the 12-item Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale and the Patient Health Questionnaire-9. We examined the network structure, node centrality, and node bridge centrality to identify component-to-symptom pathways, central nodes, and bridge nodes within the IU-Depression network.

**Results:** Several distinct pathways (e.g., "Frustration when facing uncertainty" and "Feelings of worthlessness") emerged between IU and Depression. "Fatigue" and "Frustration when facing uncertainty" were identified as the central nodes in the estimated network. "Frustration when facing uncertainty," "Psychomotor agitation/retardation," and "Depressed or sad mood" were identified as bridging nodes between the IU and Depression communities.

**Conclusion:** By delineating specific pathways between IU and depression and highlighting the influential role of "Frustration when facing uncertainty" in maintaining the IU-Depression co-occurrence, current findings may inform

targeted prevention and interventions for depression during the COVID-19 pandemic.

KEYWORDS

COVID-19, depression, intolerance of uncertainty, network analysis, central nodes, bridge nodes

## Introduction

The COVID-19 pandemic has developed into a global public health emergency (1). The pandemic has brought serious psychosocial stressors (e.g., lockdowns, keeping social distance, loss of livelihood, and decreases in economic activity), which could be dangerous for public mental health (2, 3). Specifically, these stressors may drive risks for the onset and development of depression symptoms (4). A recent meta-analysis found that depression was prevalent during the COVID-19 pandemic, with a prevalence rate of 33.7% (5). Owing to the COVID-19 pandemic, the global prevalence of the major depressive disorder has increased by about 27.6% (6). The COVID-19 pandemic has led to significant uncertainty for the general public (7). The detrimental effects of pandemic-related uncertainties may be particularly relevant to individuals with high levels of intolerance of uncertainty (IU), who are prone to present negative cognitions, emotions, and behaviors when facing unpredictable events (8, 9). This mental health inequality is well-documented in the literature, with IU being consistently identified as a predictor of depression severity during the COVID-19 pandemic (7, 10-12).

Despite the robust associations between IU and depression (9), there are limited insights into how specific components of IU are related to individual depression symptoms. Specifically, prior research tends to use the latent variable approach when estimating the relationships between IU and depression. The approach treated both IU and depression as unitary constructs (indexed by sum scores of IU instruments and depression instruments) and either compared differences in IU between depressed and non-depressed groups (based on the cut-off value of depression symptom sum scores) or examined IU in relation to depression severity (7, 9-12). Concerns have been raised over treating IU and depression as unitary constructs. Specifically, depression is a heterogeneous syndrome consisting of various symptoms (e.g., fatigue, sad mood, and appetite changes), which differ from each other in important domains [e.g., predisposing factors, (13, 14)]. Individual depression symptoms have shown different connections with insomnia (15), internet addictions (16), traumatic stress (17), abuse (18), negative life events (19), and emotion regulation difficulties (20, 21). Similarly, the heterogeneity of components that constitute IU has been observed in previous studies (22, 23). And individual IU components have shown different connections with different symptoms of anxiety (24) and problematic smartphone use (25). Hence, treating IU and depression as unitary constructs (using sum scores) may overlook their relationships at the componentto-symptom level, hindering conceptual understanding of mechanisms underlying the co-occurrence of IU and depression.

To address the aforementioned concerns, the current study adopted the network approach to explain the cooccurrence of IU and depression. From a network perspective, psychopathology may be viewed as a network consisting of interacting variables (nodes) and pathways (edges) among them (26, 27). Components of IU and symptoms of depression may directly interact with one another (via distinct symptom pathways) and result in the co-occurrence of IU and depression. By inspecting the network structure, researchers may delineate specific pathways through which constructs interact and reinforce each other. Further, network analysis provides novel indices to understand the role played by each node within the network (28). For instance, nodes with high "expected influence" are highly connected to the remaining nodes within the network, thus, may serve to maintain the network. Meanwhile, "bridge expected influence" quantifies nodes' cross-construct connectivity. Thus, nodes with high "bridge expected influence" are considered the key to the maintenance of co-occurrence (29).

To our knowledge, no study to date has examined how individual IU components may contribute to specific depression symptoms. To address this gap and extend previous research on the IU-Depression association, the current study modeled the component-to-symptom relationships between IU and depression *via* the network approach. In the present study, we incorporated different components of IU and symptoms of depression into one network. This study had three goals: (1) elucidate component-to-symptom pathways between IU and depression, (2) identify central nodes within the IU-Depression network, and (3) identify influential bridge nodes connecting IU and depression communities.

## **Methods**

## Study population and survey design

Due to the COVID-19 outbreak, we conducted this online survey between 16 and 18 December 2020 *via* Wenjuanxing (www.wjx.cn). A WeChat (one of the largest instant messaging applications in China) message with links to the online survey

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.993814

was sent to all participants. Permission was gathered before the survey even began. The study only accepted participants who gave their consent. In the present network, we need to estimate 21 nodes (i.e., 12 components of IU and nine symptoms of depression) and 210 possible edges (i.e., each node has a connection with all other nodes). Although there are no definite guidelines yet as to how many participants we need per parameter, a rule of thumb put forward was the number of participants needed typically exceeds the possible parameters (30). Thus, the present network may need to recruit at least 231 participants. A total of 633 university students from Xijing University participated in our study. All of these participants were Chinese-speaking undergraduate students. Nine questionnaires were excluded due to their demographic information being incomplete. Finally, 624 questionnaires in all were collected. The First Affiliated Hospital of the Fourth Military Medical University's Ethics Committee authorized both this study and the format of the online survey (Project No. BWS16J012). The final sample consisted of 624 participants [57% female, mean age = 19.38, standard deviation (SD) = 1.12, range = 18-25 years].

## Measures

### Symptoms of depression

The Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) is a selfassessment scale assessing depression symptoms over the past 2 weeks (31). This scale includes nine symptoms based on the diagnosis of DSM-IV depressive disorders and is widely used as a screening tool for clinical practice and research (31). Each item had responses ranging from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day). The PHQ-9 has been well-validated in Chinese college students (32). The scale showed good reliability in the current study (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.89$ ).

#### Components of IU

The 12-item Intolerance of Uncertainty Scale (IUS-12) is a short, efficient scale for assessing IU (33). This scale measures a variety of uncertainty-related beliefs, emotions, and behaviors, such as "Frustration when facing uncertainty" and "Smallest doubt can stop me from acting" (33). Responses to each item ranged from 1 ("not at all characteristic of me") to 5 ("entirely characteristic of me"). In the present study, the Chinese version of IUS-12 was used to assess different components of IU (34). The Chinese version of IUS-12 has good reliability and validity. The scale used in the current study demonstrated good reliability (Cronbach's  $\alpha = 0.84$ ).

## Network analysis

The IU-Depression network was estimated using the Gaussian graphical model (GGM) (35). The GGM was estimated on the basis of non-parametric Spearman rho correlation matrices (36, 37). Within a GGM, the edge represents the partial correlation between nodes after controlling for all other nodes in the network (36). By using the graphical LASSO (Least Absolute Shrinkage and Selection Operator) algorithm, a regularized GGM was obtained (38). In this regularization process, trivially small correlations were shrunk to zero. This regularization approach may reduce "false positive" edges and result in a network that is more stable and interpretable (36, 38). At the same time, the hyperparameter was set to 0.5 to balance the trade-off between sensitivity and specificity (36, 39). The final network was constructed and visualized [Fruchterman-Reingold algorithm, (40)] by conducting the *R*-package ggraph (41).

To calculate the node expected influence for each node within the final network, the R-package *qgraph* was used (41). Node expected influence is the sum of the edge weights linking to a specific node (42). A node with a higher expected influence is considered statistically more important within the network. The R-package *networktools* were used to compute the node bridge expected influence for each node within the final network (29). Node bridge expected influence is the sum of the edge weights linking a specific node to all nodes within the opposite community. A node with a higher bridge expected influence may be more likely to activate the opposite community (29). There were two communities of nodes in the current network, namely, the IU community (12 items from the IUS-12) and the depression community (9 items from the PHQ-9).

We tested the precision and robustness of the final network using the R package *bootnet* (30). The accuracy of edge weights was examined *via* 2,000 bootstrap samples in a non-parametric bootstrap technique. The correlation stability (CS)-coefficient was used to quantify the stability of node centralities (i.e., node expected to influence and bridge expected influence). Using 2,000 bootstrap samples, a case-dropping bootstrap methodology was used to get the CS coefficients for both metrics. The recommended value for CS-coefficient is above 0.5 and should not be lower than 0.25 (30). We also conducted bootstrapped difference tests to examine the difference between two edge weights or two node centralities.

## Results

## Descriptive statistics

The common age of the 624 college students (57% female) is 19.38  $\pm$  1.12 years (mean  $\pm$  SD, varying from 18 to 25 years). Moreover, 246 individuals are sole offspring and 378

individuals are non-sole offspring. The mean scores on the IUS-12 and PHQ-9 are 35.08  $\pm$  7.44 (mean  $\pm$  SD, range from 15 to 55) and 6.04  $\pm$  4.74 (mean  $\pm$  SD, range 0–27), respectively. Table 1 listed each variable's abbreviation, mean scores, and standard deviations.

## Network structure

The final network was shown in Figure 1. There were several characteristics of this network. First, 127 edges were not zero (about 60%) among 210 possible edges and most of these edges were positive. And we found the six strongest edges in the final network. Among these six strongest edges, four edges were between IU's components IU1 and IU2 (weight = 0.40), IU11 and IU12 (weight = 0.30), IU9 and IU10 (weight = 0.27), IU10 and IU11 (weight = 0.26), and two edges were between D3 and D4 (weight = 0.28), D1 and D7 (weight = 0.24). It is worth noting that these six strongest edges had no one who connects IU's components and depression symptoms. Second, in the 108 possible edges between components of IU and symptoms of depression, 45 edges were not zero that ranged from -0.07 to 0.07. Four strongest edges were between IU2 and D6 (weight = 0.07), IU4 and D8 (weight = 0.07), IU12 and D2 (weight = 0.06), and IU2 and D4 (weight = 0.06). The two weakest edges were between IU7 and D1 (weight = -0.07) and IU7 and D6 (weight = -0.05). Supplementary material 2 showed the values of regularized partial correlation of all edges in the network. Supplementary Figure 1 showed the bootstrapped 95% confidence interval of edge weights and Supplementary Figure 2 showed the bootstrapped difference test for edge weights.

## Node expected influence

Figure 2A showed the node expected influence. Two variables with the highest expected influence were D4 "Fatigue" and IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty." Thus, from the perspective of statistics, these two variables had the strongest associations with other variables in the present network. The CS-coefficient of node expected influence was 0.67 which indicates that the estimation of node expected influences was adequately stable (Supplementary Figure 3). Supplementary Figure 4 showed the bootstrapped difference test for node expected influences.

## Node bridge expected influence

Figure 2B showed the node bridge's expected influence. In the community of depression, two variables with the highest bridge expected influence were D8 "Psychomotor TABLE 1 Abbreviations, mean scores, and standard deviations for each variable selected in the present network.

Components of intolerance of uncertainty     IU1     2.97     1.05       IUS-12-1: Unforescen events     IU1     2.97     1.05       upset me greatly     IU2     2.93     1.06       having all the information I     need     IUS-12-3: One should always     IU3     3.52     0.94       look ahead so as to avoid     surprises     IUS-12-4: A small, unforescen     IU4     2.90     1.01       even with the best of planning     IU5     3.23     1.09       know what the future has in     surprises     IUS-12-6: I can't stand being     IU6     2.81     1.01       taken by surprise     IUS-12-7: I should be able to     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps     IU8     2.67     1.06       me from living a full life     IUS     IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps     IU9     2.80     1.08       US-12-10: When I am     IU10     2.88     1.07     uncertaint remainstuations     IUS-12-11: The smallest     IU11     2.58     1.07       Goubt can stop me from     IU12     2.44	Variables	Abbreviation	М	SD
IUS 12-1: Unressent eventsIU12.971.05upset me greatlyIU22.931.06having all the information I12.931.06having all the information I12.930.94look ahed so as to avoidIU33.520.94look ahed so as to avoid12.901.01surprises11.921.91event can spoil everything,13.231.09know what the future has in1.053.231.09know what the future has in1.062.811.01taken by surprise1.062.811.01taken by surprise1.062.811.01taken by surprise1.082.671.06me from living a full life1.013.350.95organize everything in1.012.881.07uotertainty keeps1.082.671.06ne from living a full life1.012.881.07uncertaint paralyzes me1.012.881.07uncertain I can't function very1.012.581.07doubt can stop me from1.012.581.07doubt can stop me from1.012.681.07form all uncertain situations1.020.730.69PHQ-1: AnhedoniaD10.780.69PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69PHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.84	Components of intolerance			
upset me greatlyIU22.931.06having all the information I	of uncertainty			
IUS-12-2: It frustrates me notIU22.931.06having all the information I	IUS-12-1: Unforeseen events	IU1	2.97	1.05
having all the information I     need     IUS-12-3: One should always   IU3   3.52   0.94     look ahead so as to avoid     surprises     IUS-12-4: A small, unforescen   IU4   2.90   1.01     event can spoil everything,	upset me greatly			
ned       IUS-12-3: One should always     IU3     3.52     0.94       look ahead so as to avoid     surprises     1       IUS-12-4: A small, unforescen     IU4     2.90     1.01       event can spoil everything,     u     1     1       even with the best of planning     IUS-12-5: I always want to     IU5     3.23     1.09       know what the future has in     store for me     1     1     1       tknow what the future has in     store for me     1     1     1       tknow what the future has in     store for me     1	IUS-12-2: It frustrates me not	IU2	2.93	1.06
IUS-12-3: One should always   IU3   3.52   0.94     look ahead so as to avoid   surprises   1     IUS-12-4: A small, unforeseen   IU4   2.90   1.01     event can spoil everything,     105     even with the best of planning   1   105   3.23   1.09     know what the future has in    3.52   0.93     store for me   1   105   3.23   1.09     know what the future has in    105   3.23   1.09     know what the future has in    105   3.23   1.09     know what the future has in    105   1.01   109   109   109   109   100   101<	having all the information I			
Jook ahead so as to avoid       surprises       IUS-12-4: A small, unforeseen     IU4     2.90     1.01       event can spoil everything,     IU5     3.23     1.09       know what the best of planning     IU5     3.23     1.09       know what the future has in     store for me     IUS-12-5: I always want to     IU5     2.81     1.01       taken by surprise     IU6     2.81     1.01     taken by surprise     105     0.355     0.95       organize everything in     advance     107     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     108     2.67     1.06       me from living a full life     101     2.80     1.08       act, uncertaint y paralyzes me     1010     2.88     1.07       uncertain I can't function very     1011     2.58     1.07       doubt can stop me from     1011     2.58     1.07       doubt can stop me from     1012     2.44     0.99       from all uncertain situations     101     0.78     0.69       PHQ-1: Anhedonia	need			
look ahead so as to avoid       surprises       IUS-12-4: A small, unforeseen     IU4     2.90     1.01       event can spoil everything,	IUS-12-3: One should always	IU3	3.52	0.94
IUS-12-4: A small, unforeseenIU42.901.01event can spoil everything, even with the best of planningIU53.231.09IUS-12-5: I always want toIU53.231.09know what the future has inStore for meIU62.811.01taken by surpriseIU62.811.01store for meIUS-12-7: I should be able toIU73.350.950rganize everything in advance3.671.06IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keepsIU82.671.06ne from living a full life1.012.801.08IUS-12-9: When it's time toIU92.801.08act, uncertainty paralyzes me1.012.881.07UUS-12-10: When I amIU102.881.071.011.071.02US-12-11: The smallestIU112.581.071.01doubt can stop me from acting1.012.730.691.02IUS-12-12: I must get awayIU122.440.991.06Form all uncertain situationsD10.780.691.06PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.691.06PHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.841.04PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.761.04PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.841.04PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.660.731.07VorthlessnessD10.810.730.61PHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.81	look ahead so as to avoid			
event can spoil everything, even with the best of planningIUS-12-5: I always want toIU53.231.09know what the future has instore for meIUS-12-6: I can't stand beingIU62.811.01taken by surpriseIUG2.811.01taken by surpriseIUS-12-7: I should be able toIU73.350.95organize everything inadvanceIUS-12-7: I should be able toIU73.350.95organize everything inadvanceIU82.671.06me from living a full lifeIU92.801.08act. uncertainty keepsIU82.671.06me from living a full lifeIU102.881.07uncertaint paralyzes meIUS-12-10: When 1 amIU102.881.07uncertain I can't function veryIUS-12-11: The smallestIU112.581.07doubt can stop me fromIU122.440.991.08actingIU122.440.991.081.09from all uncertain situationsIU122.440.991.08PHQ-1: AnhedoniaD10.780.681.02prodoID20.730.691.021.03PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.761.04PHQ-4: FatigueD60.660.730.61PHQ-4: FatigueD60.660.730.61PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.841.04	surprises			
even with the best of planning       IUS-12-5: I always want to     IU5     3.23     1.09       know what the future has in     store for me     IUS-12-6: I can't stand being     IU6     2.81     1.01       taken by surprise     IU6     2.81     1.01       taken by surprise     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IU8-12-7: I should be able to     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IU8-12-8: Uncertainty keeps     IU8     2.67     1.06       me from living a full life     IU9     2.80     1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me     IU10     2.88     1.07       uncertain I can't function very     well     IU11     2.58     1.07       doubt can stop me from     acting     IU2-12: II must get away     IU12     2.44     0.99       from all uncertain situations     JUS-12: II must get away     IU12     2.44     0.99       from all uncertain situations     JUS-12: II must get away     IU10     2.89     0.69       PHQ-1: Anhedonia     D1     0.78	IUS-12-4: A small, unforeseen	IU4	2.90	1.01
IUS-12-5: I always want to know what the future has in store for meIU53.231.09IUS-12-6: I can't stand beingIU62.811.01taken by surpriseIU62.811.01taken by surpriseIU73.350.95organize everything in advanceIU73.350.95organize everything in advanceIU82.671.06me from living a full lifeIU92.801.08act, uncertainty keepsIU92.801.08act, uncertainty paralyzes meIU102.881.07uncertain I can't function veryIU112.581.07doubt can stop me from actingIU122.440.99from all uncertain situationsD10.780.69PHQ-1: AnhedoniaD10.780.69PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69PHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.84PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.76PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.84PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.600.73worthlessnessPHD70.810.73difficultiesD70.810.73HQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.76GifficultiesD70.810.76PHQ-8: PsychomotorD80.450.66GifficultiesD70.810.76GifficultiesD70.810.76 <trr>HQ-8: PsychomotorD8</trr>	event can spoil everything,			
know what the future has in       store for me       IUS-12-6: I can't stand being     IU6     2.81     1.01       taken by surprise     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IU8-12-8: Uncertainty keeps     IU8     2.67     1.06       me from living a full life     IU9     2.80     1.08       act, uncertainty paralyzes me     IU8-12-10: When I's time to     IU10     2.88     1.07       uncertain I can't function very     IU11     2.58     1.07       doubt can stop me from     IU12     2.44     0.99       from all uncertain situations     IU1     0.78     0.61       PHQ-1: Anhedonia     D1     0.78     0.69 <td>even with the best of planning</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	even with the best of planning			
know what the future has in       store for me       IUS-12-6: I can't stand being     IU6     2.81     1.01       taken by surprise     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IU7     3.35     0.95       organize everything in     advance     IU8-12-8: Uncertainty keeps     IU8     2.67     1.06       me from living a full life     IU9     2.80     1.08       act, uncertainty paralyzes me     IU8-12-10: When I's time to     IU10     2.88     1.07       uncertain I can't function very     IU11     2.58     1.07       doubt can stop me from     IU12     2.44     0.99       from all uncertain situations     IU1     0.78     0.61       PHQ-1: Anhedonia     D1     0.78     0.69 <td></td> <td>IU5</td> <td>3.23</td> <td>1.09</td>		IU5	3.23	1.09
IUS-12-6: I can't stand being   IU6   2.81   1.01     taken by surprise   IU7   3.35   0.95     organize everything in   advance   1U7   3.35   0.95     IUS-12-7: I should be able to   IU7   3.35   0.95     organize everything in   advance   1U8   2.67   1.06     IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps   IU8   2.67   1.06     me from living a full life   1U9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   1010   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   vell   101   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1011   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   5   0.71   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite chang	know what the future has in			
taken by surprise     IUS-12-7: 1 should be able to   IU7   3.35   0.95     organize everything in   advance   107   3.35   0.95     IUS-12-7: 1 should be able to   IU8   2.67   1.06     me from living a full life   109   2.80   1.08     IUS-12-9: When it's time to   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   1010   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   1011   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   1011   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   101   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.73   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   101   0.78   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0	store for me			
IUS-12-7: I should be able to   IU7   3.35   0.95     organize everything in   advance   IU8   2.67   1.06     IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps   IU8   2.67   1.06     me from living a full life   IU9   2.80   1.08     IUS-12-9: When it's time to   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   IU11   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   IU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   Symptoms of depression   IU12   2.44   0.99     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   IU1   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D	IUS-12-6: I can't stand being	IU6	2.81	1.01
organize everything in advance IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps me from living a full life IUS-12-9: When it's time to act, uncertainty paralyzes me IUS-12-10: When I am IU10 US-12-10: When I am IU10 US-12-10: When I am IU10 US-12-11: The smallest IUS-12-11: The smallest IUS-12-11: The smallest IUS-12-12: I must get away IU12 CALANDE IUS-12-12: I must get away IU12 CALANDE IUS-12 CAL	taken by surprise			
advance   IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps   IU8   2.67   1.06     me from living a full life   IU9   2.80   1.08     IUS-12-9: When i's time to   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   IU10   2.88   1.07     IUS-12-10: When I am   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   101   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1011   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   5   0.71   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   107   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81	IUS-12-7: I should be able to	IU7	3.35	0.95
advance   IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps   IU8   2.67   1.06     me from living a full life   IU9   2.80   1.08     IUS-12-9: When i's time to   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   IU10   2.88   1.07     IUS-12-10: When I am   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   101   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1011   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   5   0.71   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   107   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81	organize everything in			
me from living a full life   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   IU10   2.88   1.07     IUS-12-10: When I am   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   101   2.58   1.07     IUS-12-11: The smallest   IU11   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   JU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood				
me from living a full life   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   IU10   2.88   1.07     IUS-12-10: When I am   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   101   2.58   1.07     IUS-12-11: The smallest   IU11   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   JU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood	IUS-12-8: Uncertainty keeps	IU8	2.67	1.06
IUS-12-9: When it's time to   IU9   2.80   1.08     act, uncertainty paralyzes me   IU10   2.88   1.07     IUS-12-10: When I am   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   IU10   2.88   1.07     IUS-12-10: When I am   IU10   2.88   1.07     uncertain I can't function very   well   IU11   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   IUS-12-12: I must get away   IU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   JUS-12-12: I must get away   IU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   JUS   0.73   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   JUS   JUS   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   JUS   JUS   0.45   0.66 </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
IUS-12-10: When I amIU102.881.07uncertain I can't function verywellIUS-12-11: The smallestIU112.581.07doubt can stop me fromactingIUS-12-12: I must get awayIU122.440.99from all uncertain situationsSymptoms of depressionPHQ-1: AnhedoniaD10.780.69PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69moodPHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.84PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.76PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.84PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.660.73worthlessnessUU0.730.71PHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.73difficultiesD80.450.66agitation/retardationUU0.73		IU9	2.80	1.08
IUS-12-10: When I amIU102.881.07uncertain I can't function verywellIUS-12-11: The smallestIU112.581.07doubt can stop me fromactingIUS-12-12: I must get awayIU122.440.99from all uncertain situationsSymptoms of depressionPHQ-1: AnhedoniaD10.780.69PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69moodPHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.84PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.76PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.84PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.660.73worthlessnessUU0.730.71PHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.73difficultiesD80.450.66agitation/retardationUU0.73	act, uncertainty paralyzes me			
well     IUS-12-11: The smallest   IU11   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   1U12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   101   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   101   0.81   0.84     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   101   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   108   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation   108   0.45   0.66		IU10	2.88	1.07
well     IUS-12-11: The smallest   IU11   2.58   1.07     doubt can stop me from   acting   1012   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   1U12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   101   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   101   0.81   0.84     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   101   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   108   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation   108   0.45   0.66	uncertain I can't function very			
doubt can stop me from acting IUS-12-12: I must get away IU12 2.44 0.99 from all uncertain situations <b>Symptoms of depression</b> PHQ-1: Anhedonia D1 0.78 0.69 PHQ-2: Depressed or sad D2 0.73 0.69 mood PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties D3 0.81 0.84 PHQ-4: Fatigue D4 0.89 0.76 PHQ-5: Appetite changes D5 0.71 0.84 PHQ-6: Feeling of D6 0.66 0.73 worthlessness PHQ-7: Concentration D7 0.81 0.73 difficulties PHQ-8: Psychomotor D8 0.45 0.66 agitation/retardation				
acting     IUS-12-12: I must get away   IU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   5   5     Symptoms of depression   01   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   01   0.81   0.84     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   07   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   08   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66	IUS-12-11: The smallest	IU11	2.58	1.07
acting     IUS-12-12: I must get away   IU12   2.44   0.99     from all uncertain situations   5   5     Symptoms of depression   01   0.78   0.69     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   01   0.81   0.84     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   07   0.81   0.73     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   08   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66	doubt can stop me from			
IUS-12-12: I must get awayIU122.440.99from all uncertain situations5Symptoms of depression0PHQ-1: AnhedoniaD10.780.69PHQ-2: Depressed or sadD20.730.69mood0000PHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.84PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.76PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.84PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.660.73worthlessness000.73PHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.73difficulties000.660.66PHQ-8: PsychomotorD80.450.66agitation/retardation00.450.66	*			
from all uncertain situations     Symptoms of depression     PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   U   U   0.97     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   U   U   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation   U   U   0.45   0.66	-	IU12	2.44	0.99
PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   D1   0.73   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   U   U   0.73   0.71     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   U   U   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation   U   U   U   U	с ,			
PHQ-1: Anhedonia   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   D1   0.78   0.69     PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   D1   0.73   0.69     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   U   U   0.73   0.71     PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties   U   U   0.45   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation   U   U   U   U	Symptoms of depression			
PHQ-2: Depressed or sad   D2   0.73   0.69     mood   0   0   0   0     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness   0   0.71   0.81   0.73     difficulties   0   0   0.66   0.66     PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation   0   0.51   0.51		D1	0.78	0.69
mood     PHQ-3: Sleep difficulties   D3   0.81   0.84     PHQ-4: Fatigue   D4   0.89   0.76     PHQ-5: Appetite changes   D5   0.71   0.84     PHQ-6: Feeling of   D6   0.66   0.73     worthlessness        PHQ-7: Concentration   D7   0.81   0.73     difficulties        PHQ-8: Psychomotor   D8   0.45   0.66     agitation/retardation				
PHQ-3: Sleep difficultiesD30.810.84PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.76PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.84PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.660.73worthlessnessPHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.73difficulties </td <td>*</td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>	*			
PHQ-4: FatigueD40.890.76PHQ-4: FatigueD50.710.84PHQ-5: Appetite changesD60.660.73worthlessnessD70.810.73difficultiesD70.810.73PHQ-8: PsychomotorD80.450.66agitation/retardationD80.450.66		D3	0.81	0.84
PHQ-5: Appetite changesD50.710.84PHQ-6: Feeling ofD60.660.73worthlessnessPHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.73difficultiesPHQ-8: PsychomotorD80.450.66agitation/retardation	*			
PHQ-6: Feeling of worthlessnessD60.660.73PHQ-7: Concentration difficultiesD70.810.73difficulties </td <td></td> <td></td> <td></td> <td></td>				
worthlessness PHQ-7: Concentration D7 0.81 0.73 difficulties PHQ-8: Psychomotor D8 0.45 0.66 agitation/retardation				
PHQ-7: ConcentrationD70.810.73difficultiesPHQ-8: PsychomotorD80.450.66agitation/retardation	- 0	20	0.00	0.75
difficulties PHQ-8: Psychomotor D8 0.45 0.66 agitation/retardation		D7	0.81	0.73
PHQ-8: Psychomotor D8 0.45 0.66 agitation/retardation		27	0.01	0.75
agitation/retardation		80	0.45	0.66
		10	0.43	0.00
		٥٦	0.20	0.49
M. mean: SD. standard deviation.			0.20	5.17

M, mean; SD, standard deviation.



The network structure of different components of intolerance of uncertainty and symptoms of depression. Positive correlations were shown by blue borders, whereas negative correlations were represented by red edges. The size of the correlation was reflected in the thickness of the edge. Cut value = 0.05. The text of intolerance of uncertainty and depression can be seen in Table 1.

agitation/retardation" and D2 "Depressed or sad mood." In the community of IU, one variable with the highest bridge expected influence was IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty." Thus, from the perspective of statistics, IU2 had the strongest association with depression symptoms. The CS-coefficient of node bridge expected influence was 0.44 (>0.25), indicating that the node bridge expected influence calculation fulfilled the criteria (Supplementary Figure 5). The bootstrapped difference test for node bridge expected influences were shown in Supplementary Figure 6.

# Discussion

This was the first study to apply network analysis to examine the differential associations between symptoms of depression and components of IU during the COVID-19 pandemic. We found several pathways between IU and Depression, with the strongest emerging between IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty" and D6 "Feelings of worthlessness." Our results also highlighted the important role of IU2, which was identified as both a central node and a bridge node



within the estimated network. Other influential nodes were D4 "Fatigue" (with the highest node expected influence), D8 "Psychomotor agitation/retardation" (with high bridge expected influence), and D2 "Depressed or sad mood" (with high bridge expected influence).

In line with previous studies (24, 25, 43–46), the intracommunity connections were generally denser and stronger than the inter-community connections within the estimated network. The strongest intra-community edge emerged between IU1 "Upset when facing unforeseen events" and IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty," which was consistently reported in IU-related network analytic studies (24, 25). Within the depression community, we found that D3 "Sleep difficulties" and D4 "Fatigue" were closely related to each other, with "Sleep difficulties" may lead to "Fatigue" and vice versa. This finding is consistent with previous studies exploring the network structure of depression among college students (47, 48), the adult population (17, 49), domestic workers (50), and patients with epilepsy (51). These consistent findings addressed the concerns over the replicability of network analysis (52) and suggested that some specific symptoms pathway may exist across demographically different groups.

Regarding inter-community pathways, we found IU components may sustain distinct pathways leading to cognitive (e.g., D6 "Feeling of worthlessness"), emotional (e.g., D2 "Depressed or sad mood"), and somatic (e.g., D8 "Psychomotor agitation/retardation" and D4 "Fatigue") symptoms of depression. The strongest pathway was observed between IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty" and D6 "Feelings of worthlessness." This pathway may be particularly relevant when considering the cultural context. Specifically, emotional reactions to uncertainty (i.e., feeling frustrated) may be perceived as a lack of self-control or inability to restrain one's emotion, which is considered a major characteristic weakness of an individual and is against related social expectations (53-55). This may, in turn, promote self-hatred cognitions such as a "Feeling of worthlessness." The finding supported the notion that cultural-specific factors should be considered when aiming to understand the maintenance of psychopathology. Specifically, it has been found that the "Feeling of worthlessness" is a uniquely important symptom among individuals from collectivistic cultural backgrounds (e.g., China and India) (56, 57), with unable to fulfill social expectations being proposed as a core mechanism underlying the maintenance of depression (56). Hence, it may be beneficial to replicate our findings among individuals from individualistic cultural backgrounds to ascertain whether cultural differences may impact the putative pathway between IU and depression.

Depression symptom D4 "Fatigue" and IU component IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty" showed the highest expected influence, indicating these two variables may be core to the maintenance of the IU-Depression network. The highest expected influence for IU2 is also consistent with our previous network study investigating IU-anxiety and IUproblematic smartphone use networks (24, 25). Depression symptom "Fatigue" is also a core symptom in previous network studies investigating the symptom network of depressionanxiety in college students and Filipino domestic workers (47, 48, 50).

When examining the bridge expected influence, we found that IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty," D8 "Psychomotor agitation/retardation," and D2 "Depressed or sad mood" emerged as bridging nodes between the IU and depression communities. As for IU, node bridge expected influence may reveal the unique effect of different components of IU on the various symptoms of depression. IU2 has the highest bridge expected influence. This indicates that IU2 has stronger connections with the depression community than other IU components. Therefore, from the perspective of the network system, targeting IU2 may be more effective at alleviating depression symptoms than targeting other components of IU. It should be noted that this is only a hypothesis, which needs to be tested experimentally and clinically. From the standpoint

of concept, people are more likely to fear missing out and tend to get more information about the pandemic due to the uncertainty of the COVID-19 pandemic (58). However, it is almost impossible to obtain all the information about the COVID-9 pandemic. Under this condition, individuals may begin to generate negative emotions, which in turn increase the severity of depression symptoms. It is worth mentioning that IU7 "Organizing everything in advance" has four pathways linking to the depression community and three of them are negative. This leads to its lowest bridge centrality and may represent a protective ability for depression symptoms. In fact, organizing things in advance is a sign of maturity in Chinese culture, which might also symbolize the advantageous response as a substitute for intolerance when dealing with uncertainty (24). In the depression community, symptoms D8 and D2 have the greatest bridge expected influence. This implies that these two depression symptoms might be susceptible to the IU community.

We found that IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty" may act as both a central node and a bridge node within the IU-Depression network. This replicated previous findings from networks involving co-occurring anxiety (24) and problematic smartphone use (25). These consistent findings support the notion that IU may act as a transdiagnostic risk factor for various psychological conditions (e.g., emotional disorders, obsessive-compulsive disorder, addiction, and eating disorders) and add incremental value to current knowledge by teasing out the specific component that may underpin the association between IU and psychological conditions. This finding may have implications at the public health level. Specifically, by assessing individual differences in negative emotional reactions (i.e., frustrations) toward uncertainty, mental health providers may be able to identify the high-risk population for developing emotional and addiction-related symptoms. Further, interventions targeting this specific component may concurrently reduce various psychological conditions. This may be particularly relevant to reducing the public mental health burden during and after the pandemic.

Several limitations should be considered when interpreting current findings. First, the utilization of a student sample from a single Chinese university may limit the representativeness of current findings. Second, the current study used a crosssectional approach. This means that no causal relationship can be established among study variables. Third, the network structure in the current study was examined at a group level and may not be replicable when examined at an individual level.

# Conclusion

Notwithstanding the limitations above, the current study has some strengths. To the satisfaction of our knowledge, our study is the first to apply network analysis to explore the componentto-symptom connections between IU and depression during the COVID-19 pandemic. Findings identify some central and bridge variables (especially IU component IU2 "Frustration when facing uncertainty") in the depression-IU network. These central and bridge variables may also provide some insights for related preventions and therapies to address the COVID-19 pandemic's mental health needs. Based on our results, "Frustration when facing uncertainty" may be a promising target when designing interventions for depression symptoms.

## Data availability statement

The data analyzed in this study is subject to the following licenses/restrictions: In order to protect private information, the data cannot be made publicly available. The data may be available from the corresponding author for a reason, and requests to access these datasets should be directed to LR.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Declaration of Helsinki and was approved by the Ethics Committee of the First Affiliated Hospital of the Fourth Military Medical University (Project No.BWS16J012). The questionnaire was completed online in the WeChat application after electronic informed consent was obtained.

## Author contributions

TF, LR, HW, and XL developed the study idea and design. TF, LR, and CL wrote the original draft of this manuscript. All authors contributed to revising subsequent versions of the article.

# References

1. World Health Organization. WHO Director-General's Opening Remarks at the Media Briefing on COVID-19. (2020). Retrieved from https://www.who.int/ director-general/speeches/detail/who-director-general-s-opening-remarks-atthe-media-briefing-on-covid-19---11-march-2020 (accessed March 11, 2020).

2. Cao W, Fang Z, Hou G, Han M, Xu X, Dong J, et al. The psychological impact of the COVID-19 epidemic on college students in China. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 287:112934. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.112934

3. Türközer HB, Öngür D. A projection for psychiatry in the post-COVID-19 era: potential trends, challenges, and directions. *Mol Psychiatry.* (2020) 25:2214–9. doi: 10.1038/s41380-020-0841-2

4. Holmes EA, O'Connor RC, Perry VH, Tracey I, Wessely S, Arseneault L, et al. Multidisciplinary research priorities for the COVID-19 pandemic: a call for action for mental health science. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2020) 7:547–60. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30168-1

# Funding

XL's involvement in this research was funded by the Fourth Military Medical University (BWS16J012). L-BC's involvement in this research was funded by the Fourth Military Medical University (2021JSTS30).

# Acknowledgments

We would like to thank all the individuals who participated in the study. We also thank all the administrative staff and teachers in the universities who helped us with the recruitment.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.993814/full#supplementary-material

5. Salari N, Hosseinian-Far A, Jalali R, Vaisi-Raygani A, Rasoulpoor S, Mohammadi M, et al. Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Global Health.* (2020) 16:57. doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w

6. COVID-19 Mental Disorders Collaborators. Global prevalence and burden of depressive and anxiety disorders in 204 countries and territories in 2020 due to the COVID-19 pandemic. *Lancet.* (2021) 398:1700–12. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(21)0 2143-7

7. Rettie H, Daniels J. Coping and tolerance of uncertainty: predictors and mediators of mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Am Psychol.* (2021) 76:427–37. doi: 10.1037/amp0000710

8. Carleton RN. Into the unknown: a review and synthesis of contemporary models involving uncertainty. *J Anxiety Disord.* (2016) 39:30–43. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2016.02.007

9. McEvoy PM, Hyett MP, Shihata S, Price JE, Strachan L. The impact of methodological and measurement factors on transdiagnostic associations with intolerance of uncertainty: a meta-analysis. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2019) 73:101778. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2019.101778

10. Voitsidis P, Nikopoulou VA, Holeva V, Parlapani E, Sereslis K, Tsipropoulou V, et al. The mediating role of fear of COVID-19 in the relationship between intolerance of uncertainty and depression. *Psychol Psychother.* (2021) 94:884–93. doi: 10.1111/papt.12315

11. Bakioglu F, Korkmaz O, Ercan H. Fear of COVID-19 and positivity: mediating role of intolerance of uncertainty, depression, anxiety, and stress. *Int J Ment Health Addict*. (2021) 19:2369–82. doi: 10.1007/s11469-020-00331-y

12. Korkmaz H, Güloglu B. The role of uncertainty tolerance and meaning in life on depression and anxiety throughout Covid-19 pandemic. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2021) 179:110952. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.110952

13. Konac D, Young KS, Lau J, Barker ED. Comorbidity between depression and anxiety in adolescents: bridge symptoms and relevance of risk and protective factors. *J Psychopathol Behav Assess.* (2021) 43:583–96. doi: 10.1007/s10862-021-09880-5

14. Fried EI, Nesse RM. Depression sum-scores don't add up: why analyzing specific depression symptoms is essential. *BMC Med.* (2015) 13:72. doi: 10.1186/s12916-015-0325-4

15. Bai W, Zhao YJ, Cai H, Sha S, Zhang Q, Lei SM, et al. Network analysis of depression, anxiety, insomnia and quality of life among Macau residents during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Affect Disord.* (2022) 311:181-8. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.05.061

16. Cai H, Bai W, Sha S, Zhang L, Chow IHI, Lei SM, et al. Identification of central symptoms in Internet addictions and depression among adolescents in Macau: a network analysis. *J Affect Disord*. (2022) 302:415–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.01.068

17. Zavlis O, Butter S, Bennett K, Hartman TK, Hyland P, Mason L, et al. How does the COVID-19 pandemic impact on population mental health? A network analysis of COVID influences on depression, anxiety and traumatic stress in the UK population. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 2021:1–9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291721000635

18. Li K, Zhan X, Ren L, Liu N, Zhang L, Li L, et al. The association of abuse and depression with suicidal ideation in Chinese adolescents: a network analysis. *Front Psychiatry.* (2022) 13:853951. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.853951

19. Li K, Guang Y, Ren L, Zhan X, Tan X, Luo X, et al. Network analysis of the relationship between negative life events and depressive symptoms in the leftbehind children. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2021) 21:429. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03445-2

20. Everaert J, Joormann J. Emotion regulation difficulties related to depression and anxiety: a network approach to model relations among symptoms, positive reappraisal, and repetitive negative thinking. *Clin Psychol Sci.* (2019) 7:1–15. doi: 10.1177/2167702619859342

21. Zhang D, Liu S, Wu X, Tian Y. Network analysis of cognitive emotion regulation strategies and depressive symptoms in young adults after recent stressful events: the moderation of childhood maltreatment. *J Affect Disord*. (2022) 301:107–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.01.044

22. Freeston MH, Rhéaume J, Letarte H, Dugas MJ, Ladouceur R. Why do people worry? *Pers Indiv Differ.* (1994) 17:791–802. doi: 10.1016/0191-8869(94)90048-5

23. Bottesi G, Marchetti I, Sica C, Ghisi M. What is the internal structure of intolerance of uncertainty? A network analysis approach. J Anxiety Disord. (2020) 75:102293. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2020.102293

24. Ren L, Wei Z, Li Y, Cui LB, Wang Y, Wu L, et al. The relations between different components of intolerance of uncertainty and symptoms of generalized anxiety disorder: a network analysis. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2021) 21:448. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03455-0

25. Liu C, Ren L, Li K, Yang W, Li Y, Rotaru K. Understanding the association between intolerance of uncertainty and problematic smartphone use: a network analysis. *Front Psychiatry*. (2022) 13:917833. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.917833

26. Borsboom D. A network theory of mental disorders. *World Psychiatry*. (2017) 16:5–13. doi: 10.1002/wps.20375

27 McNally RJ. Network analysis of psychopathology: and controversies challenges. Annu Rev Clin Psychol 17:31-53. 10.1146/annurev-clinpsy-081219-(2021)doi: 092850

28. Contreras A, Nieto I, Valiente C, Espinosa R, Vazquez C. The study of psychopathology from the network analysis perspective: a systematic review. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2019) 88:71–83. doi: 10.1159/000497425

29. Jones PJ, Ma R, McNally RJ. Bridge centrality: a network approach to understanding comorbidity. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2021) 56:353–67. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2019.1614898

30. Epskamp S, Borsboom D, Fried EI. Estimating psychological networks and their accuracy: a tutorial paper. *Behav Res Methods*. (2018) 50:195–212. doi: 10.3758/s13428-017-0862-1

31. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *Gen Intern Med.* (2001) 16:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497.2001.016009606.x

32. Zhang YL, Liang W, Chen ZM, Zhang HM, Zhang JH, Weng XQ, et al. Validity and reliability of Patient Health Questionnaire-9 and Patient Health Questionnaire-2 to screen for depression among college students in China. Asia Pac Psychiatry. (2013) 5:268–75. doi: 10.1111/appy. 12103

33. Carleton RN, Norton MA, Asmundson GJ. Fearing the unknown: a short version of the intolerance of uncertainty scale. *J Anxiety Disord.* (2007) 21:105-17. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2006.03.014

34. Zhang YJ, Song JB, Gao YT, Wu SJ, Song L, Miao DM. Reliability and validity of the intolerance of uncertainty scale-short form in university students. *Chin J Clin Psychol.* (2017) 25:285–8. doi: 10.16128/j.cnki.1005-3611.2017.02.020

35. Epskamp S, Waldorp LJ, Möttus R, Borsboom D. The Gaussian graphical model in cross-sectional and time-series data. *Multivariate Behav Res.* (2018) 53:453–80. doi: 10.1080/00273171.2018.1454823

36. Epskamp S, Fried EI. A tutorial on regularized partial correlation networks. *Psychol Methods*. (2018) 23:617–34. doi: 10.1037/met0000167

37. Isvoranu AM, Epskamp S. Which estimation method to choose in network psychometrics? Deriving guidelines for applied researchers. *Psychol Meth.* (2021) 3:439. doi: 10.1037/met0000439

38. Friedman J, Hastie T, Tibshirani R. Sparse inverse covariance estimation with the graphical lasso. *Biostatistics*. (2008) 9:432–41. doi: 10.1093/biostatistics/kxm045

39. Foygel R, Drton M. Extended Bayesian information criteria for Gaussian graphical models. *Adv Neural Inform Process Syst.* (2010) 23:2020–8. doi: 10.48550/arXiv.1011.6640

40. Fruchterman TMJ, Reingold EM. Graph drawing by force-directed placement. *Software Pract Exper.* (1991) 21:1129–64. doi: 10.1002/spe.4380211102

41. Epskam S, Cramer AOJ, Waldorp LJ, Schmittmann VD, Borsboom D. Qgraph: network visualizations of relationships in psychometric data. *J Stat Softw.* (2012) 48:1–18. doi: 10.18637/jss.v048.i04

42. Robinaugh DJ, Millner AJ, McNally RJ. Identifying highly influential nodes in the complicated grief network. *J Abnorm Psychol.* (2016) 125:747–57. doi: 10.1037/abn0000181

43. Chen C, Li F, Liu C, Li K, Yang Q, Ren L. The relations between mental well-being and burnout in medical staff during the COVID-19 pandemic: a network analysis. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:919692. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022. 919692

44. Wei X, Jiang H, Wang H, Geng J, Gao T, Lei L, et al. The relationship between components of neuroticism and problematic smartphone use in adolescents: a network analysis. *Pers Individ Dif.* (2022) 186:111325. doi: 10.1016/j.paid.2021.111325

45. Yuan GF, Shi W, Elhai JD, Montag C, Chang K, Jackson T, et al. Gaming to cope: applying network analysis to understand the relationship between posttraumatic stress symptoms and internet gaming disorder symptoms among disaster-exposed Chinese young adults. *Addict Behav.* (2022) 124:107096. doi: 10.1016/j.addbeh.2021.107096

46. Haws JK, Brockdorf AN, Gratz KL, Messman TL, Tull MT, DiLillo D. Examining the associations between PTSD symptoms and aspects of emotion dysregulation through network analysis. *J Anxiety Disord.* (2022) 86:102536. doi: 10.1016/j.janxdis.2022.102536

47. Ren L, Wang Y, Wu L, Wei Z, Cui LB, Wei X, et al. Network structure of depression and anxiety symptoms in Chinese female nursing students. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2021) 21:1–12. doi: 10.1186/s12888-021-03276-1

48. Bai W, Cai H, Liu S, Chen X, Sha S, Cheung T, et al. Anxiety and depressive symptoms in college students during the late stage of the COVID-19 outbreak: a network approach. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2021) 11:638. doi: 10.1038/s41398-021-01738-4

49. Owczarek M, Nolan E, Shevlin M, Butter S, Karatzias T, McBride O, et al. How is loneliness related to anxiety and depression: a populationbased network analysis in the early lockdown period. *Int J Psychol.* (2022) 2022:12851. doi: 10.1002/ijop.12851

50. Garabiles MR, Lao CK, Xiong Y, Hall BJ. Exploring comorbidity between anxiety and depression among migrant Filipino domestic workers: a network approach. J Affect Disord. (2019) 250:85–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019. 02.062

51. Wei Z, Ren L, Wang X, Liu C, Cao M, Hu M, et al. Network of depression and anxiety symptoms in patients with epilepsy. *Epilepsy Res.* (2021) 175:106696. doi: 10.1016/j.eplepsyres.2021.106696

52. Borsboom D, Robinaugh DJ, Psychosystems Group, Rhemtulla M, Cramer AOJ. Robustness and replicability of psychopathology networks. *World Psychiatry.* (2018) 17:143–4. doi: 10.1002/wps.20515

53. Yang LH, Kleinman A. 'Face' and the embodiment of stigma in China: the cases of schizophrenia and AIDS. *Soc Sci Med.* (2008) 67:398–408. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.011

54. Yang F, Yang BX, Stone TE, Wang XQ, Zhou Y, Zhang J, et al. Stigma towards depression in a community-based sample in China. *Compr Psychiatry.* (2020) 97:152152. doi: 10.1016/j.comppsych.2019. 152152 55. Kuo CL, Kavanagh KH. Chinese perspectives on culture and mental health. Issues Ment Health Nurs. (1994) 15:551–67. doi: 10.3109/01612849409040533

56. Wasil AR, Venturo-Conerly KE, Shinde S, Patel V, Jones PJ. Applying network analysis to understand depression and substance use in Indian adolescents. J Affect Disord. (2020) 265:278–86. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.01.025

57. Xie T, Wen J, Liu X, Wang J, Poppen PJ. Utilizing network analysis to understand the structure of depression in Chinese adolescents: replication with three depression scales. *Curr Psychol.* (2022) 22:1–12. doi: 10.1007/s12144-022-03201-z

58. Akbari M, Seydavi M, Palmieri S, Mansueto G, Caselli G, Spada MM. Fear of missing out (FoMO) and internet use: a comprehensive systematic review and meta-analysis. *J Behav Addict.* (2021) 10:879–900. doi: 10.1556/2006.2021. 00083

Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### EDITED BY

Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

#### REVIEWED BY

Álvaro Jiménez-Molina, Diego Portales University, Chile Sameh Attia, Justus-Liebig University Giessen, Germany

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE Katrin E. Giel katrin.giel@med.uni-tuebingen.de

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 22 July 2022 ACCEPTED 27 September 2022 PUBLISHED 24 October 2022

#### CITATION

Giel KE, Martus P, Paul G, Jürgensen JS, Löwe B, Serna Higuita LM, Dörsam AF, Stuber F, Ehehalt S, Zipfel S and Junne F (2022) Longitudinal development of depression and anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: Findings from a population-based probability sample survey. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1000722. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1000722

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Giel, Martus, Paul, Jürgensen, Löwe, Serna Higuita, Dörsam, Stuber, Ehehalt, Zipfel and Junne. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Longitudinal development of depression and anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic in Germany: Findings from a population-based probability sample survey

Katrin E. Giel<sup>1\*†</sup>, Peter Martus<sup>2†</sup>, Gregor Paul<sup>3,4</sup>, Jan Steffen Jürgensen<sup>5</sup>, Bernd Löwe<sup>6</sup>, Lina Maria Serna Higuita<sup>2</sup>, Annica F. Dörsam<sup>1</sup>, Felicitas Stuber<sup>1</sup>, Stefan Ehehalt<sup>7</sup>, Stephan Zipfel<sup>1</sup> and Florian Junne<sup>1,8</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, Medical University Hospital Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, <sup>2</sup>Institute for Medical Biometrics and Clinical Epidemiology, University Hospital Tuebingen, Tuebingen, Germany, <sup>3</sup>Department of Gastroenterology, Hepatology, Pneumology and Infectious Diseases, Klinikum Stuttgart, Stuttgart, Germany, <sup>4</sup>Department of Internal Medicine, Faculty of Medicine and University Hospital Cologne, University of Cologne, Cologne, Germany, <sup>5</sup>Klinikum Stuttgart, Stuttgart, Germany, <sup>6</sup>Department for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Hamburg Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany, <sup>7</sup>Public Health Authority, Stuttgart, Germany, <sup>8</sup>Department for Psychosomatic Medicine and Psychotherapy, University Hospital Magdeburg, Magdeburg, Germany

The stress response to the COVID-19 pandemic might differ between early and later stages. Longitudinal data on the development of population mental health during COVID-19 pandemic is scarce. We have investigated mental health trajectories and predictors for change in a probability sample of the general population in Germany at the beginning and after 6 months of the pandemic. We conducted a longitudinal survey in a population-based probability sample of German adults. The current study analyzed data from a first assessment in May 2020 (T1; N = 1,412) and a second in November 2020 (T2; N = 743). Mental health was assessed in terms of anxiety and depression using the Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4). Mental health outcomes at T1 were compared with PHQ-4 norm data. Trajectories over time were investigated based on outcome classifications of PHQ-4 scores. Predictors of mental health outcomes and change were identified using multiple regression analysis. In spring 2020, participants showed significantly higher PHQ-4 scores as compared to the norm data, however, overall anxiety and depression remained low also 6 months later. 6.6% of respondents showed a mental health deterioration in autumn 2020, entering subclinical and clinical ranges, outweighing the proportion of people with improved outcomes. Sociodemographic variables associated with mental distress at T1 were mainly not predictive for change at T2. Even under prolonged pandemic-related

stress, mental health remained mainly stable in the general population. Further development of the considerable subgroup experiencing deterioration of depression and anxiety should be monitored, in order to tailor prevention and intervention efforts.

KEYWORDS

anxiety, COVID-19, depression, mental health, pandemic, population

## Introduction

From a mental health perspective, the COVID-19 pandemic can be understood as a global stress induction. Large population groups live under recurrent lockdown situations and threat of a potential infection, experiencing a deprivation of resources and rewarding experiences while mostly having limited control and perspective regarding the situation. The course of the pandemic induces different stages and levels of stress which match well with seminal stress models (1, 2): While the first lockdown in spring 2020 might have induced acute stress, the ongoing pandemic might qualify as a chronic stressor. Hence, the pandemic provides us with novel insights into how individuals cope with stress and about who stays healthy and who is specifically vulnerable to adverse outcomes of chronic stress, including the development of mental symptoms and disorders. This knowledge is pivotal to inform government and health care decisions targeting mental health sequelae of the pandemic (3, 4). However, major methodological limitations of the evidence have been criticized, including a wide reliance on convenience samples (5-8) and a lack of longitudinal data (7, 9, 10). Two large representative surveys from the US (11) and UK (12) investigating pre-post-pandemic mental health outcomes found increased distress in the general population early after the COVID-19 outbreak. The few representative longitudinal studies draw a more differential picture: Data comparing multiple assessments during early stages of the pandemic indicate no changes in mental health outcomes (10, 13, 14), or even a decrease in depression and anxiety over the first 20 weeks of lockdown (15). The few representative studies analyzing individual mental health trajectories identify most people as resilient, while 7% to 11% of individuals reported mental health decline (9, 10, 16) vs. 9-12% experiencing improvements (10, 16). This pattern in mental health development over time has also been found in population-based surveys conducted in Germany (17, 18): Based on the same instrument as used in the present study to assess anxiety and depression, an initial increase in anxiety and depression was found in early stages of the pandemic, which was again reduced during the second wave of the pandemic (18), but overall higher scores of anxiety and depression were reported peri-pandemic as compared to pre-pandemic years (17). Consistently, a recent meta-analysis on lockdown effects on population mental health concludes that most individuals stay mentally healthy (8). Importantly, most of these data stem from the initial stage of the pandemic (8-15), a stage of adaption to an acute stressor (1) as well as stepwise withdrawal of lockdown measures (10). However, mental health might be affected differently along the different stages of the pandemic.

We contribute to the evidence on population mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic by presenting longitudinal data from two assessments within a period of 6 months from a probability sample survey in a German metropole region. We used the Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4) (19, 20) as validated self-report instrument to assess symptoms of depression and anxiety in spring 2020 (T1) and in autumn 2020 (T2). The second assessment point was chosen as in autumn 2020, this was the beginning of the second infection wave and also the second lockdown in Germany, and we hypothesized that these circumstances might impact population mental health. At T1, the 7-day incidence of COVID-19 infections was 5.7 / 100.000 inhabitants in Germany and 7.5 in Stuttgart; at T2, the 7-day incidence was 153.1 in Germany and 137.6 in Stuttgart.

We hypothesized that on average, we will find increased levels of anxiety and depression (a) at T1 as compared to representative norm data, and (b) at T2 as compared to T1 due to reapplied lockdown measures. We expected (c) a majority of the sample to be resilient to mental distress and a small group to show trajectories of impaired mental health and (d) that we will be able to identify sociodemographic predictors for increased distress at T1 and the change between T1 and T2. We tested female gender, younger age, lower education background, living alone and living with children as they have been previously identified as predictors for mental distress early in the pandemic (11, 12, 15, 18). Additionally, we looked at Body Mass Index (BMI) as exploratory variable as elevated BMI has been found to be associated with higher levels of anxiety and depression (21) and as BMI is a proxy of eating behavior which, in some individuals, can serve as an emotion regulation strategy under stressful conditions (22).

## Methods

The present study is reported according to the STROBE statement (23).

## Study design and recruitment

This survey is a subproject of a longitudinal serological investigation of undetected SARS-CoV-2 infection in the general population. Data was derived from a probability sample of the adult general population living in Stuttgart, Germany. Major confinement measures throughout the pandemic, including lockdowns, were in-place on a nationwide level in Germany, hence the situation of the population of Stuttgart is comparable with circumstances in other parts of the country.

### Measures

Mental health was assessed in terms of core symptoms of anxiety and depression using the PHQ-4 (19, 20) which is a widely used screening tool comprised of two items assessing anxiety (GAD-2) and two items assessing depressive symptoms (PHQ-2). The PHQ-2 comprises the DSM-IV core criteria for depressive disorders which are assessed for the last 2 weeks (20), while the GAD-2 assesses the two core criteria for generalized anxiety disorder (20), which have been found to be also good screening approaches for panic, social anxiety and posttraumatic stress disorder (24). The PHQ-4 total score, a sum of PHQ-2 and GAD-2 scores, ranges from 0 to 12 with scores  $\geq$  $6 \le 8$  considered as yellow flag and scores  $\ge 9$  considered as red flag for the presence of anxiety and depression (20). The PHQ-4 is a very widely used brief screening tool for anxiety and depression with excellent psychometric qualities (20). We additionally assessed sociodemographic variables.

### Procedure

Adult members of 4,400 households in Stuttgart were invited *via* postal letters to participate in the study. This initial sample was drawn based on data from the residents' registration office and was representative for the adult population living in Stuttgart. Only one single person was invited per household. The first assessment point took place in the second week of May 2020, which was toward the end of the first pandemic wave in Germany. Study participants were re-invited in the last week of November 2020, which was at the beginning of the second lockdown in Germany. Participants were offered to fill in either a paper or an online version of the survey with identical content. No further exclusion criteria applied.

### Ethics statement

All procedures contributing to this work comply with the ethical standards of the relevant national and institutional committees on human experimentation and with the Helsinki Declaration of 1975, as revised in 2008. All procedures involving human subjects were approved by the ethics committee of the Medical Faculty Tuebingen and the University Hospital Tuebingen (271/2020BO1). Written informed consent was obtained from all subjects.

### Statistical analyses

Primary aim of the study was to investigate mental health trajectories assessed by the PHQ-4 in the general population at the beginning of the pandemic and after 6 months. Predictors for both, baseline and change after 6 months should be identified. For comparison, we used raw data from the PHQ-4 validation study (20). To address responder bias, relevant characteristics at baseline were compared between responders and non-responders using chi-squared test (full df or one df in case of ordinal variables) and *t*-tests (normally distributed data). Normality was assessed by inspection of skewness and kurtosis (both had to be between -1 and +1).

PHQ-4 was analyzed quantitatively and according to a classification proposed by Löwe et al. (20) (see above). Like previously applied by other workgroups (10), we had a specific focus on individual trajectories between T1 and T2 and classified the study sample into participants who remained stable within the respective PHQ-4 band (below  $6, \ge 6 \le 8$  and below 8), those who improved as they were moving to a lower band and those who deteriorated as they were moving to a higher band.

Change of PHQ-4 was assessed by *t*-tests for paired samples (continuous scale), and by sign tests (categorical scale). Associations between quantitative predictors and PHQ-4 at baseline were assessed by linear models (Pearson correlations, ANOVA, including Tukeys B for pairwise comparisons, Curve fit for inspection of quadratic terms, and multiple regression analysis). The same methods were used to assess associations with change of PHQ-4 scores. No imputation was performed and change over time was analyzed only for subjects who participated at T2. This was an exploratory study, thus the chosen level of significance (0.05 two-sided) is not strictly confirmatory and not adjusted for multiple testing. The analyses were carried out using SPSS release 26 (Armonk, NY: IBM Corp). For the Sankey plots, the package R (Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing) was used.

## Results

### Sample characteristics

The baseline sample at T1 comprised 1,412 participants (32.1% response rate) with a mean age of 50.7  $\pm$  18.7 years of which 48.1% were females. 18.3% were living alone, 21.3 %

were living with one or more children (Table 1). 64.5 % were employed, and of those working, 51.6% were predominantly and 27% were completely working from home.

At T2, 743 people (52.8%) participated in the survey. Responders were significantly younger, more often female and reported a lower BMI at baseline. None of the remaining characteristics were different between responders and nonresponders (Table 1).

# Mental health outcomes at baseline and their predictors

PHQ-4 scores at T1 were significantly higher in our sample as compared to the norm data (see Figure 1).

Higher PHQ-4 scores where observed for younger age (r = -0.158, P < 0.001), especially for participants between 19 and 24 years (Anova:  $F_{(6,1394)} = 8.41$ ,  $\eta^2 = 0.036$ , Tukeys B P < 0.01,). Females were more affected than males  $[t_{(1,399)}]$ = -3.98, Cohen's d = 0.21, P < 0.001]. Figure 1 shows age and gender effects compared to PHQ-4 norm values in the German population. Participants with underweight (BMI < 18.5  $kg/m^2$ ) and obesity (BMI > 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup>) were more affected than those with BMI between 18.5 and 30 kg/m<sup>2</sup> [quadratic term, b  $= 0.104, t_{(1,382)} = 3.85, P < 0.001$ ]. People with academic education were less affected than the remaining groups [b =  $-0.182, T_{(1,326)} = -4.12, P < 0.001$ ]. There was no effect for the number of children [b = 0.148,  $t_{(1,401)} = 1.90, P = 0.058$ ] and an unclear pattern for household size [ANOVA  $F_{(4,1,396)} =$ 3.94,  $\eta^2 = 0.01$ , P = 0.003, linear trend P = 0.093, quadratic P = 0.048]. In a multiple regression analysis, all predictors [ $r^2$ adjusted = 0.053, age, b = -0.022,  $t_{(1,300)} = -6.17$ , p < 0.001; gender, b = 0.36,  $t_{(1,300)}$  = 2.96, p = 0.003; BMI linear, b = 0.133,  $t_{(1,300)} = 1.69$ , p = 0.092; BMI quadratic, b = 0.066,  $t_{(1,300)} = 2.40, P = 0.017$ ; education, b = -0.133,  $t_{(1,300)} =$ -3.00, P = 0.003] were significant. Results were similar for the subscale PHQ-2 and less pronounced for the subscale GAD-2 (Supplementary material 1).

### Longitudinal mental health trajectories

In the quantitative analysis, changes of the PHQ-4 score and the PHQ-2 subscale score were highly significant [cohen's d = 0.16 total, (subscale 0.18), ( $t_{(740)}$  = 4.24, (4.99), P <0.001 each] whereas the change in the GAD-2 subscale was less pronounced [cohen's d = 0.08,  $t_{(740)}$  = 2.13, P = 0.03] (Table 2). Figure 2 shows that a vast majority of participants (87%) had stable PHQ-4 scores within the good mental health range. Significantly more participants (6.6%, n = 49) showed a deterioration of mental health at T2, as compared to those showing a mental health improvement (n = 49 vs. n = 21, 2.8%, P = 0.001, exact binomial test). Most of the deteriorations indicated migrating from good health into the "yellow flag" range and a small proportion moving in the "red flag" range.

# Predictors of mental health changes after 6 months

In contrast to the cross-sectional baseline analysis, except for BMI, none of the predictors investigated were significantly associated with the change in PHQ-4 scores (continuous scale) during the observation period. There was a small significant effect (r = -0.087, P < 0.02) that participants with a higher BMI showed less deterioration as compared to people with lower BMI.

## Discussion

The present longitudinal survey assessed depression and anxiety trajectories over 6 months of the COVID-19 pandemic in a large German population-based probability sample.

We replicated findings showing mental health impairments early in the pandemic (11, 12, 18), with females (18, 25), younger people (18) and people with lower education level being more affected (7). Moreover, we found people on both poles of the BMI spectrum to be more affected, while underweight/obesity might be associated with higher vulnerability toward stress and generally increased mental health burden (21). The BMIrelated effects in our sample might partly also mirror current longitudinal trends indicating an increased incidence of eating disorder diagnoses over the first months of the pandemic (26). Regarding potential sex differences in mental health outcomes, it is important to consider several aspects: First of all, longitudinal representative trajectory data on mental health does not report sex differences (10, 15, 16), highlighting again the importance to differentiate between initial and ongoing reaction to the crisis. Secondly, sampling effects could influence data as especially in convenience samples, a significant larger group of participants is female (7). Third, population-based surveys are usually brief and cover the most common mental health outcomes, and while women might just be more likely to endorse symptoms of anxiety and depression, surveys potentially neglect symptoms that are more common experienced in males under stressful conditions (27). Finally, elevated rates of anxiety and depression in females early in the pandemic might partly reflect common gender roles rather than biological sex differences, for instance, women juggling employment and care work under lockdown conditions (27).

Our hypothesis of overall longitudinal deterioration in anxiety and depression 6 months later was supported. Yet, most people remained stable in the range of good mental health, and these individual trajectories support recent evaluations that the mental health of most participants remains stable despite



Variable	Non- responders in follow-up	n	Responders in follow-up	n	<i>P</i> -value responder bias	Responders in follow-up	n	<i>P</i> -value follow-up vs. baseline
Age (yrs); $M \pm SD$	$50.7 \pm 18.7$	667	$45.3 \pm 15.8$	741	$< 0.001^{MW}$	N.A.		N.A.
Sex; <i>n</i> (%)		669		743	0.008 <sup>Chi</sup>	N.A.		N.A.
Male	347 (51.9%)		333 (44.8%)					
Female	322 (48.1%)		410 (55.2%)					
Missing values	0		0					
BMI (kg/m²);	25.5 (± 4.6)	659	24.9 (± 4.7)	733	$0.001^{\mathrm{MW}}$	24.8 (± 4.6)	732	$0.48^{\mathrm{WT}}$
$M\pm SD$								
Education; n (%)		622		711	$0.001^{LL}$	N.A.		N.A.
None	79 (12.7%)		40 (5.6%)					
Vocational training	220 (35.4%)		232 (32.6%)					
Bachelor degree	63 (10.1%)		91 (12.8%)					
Master degree	120 (19.3%)		177 (24.9%)					
Diploma	140 (22.5%)		171 (24.1%)					
Missing value	47		32					
Persons in		667		741	$0.36^{LL}$	N.A.		N.A.
household; n (%)								
1	122 (18.3%)		128 (17.3%)					
2	314 (47.1%)		343 (46.3%)					
3	116 (17.4%)		118 (15.9%)					
4	79 (11.8%)		118 (15.9%)					
5 or more	36 (5.4%)		34 (4.6%)					
Missing values	2		2					
Children in		668		742	$0.14^{\mathrm{LL}}$	N.A.		N.A.
household; n (%)								
0	526 (78.7%)		563 (75.9%)					
1	74 (11.1%)		81 (10.9%)					
2	52 (7.8%)		80 (10.8%)					
3 or more	16 (2.4%)		18 (2.4%)					
Missing value	1		1					

TABLE 1 Sociodemographic variables in survey responders vs. non-responders at follow-up.

pandemic-induced stress (8–10, 16). The trajectory data also matches with our theoretical argument related to assumptions of general stress models (1, 2): Initial increased mental health burden might mirror acute stress in the general population during the first lockdown in spring 2020. Over half a year, the majority of the population shows resilience toward the ongoing pandemic, however there is also a substantial group showing metal health deterioration under this now chronic stress situation. development of mental symptoms and disorders.

In contrast to trajectory data from UK covering earlier time intervals (10, 16), the group in our sample experiencing mental health deterioration was slightly smaller, still, there were clearly more people declining than improving in mental health, while these contrasting groups were nearly equal in the UK surveys (10, 16). Our data covers a comparably longer time interval, reassessing the sample after reapplication of nationwide lockdown measures in Germany, and this might explain why we found less improvement regarding anxiety and depression. BMI was the only variable predicting mental health change over 6 months, though this effect was small and should be interpreted with caution. However, the evidence on who is vulnerable in the long run of the pandemic is still limited, and also a recent study investigating mental health trajectories concludes that most of the predictors for distress in early pandemic stages were less consistently associated with longitudinal mental health trajectories (10). There is preliminary evidence for pre-existing illness, socioeconomic status and ethnicity to predict long-term mental health deterioration during COVID-19 pandemic (16).

Germany is a high-income country, and, in light of this, it is important to consider that trajectories in population mental health may also be related to the national health and social care systems, as well as specific government responses to the crisis and available resources in the society. Indeed, Germany has taking several measures in order to mitigate the impact

125



of the pandemic on people's live circumstance, for instance, financial reimbursement was widely implemented in Germany for individuals unable to work during lockdowns. In contrast, economic uncertainty throughout the pandemic might be more severe and might impact more strongly mental health outcomes in developing countries (28).

## Strengths and limitations

In the present study, we report data on longitudinal mental health outcomes during COVID-19 pandemic from a population-based probability sample. As such, it overcomes some of the methodological weaknesses of online survey data (5) which currently forms most of the evidence based on mental health outcomes during the pandemic (7). Our survey participants were invited *via* mail to their postal address, which allows also people to participate who would have been

digitally excluded. Our data covers an interval of 6 months, and we rely on a widely used instrument assessing anxiety and depression (20). The PHQ-4 is a brief screening instrument with excellent psychometric qualities (20), allowing for an ecological assessment of mental health outcomes, which is an advantage especially in large surveys. However, at the same time, we did not cover other aspects of mental health, for instance such as insomnia. Further limitations comprise that the study protocol was not pre-registered, we cannot compare to pre-pandemic data; our sample exclusively stems from an urban background, and the survey lacks information about variables which have previously been identified to influence mental health outcomes, such as ethnicity and income (15, 16), sense of coherence (29) or media use (30). The PHQ-4 norm data was published in 2010 which dates back several years from the implementation of the present study. In the course of time, the prevalence of anxious and depressive symptoms might have varied due to factors unrelated to the pandemic. We found a responder bias

Variable	Non- responders in follow-up	N	Responders in follow-up	n	<i>P</i> -value responder bias	Responders in follow-up	n	<i>P</i> -value follow-up vs. baseline
PHQ-4 sum score;	$2.2\pm2.2$	741	$2.3\pm2.2$	660	$0.94^{\mathrm{MW}}$	$2.5\pm2.4$	741	< 0.001 <sup>WT</sup>
$M\pm SD$								
PHQ-4		741		660				
categorized; n (%)								
Good mental health	690 (92.6%)		608 (92.1%)		$0.67^{LL}$	663 (89.5%)		$0.001^{ST}$
Yellow flag	36 (5.4%)		40 (6.1%)			59 (8.0%)		
Red flag	15 (1.9%)		12 (1.8%)			19 (2.6%)		
PHQ-2 sum score;	1.2 (±1.1)	742	1.2 (±1.2)	663	0.95 <sup>MW</sup>	1.4 (±1.3)	741	$< 0.001^{\mathrm{WT}}$
$M\pm SD$								
PHQ-2					0.46 <sup>LL</sup>			$< 0.001^{ST}$
categorized; n (%)								
Good mental health	671 (90.4%)		592 (89.3%)			634 (85.6%)		
Yellow flag	58 (7.8%)		57 (8.6%)			85 (11.5%)		
Red flag	13 (1.8%)		14 (2.1%)			22 (3.0%)		
GAD-2 sum score;	1.0 (±1.2)	741	1.1 (±1.3)	662	$0.88^{\mathrm{MW}}$	1.1 (±1.3)	741	$0.03^{\mathrm{WT}}$
$M\pm SD$								
GAD-2					$0.98^{LL}$			$0.057^{ST}$
categorized; n (%)								
Good mental health	668 (90.1%)		597 (90.2%)			649 (87.6%)		
Yellow flag	56 (7.6%)		50 (7.6%)			74 (10.0%)		
Red flag	17 (2.3%)		15 (2.3%)			18 (2.4%)		

TABLE 2 Mental health outcomes in survey responders vs. non-responders at follow-up.

BMI, Body Mass Index; Chi, Chi square; GAD-2, Subscale assessing depression of the Patient Health Questionnaire-4; LL, linear-by-linear association test; M, mean; MW, Mann-Whitney-U test; PHQ-2, Subscale assessing depression of the Patient Health Questionnaire-4; PHQ-4, Patient Health Questionnaire-4; SD, standard deviation; ST, Sign test; WT, Wilcoxon test.

PHQ categories: Good mental health = sum scores below six for the PHQ-4 and below three for the subscales; Yellow flag = sum scores between six and eight for the PHQ-4 and sum scores of three or four for the subscales; Red flag = sum scores of nine or larger for the PHQ-4 and sum scores of five or larger for the subscales.

between T1 and T2 assessment, however, none of the respective variables was strongly associated with mental health change over time. It should be noted that at T1, the concept of predictors is weaker than in the longitudinal setting at T2.

## Perspectives and future studies

Future research efforts are needed for an in-depth investigation of long-term trajectories of mental health throughout the pandemic and also post-pandemic (7). For instance, it will be insightful to analyze the development through winter and spring 2020/21 prolonged lockdown conditions in many countries, but also throughout winter 2022 which was characterized by altered strains and circumstances with a novel virus variant. Taking a longer-term perspective, it will be an important question if elevated mental health burden throughout the pandemic puts individuals at risk to develop clinical mental health conditions, and, on a population-level, if and when overall mental health status recovers to prepandemic levels. A further pivotal line of research focuses on predictors of both, mental health deterioration and mental resilience throughout the pandemic on a population level and in vulnerable subgroups (17, 31). Knowledge on such risk and protective factors will inform tailored prevention efforts and intervention strategies for future pandemic circumstances. Beyond, and taking a more global perspective, a stronger differentiation of how population mental health has been affected in countries with different government measures, socio-economic levels and health care systems is necessary in order to better understand which political and administrative interventions might be harmful and helpful.

## Conclusions

Our longitudinal population-based study contributes to the literature on mental health outcomes during COVID-19 pandemic by reporting trajectory data beyond questionnaire mean scores. These data show that most individuals remain in a stable and healthy range regarding symptoms of anxiety and depression under prolonged pandemic-related stress. Our study indicates that vulnerability factors differ over the course of the pandemic: While most of those initially vulnerable to acute stress might quickly adapt (15), other groups vulnerable to long-term effects of stress evolve over time.

Importantly, a considerable subsample did experience a deterioration of depression and anxiety symptoms over 6 months. Research efforts on long-term peri- and post-pandemic trajectories of mental health are needed in order to tailor prevention efforts for future pandemic circumstances (4, 32) and to offer support to vulnerable individuals (4), including adapted dissemination strategies, digital and low-threshold interventions (33).

## Data availability statement

Raw data related to the present study will be made available by the corresponding author upon reasonable request.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee at the Medical Faculty of the University Tübingen and the University Hospital Tübingen. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

## Author contributions

KEG, GP, JSJ, SE, and FJ designed the study and implemented core study procedures. AD and FS contributed to preparation of the survey and supported survey conduction and data handling. PM is the responsible biostatistician. PM and LMSH conducted the data analysis and prepared the figures. BL provided data for parts of the data analysis. PM, KEG, SZ, and FJ interpreted the data. KEG drafted the manuscript. All authors critically revised it and approved the final manuscript.

# Acknowledgments

We thank Ansgar Schmitz-Veltin for his support in drawing the sample as well as Ursula Krause and Oliver Wienand for support in conduction of the survey. We are grateful to Kristina Overkamp, Anne Herschbach, and Iris Armbruster for data entry.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.1000722/full#supplementary-material

# References

1. Selye H. Forty years of stress research: principal remaining problems and misconceptions. Can Med Assoc J. (1976) 115:53-6.

2. Guidi J, Lucente M, Sonino N, Fava GA. Allostatic load and its impact on health: a systematic review. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2021) 90:11–27. doi: 10.1159/000510696

3. Pfefferbaum B, North CS. Mental health and the Covid-19 pandemic. N Engl J Med. (2020) 383:510–2. doi: 10.1056/NEJMp2008017

4. Rapado-Castro M, Arango C. Building up resilience in an uncertain world: mental health challenges in the aftermath of the first modern pandemic. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 271:1001–3. doi: 10.1007/s00406-021-01313-4

5. Nieto I, Navas JF, Vazquez C. The quality of research on mental health related to the COVID-19 pandemic: a note of caution after a systematic review. *Brain Behav Immun Health.* (2020) 7:100123. doi: 10.1016/j.bbih.2020.100123

8. Prati G, Mancini AD. The psychological impact of COVID-19 pandemic lockdowns: a review and meta-analysis of longitudinal studies and natural experiments. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:201–11. doi: 10.1017/S0033291721000015

<sup>6.</sup> Pierce M, McManus S, Jessop C, John A, Hotopf M, Ford T, et al. Says who? The significance of sampling in mental health surveys during COVID-19. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:567–8. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30237-6

Kunzler AM, Rothke N, Gunthner L, Stoffers-Winterling J, Tuscher O, Coenen M, et al. Mental burden and its risk and protective factors during the early phase of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic: systematic review and meta-analyses. *Glob Health.* (2021) 17:34. doi: 10.1186/s12992-021-00670-y

<sup>9.</sup> Ahrens KF, Neumann RJ, Kollmann B, Plichta MM, Lieb K, Tuscher O, et al. Differential impact of COVID-related lockdown on mental health in Germany. World Psychiatry. (2021) 20:140–1. doi: 10.1002/wps.20830

10. Shevlin M, Butter S, McBride O, Murphy J, Gibson-Miller J, Hartman TK, et al. Refuting the myth of a 'tsunami' of mental ill-health in populations affected by COVID-19: evidence that response to the pandemic is heterogenous, not homogeneous. *Psychol Med.* (2021). doi: 10.1017/S0033291721001665. [Epub ahead of print].

11. McGinty EE, Presskreischer R, Han H, Barry CL. Psychological distress and loneliness reported by US adults in 2018 and April 2020. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:93-4. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.9740

12. Pierce M, Hope H, Ford T, Hatch S, Hotopf M, John A, et al. Mental health before and during the COVID-19 pandemic: a longitudinal probability sample survey of the UK population. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2020) 7:883–92. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30308-4

13. McGinty EE, Presskreischer R, Anderson KE, Han H, Barry CL. Psychological distress and COVID-19-related stressors reported in a longitudinal cohort of US adults in April and July 2020. *JAMA*. (2020) 324:2555–7. doi: 10.1001/jama.2020.21231

14. Hyland P, Shevlin M, Murphy J, McBride O, Fox R, Bondjers K, et al. A longitudinal assessment of depression and anxiety in the Republic of Ireland before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 300:113905. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2021.113905

15. Fancourt D, Steptoe A, Bu F. Trajectories of anxiety and depressive symptoms during enforced isolation due to COVID-19 in England: a longitudinal observational study. *Lancet Psychiatry.* (2021) 8:141–9. doi: 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30482-X

16. Pierce M, McManus S, Hope H, Hotopf M, Ford T, Hatch SL, et al. Mental health responses to the COVID-19 pandemic: a latent class trajectory analysis using longitudinal UK data. *Lancet Psychiatry*. (2021) 8:610–9. doi: 10.2139/ssrn.3784647

17. Riepenhausen A, Veer IM, Wackerhagen C, Reppmann ZC, Kober G, Ayuso-Mateos JL, et al. Coping with COVID: risk and resilience factors for mental health in a German representative panel study. *Psychol Med.* (2022). doi: 10.1017/S0033291722000563. [Epub ahead of print].

18. Hettich N, Entringer TM, Kroeger H, Schmidt P, Tibubos AN, Braehler E, et al. Impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on depression, anxiety, loneliness, and satisfaction in the German general population: a longitudinal analysis. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2022). doi: 10.1007/s00127-022-02311-0. [Epub ahead of print].

19. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Lowe B. An ultra-brief screening scale for anxiety and depression: the PHQ-4. *Psychosomatics*. (2009) 50:613–21. doi: 10.1176/appi.psy.50.6.613

20. Lowe B, Wahl I, Rose M, Spitzer C, Glaesmer H, Wingenfeld K, et al. A 4-item measure of depression and anxiety: validation and standardization of the Patient Health Questionnaire-4 (PHQ-4) in the general population. *J Affect Disord.* (2010) 122:86–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.06.019

21. Herhaus B, Kersting A, Brahler E, Petrowski K. Depression, anxiety and health status across different BMI classes: a representative study in Germany. J Affect Disord. (2020) 276:45–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.07.020

22. Guerrini Usubini A, Cattivelli R, Varallo G, Castelnuovo G, Molinari E, Giusti EM, et al. The relationship between psychological distress during the second wave lockdown of COVID-19 and Emotional eating in italian young adults: the mediating role of emotional dysregulation. *J Pers Med.* (2021) 11:569. doi: 10.3390/jpm11060569

23. von Elm E, Altman DG, Egger M, Pocock SJ, Gotzsche PC, Vandenbroucke JP, et al. The Strengthening the Reporting of Observational Studies in Epidemiology (STROBE) statement: guidelines for reporting observational studies. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2008) 61:344–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2007.11.008

24. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB, Monahan PO, Lowe B. Anxiety disorders in primary care: prevalence, impairment, comorbidity, and detection. *Ann Intern Med.* (2007) 146:317–25. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-146-5-200703060-00004

25. Plomecka M, Gobbi S, Neckels R, Radzinski P, Skorko B, Lazzeri S, et al. Factors associated with psychological disturbances during the COVID-19 pandemic: multicountry online study. *JMIR Ment Health.* (2021) 8:e28736. doi: 10.2196/28736

26. Taquet M, Geddes JR, Luciano S, Harrison PJ. Incidence and outcomes of eating disorders during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2021) 220:1–3. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2021.105

27. Giel KE, Derntl B. The weaker sex? What we can learn from sex differences in population mental health during and beyond the COVID-19 pandemic. *Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci.* (2021) 272:165–6. doi: 10.1007/s00406-021-01312-5

28. Duarte F, Jimenez-Molina A. A longitudinal nationwide study of psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic in Chile. *Front Psychiatry*. (2022) 13:744204. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.744204

29. Schafer SK, Sopp MR, Schanz CG, Staginnus M, Goritz AS, Michael T. Impact of COVID-19 on public mental health and the buffering effect of a sense of coherence. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2020) 89:386–92. doi: 10.1159/000510752

30. Bendau A, Petzold MB, Pyrkosch L, Mascarell Maricic L, Betzler F, Rogoll J, et al. Associations between COVID-19 related media consumption and symptoms of anxiety, depression and COVID-19 related fear in the general population in Germany. Eur Arch Psychiatry Clin Neurosci. (2021) 271:283– 91. doi: 10.1007/s00406-020-01171-6

31. Veer IM, Riepenhausen A, Zerban M, Wackerhagen C, Puhlmann LMC, Engen H, et al. Psycho-social factors associated with mental resilience in the Corona lockdown. *Transl Psychiatry.* (2021) 11:67. doi: 10.1038/s41398-020-01150-4

32. Bu F, Steptoe A, Mak H, Fancourt D. Time use and mental health in UK adults during an 11-week COVID-19 lockdown: a panel analysis. British Journal of Psychiatry. (2021) 219:551–6. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2021.44

33. Wahlund T, Mataix-Cols D, Olofsdotter Lauri K, de Schipper E, Ljotsson B, Aspvall K, et al. Brief online cognitive behavioural intervention for dysfunctional worry related to the COVID-19 pandemic: a randomised controlled trial. *Psychother Psychosom.* (2021) 90:191–9. doi: 10.1159/000512843

#### Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Vsevolod Konstantinov, Penza State University, Russia

#### **REVIEWED BY**

Andrés Alexis Ramírez Coronel, Catholic University of Cuenca, Ecuador Aquartuti Tri Darmayanti, School of Health Sciences Mamba'ul 'Ulum, Indonesia

\*CORRESPONDENCE Pasquale Buonanno pasquale.buonanno@unina.it

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Intensive Care Medicine and Anesthesiology, a section of the journal Frontiers in Medicine

RECEIVED 05 October 2022 ACCEPTED 14 November 2022 PUBLISHED 15 December 2022

#### CITATION

Buonanno P, Marra A, Iacovazzo C, Vargas M, Nappi S, de Siena AU and Servillo G (2022) Preoperative anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic: A single-center observational study and comparison with a historical cohort. *Front. Med.* 9:1062381. doi: 10.3389/fmed.2022.1062381

COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Buonanno, Marra, Iacovazzo, Vargas, Nappi, de Siena and Servillo. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Preoperative anxiety during COVID-19 pandemic: A single-center observational study and comparison with a historical cohort

Pasquale Buonanno\*†, Annachiara Marra†, Carmine Iacovazzo, Maria Vargas, Serena Nappi, Andrea Uriel de Siena and Giuseppe Servillo

Department of Neurosciences, Reproductive and Odontostomatological Sciences, University of Naples "Federico II", Naples, Italy

**Background:** Preoperative anxiety is a common sensation experienced by patients undergoing surgical interventions. It can influence intraoperative and postoperative management through the activation of the neuroendocrine system, leading to tachycardia, hypertension, pulmonary complications, higher consumption of anesthetic drugs, and increased postoperative pain. Our aim was to investigate the level of preoperative anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic; we also compared it to the preoperative anxiety of a historical cohort before the outbreak.

**Methods:** This is a single-center observational study. We enrolled 314 patients during the pandemic from May 2021 to November 2021, and our historical cohort consisted of 122 patients enrolled from July 2015 to May 2016 in the university hospital "Federico II" of Naples. The Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale (APAIS) and the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (STAI) were used to evaluate preoperative anxiety. In particular, APAIS measures preoperative anxiety and the need for information, and STAI assesses state and trait anxiety through STAI-Y1 and STAI-Y2, respectively. We analyzed APAIS and STAI scores in our population stratified on the basis of age, gender, marital status, previous surgical experiences, and type of surgery, and we compared them to our historical cohort. Statistical analysis was performed through a *t*-test and ANOVA for parametric data, and the Mann–Whitney and Kruskal–Wallis tests for non-parametric data. Linear regression was used to investigate the correlation between demographic data and the scores of STAI and APAIS in both groups.

**Results:** Our results showed that state and preoperative anxiety remained stable, whereas trait anxiety increased in all the subgroups analyzed.

**Discussion:** Even if state anxiety is considered a variable characteristic of the emotional sphere and trait anxiety a stable element, our findings suggested that COVID-19 deeply influenced trait anxiety, thus altering the patients' psychological foundations.

KEYWORDS

anxiety, preoperative period, test anxiety scale, psychology, COVID-19 pandemic

# Introduction

Anxiety is a common unpleasant sensation experienced by many patients undergoing surgical procedures all over the world (e.g., USA 20-50%, Europe 27-70%, India 31-46%, and Africa 47-70%). It is defined as a stress response to an unfocused threat, whereas fear is defined as the reaction to a specific danger (1-12). Anxiety can cause a state of exaggerated alertness, often in association with physical and psychological symptoms, such as restlessness, fatigue, muscular tension, sweating, tachycardia, increased blood pressure, intrusive thoughts, and difficulty maintaining concentration (8, 13, 14). Physical symptoms are triggered by the activation of the autonomic nervous system, which leads to the neuroendocrine response through an augmented release of many hormones, such as catecholamines, cortisol, and prolactin, thus increasing the risk of both intraoperative and postoperative complications, such as hemodynamic instability, pulmonary complications, and mental disorders, and higher consumption of anesthetic drugs (15-17). Some studies showed that gynecological elective surgical patients with a high anxiety trait need an increased dose of propofol for the induction and maintenance of anesthesia, while anxious patients undergoing cholecystectomy have a higher risk of intraoperative hemodynamic events (15, 16). Moreover, as previously reported, the correlation between preoperative anxiety and the reduction of pain threshold leads to an increased requirement for analgesic drugs (14, 18-22).

Preoperative anxiety can have a multifactorial origin as it can be influenced by gender, age, social status, and previous surgical experiences (23, 24).

Notably, anxiety can lead to an impairment of the immune system and, consequently, to a higher risk of infections (25).

Our study aimed to determine the level of preoperative anxiety during the COVID-19 pandemic; in addition, we compared it to the preoperative anxiety of a population screened in a previous study conducted in our center to investigate if there is any difference between pre-pandemic and pandemic times (26).

## Materials and methods

The present study was approved by the local ethic committee "Comitato Etico Università Federico II" (protocol number: 155/20). After explaining the purpose of our research and obtaining written informed consent, we enrolled 314 patients undergoing elective surgery between May 2021 and November 2021 at University Hospital "Federico II" of Naples; they were asked to fill out the questionnaires during the pre-surgical anesthesia assessment. The historical cohort was obtained from the database of a previous study that we conducted before the pandemic (from July 2015 to May 2016) on 122 patients to validate the Italian version of APAIS in the same hospital (27).

The inclusion criteria were as follows: patients in the age bracket of 18–75 years, with adequate language skills, and appropriate comprehension of the questionnaires.

The exclusion criteria were as follows: patients undergoing emergency surgery or obstetric procedures, patients enrolled in our previous study, patients with psychiatric diseases, and patients using psychotropic drugs.

We recorded the following data: anthropometric measures, marital status, educational level, family status, medical and clinical history, and previous surgery. We used two tests to investigate preoperative anxiety, the STAI questionnaire, which is divided into two sections each of them consisting of 20 questions (Y1 and Y2), and the APAIS, a 6-item questionnaire. STAI Y1 was used to measure state anxiety, whereas STAI-Y2 assessed trait anxiety of the patients. State anxiety is defined as a transitory emotional response, whereas trait anxiety is a stable psychological characteristic of the individual, describing the probability to feel anxious in a distressing situation (28). Furthermore, we used APAIS to evaluate not only the anxiety related to anesthesia and the surgery but also the need for information about them. The higher the scores of STAI and APAIS, the higher the level of anxiety of the patient.

## Statistical analysis

We first performed a Shapiro–Wilk test to assess the normal distribution of the data. Parametric data were presented

	Pre-pandemic		During-	pandemic	
	N (%)	Mean (SD)	N (%)	Mean (SD)	P-value
All	122 (100%)		314 (100%)		
Age (years)	122 (100%)	50.1 (14.26)	314 (100%)	48.05 (16.62)	0.072
18-29	14 (11%)	24.42 (3.39)	44 (14%)	23.79 (3.36)	0.54
30-39	11 (9%)	34.38 (3.73)	62 (20%)	34.64 (3.03)	0.78
40-49	29 (24%)	43.86 (2.91)	73 (23%)	44.87 (2.3)	0.06
50-59	26 (21%)	54.73 (2.77)	51 (16%)	55.19 (2.72)	0.48
>60	42 (32%)	65.45 (4.95)	84 (17%)	67.28 (4.96)	0.056
Gender					< 0.001
Male	70 (57%)		93 (30%)		0.07
Female	52 (43%)		221 (70%)		< 0.001
Height (cm)	168.05 (8.337)		164.82 (37.34)		0.261
BMI (kg/cm <sup>2</sup> )	168.05 (8.337)		164.82 (37.34)		0.190
Marital status					0.001
Married	98 (80%)		202 (64%)		< 0.001
Not married	24 (20%)		112 (36%)		< 0.001
Race					0.925
Caucasic	122 (100%)		312 (99%)		
Asian	0 (0%)		2 (1%)		
Comorbidity					< 0.001
Yes	38 (31%)		236 (75%)		< 0.001
No	84 (69%)		78 (25%)		0.63
Previous surgery					< 0.001
Yes	111 (90%)		79 (25%)		0.02
No	11 (10%)		235 (75%)		< 0.001
ASA					< 0.001
Ι	20 (16%)		39 (12%)		0.001
II	73 (60%)		233 (74%)		< 0.001
III	28 (23%)		38 (12%)		0.21
IV	1 (1%)		0 (0%)		0.31
Type of surgery					< 0.001
Minor	20 (17%)		44 (14%)		1
Intermediate	59 (48%)		53 (18%)		< 0.001
Major	43 (35%)		217 (68%)		< 0.001

### TABLE 1 Demographic characteristics of the study population.

as mean and standard deviation, non-parametric data as median and interquartile range, and categorical variables as frequencies. Parametric data were analyzed through Student's *t*-test and the analysis of variance (ANOVA), non-parametric data were analyzed through the Mann–Whitney and Kruskal– Wallis tests, and Pearson's chi-square test was used to compare frequencies. *Post hoc* analyses were performed with Tukey's test for parametric data and Dunn's test for non-parametric data. We conducted a multivariate analysis through a linear model to correlate STAI-Y1, STAI-Y2, and APAIS scores to the demographic data such as age, gender, marital status, previous surgery, and type of surgery. Differences were considered statistically significant if p < 0.05. All tests were performed using R Studio (28).

## Results

We collected data from 122 patients before the pandemic and 314 patients during the pandemic. Socio-demographic characteristics are reported in **Table 1**. The two groups differed in gender composition, marital status, comorbidity, previous surgery, American Society of Anesthesiologists (ASA) status, and type of surgery. **Table 2** reports the analysis of STAI-Y1; there was no difference in the scores reported by the two groups

	Pr	e-pandemic	Dur	During pandemic			
	N (%)	Median (Q1-Q3)	N (%)	Median (Q1-Q3)			
All	122 (100%)	43 (35–51)	314 (100%)	45 (42-49)	0.05		
Age (years)							
18-29	14 (11%)	45.5 (32.5-54.25)	44 (14%)	46 (42–48)	0.799		
30-39	11 (9%)	36 (32–49)	62 (20%)	45 (42–49.5)	0.021		
40-49	29 (24%)	42 (35.5–42)	73 (23%)	45.5 (42-49)	0.48		
50-59	26 (21%)	45.5 (33.75-59.75)	51 (16%)	45 (40-49)	0.944		
>60	42 (32%)	43.5 (37–50.75)	84 (17%)	45 (42.25-48)	0.189		
<i>p</i> -value		0.809		0.954			
Gender							
Male	70 (57%)	32.5 (32–44)	93 (30%)	46 (43-49)	< 0.001		
Female	52 (43%)	47 (36.5–56)	221 (70%)	45 (41–49)	0.57		
<i>p</i> -value		< 0.001		0.151			
Marital status							
Married	98 (80%)	43.5 (36–51)	202 (64%)	45 (42–49)	0.058		
Not married	24 (20%)	39 (33–51.25)	112 (36%)	44 (41–48)	0.262		
<i>p</i> -value		0.459		0.033			
Previous surgery							
Yes	111 (90%)	43 (36–51)	79 (25%)	45 (41-48)	0.425		
No	11 (10%)	38 (32–52)	235 (75%)	46 (42–49)	0.145		
<i>p</i> -value		0.426		0.374			
Type of surgery							
Minor	20 (17%)	47.5 (35.5–47.5)	44 (14%)	44 (41.25-48.75)	0.728		
Intermediate	59 (48%)	43 (37–52)	53 (18%)	46 (41-49)	0.413		
Major	43 (35%)	39 (33–50)	217 (68%)	45 (42–49)	0.09		
<i>p</i> -value		0.33		0.9			

TABLE 2 STAY-Y1 score for pre-pandemic and during-pandemic groups.

except for the subgroups of patients aged 30–39 years old and men, which showed an increased level of state anxiety during the pandemic.

**Table 3** shows that STAI-Y2 scores were significantly higher in the during-pandemic subgroups than in pre-pandemic ones, except for the subgroups aged 50–59 years old and subjects undergoing minor surgery.

**Table 4** shows the overall APAIS score. No significant differences were detected between pre- and during-pandemic groups, except for men and patients undergoing minor surgery, which showed a lower score during the pandemic.

**Supplementary Table 1** reports the score obtained from the sum of APAIS questions about the anxiety correlated to anesthesia and surgery; men experienced a lower level of anxiety during the pandemic compared to the pre-pandemic group. In both groups, it is confirmed that women are more anxious than men about anesthesia and surgery.

**Supplementary Table 2** shows the score obtained from the sum of APAIS questions about the need for information about anesthesia and surgery. No significant differences were recorded between pre- and during-pandemic groups.

Multivariate analysis showed that during the pandemic, STAI-Y1 is inversely correlated to age between 30 and 39 [standardized beta coefficient -2.71, 95% confidence interval (CI): (-5.34; -0.08), *p*-value: 0.043], while no correlation was found between STAI-Y1 score and the other demographic data analyzed both during and before the pandemic (Supplementary Table 3). STAI-Y2 score inversely correlated only to the male gender before the pandemic (standardized beta coefficient: -3.44; 95% CI: -6.60; -0.29, p-value: 0.033; Supplementary Table 4). APAIS score inversely correlated to the male gender both before the pandemic (standardized beta coefficient: -2.54, 95% CI: -4.70; -0.37, *p*-value: 0.022) and during the pandemic (standardized beta coefficient: -3.94, 95% CI: -5.62; -2.25, *p*-value: < 0.001) and inversely correlated to age more than 60 during the pandemic (standardized beta coefficient: 3.16, 95% CI: -5.69; -0.62, *p*-value: 0.015; **Supplementary Table 5**).

## Discussion

Our study aimed to investigate the difference in preoperative anxiety before and during the pandemic. We found that

	Pre	e-pandemic	Dur	During pandemic			
	N (%)	Median (Q1-Q3)	N (%)	Median (Q1-Q3)			
All	122 (100%)	37.5 (30.75-44)	314 (100%)	46 (42-49)	< 0.001		
Age (years)							
18-29	14 (11%)	35.5 (29.5-42.75)	44 (14%)	47 (43–49)	< 0.001		
30-39	11 (9%)	33 (30–42)	62 (20%)	45.5 (41-48.25)	< 0.001		
40-49	29 (24%)	36 (31.5-42)	73 (23%)	44 (41–48)	< 0.001		
50-59	26 (21%)	40.5 (34.25-49.25)	51 (16%)	45 (41–50)	0.031		
>60	42 (32%)	38 (29.25-42.75)	84 (17%)	46 (43-49.75)	< 0.001		
<i>p</i> -value		0.482		0.135			
Gender							
Male	70 (57%)	36 (29–42)	93 (30%)	46 (42–48.5)	< 0.001		
Female	52 (43%)	40 (33-45)	221 (70%)	46 (41–49)	< 0.001		
<i>p</i> -value		0.08		0.679			
Marital status							
Married	98 (80%)	38 (32–44)	202 (64%)	45 (42–49)	< 0.001		
Not married	24 (20%)	35.5 (30-42)	112 (36%)	46 (41–49)	< 0.001		
<i>p</i> -value		0.308		0.78			
Previous surgery							
Yes	111 (90%)	38 (32–44)	79 (25%)	44 (41–48)	< 0.001		
No	11 (10%)	32 (29–35)	235 (75%)	46 (43–49)	< 0.001		
<i>p</i> -value		0.083		0.081			
Type of surgery							
Minor	20 (17%)	42.5 (36.75-42.5)	44 (14%)	46.5 (41-48)	0.094		
Intermediate	59 (48%)	38 (30-44)*	57 (18%)	45 (42.5-48.5)	< 0.001		
Major	43 (35%)	34 (29–41) <sup>†</sup>	217 (68%)	46 (41.5-49)	< 0.001		
<i>p</i> -value		0.005		0.9			

### TABLE 3 STAY-Y2 score for pre-pandemic and during-pandemic groups.

\*There is a statistically significant difference between intermediate and minor surgery (p = 0.046).

<sup>†</sup>There's a statistically significant difference between major and minor surgery (p < 0.001).

according to STAI-Y1, there were no significant changes in state anxiety; this result was confirmed by APAIS, which did not show any modification during the pandemic for both the anxiety and the need for information subscales. Notably, all the subgroups analyzed showed increased trait anxiety during the pandemic, as recorded by STAI-Y2.

A possible explanation of this result might be the measures adopted to face the spread of the infection in the hospital; in fact, there was close monitoring of patients before admission to the hospital, checking for the virus infection through nasopharyngeal swabs. Apparently, this initial screening probably made the patient feel safe from the contagion.

Previous studies confirmed our result that age does not significantly affect preoperative anxiety, even during the COVID-19 pandemic; only older patients showed a significantly higher level of perioperative anxiety measured by APAIS during the pandemic, maybe because they felt to be a more fragile category of patients based on information conveyed by mass media (23). According to STAI-Y1, only young adults seemed to experience a higher level of anxiety during the pandemic compared to the pre-pandemic period, probably due to their greater and easier access to the internet and social media, which may have increased the exposure to misinformation; furthermore, men showed an increased level of state anxiety during the pandemic (29). This finding is in contrast with the APAIS score, which showed that during the pandemic preoperative anxiety about anesthesia and surgery in men was lower than in the pre-pandemic period; it is important to underline that APAIS questions are specifically focused on anesthesia and surgery, while STAI-Y1 questions are more generic and the patient could forget that the questionnaire refers to the procedures they will undergo (30). In addition, our data confirmed that both during and before the pandemic, the level of preoperative anxiety was lower in men than in women (23).

In accordance with other studies, previous surgical experiences, type of surgery, and marital status did not influence preoperative anxiety both during and before the pandemic (23, 31, 32).

	<b>Pre-pandemic</b>		Dur	ing pandemic	P-value
	N (%)	Median (Q1-Q3)	N (%)	Median (Q1-Q3)	
All	122 (100%)	15 (10–21)	318 (100%)	15 (11–21)	0.834
Age (years)					
18–29	14 (11%)	17.5 (11.75–20.5)	44 (14%)	15 (7.25–20)	0.16
30-39	11 (9%)	14 (11–21)	62 (20%)	16.5 (12–23.25)	0.521
40-49	29 (24%)	16 (12.5–18)	73 (23%)	15 (10-20.75)	0.941
50-59	26 (21%)	17 (10.75–22)	51 (16%)	14 (10–20)	0.493
>60	42 (32%)	14.5 (10-21.75)	84 (17%)	16 (12–20.75)	0.748
<i>p</i> -value		0.881		0.339	
Gender					
Male	70 (57%)	14 (10–18)	93 (30%)	12 (6-12)	0.011
Female	52 (43%)	17 (12.5–22)	221 (70%)	17 (12–22)	0.893
<i>p</i> -value		0.029		< 0.001	
Marital status					
Married	98 (80%)	15 (11–21)	202 (64%)	15 (10–21)	0.649
Not married	24 (20%)	14.5 (10.25–19.5)	112 (36%)	15 (10–21)	0.786
<i>p</i> -value		0.633		0.768	
Previous surgery					
Yes	111 (90%)	15 (11–21)	79 (25%)	15 (9–21)	0.911
No	11 (10%)	15 (11–20)	235 (75%)	15 (10–21)	0.854
<i>p</i> -value		0.778		0.988	
Type of surgery					
Minor	20 (17%)	17 (10–22)	44 (14%)	12 (6-16)	0.02
Intermediate	59 (48%)	16 (11–21)	57 (18%)	15 (10–20.5)*	0.51
Major	43 (35%)	14 (11–20)	217 (68%)	17 (12–21)†	0.168
<i>p</i> -value		0.695		< 0.001	

TABLE 4 The Amsterdam Preoperative Anxiety and Information Scale (APAIS) score for pre-pandemic and during-pandemic groups.

\*There is a statistically significant difference between intermediate and minor surgery (p = 0.046).

<sup>†</sup>There is a statistically significant difference between major and minor surgery (p < 0.001).

Notably, while overall anxiety did not seem to be substantially affected by the pandemic, trait anxiety augmented in all the subgroups. These findings agree with previous studies investigating trait anxiety in different populations during the pandemic. Trait anxiety is a relatively stable characteristic of a patient's psychology, but it can be modified by many factors such as psychological therapies; we found that the psychological burden of the pandemic was so powerful to be able to alter the hardcore of people's emotional sphere (30, 33). The COVID-19 pandemic did impact the socio-economic, relational, and working aspects as well, and all these factors can profoundly influence the patient's mood (34–38).

Our study has some limitations. First, pre-pandemic and during-pandemic groups are not homogenous in gender, comorbidity, previous surgery, and type of surgery. Notably, all the above-mentioned differences recorded in our groups were supposed to lead to a higher level of state anxiety during the pandemic, but we found that state anxiety was not significantly different between before and during the pandemic. Second, we investigated preoperative anxiety in our hospital; consequently, our findings must be cautiously interpreted and cannot be generalized. In conclusion, preoperative anxiety is a fundamental issue for many patients undergoing elective surgery, and it could influence perioperative management. The COVID-19 pandemic had an important impact on the psychology of people. Our work highlighted that even if the anxiety related to surgery and anesthesia was not significantly modified during the pandemic, the COVID-19 outbreak has been able to deeply alter the emotional sphere of the patient, revealing that trait anxiety is not an unchangeable characteristic of the subject, but it can be modeled by important socio-economic changes.

## Data availability statement

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

## **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by "Comitato Etico Università Federico II". The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

PB conceived the study and supervised the work. AM wrote the manuscript. MV conducted statistical analyses. CI helped to supervise the project. SN collected and organized the data. AS analyzed the data and drafted the manuscript. GS critically revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# Conflict of interest

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

# Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

# References

1. Abate SM, Checkol YA, Mantefardo B. Global prevalence and determinants of mortality among patients with COVID-19: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Ann Med Surg.* (2021) 64:102204. doi: 10.1016/j.amsu.2021.102204

2. Ekinci M, Gölboyu BE, Dülgeroğlu O, Aksun M, Baysal PK, Çelik EC, et al. A relação entre os níveis de ansiedade no período pré-operatório e os incidentes vasovagais durante a administração de raquianestesia [The relationship between preoperative anxiety levels and vasovagal incidents during the administration of spinal anesthesia]. *Rev Bras Anestesiol.* (2017) 67:388–94. doi: 10.1016/j.bjan.2016. 07.009

3. Hellstadius Y, Lagergren J, Zylstra J, Gossage J, Davies A, Hultman CM, et al. Prevalence and predictors of anxiety and depression among esophageal cancer patients prior to surgery. *Dis Esophagus.* (2016) 29:1128–34. doi: 10.1111/dote. 12437

4. Bansal T, Joon A. A comparative study to assess preoperative anxiety in obstetric patients undergoing elective or emergency cesarean section. *Anaesth Pain Intens Care*. (2017) 21:25–30.

5. Badner NH, Nielson WR, Munk S, Kwiatkowska C, Gelb AW. Preoperative anxiety: detection and contributing factors. *Can J Anaesth*. (1990) 37(4 Pt. 1):444–7. doi: 10.1007/BF03005624

6. Vadhanan P, Tripaty DK, Balakrishnan K. Pre-operative anxiety amongst patients in a tertiary care hospital in India- a prevalence study. J Soc Anesthesiol Nepal. (2017) 4:5–10. doi: 10.3126/jsan.v4i1.17377

7. Riddle DL, Wade JB, Jiranek WA. Major depression, generalized anxiety disorder, and panic disorder in patients scheduled for knee arthroplasty. *J Arthroplasty.* (2010) 25:581–8. doi: 10.1016/j.arth.2009.04.002

8. Bedaso A, Ayalew M. Preoperative anxiety among adult patients undergoing elective surgery: a prospective survey at a general hospital in Ethiopia. *Patient Saf Surg.* (2019) 13:18. doi: 10.1186/s13037-019-0198-0

9. Mulugeta H, Ayana M, Sintayehu M, Dessie G, Zewdu T. Preoperative anxiety and associated factors among adult surgical patients in Debre Markos and Felege

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

# Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fmed.2022.1062381/full#supplementary-material

#### SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 1

APAIS anxiety score for pre-pandemic and during-pandemic groups.

### SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 2

APAIS need for information score for pre-pandemic and duringpandemic groups.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 3

Standardized beta coefficients of multivariate analysis analyzing the relationship between during and pre-pandemic STAI-Y1 score and demographic data.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 4

Standardized beta coefficients of multivariate analysis analyzing the relationship between during and pre-pandemic STAI-Y2 score and demographic data.

#### SUPPLEMENTARY TABLE 5

Standardized beta coefficients of multivariate analysis analyzing the relationship between during and pre-pandemic APAIS score and demographic data.

Hiwot referral hospitals, Northwest Ethiopia. BMC Anesthesiol. (2018) 18:155. doi: 10.1186/s12871-018-0619-0

10. Nigussie S, Belachew T, Wolancho W. Predictors of preoperative anxiety among surgical patients in Jimma University Specialized Teaching Hospital, South Western Ethiopia. *BMC Surg.* (2014) 14:67. doi: 10.1186/1471-2482-14-67

11. Moerman N, van Dam FS, Muller MJ, Oosting H. The Amsterdam preoperative anxiety and information scale (APAIS). *Anesth Analg.* (1996) 82:445–51. doi: 10.1097/00000539-199603000-00002

12. Ramsay MA. A survey of pre-operative fear. *Anaesthesia*. (1972) 27:396-402. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2044.1972.tb08244.x

13. Sigdel S. Perioperative anxiety: a short review. *Glob Anaesth Perioper Med.* (2015) 1:107–8. doi: 10.15761/GAPM.1000126

14. Stamenkovic DM, Rancic NK, Latas MB, Neskovic V, Rondovic GM, Wu JD, et al. Preoperative anxiety and implications on postoperative recovery: what can we do to change our history. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2018) 84:1307–17. doi: 10.23736/S0375-9393.18.12520-X

15. Maranets I, Kain ZN. Preoperative anxiety and intraoperative anesthetic requirements. *Anesth Analg.* (1999) 89:1346–51. doi: 10.1097/00000539-199912000-00003

16. Bayrak A, Sagiroglu G, Copuroglu E. Effects of preoperative anxiety on intraoperative hemodynamics and postoperative pain. *J Coll Physicians Surg Pak.* (2019) 29:868–73. doi: 10.29271/jcpsp.2019.09.868

17. Kassahun WT, Mehdorn M, Wagner TC, Babel J, Danker H, Gockel I. The effect of preoperative patient-reported anxiety on morbidity and mortality outcomes in patients undergoing major general surgery. *Sci Rep.* (2022) 12:6312. doi: 10.1038/s41598-022-10302-z

 Zhang L, Hao LJ, Hou XL, Wu YL, Jing LS, Sun RN. Preoperative anxiety and postoperative pain in patients with laparoscopic hysterectomy. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:727250. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.727250 19. Tadesse M, Ahmed S, Regassa T, Girma T, Hailu S, Mohammed A, et al. Effect of preoperative anxiety on postoperative pain on patients undergoing elective surgery: prospective cohort study. *Ann Med Surg.* (2021) 73:103190. doi: 10.1016/j. amsu.2021.103190

20. Duivenvoorden T, Vissers MM, Verhaar JA, Busschbach JJ, Gosens T, Bloem RM, et al. Anxiety and depressive symptoms before and after total hip and knee arthroplasty: a prospective multicentre study. *Osteoarthritis Cartilage*. (2013) 21:1834–40. doi: 10.1016/j.joca.2013.08.022

21. Prado-Olivares J, Chover-Sierra E. Preoperatory anxiety in patients undergoing cardiac surgery. *Diseases*. (2019) 7:46. doi: 10.3390/diseases7020046

22. Maheshwari D, Ismail S. Preoperative anxiety in patients selecting either general or regional anesthesia for elective cesarean section. J Anaesthesiol Clin Pharmacol. (2015) 31:196–200. doi: 10.4103/0970-9185.155148

23. Mavridou P, Dimitriou V, Manataki A, Arnaoutoglou E, Papadopoulos G. Patient's anxiety and fear of anesthesia: effect of gender, age, education, and previous experience of anesthesia. A survey of 400 patients. *J Anesth.* (2013) 27:104–8. doi: 10.1007/s00540-012-1460-0

24. Buonanno P, Vargas M, Marra A, Iacovazzo C, Servillo G. Preoperative anxiety: what are we really doing? *Acta Biomed.* (2021) 92:e2021277. doi: 10.23750/abm.v92i3.9329

25. Stein M, Keller SE, Schleifer SJ. Immune system. Relationship to anxiety disorders. *Psychiatr Clin North Am.* (1988) 11:349–60.

26. Spielberger CD, Gorsuch RL, Lushene R, Vagg PR, Jacobs GA. *Manual for the State-Trait Anxiety Inventory (Form Y Self-Evaluation Questionnaire)*. Palo Alto: Consulting Psychologist Press (1983).

27. Buonanno P, Laiola A, Palumbo C, Spinelli G, Terminiello V, Servillo G. Italian validation of the Amsterdam preoperative anxiety and information scale. *Minerva Anestesiol.* (2017) 83:705–11. doi: 10.23736/S0375-9393.16. 11675-X

28. RStudio Team. RStudio: Integrated Development Environment for R. Boston, MA: RStudio, PBC (2022).

29. Salari N, Hosseinian-Far A, Jalali R, Vaisi-Raygani A, Rasoulpoor S, Mohammadi M, et al. Prevalence of stress, anxiety, depression among the general population during the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Glob Health.* (2020) 16:57. doi: 10.1186/s12992-020-00589-w

30. Voss C, Shorter P, Weatrowski G, Mueller-Coyne J, Turner K. A comparison of anxiety levels before and during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Psychol Rep.* (2022):332941221093250. [Epub ahead of print]. doi: 10.1177/00332941221093250

31. Nishimori M, Moerman N, Fukuhara S, van Dam FS, Muller MJ, Hanaoka K, et al. Translation and validation of the Amsterdam preoperative anxiety and information scale (APAIS) for use in Japan. *Qual Life Res.* (2002) 11:361–4. doi: 10.1023/a:1015561129899

32. Sirinan C, Rungreungvanich M, Vijitpavan A, Morkchareonpong C. Preanesthetic anxiety assessment: HADS versus APAIS. *Thailand J Anesth.* (2000) 26:155e63.

33. Jorm AF. Modifiability of trait anxiety and neuroticism: a meta-analysis of the literature. *Aust N Z J Psychiatry.* (1989) 23:21–9. doi: 10.3109/00048678909062588

34. Liu B, Qiao K, Lu Y. The relationship between perceived stress, state-trait anxiety, and sleep quality among university graduates in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Front Psychol.* (2021) 12:664780. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2021.664780

35. Fong BYF, Wong MCS, Law VTS, Lo MF, Ng TKC, Yee HHL, et al. Relationships between physical and social behavioural changes and the mental status of homebound residents in Hong Kong during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:6653. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17186653

36. Gao J, Zheng P, Jia Y, Chen H, Mao Y, Chen S, et al. Mental health problems and social media exposure during COVID-19 outbreak. *PLoS One.* (2020) 15:e0231924. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0231924

37. Padhan R, Prabheesh KP. The economics of COVID-19 pandemic: a survey. *Econ Anal Policy.* (2021) 70:220–37. doi: 10.1016/j.eap.2021.02.012

38. Patel JA, Nielsen FBH, Badiani AA, Assi S, Unadkat VA, Patel B, et al. Poverty, inequality and COVID-19: the forgotten vulnerable. *Public Health.* (2020) 183:110-1. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2020.05.006 Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED BY Ravi Philip Rajkumar, Jawaharlal Institute of Postgraduate Medical Education and Research (JIPMER), India

REVIEWED BY Estelle Michinov, University of Rennes 2–Upper Brittany, France Giulio Arcangeli, University of Florence, Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Jean-Baptiste Bouillon-Minois jbbouillon-minois@chu-clermontferrand.fr

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

#### SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Anxiety and Stress Disorders, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 22 June 2022 ACCEPTED 28 November 2022 PUBLISHED 22 December 2022

#### CITATION

Dutheil F, Jeanton C, Vilmant A, Lambert C, Clinchamps M, Ugbolue UC, Schmidt J, Vallet GT and Bouillon-Minois J-B (2022) Work-related stress of companies' directors during the first lockdown due to the COVID-19. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:975953. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.975953

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Dutheil, Jeanton, Vilmant, Lambert, Clinchamps, Ugbolue, Schmidt, Vallet and Bouillon-Minois. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License

(CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Work-related stress of companies' directors during the first lockdown due to the COVID-19

Frédéric Dutheil<sup>1†</sup>, Carole Jeanton<sup>2†</sup>, Audrey Vilmant<sup>3</sup>, Céline Lambert<sup>4</sup>, Maelys Clinchamps<sup>2</sup>, Ukadike Chris Ugbolue<sup>5</sup>, Jeannot Schmidt<sup>6</sup>, Guillaume T. Vallet<sup>7</sup> and Jean-Baptiste Bouillon-Minois<sup>6\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, LaPSCo, Physiological and Psychosocial Stress, CHU Clermont-Ferrand, Preventive and Occupational Medicine, WittyFit, Clermont-Ferrand, France, <sup>2</sup>Université Clermont Auvergne, CHU Clermont-Ferrand, Occupational Medicine, Clermont-Ferrand, France, <sup>3</sup>Association Interentreprises en Santé au Travail La Prévention Active, Riom, France, <sup>4</sup>CHU Clermont-Ferrand, Biostatistics, Clermont-Ferrand, France, <sup>5</sup>School of Health and Life Sciences, Institute for Clinical Exercise and Health Science, University of the West of Scotland, Glasgow, United Kingdom, <sup>6</sup>Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, LaPSCo, Physiological and Psychosocial Stress, CHU Clermont-Ferrand, Emergency Medicine, Clermont-Ferrand, France, <sup>7</sup>Université Clermont Auvergne, CNRS, LaPSCo, Physiological and Psychosocial Stress, Clermont-Ferrand, France

**Background:** The COVID-19 pandemic and the first lockdown were particularly stressful with a major economic impact, but the impact on stress of company directors was not known. Therefore, this study aimed to assess that impact and the characteristics of companies the most at risk.

**Method:** A online questionnaire was sent to 13,114 company. It assessed stress at work, number of employees, sector of activity, business activity rate and geographical location. It studied the mean stress levels, the percentage of stress > 8/10 and carried out an analysis of the characteristics of the most at-risk companies.

**Results:** A total of 807 company directors responded. Their stress levels increased by 25.9% during lockdown and 28.7% of them had a stress > 8/10. Sectors which had the biggest increase in stress levels during lockdown were retail trade, wholesale trade, and nursing homes. Sectors the most at risk of stress > 8/10 during lockdown tended to be nursing homes, pharmacies, and IT activities. Biggest companies had the highest increase in stress levels.

**Conclusion:** The first lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic had a major impact on the stress of company directors. Directors of large companies were the most exposed to stress as well as medical and IT activities.

KEYWORDS

stress at work, company directors, lockdown, COVID-19 pandemic, occupational health

## 1. Introduction

Stress at work is a major issue, causing both physical (1-3) and mental (4, 5) pathologies, but also with a strong economic impact. Most studies on stress at work focus on stress of employees (6), but very few on stress of company directors (7). In this context, the coronavirus disease (COVID-19) pandemic (8), with a global lockdown of half of the world's population created a particular stressful climate that also likely impacted company directors. While very few studies assessed mental health of company directors in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic, they focused on anxiety (9), depression, and burnout (10, 11), but only one assessed stress at work (12). Moreover, none of the aforementioned study retrieved the evolution of stress of company directors before, during, and after the first global lockdown. The COVID-19 outbreak severely disrupted the global economy and impacted gross domestic products (13). All economic sectors have been affected (14). Some experienced an overload of activities such as health or informatics (IT) sectors, while others had to stop such as nonessential businesses. Despite aforementioned studies searched for risk factors of mental health disorders, none evaluated the impact of economic sectors on stress levels of company directors during the COVID-19 pandemic. In all cases and whatever the number of their employees, company directors have had to adapt to new and changing operating rules and to a major impact on their economy (15). Lastly, even if some of previous studies computed regression analyses, they did not quantity the risk of stress depending on characteristics of companies. We hypothesize that a follow-up (before, during and after lockdown) will detect the most at-risk directors to begin rapid action and to build efficient preventive strategy (16).

Therefore, the main aim of this study was to assess the stress of company directors, across the first stages of the pandemic (before, during, and after the first global lockdown). Secondary aims were to study the characteristics of companies the most atrisk of stress–particularly the impact of economic sectors, and to quantify the risk of stress of company directors.

## 2. Materials and methods

## 2.1. Study design

The main occupational health department of Auvergne, France, followed 14,148 companies at the time of the first wave of the COVID-19 pandemic. An online questionnaire was sent at the beginning of July 2020 to all the company directors followed by the occupational health department of Clermont-Ferrand without any selection or randomization. We defined company director as those who are at the top of the firm. The questionnaire was sent by email, and anonymized. Those who did not provide an email address were excluded. The study was approved by the ethics committee (CPP Sud-Est VI Clermont-Ferrand) and registered on ClinicalTrials.gov number NCT04308187).

## 2.2. Outcomes

The main objective was to assess the stress of company directors using three visual analog scales over three time periods. The three VAS were the same in size and methodology. The first one was before French lockdown (i.e., before March 17, 2020), during French lockdown (i.e., between March 17 and May 10) and after French lockdown (i.e., after May 11). Visual analog scale is a validated tool used by occupational physicians to assess stress at work (17, 18). Visual analog scale (VAS) has been validated for the assessment of stress in clinical practice (8) and is currently used by occupational physicians to quickly identify the most stressed people requiring urgent action (9). The use is simple to implement, easy to understand, and quick to execute (19). Visual analog scales are horizontal non calibrated line ranging from minimal (0) to maximal (10) stress. A level of stress higher than 8/10 is a cut-off for stress levels requiring urgent action (20). The secondary outcomes were the sector of activity (secondary or tertiary, main sectors and other sectors studied), the working status during the lockdown [business activity ranging from decreased (0) to increased (10)], the size of the company (number of workers) and the geographical location (metropolis and countryside). Companies were classified according to the variation rate in their activity between before and during lockdown. Those with a greater than average reduction in activity were categorized as "reduced work" and the others as "continued work."

## 2.3. Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Stata software (version 16; StataCorp, College Station, Texas, USA). All tests were two-sided, with a Type I error set at 0.05. Categorical variables were expressed as number of subjects and associated percentages, and quantitative variables as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation (especially stress level). The evolution of stress over time was evaluated using linear mixed models (for VAS of stress) or generalized linear mixed models with logit link function (for stress level >8/10). Furthermore, the stress variation between before and during lockdown was calculated (VAS during minus VAS before) and the factors associated with this variation were studied using Hedges'g effect sizes (ES). They were presented with 95% confidence intervals (CI) and interpreted according to Cohen's recommendations: 0.2 = small effect, 0.5 = mediumeffect and 0.8 = large effect. Finally, factors associated with stress >8/10 during lockdown were studied using logistic regressions. The results were expressed as odds ratio (OR) and 95% CI.

# 3. Results

## 3.1. Population

The questionnaire was sent to the 13,114 company directors who had provided an email address (Figure 1). A total of 860 responded. Fifty-three were excluded due to incomplete data and analysis were performed on 807 (6.2%). The main sector of activity was the tertiary sector (n = 576, 71.4%), essentially market (n = 456, 56.5%). The most represented activities were construction trade (n = 103, 12.9%), retail trade (n = 85, 10.5%) and wholesale trade (n = 55, 6.8%). The majority of companies had one to nine employees (n = 516, 64.0%), or 10 to 249 employees (n = 265, 32.8%); with mainly companies <50 employees (n = 194/265, 73.2%). Companies with no employees (n = 10, 1.2%) and  $\ge 250$  (n = 16, 2.0%) were poorly represented. The respondent companies were mainly located in the countryside (n = 492, 61.0%). The business activity rate decreased by 51.7% with lockdown (5.8  $\pm$  2.0 vs. 2.8  $\pm$ 2.8, p < 0.001)-49.4% (n = 398) were classified as continued working and 50.6% (n = 407) as stopped working (Figure 2). The business activity rate remained decreased during and improved after the lockdown while remaining 16.0% lower than initial (5.8  $\pm$  2.0 vs. 4.8  $\pm$  2.6, *p* < 0.001) (Appendix 1).

## 3.2. Stress of company directors

The level of stress at work increased by 25.9% during the first lockdown (6.8  $\pm$  2.6 vs. 5.4  $\pm$  2.3, p < 0.001) and remained 20.4% higher after (6.5  $\pm$  2.4 vs. 5.4  $\pm$  2.3, p < 0.001). The percentage of company directors with a level of stress > 8/10, intervention threshold, was 5.9% (n = 48) before lockdown. It increased to 28.7% (n = 231, p < 0.001) during, remaining at 20.7% after (n = 167, p < 0.001) (Figures 2, 3).

# 3.3. Influencing factors of stress of company directors

## 3.3.1. Longitudinal analyses

Stress of company directors increased during lockdown whatever the characteristics of companies (p < 0.05 for stress levels before vs. first lockdown, for each variable), except for companies without employee ( $n = 10, 4.9 \pm 2.8$  vs.  $4.8 \pm 2.9, p = 0.57$ ). Levels of stress remained significantly high after the lockdown except for the IT sector ( $6.8 \pm 2.2$  vs.  $6.1 \pm 2.0, p = 0.08$ ) and companies up to 250 employees ( $6.3 \pm 2.8$  vs.  $5.7 \pm 2.7, p = 0.05$ ). There was no significant decrease in stress after lockdown for retail trade, medical, nursing homes, pharmacies, restaurants, and accommodation sectors. Similarly, the percentage of directors with a stress >



8/10 increased with lockdown for all companies (p < 0.05), except for companies without employee, and for restaurants and accommodation sectors. After lockdown, the percentage of directors with a stress > 8/10 did not decrease except for construction and wholesale trade, and even increased for the accommodation sector (25.0% after vs. 14.8% during). Whatever the working status (continued or stopped) or the location (metropolis or countryside), the stress levels and the percentage of directors with stress > 8/10 increased significantly during lockdown (p < 0.001) without difference between groups (continued vs. stopped, or metropolis vs. countryside) (Figures 2, 3; Appendix 2).

		Stress of company directors VAS				Time	Changes		
			Mean ± sd			effect		between groups	
	-	Before	During	After	During After		After	during	
		lockdown	lockdown	lockdown	vs Before	vs Before	vs During	lockdown	
Global	807	5.4 ± 2.3	6.8 ± 2.6	6.5 ± 2.4	***	***	***		
Company Size									
0 employee	10	4.9 ± 2.8	4.8 ± 2.9	4.7 ± 2.9	-	-	-		
1 to 9 employees	516	5.3 ± 2.4	6.7 ± 2.6	6.4 ± 2.5	***	***	**		
10 to 249 employees	265	5.5 ± 2.0	7.1 ± 2.3	6.8 ± 2.1	***	***	***	"0 employee"	
10-49 employees	194	5.5 ± 2.0	7.2 ± 2.3	6.8 ± 2.2	***	***	**	< "1 to 9" and	
50-99 employees	41	5.5 ± 2.1	7.0 ± 2.5	6.7 ± 2.4	***	***	-	"10 to 249"	
100-249 employees	30	5.5 ± 1.4	7.0 ± 1.9	6.3 ± 1.8	***	***	**		
≥ 250 employees	16	5.7 ± 2.7	7.1 ± 2.6	6.3 ± 2.8	***	-	*		
Geographic location									
Metropolis	315	5.2 ± 2.2	6.6 ± 2.6	6.3 ± 2.4	***	***	**	-	
Countryside	492	5.5 ± 2.3	6.9 ± 2.5	6.7 ± 2.4	***	***	**	-	
Sectors									
Secondary sector	230	5.6 ± 2.0	7.1 ± 2.2	6.7 ± 2.1	***	***	***	-	
Tertiary sector	576	5.3 ± 2.4	6.7 ± 2.7	6.5 ± 2.5	***	***	**	-	
market	456	5.4 ± 2.3	6.8 ± 2.6	6.6 ± 2.5	***	***	**	-	
non-market	120	4.9 ± 2.5	6.2 ± 2.9	6.0 ± 2.7	***	***	-	-	
Most Represented Activities									
Construction trade	104	5.7 ± 2.1	7.3 ± 2.3	6.8 ± 2.2	***	***	**	-	
Retail trade	85	$5.3 \pm 2.4$	7.2 ± 2.5	6.8 ± 2.3	***	***	-	Retail > Other	
Wholesale trade	55	5.4 ± 1.9	7.3 ± 2.3	6.5 ± 1.9	***	***	**	Wholesale > Other	
Other Activities									
Health sector	47	4.9 ± 2.8	6.9 ± 2.9	6.4 ± 2.9	***	***	-		
Medical	35	4.8 ± 2.8	6.7 ± 2.9	6.3 ± 2.9	***	***	-	-	
Nursing homes	10	5.7 ± 1.7	8.3 ± 1.5	7.7 ± 1.6	***	***	-	Nursing homes > Other	
Pharmacies	12	$5.0 \pm 2.7$	7.4 ± 3.2	6.7 ± 3.0	***	***	-	-	
Food stores	25	5.6 ± 1.8	$7.5 \pm 1.7$	6.5 ± 2.1	***	**	***	-	
IT activities	9	6.1 ± 2.0	7.8 ± 1.9	6.8 ± 2.2	***	-	**	-	
Restaurants	38	$5.4 \pm 2.6$	$6.3 \pm 3.1$	6.6 ± 2.7	*	**	-	-	
Accomodation	28	5.2 ± 2.5	6.6 ± 2.5	6.5 ± 2.8	**	**	-	-	
Working status during lockdown									
Continued	398	5.3 ± 2.2	6.8 ± 2.6	6.5 ± 2.4	***	***	***	-	
Stopped	407	5.4 ± 2.3	$6.9 \pm 2.5$	$6.6 \pm 2.4$	***	***	**	-	

# 3.3.2. Effect sizes for increase in stress during lockdown

Sectors which had the biggest increase in stress levels during lockdown were retail trade (ES = 0.22, 95 CI 0.00 to 0.45), wholesale trade (0.26, 0.00 to 0.53) and nursing homes (0.55, -0.10 to 1.18). For pharmacies, this difference is at the limit of significance (0.47, -0.10 to 1.04). Biggest companies had the highest increase in stress levels ( $\geq$  250 employees: 1.20, 0.36 to 2.03 vs. no employee; 10 to 249 employees: 0.90, 0.27 to 1.54; one to nine employees: 0.65, 0.03 to 1.28; vs. no employee). Geographical location and working status did not influence the increase of stress levels (Figure 4; Appendix 3).

## 3.3.3. Odds ratio

Sectors the most at risk of stress > 8/10 during lockdown tended to be nursing homes (OR = 2.52, 95 CI 0.73 to 8.82),

pharmacies (2.54, 0.81 to 7.95), and IT activities (3.17, 0.84 to 11.90). Conversely, accommodations sector tended to have a lower risk of stress > 8/10 during lockdown (0.42, 0.15 to 1.24) followed by an increase after lockdown (25.0% after vs. 14.8% during). Biggest companies tended to have a higher risk of stress > 8/10 during the lockdown ( $\geq$  250 employees: 5.40, 0.54 to 53.9; 10 to 249 employees: 4.18, 0.52 to 33.5; 1 to 9 employees: 3.36, 0.42 to 26.8; vs. no employee). Geographical location (metropolis vs. countryside) and working status (continued vs. stopped) did not influence the risk of stress > 8/10 (Figure 5; Appendix 4).

# 4. Discussion

The main findings were an increase of 26% in the stress of company directors during the first lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic, and a four-time increase in the percentage of stress >



8/10 (intervention threshold). Medical and IT sectors were the most at-risk, as well as biggest companies.

## 4.1. Stress of company directors

This study demonstrated a 26% increase in stress levels of company directors, which seems higher than a 22% increase in stress levels of a general international population-also measured using visual analog scale (21). It also showed that nearly one third (29%) of company directors were at high levels of stress (> 8/10) during the lockdown. Even if threshold for high levels of stress may vary between studies, company directors seemed more at risk than prevalence of high levels of stress reported in other studies in general population: 12% in India (22), 5 and 8% in China (23), and 10% in Australia (24). Only one study reported stress levels of managers during the lockdown (25) and found lower prevalence than in the studied population. However, this study is the first study focusing specifically on the stress of company directors and reported the evolution of stress before, during, and after the first lockdown. The few studies assessing mental health of company directors during the COVID-19 pandemic were

mainly not on stress but on anxiety (9), depression (9), and burnout (11), and none assessed the evolution of stress over three key periods of the pandemics. but only one assessed stress at work (12). We demonstrated a massive increase of stress of company directors. Results could be explained by the accumulation among company directors of numerous stress factors described in the literature such as gender, age, and relative income, although not assessed in our study (26, 27). It has been accentuated by the pandemic and lockdown. Indeed, they had been exposed to an overload of work and emotional requirements but also to insecurity at work (28) with difficulty in anticipating and a lack of autonomy in the face of government directives (29). Company directors had assumed strong responsibilities, including the risk of transmission of COVID-19 and the survival of their companies considering the economic difficulties (30). In addition, the stress levels of company directors before the pandemic (5.4  $\pm$  2.3) were also superior to levels of other workers found in the literature: 4.0  $\pm$ 2.4 in French workers (20),  $4.0 \pm 2.7$  in hospital workers (31), or  $4.4 \pm 2.1$  managers/engineers (17), suggesting that company directors could be particularly exposed to stress like emergency health care workers (32, 33). Lastly, the stress of company managers remained high after the end of lockdown, showing



the need for action to be taken by the occupational health services. Despite specific preventive strategies are needed toward the mental health of company managers, it may be difficult for company directors to reduce their stressors, especially following the massive economic impact of a global pandemic. Some authors suggested recovery strategies allowing detachment from



work stressors in non-work time and advise entrepreneurs to engage in absorbing recovery activities (e.g., physical exercise, meditation, socializing) (34). However, the need for more research to better understand the unique work situation of company directors is needed. Such studies should account for several levels of analyses (within-person and between-person effects) and time perspectives (short-term, mid-term, and longterm) (34).

# 4.2. Characteristics of companies at risk of stress

The novelty of our study laid in the impact of economic sectors on stress levels of company directors during the COVID-19 pandemic. While other studies on mental health of company directors during the pandemic were more precise for sociodemographic (9–11), none evaluated the sectors of economic activity the most at-risk. Despite the global lockdown massively impacted economy (13, 14), some sectors completely stopped their activity while some other sectors were under pressure. Our study showed a higher stress and/or a trend for

more severe stress for certain sectors, such as medical and IT sectors. The stress of directors of nursing homes can be explained by the high job demand and emotional overload due to the fear of the risk of contamination and the management of suffering. Indeed, health workers in charge of COVID patients are described as being at high risk of psychological consequences (35), notably in a population of nursing homes health care workers (36). Those results also showed a trend toward higher and more severe stress for the IT sector, that experienced a significant work overload due to the advent of teleworking (37) and the need to implement digital and technological tools (38). Retail and wholesale trade had also high levels of stress during lockdown, facing a huge demand (14). For the restaurant and accommodation sectors, results showed a trend toward lower stress. These two sectors have been forced to close. Being forced to close can also be extremely stressful but the impact on stress of company directors may depend from stringency of governmental lockdown and from economic public measures (9). After lockdown, the stress decreased except for the nursing homes that were still exposed, and for restaurants and accommodations for which the absence of a return to activity led to economic difficulties. Directors of large companies

were more at risk of stress than directors of companies without employees. Indeed, the stress risk factors for directors differ according to the size of the company (39), particularly in terms of decision-making latitude, complexity of managing organizational change and economic survival. However, very limited literature have been published on this subject. This study did not show any difference in stress according to the location of the company, metropolis vs. countryside, which is coherent considering that the governmental directives were the same. Identifying companies the most at-risk is a necessary step to further build efficient preventive strategy (16).

## 4.3. Limitations

This study had some limitations. First of all, the sample was obtained through a voluntary online questionnaire, a method which leads to a non-response bias (40). However, despite a low response rate, we still collected an interesting sample of more than 800 company directors. In our study, this could induce a risk of non-representativity of our sample. Indeed, we had an important response rate of construction firms but a low response rate of health firms. This could be explained by the fact that directors of those firms were overwhelmed even more than usual during the lockdown contrary to the directors of constructions firms that were forced to stop all activities. The low sample in each category did not allow the odds ratio to be significant by company size and sector of activity, but we were able to differentiate several more at-risk sectors. Similarly, the effect sizes for the variation in stress during lockdown by sector of activity remained small or moderate (between 0.20 and 0.55). However, effect sizes are recommended when data are numerous to prevent from false significant findings, and we also acknowledge that none of previous studies on mental health of company directors reported effect sizes (9-11). The small sample sizes also did not allow for correlations between business activity levels over the different time periods studied and the variation in stress. Furthermore, the questionnaire was not exhaustive. Gender, age, and entrepreneurial experience of respondents were not asked to preserve anonymity. Those factors have been described as factors influencing stress (15, 41), particularly for age in a study conducted in a manager population during the COVID-19 pandemic (25). Our study also did not question the directors about the economic impact that lockdown and the pandemic may have had on their companies, that could also be stress confounders (30), such as for workload (42). In addition, 807 companies were selected solely from the population of a regional occupational health service, with no primary sector and very few large companies. Further studies should be conducted with a larger sample including primary sector and large companies on several geographical sites for generalizability. Future studies should also investigate more deeply psychosocial risk factors than we did with our single measure of stress using

a single item. For example, using complementary validated questionnaires such as job-demand-control-support or effortreward-imbalance models (41) may offer the possibility to build efficient preventive strategy, using predictive models (43, 44). Our study may have practical implications considering the putative very long-term (several years) impact of the pandemic on mental health, as we demonstrated on other population during the SARS-CoV-1 epidemic in 2003 (45).

# 5. Conclusions

The first lockdown of the COVID-19 pandemic had a major impact on the stress levels of company directors, which increased by 25.9% during lockdown. This study also demonstrated that almost a third of company directors (29%) had very high levels of stress (>8/10) during the first lockdown of COVID-19, requiring urgent action because of the risk of burnout, anxiety and depression. Furthermore, this rate was still higher after the lockdown (20.7%) compared to before lockdown (5.9%). Medical and IT sectors were particularly at risk, as well as directors of large companies. Future studies with larger sample are needed to be able to target occupational health actions among company directors the most at risk of stress. Qualitative interviews can be interesting to target precisely a potential psychosocial action. It could also be interesting to provide some longitudinal follow-up during the next months and years to assess the long-term impact of COVID-19 and lockdown.

## Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## **Ethics statement**

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee (CPP Sud-Est VI Clermont-Ferrand) and registered on ClinicalTrials.gov number NCT04308187. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

## Author contributions

Conceptualization: CJ, MC, FD, and J-BB-M. Methodology: FD, MC, and J-BB-M. Formal analysis: CL, FD, and MC. Investigation: FD and CJ. Writing—original draft preparation, supervision, and project administration: FD. Writing—review and editing: UU, JS, GV, CL, AV, and J-BB-M. All authors have read and agreed to the published version of the manuscript.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

## Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated

## References

1. Mohajan H. The occupational stress and risk of it among the employees. *International Journal of Mainstream Social Science*. (2012) 2:17–34.

2. Richardson S, Shaffer JA, Falzon L, Krupka D, Davidson KW, Edmondson D. Meta-analysis of perceived stress and its association with incident coronary heart disease. *Am J Cardiol.* (2012) 110:1711–6. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2012.08.004

3. Chandola T, Britton A, Brunner E, Hemingway H, Malik M, Kumari M, et al. Work stress and coronary heart disease: what are the mechanisms? *Eur Heart J.* (2008) 29:640-8. doi: 10.1093/eurheartj/ehm584

4. Rusli BN, Edimansyah BA, Naing L. Working conditions, self-perceived stress, anxiety, depression and quality of life: a structural equation modelling approach. *BMC Public Health.* (2008) 8:48. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-8-48

5. Gradus JL, Qin P, Lincoln AK, Miller M, Lawler E, Sorensen HT, et al. Acute stress reaction and completed suicide. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2010) 39:1478–84. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyq112

6. Chou LP, Li CY, Hu SC. Job stress and burnout in hospital employees: comparisons of different medical professions in a regional hospital in Taiwan. *BMJ Open*. (2014) 4:e004185. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-004185

7. Wach D, Stephan U, Weinberger E, Wegge J. Entrepreneurs' stressors and well-being: a recovery perspective and diary study. *J Bus Ventur.* (2021) 36:106016. doi: 10.1016/j.jbusvent.2020.106016

8. Dutheil F, Mondillon L, Navel V. PTSD as the second tsunami of the SARS-CoV-2 pandemic. *Psychol Med.* (2021) 51:1773-4. doi: 10.1017/S0033291720001336

9. Li L, Zhang SX, Graf-Vlachy L. Predicting managers' mental health across countries: using country-level COVID-19 statistics. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:791977. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.791977

10. Torrès O, Benzari A, Fisch C, Mukerjee J, Swalhi A, Thurik R. Risk of burnout in French entrepreneurs during the COVID-19 crisis. *Small Bus Econ.* (2022) 58:717–39. doi: 10.1007/s11187-021-00516-2

11. Torrès O, Fisch C, Mukerjee J, Lasch F, Thurik R. Health perception of French SME owners during the 2020 COVID-19 pandemic. (2020) 18.

12. Backman M, Hagen J, Kekezi O, Naldi L, Wallin T. In the eye of the storm: entrepreneurs and well-being during the COVID-19 crisis. *Entrepreneurship Theory and Practice*. (2021) 10422587211057028. doi: 10.1177/10422587211057028

13. Chakraborty I, Maity P. COVID-19 outbreak: migration, effects on society, global environment and prevention. *Sci Total Environ.* (2020) 728:138882. doi: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2020.138882

14. Nicola M, Alsafi Z, Sohrabi C, Kerwan A, Al-Jabir A, Iosifidis C, et al. The socio-economic implications of the coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19): a review. *Int J Surg.* (2020) 78:185–93. doi: 10.1016/j.ijsu.2020.04.018

15. Limcaoco RSG, Mateos EM, Fernández JM, Roncero C. Anxiety, worry and perceived stress in the world due to the COVID-19 pandemic, March 2020. Preliminary results. *Medrxiv*. (2020). doi: 10.1101/2020.04.03.20043992

16. Iavicoli S, Natali E, Deitinger P, Maria Rondinone B, Ertel M, Jain A, et al. Occupational health and safety policy and psychosocial risks in Europe: the role of stakeholders' perceptions. *Health Policy.* (2011) 101:87–94. doi: 10.1016/j.healthpol.2010.08.005

17. Lesage FX, Berjot S, Deschamps F. Clinical stress assessment using a visual analogue scale. *Occup Med.* (2012) 62:600–5. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqs140

organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.975953/full#supplementary-material

18. Lesage FX, Berjot S. Validity of occupational stress assessment using a visual analogue scale. Occup Med. (2011) 61:434–6. doi: 10.1093/occmed/kqr037

19. Huskisson EC. Measurement of pain. Lancet. (1974) 2:1127-31. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(74)90884-8

20. Dutheil F, Pereira B, Moustafa F, Naughton G, Lesage FX, Lambert C. At-risk and intervention thresholds of occupational stress using a visual analogue scale. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0178948. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0178948

21. Ugbolue UC, Duclos M, Urzeala C, Berthon M, Kulik K, Bota A, et al. An assessment of the Novel COVISTRESS questionnaire: COVID-19 impact on physical activity, sedentary action and psychological emotion. *J Clin Med.* (2020) 9:E3352. doi: 10.3390/jcm9103352

22. Verma S, Mishra A. Depression, anxiety, and stress and socio-demographic correlates among general Indian public during COVID-19. *Int J Soc Psychiatry*. (2020) 66:756–62. doi: 10.1177/0020764020934508

23. Wang C, Pan R, Wan X, Tan Y, Xu L, Ho CS, et al. Immediate psychological responses and associated factors during the initial stage of the 2019 coronavirus disease (COVID-19) epidemic among the general population in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:E1729. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051729

24. Stanton R, To QG, Khalesi S, Williams SL, Alley SJ, Thwaite TL, et al. Depression, anxiety and stress during COVID-19: associations with changes in physical activity, sleep, tobacco and alcohol use in Australian adults. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:E4065. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17114065

25. Graf-Vlachy L, Sun S, Zhang SX. Predictors of managers' mental health during the COVID-19 pandemic. *Eur J Psychotraumatol.* (2020) 11:1834195. doi: 10.1080/20008198.2020.1834195

26. Siegrist J. Adverse health effects of high-effort/low-reward conditions. J Occup Health Psychol. (1996) 1:27–41. doi: 10.1037/1076-8998.1.1.27

27. Karasek RA. Job Socialization and Job Strain : The Implications of Two Related Psychosocial Mechanisms for Job Design. Chichester: John Wiley & Sons Ltd (1981). p. 75–94.

28. Andrews G, Titov N. Depression is very disabling. *Lancet.* (2007) 370:808– 9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(07)61393-2

29. Niedhammer I. Psychometric properties of the French version of the Karasek Job Content Questionnaire: a study of the scales of decision latitude, psychological demands, social support, and physical demands in the GAZEL cohort. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health*. (2002) 75:129–44. doi: 10.1007/s0042001 00270

30. Wang J, Smailes E, Sareen J, Fick GH, Schmitz N, Patten SB. The prevalence of mental disorders in the working population over the period of global economic crisis. *Can J Psychiatry*. (2010) 55:598–605. doi: 10.1177/0706743710055 00908

31. Chamoux A, Rouffiac K, Dutheil F, Millot-Theïs B, Gabrillargues D, Boudet G. 71 Mesure EVA-Texte Pr Chamoux.12.

32. Bouillon-Minois J-B, Trousselard M, Pereira B, Schmidt J, Clinchamps M, Thivel D, et al. Protocol of the study on emergency health care workers' responses evaluated by karasek questionnaire: the SEEK-Study protocol. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2021) 18:4068. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18084068

33. Bouillon-Minois J-B, Roux V, Pereira B, Flannery M, Pelissier C, Occelli C, et al. Stress among emergency health care workers on nuclear or radiation

disaster: a preliminary state survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health. (2021) 18:8384. doi: 10.3390/ijerph18168384

34. White JV, Gupta VK. Stress and Well-Being in Entrepreneurship: A Critical Review and Future Research Agenda. In: Perrewé PL, Harms PD, Chang C-H, editors. *Research in Occupational Stress and Well Being*. Emerald Publishing Limited (2020). p. 65–93. Available online at: https://www.semanticscholar.org/paper/Stress-and-Well-Being-in-Entrepreneurship%3A-A-Review-White-Gupta/4d9f7837a6df373693a061442323a499da38c3bb

35. Sanghera J, Pattani N, Hashmi Y, Varley KF, Cheruvu MS, Bradley A, et al. The impact of SARS-CoV-2 on the mental health of healthcare workers in a hospital setting-a systematic review. *J Occup Health.* (2020) 62:e12175. doi: 10.1002/1348-9585.12175

36. Blanco-Donoso LM, Moreno-Jiménez J, Amutio A, Gallego-Alberto L, Moreno-Jiménez B, Garrosa E. Stressors, job resources, fear of contagion, and secondary traumatic stress among nursing home workers in face of the COVID-19: the case of Spain. J Appl Gerontol. (2021) 40:244–56. doi: 10.1177/0733464820964153

37. Belzunegui-Eraso A, Erro-Garcés A. Teleworking in the context of the COVID-19 crisis. *Sustainability*. (2020) 12:3662. doi: 10.3390/su120 93662

38. Vargo D, Zhu L, Benwell B, Yan Z. Digital technology use during COVID-19 pandemic: a rapid review. *Hum Behav Emerg Technol.* (2021) 3:13-24. doi: 10.1002/hbe2.242

39. Lechat †T, Torrès O. Les risques psychosociaux du dirigeant de PME : typologie et échelle de mesure des stresseurs professionnels. *Revue* 

internationale PME: Économie et gestion de la petite et moyenne entreprise. (2016) 29:135. doi: 10.7202/1038335ar

40. Sheikh K, Mattingly S. Investigating non-response bias in mail surveys. J Epidemiol Community Health. (1981) 35:293–6. doi: 10.1136/jech.35.4.293

41. Dutheil F, Pereira B, Bouillon-Minois J-B, Clinchamps M, Brousses G, Dewavrin S, et al. Validation of visual analogue scales of job demand and job control at the workplace: a cross-sectional study. *BMJ Open.* (2022) 12:e046403. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2020-046403

42. Delamarre L, Tannous S, Lakbar I, Couarraze S, Pereira B, Leone M, et al. The evolution of effort-reward imbalance in workers during the COVID-19 pandemic in France-an observational study in more than 8000 workers. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:9113. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19159113

43. Vialatte L, Pereira B, Guillin A, Miallaret S, Baker JS, Colin-Chevalier R, et al. Mathematical modeling of the evolution of Absenteeism in a University hospital over 12 years. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:8236. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19148236

44. Colin-Chevalier R, Dutheil F, Cambier S, Dewavrin S, Cornet T, Baker JS, et al. Methodological issues in analyzing real-world longitudinal occupational health data: a useful guide to approaching the topic. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2022) 19:7023. doi: 10.3390/ijerph19127023

45. Alberque B, Laporte C, Mondillon L, Baker JS, Mermillod M, Brousse G, et al. Prevalence of post-traumatic stress disorder (PTSD) in healthcare workers following the first SARS-CoV epidemic of 2003: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2022) 19:13069. doi: 10.3390/ijerph192013069

# Frontiers in **Psychiatry**

Explores and communicates innovation in the field of psychiatry to improve patient outcomes

The third most-cited journal in its field, using translational approaches to improve therapeutic options for mental illness, communicate progress to clinicians and researchers, and consequently to improve patient treatment outcomes.

# Discover the latest **Research Topics**



## Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

## Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



